The development of nudge interventions to promote safety behaviour in an industrial production environment

# Samuël Costa

Supervisor: Prof. Dr. Nicolas Dirix Co-supervisor: Prof. Dr. Wouter Duyck

A dissertation submitted to Ghent University in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Psychology

Academic year 2023-2024



## **CONTENTS**

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	10
Chapter 1 Introduction	12
Industrial Safety: A Historical Perspective and Modern Challenges	12
Human Error, Safety Culture and Behavior-Based Safety	13
Bounded Rationality and the Practice of Nudging	15
Nudge Interventions: Effectiveness, Cost-Effectiveness and Ethical Considerations	17
Strategic Nudging: A Choice Architecture Taxonomy	18
Nudging Industrial Safety: A Promising Approach	20
The Belgian Steel Plant Involved	23
Advancing Applied Behavioral Science	24
Nudging Safety Amidst the COVID-19 Pandemic	25
References	26
CHAPTER 2 NUDGE INTERVENTIONS PROMOTING HAND HYGIENE: A LARG	GE-
SCALE FIELD EXPERIMENT IN AN INDUSTRIAL PLANT	35
Introduction	36
Revising Safety Measures from a Boundedly Rational Behavioral Perspective	37
The Concept of Nudging	39
Nudging Hand Hygiene	41
Current Study	44
Method	46
Participants	46
Research Design	46
Materials and Procedure	47
Data Analysis	51

#### 4 CONTENTS

Results	52
Ordinary Least Squares (OLS) Regression – Alcohol Gel Consumption	
Logistic Regression (LR) Analysis – Camera Footage	
Discussion	57
Nudges Promoting Hand Hygiene: Friction, Salience and Social norms	58
Nudging Hand Hygiene in a Non-Health Organizational Environment	59
The Additivity and Cost-Effectiveness of Nudge Interventions	
Group Effects and Herd Behavior	62
Time and Day of the Week Effects	62
Long-Term Effectiveness	63
Limitations and Further Research	64
Conclusion	65
References	66
CHAPTER 3 NUDGING SAFETY BEHAVIOR IN THE STEEL INDUSTRY: EV	<b>/IDENCE</b>
CHAPTER 3 NUDGING SAFETY BEHAVIOR IN THE STEEL INDUSTRY: EX FROM TWO FIELD STUDIES	VIDENCE 78
CHAPTER 3 NUDGING SAFETY BEHAVIOR IN THE STEEL INDUSTRY: EX FROM TWO FIELD STUDIES Introduction	79/710ENCE
CHAPTER 3 NUDGING SAFETY BEHAVIOR IN THE STEEL INDUSTRY: EX FROM TWO FIELD STUDIES Introduction Two Systems of Decision-Making and Nudging	7 <b>1DENCE</b> 78 79 80
CHAPTER 3 NUDGING SAFETY BEHAVIOR IN THE STEEL INDUSTRY: EX FROM TWO FIELD STUDIES Introduction Two Systems of Decision-Making and Nudging Nudging and Choice Architecture in the Domain of Safety	VIDENCE 78 79 80 84
CHAPTER 3 NUDGING SAFETY BEHAVIOR IN THE STEEL INDUSTRY: EX FROM TWO FIELD STUDIES Introduction Two Systems of Decision-Making and Nudging Nudging and Choice Architecture in the Domain of Safety Current Study	7 <b>1DENCE</b> 78 79 80 84 84
CHAPTER 3 NUDGING SAFETY BEHAVIOR IN THE STEEL INDUSTRY: EX FROM TWO FIELD STUDIES Introduction Two Systems of Decision-Making and Nudging Nudging and Choice Architecture in the Domain of Safety Current Study Experiment 1	VIDENCE 78 79 80 84 86 87
CHAPTER 3 NUDGING SAFETY BEHAVIOR IN THE STEEL INDUSTRY: EX FROM TWO FIELD STUDIES Introduction Two Systems of Decision-Making and Nudging Nudging and Choice Architecture in the Domain of Safety Current Study Experiment 1 Method	VIDENCE 78 79 80 84 86 87 90
CHAPTER 3 NUDGING SAFETY BEHAVIOR IN THE STEEL INDUSTRY: EX FROM TWO FIELD STUDIES Introduction Two Systems of Decision-Making and Nudging Nudging and Choice Architecture in the Domain of Safety Current Study Experiment 1 Method Results	VIDENCE 78 79 80 84 86 87 90 95
CHAPTER 3 NUDGING SAFETY BEHAVIOR IN THE STEEL INDUSTRY: EX FROM TWO FIELD STUDIES Introduction Two Systems of Decision-Making and Nudging Nudging and Choice Architecture in the Domain of Safety Current Study Experiment 1 Method Results Discussion	VIDENCE 78 79 80 84 84 86 87 90 95 98
CHAPTER 3 NUDGING SAFETY BEHAVIOR IN THE STEEL INDUSTRY: EX FROM TWO FIELD STUDIES Introduction Two Systems of Decision-Making and Nudging Nudging and Choice Architecture in the Domain of Safety Current Study Experiment 1 Method Results Discussion Experiment 2	VIDENCE 78 79 80 84 86 87 90 95 98 100
CHAPTER 3 NUDGING SAFETY BEHAVIOR IN THE STEEL INDUSTRY: EX FROM TWO FIELD STUDIES Introduction Two Systems of Decision-Making and Nudging Nudging and Choice Architecture in the Domain of Safety Current Study Experiment 1 Method Results Discussion Experiment 2 Method	VIDENCE 78 79 80 84 86 87 90 95 98 100 103

Discussion	
General Discussion	111
Evaluating Industrial Safety Nudges	
A New Psychological Framework for Addressing Industrial Safety Behavior	
Nudging as Part of a Holistic Safety Approach	
Limitations and Further Research	
Conclusion	
References	
CHAPTER 4 PROMOTING SAFETY TALKS WITH NUDGES: A LARGE LONG	GITUDINAL
FIELD STUDY IN AN INDUSTRIAL PLANT	131
Introduction	132
The Importance of Safety Talks	132
The Boundedly Rational Individual	134
Nudging Safety and Safety Talks	
Current Study	141
Experiment 1	144
Method	144
Results	146
Discussion	149
Experiment 2	150
Method	150
Results	151
Discussion	155
General Discussion	155
Nudging the Frequency and Spread of Safety Talks	156
Long-Term Nudge Effectiveness and Habit Formation	

Strategic Development of Nudges as Part of a Comprehensive Safety Approach	158
Limitations and Further Research	159
Conclusion	161
References	162
CHAPTER 5 PREVENTING HAZARDOUS EXPOSURE TO SUSPENDED LOADS	<b>WITH</b>
NUDGE INTERVENTIONS	172
Introduction	173
Towards a New Safety Approach: Bounded Rationality and the Practice of Nudging	173
Nudge Effectiveness and Strategic Implementation	175
Nudging Industrial Safety	177
Current Study	179
Experiment 1 - Following Safe Pathways	180
Experiment 2 - No-Touch Tools	180
Experiment 3 – Visibility and Awareness of Suspended Loads	182
Experiment 1	183
Method	183
Results	185
Discussion	186
Experiment 2	187
Method	187
Results	190
Discussion	191
Experiment 3	192
Method	192
Results	193
Discussion	195

General Discussion	
Nudging Distance to Suspended Loads	196
A Layered Nudging Approach	198
Integrating Nudging in Current Safety Practice	200
Limitations and Further Research	201
Conclusion	202
References	203
CHAPTER 6 THE OPPORTUNITIES AND COSTS OF AI IN BEHAVIOR	RAL SCIENCE 216
Introduction	217
Opportunity 1: Identifying Biases	219
Opportunity 2: Integrating Heterogeneity	221
Opportunity 3: Handling Complexity	224
Costs	226
Conclusion	228
References	229
CHAPTER 7 GENERAL DISCUSSION	244
Nudging Hand Hygiene and the Relevance for Industrial Safety	245
The Effectiveness of Nudges Promoting Industrial Safety Behavior	246
The Persistency of Nudge Effects Over Time	249
Strategic Nudging: A Taxonomy of Choice Architecture	251
Layered nudging	252
A new psychological framework and holistic safety approach	254
Advancing applied behavioral science	256
Algorithms	256
Behavioral audits	258
Guidelines for further research	260

#### 8 CONTENTS

Conclusion	263
References	263
CHAPTER 8 ENGLISH SUMMARY	277
References	280
CHAPTER 9 NEDERLANDSTALIGE SAMENVATTING	282
Referenties	286
Appendix 1A	288
APPENDIX 2A	289
APPENDIX 3A	290
APPENDIX 3B	291
Appendix 4A	292
APPENDIX 5A	299
APPENDIX 5B	301
DATA STORAGE FACT SHEETS	302
Data storage fact sheet chapter 2	302
Data storage fact sheet chapter 3	304
Data storage fact sheet chapter 4	306
Data storage fact sheet chapter 5	308

Contents 9

## **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

Vandaag voel ik een immense dankbaarheid. Mijn reis naar de doctoraatstitel was niet mogelijk geweest zonder de onvoorwaardelijke steun van mijn promotor Nicolas Dirix en co-promotor Wouter Duyck, wiens inzichten en aanmoedigingen van onschatbare waarde waren. De snelheid waarmee jij, Nicolas, je ontplooide tot een gerespecteerde professor en de rol vlekkenloos overnam als mijn promotor is bewonderenswaardig. Ik blijf jullie beiden eeuwig dankbaar voor deze kans.

Bij uitbreiding wil ik mijn dankbaarheid betuigen aan alle leden van ons onderzoekslab, het Duyck-Dirix lab. Jullie kritische blik en constructieve bijdragen hebben mijn onderzoek verrijkt en mij als wetenschapper doen groeien. De levendige discussies waren niet alleen verrijkend maar brachten ook lichtheid tijdens de soms veeleisende tijden van mijn doctoraat. Ook alle leden van de doctoraatsbegeleidingscommissie, Arnaud Szmalec, Frederik Anseel en Tim Smits, wil ik van harte bedanken voor hun waardevolle input en ondersteuning.

Ik wil ook mijn oprechte dank uitspreken aan het team van ArcelorMittal België, de gewaardeerde industriële partner. Speciale dank gaat uit naar Pieter Maesschalck, Isabelle Canty, en Lorenz Van Mol voor hun deskundige inzichten, onmisbare steun en inspirerende samenwerking. Hun expertise en toewijding waren een drijvende kracht achter mijn onderzoek. Ook wil ik alle andere betrokkenen bij ArcelorMittal bedanken voor hun bijdrage, aanmoediging en de positieve werksfeer. Jullie toewijding en professionaliteit hebben een blijvende impact gehad op mijn professionele groei en het succes van dit project.

Mijn ouders, Lutgart Schatteman en Giusseppe Costa, en oma, Francine Van Wassenhove, verdienen een speciale vermelding voor hun onvoorwaardelijke liefde en steun doorheen de jaren. Zonder hen zou deze prestatie onmogelijk zijn geweest. Hun wijsheid en opofferingen zijn de fundering van mijn succes. Broer, Nicolas Costa, en zus, Anouk Thielemans, met jullie is een lach nooit ver weg en liefde alomtegenwoordig. Twee elementen die mij steeds voorzagen van nieuwe energie. Mario Tondat en Gerda Van Damme, ook jullie bedankt voor de steun de afgelopen jaren en de warme tweede thuis.

Ik ben ook ongelooflijk dankbaar voor mijn vrienden, die altijd klaarstonden met een luisterend oor en bemoedigende woorden, maar vooral voor de broodnodige afleiding en gelukzalige momenten zorgden. Hun vriendschap was een bron van kracht en plezier in deze veeleisende periode.

Tot slot, mijn diepste dank aan mijn vriendin Nuria Tondat. Haar liefde, steun en begrip zijn mijn veilige haven. Haar aanwezigheid maakt elke uitdaging gemakkelijker en elke overwinning zoeter.

Samuël

December 2023

#### Acknowledgements 11

### CHAPTER 1

### INTRODUCTION

In modern industrial landscapes, safety is an increasingly important cornerstone guarding against the hazards that lurk within the operations of the heavy process industries (Knegtering & Pasman, 2009) such as the steel industry (Nazaripour et al., 2018). The concept of industrial safety, which has a rich historical backdrop (Swuste et al., 2010), finds itself both perpetually relevant and continually evolving in response to the dynamic demands of our contemporary world (Hofmann et al., 2017). In this doctoral thesis, we embark on a journey that explores industrial safety's historical roots, confronts the contemporary impasse in safety innovation and seeks to elaborate on a transformative path forward through the lens of behavioral science. More specifically, we do this by assessing the relevance of emerging dual process theories of decision-making (Evans & Stanovich, 2013) and the practice of nudging (Thaler & Sunstein, 2008).

#### INDUSTRIAL SAFETY: A HISTORICAL PERSPECTIVE AND MODERN CHALLENGES

The history of industrial safety is a compelling narrative that traces its origins to the Industrial Revolution of the 18th century, a period marked by rapid industrialization and the emergence of new hazards (Barham, 2013). Factories and manufacturing plants became places of progress, but also of peril and severe accidents, increasing the concern for worker safety (Palmer, 1926). Occupational safety is vital for societies, as it safeguards worker well-being and minimizes societal costs associated with workplace accidents. For businesses, it bolsters their reputation, attracts stakeholders, ensures their 'license to operate' that is monitored by governments and contributes to long-term success by ensuring a healthy and productive workforce. This makes a safe workplace a 'sine qua non' for successful industrial organizations (Fernández-Muñiz et al., 2009; Haslam et al., 2016).

In the last decades, industrial safety has seen a remarkable decrease in incident rates through improved technology, standards, regulation, management systems and, more recently, safety culture approaches (Figure 1) (Hudson, 2007). However, further improvements in the last years seem to have stagnated and to have reached a plateau (Lindhout & Reniers, 2017). Research has shown that up to 90% of occupational accidents are related to human errors (Kletz, 2001). Therefore, experts indicate that a better understanding of safety behavior and behavior change is one of the last main issues to resolve (Spigener et al., 2022).

#### Figure 1



The number of industrial incidents in the last decades (after Hudson, 2007)

#### Human Error, Safety Culture and Behavior-Based Safety

More than improved machinery and protocols, it is essentially changing human behavior and environmental factors that significantly determine safety outcomes (Geller, 2005). Therefore, understanding the intricacies of how individuals make decisions in safety-critical situations is paramount. The work of Reason (1990, 2000) has mainly been devoted to investigating the role of human error, pointing out the difference between human factors that are unintentional (e.g., attention deficits and memory lapses) and more intentional ones (e.g., deliberate violation of the rules), and the relevant difference between a person approach and a system approach of safety. While a person approach tends to treat human error and unsafe behaviors as moral and motivational issues ('bad things happen to bad people', see also Lerner et al. (1970)), he claims that the preferred system approach concentrates on conditions under which individuals work and aims to avert error by building multiple lines of defense (e.g., enhanced procedures, improved supervision and better working conditions) (Perneger, 2005).

Following the growing attention for safety behavior and conditional factors, in the 1980's and 90's the concepts of 'behavior based-safety' and 'safety culture' were developed and they gained more popularity since the year 2000 (Hudson, 2007). They are, in addition to technological safety processes and safety management, the main subjects of research, addressing the human - and organizational factors behind unsafe behavior (Spigener et al., 2022). However, these existing behavior based frameworks for safety do not consider all aspects of human behavior and are often based on implausible assumptions about (the deliberateness of) human behavior. Behavior-based safety is currently merely and essentially the application of applied behavior analysis and modification in a safety context (Geller, 2005). It is well known for the powerful principles of operant conditioning and the reinforcement theory that have proven to be successful in behavior change efforts in a variety of clinical and applied contexts (Kazdin, 1973; Nemeroff & Karoly, 1991). For example, positive reinforcement might increase the use of protective equipment at a construction site. However, when this reinforcement is no longer provided, the usage of this protective equipment is expected to gradually drop back to the baseline (Saari, 1992; Zohar et al., 1980). In relation to safety, the logic of the culture change approach is that the organization's basic assumptions and values widely influence the effort that is done and the initiatives that that organization takes to manage safety. These activities shape, in turn, the perceptions and expectations of the employees regarding the importance of safety, safe work practices, hazard control, incident reporting and so on (DeJoy, 2005).

While behavior-based safety and the current safety culture approach have both proven to be valuable and important ways to approach safety, both seem to focus largely on conscious and rational decision-making either through changing the values, perceptions and beliefs held by an organization (i.e., culture) or by using operant conditioning (e.g., reinforcement) in order to alter certain critical safety-related behaviors. These approaches do not take sufficiently into account that many actions are not a result of deliberate or conscious reasoning, but rather an automatic and often unconscious behavioral response elicited by a certain context or environment (Simon, 1955; Thaler et al., 2012). As a result, such behavior largely falls outside the reach of current safety behavior approaches that focus predominantly on deliberate action and remain a source of incidents (Lindhout & Reniers, 2017). Instead, in this doctoral thesis, we approach safety behavior from the premise that human behavior is not entirely rational and consistent and how these insights can be leveraged to assist behavior change initiatives. After that, we clarify how leveraging these insights is vital to advance industrial safety management by addressing the challenges it currently faces.

#### BOUNDED RATIONALITY AND THE PRACTICE OF NUDGING

There is a difference between actions resulting from deliberate and conscious reasoning and actions that can be seen as a rather effortless, automatic and often unconscious response elicited by the environment. This is referred to by Noble Prize laureate Kahneman (2011) as 'system 1 and system 2 thinking', a widely accepted metaphor for dual-process theories of decision-making (Evans & Stanovich, 2013). System 1 thinking is a more automatic, fast and unconscious way of thinking that requires little effort and is associated with no feeling of control. This is seen as a more instinctive way of 'thinking'

or decision-making and includes subconscious values, drives and beliefs that influence our 'gut reactions'. Examples are the tendency of people to link a green color to health (Tham et al., 2020), directing attention to a flashing light (D'Egidio et al., 2014), as well as automatically forming stereotypical mental associations about social groups (Payne & Hannay, 2021). System 2 thinking is considered a more rational way of thinking and is associated with the subjective experience of power to act, choice and concentration. It includes conscious attention for the mental effort that is being done. Examples are trying to remember something, comparing the price-quality of products and focusing attention in a noisy room. In short, the interaction between both systems can be understood in the following way. Both systems are almost always active, but while system 1 generates constant impressions, intentions, feelings and automatic reactions, system 2 only interferes when things become complex or do not go as planned (Kahneman, 2011).

The insight that system 1 plays a vital role in human behavior and that environmental (often irrelevant) factors easily influence it, gave rise to a series of psychological studies of how behavior can be influenced by modifying or implementing these specific factors. Those studies build on the premise of 'bounded rationality' (Simon, 1955), including that our behavior and decision-making are fundamentally biased, driven by system 1, and that the capacity of system 2 is limited (e.g., memory lapses) and needs further assistance. In their book 'Nudge', Thaler and Sunstein (2008) put forward the concept of 'nudging', meaning literally 'to give a little push', to address this practice. They suggest that people should be guided and supported in making the right decisions to promote the more preferred behavior by altering the choice architecture surrounding this behavior – i.e., the physical, social and psychological aspects of the context that influence our choices (Thaler et al., 2012). Thaler and Sunstein (2008) define a nudge as *"any aspect of the choice architecture that alters people's behavior in a predictable way without forbidding any options or significantly changing their economic incentives. To count as a mere nudge, the intervention must be cheap and easy to avoid. Nudges are not mandates. Putting fruit at eye level counts as a nudge. Banning junk food does* 

*not.*" (Thaler & Sunstein 2008, p. 6). A popular example is the use of defaults to increase organ donation. By changing opt-in to opt-out formats (i.e., no action required), one can leverage people's tendency to inertia (i.e., people will only do the effort if they have strong preferences) and increase the number of organ donations up to 99% (Davidai et al., 2012). Other examples are the use of text reminders to increase vaccine uptake (Milkman et al., 2021) or placing healthy food at eye level to promote consumption (Bucher et al., 2016).

The way that Thaler and Sunstein (2008) define a nudge is very inclusive and until today, what is exactly meant by 'a nudge' is still a matter of debate (Berthet, 2022). More important it is to understand that the subconscious system 1 and the limitations of system 2 have a significant impact on how we make decisions and that this influence can often easily be altered by simple interventions in the direct choice environment.

Before delving into the relevance of nudging for industrial safety, we provide a brief overview of nudge effectiveness, ethical concerns and considerations for its strategic development.

#### Nudge Interventions: Effectiveness, Cost-Effectiveness and Ethical Considerations

Nudge interventions have been studied and implemented successfully in several domains, including health and well-being (Hanks et al., 2012; Johnson & Goldstein, 2003), saving and financial decision-making (Thaler & Benartzi, 2004), climate preservation and sustainability (Bergquist et al., 2023), education (Weijers et al., 2021) and so forth. In general, most of the nudge interventions seem to be effective, generating a small effect on average (DellaVigna & Linos, 2022), but recent debates highlight the need for careful investigation of the context and the design of the nudge to increase the probability of success (Bryan et al., 2021; Hallsworth, 2022; Sunstein, 2017). This highlights the need to investigate if known nudging techniques work in an industrial safety context as well, instead of copy-pasting and assuming they will. In addition, a big gap exists in current nudging literature concerning the long-term effects of the interventions, with mixed results to date (Allcott & Rogers, 2014; Congiu &

Moscati, 2022; Van Rookhuijzen et al., 2021). In this doctoral project, we were able to evaluate nudge effects over an extended period (up to 1.5 years, discussed in CHAPTER 4), making the findings even more valuable.

A recent study of Benartzi et al. (2017) examined the cost-effectiveness of nudges compared to more typical intervention strategies of the government (United States and United Kingdom), like financial incentives. They found that nudges often yield particularly high returns at a low cost when it comes to boosting retirement savings, college enrolment, energy conservation, and vaccination rates. Some nudge interventions reached ratios from 10:1 - 100:1 (i.e., 100-dollar return for every dollar invested), exceeding common return of investment ratios of informational campaigns (14.68) and economic tax incentives (1.24).

Frequent debates concerning the ethical aspect talk about whether it is legitimized to alter people's behavior in often covert ways without consent of the individuals whose behavior is being altered (Lin et al., 2017). In the case of safety, it is more obvious that nudging is always beneficial to the organization that executes the intervention, but also to the individual whose safety is targeted. In addition, one could argue that you cannot 'not influence' behavior, as choice architecture is always present. As such, it can be considered unethical not to change a context that elicits (or nudges) unsafe behaviors (Sunstein, 2015). In CHAPTER 7, the general discussion, we return in detail to the ethical dimensions to consider when developing and implementing nudge interventions.

#### Strategic Nudging: A Choice Architecture Taxonomy

To structure and inform nudge development, we use the taxonomy of Münscher et al. (2016) consistently throughout CHAPTERS 3, 4 and 5. This frameworks stands out as a highly comprehensive and systematic approach, and puts forward three distinct nudging (or choice architecture) clusters. Each cluster is built around a distinct psychological barrier and covers unique behavioral techniques (see Table 1 for a detailed overview).

The first cluster, known as 'Decision Information', concentrates nudges improving the accessibility, clarity, and personal relevance of decision-relevant information. For instance, *social norm messages* communicate peer values and the occurrence of actual behaviors (e.g., "75% of you colleagues do X") to influence decision-making (Bicchieri, 2017), and proved successful in, among others, promoting energy conservation (Allcott, 2011). *Framing* alters the presentation of information to sway choices, including framing of gain or loss (e.g., "new method with 5% chance to live" versus "95% to die") that have shown to influence doctors' decision-making (McGettigan et al., 1999). *Performance feedback*, on the other hand, provides individuals with insights into their own behavior that can elicit corrective action (House et al., 2022).

The second cluster, 'Decision Structure', covers techniques that take advantage of the contextdependent nature of decision-making by manipulating the arrangement or format of choice options, or by altering the required effort. Defaults, as previously discussed, make the desired outcome the standard setting (i.e., opting-out) and have shown to promote organ donations (Davidai et al., 2012). Altering choice-related effort has shown to influence the consumption of healthy food or tobacco by making it more or less convenient, respectively (Hollands et al., 2017). A third example includes changing the order of choice options, with recent studies showing that sustainable food options on top of the menu are chosen more (Langen et al., 2022).

The third and final cluster, 'Decision Assistance', is dedicated to bridging the gap between intention and action by strengthening self-regulation. Nudges in this cluster aim to reduce inadvertent behaviors stemming from restricted attention, memory lapses, and a lack of self-discipline. Strategies encompass the use of *reminders* that have been instrumental in boosting vaccination uptake via textmessages (Milkman et al., 2021) and, for instance, *salience* (or 'attention-drawing') nudges promoting safer behaviors by using bright-colored tread edge highlighters to prevent falling (Foster et al., 2014).

In sum, Münscher et al.'s (2016) taxonomy empowers researchers and practitioners to align their interventions strategically with specific objectives and the psychological barriers that individuals may encounter. This comprehensive framework offers a structured approach to implement nudging in industrial safety, facilitating more effective means to influence decisions and elicit behavior change.

#### Table 1

Choice architecture taxonomy of Münscher et al. (2016) (After Mertens et al., 2022)

Psychological barrier	Intervention category	Intervention technique
Limited access to decision-relevant information	Decision information: increase the availability, comprehensibility, and/or personal relevance of information	Translate information: adapt attributes to facilitate processing of already available information and/or shift decision maker's perspective
		Make information visible: provide access to relevant information
		Provide social reference point: provide social normative information to reduce situational ambiguity and behavioral uncertainty
Limited capacity to evaluate and compare choice options	Decision structure: alter the utility of choice options through their arrangement in the decision	Change choice defaults: set no action default or prompt active choice to address behavioral inertia, loss aversion, and/or perceived endorsement
	environment or the format of decision making	Change option-related effort: adjust physical or financial effort to remove friction from desirable choice option
		Change range or composition of options: adapt categories or grouping of choice options to facilitate evaluation
		Change option consequences: adapt social consequences or microincentives to address present bias, bias in probability weighting, and/or loss aversion
Limited attention and self-control	Decision assistance: facilitate self-regulation	Provide reminders: increase the attentional salience of desirable behavior to overcome inattention due to information overload
		Facilitate commitment: encourage self or public commitment to counteract failures of self-control

#### NUDGING INDUSTRIAL SAFETY: A PROMISING APPROACH

The effective application of nudging in certain fields, such as pension saving (Thaler & Benartzi, 2004) and organ donations (Davidai et al., 2012), has served as a catalyst for researchers to explore its possibilities in other domains where human decision-making is key (e.g., environmental conservation and education, see Bergquist et al. (2023) and Weijers et al. (2021)). While numerous safety interventions, including signs, arrows, and color-coding, fit the definition of nudges, there is a gap in research exploring the potential of nudges as an established industrial safety strategy (Lindhout & Reniers, 2017). The limited studies that do exist are concentrated primarily on traffic safety (Avineri,

2014). An example from the traffic safety domain indicates that smiley faces can enhance the efficacy of speed feedback displayed on digital signs (Gehlert et al., 2012), driven by social (dis)approval and emotional influence (system 1). However, research on industrial safety nudges remains scarce, hindering a comprehensive understanding of their impact.

Industrial safety is likely to benefit from systematic nudge interventions, and the related behavioral insights, for two main reasons. The first reason includes the central role of behavior in safety performance, with up to 90% of the accidents being human error related (Kletz, 2001), and the discussed lack of innovative psychological frameworks to deeply understand subliminal behavioral drivers (i.e., beyond behavior-based safety and safety culture). The second relates to the physical and cognitive demanding nature of industrial production environments. In his work, Kahneman (2011) explains how an 'exhausted system 2' (e.g., due to fatigue, task complexity, time pressure or sensory overstimulation) tends to fall back on system 1 functioning. Meaning that in demanding situations, such as unforeseen production shutdowns with increased time pressures or extreme temperatures, people tend to be less susceptible for system 2 reasoning, which is dominantly targeted by current safety approaches (i.e., informational safety trainings and extensive safety protocols).

This idea of the exhausted system 2 is supported by the results of an exploratory mobile eyetracking experiment we performed in preparation of the doctoral thesis. We recruited a convenience sample of 60 employees of the steel plant involved in this doctoral thesis (see following section), divided them in two groups of thirty persons (balanced for age, seniority and function), and tasked them with identifying as many hazards as possible (i.e., looking while wearing a mobile-eye tracker and say out loud what hazards they see) with differing time restrictions. One group got 1 minute to identify the hazards and the other 20 seconds, alternating over 4 situations (thus, each group has 2x1minute and 2x20 seconds trials). One of the main conclusions from the pilot study is that the 20 seconds time condition, compared to 1 minute, led to a relatively much less fixation time on hazards that required more reading or interpreting of multiple symbols for both groups (see Figure 2 and 3, green = less fixation, red = more). This aligns with the idea that safe actions requiring more cognitive effort (system 2) are more sensitive to taxing contextual factors such as time pressure, than other features that address system 1 more directly (e.g., use of colors, sounds, simplified signs and symbols). By strategically integrating nudges that target system 1 processing more directly, this renewed safety approach can address behavior change more holistically and effectively, especially in critical and demanding situations like (hazardous) unexpected crises with intense time constraints.

#### Figure 2

#### Figure 3

Heat map of the 1 minute group

Heat map of the 20 seconds group (with visibly less fixation at the flawed information sheet gas



In their work, Lindhout & Reniers (2017) highlight the potential of nudge interventions to promote safety in heavy process industries, but underline the need for pioneering field experiments. This doctoral thesis is such an pioneering endeavor and is the first to systematically investigate and empirically test whether nudges are effective in reducing unsafe behaviors in an industrial production environment. For this end, a series of large field experiments is carried out in the steel industry; as discussed in CHAPTERS 3, 4 and 5.

INTRODUCTION 23

#### The Belgian Steel Plant Involved

The field experiments in this doctoral thesis are carried out at the Belgian sites of a multinational steel producer who is strongly familiar with the challenges that modern day industrial safety faces. Although the safety standards at this Belgian steel plant are high, a couple of thousands of incidents (i.e., potential accidents) still do occur at their sites on a yearly basis. These incidents sometimes result in severe or even fatal accidents (e.g., a fatal accident in 2021). Considerable numbers of the reported incidents are categorized with a 'severity level 5', which means that they could have led to a potential fatal accident. The number of level 5 incidents at this plant during the year 2019 (i.e., at the start of the project) in the following domains were the most prominent: Working with loads (140), LOTOTO procedure (i.e., making sure machines are free of energy before working on it or trespassing nearby) (129), Working at height (109), Traffic & Railways (78), Falling objects (122) and Gas hazards (39). These domains account for 85% of all the level 5 incidents, amounting on average to two severe incidents per day, and therefore constitute a central focus point throughout this doctoral thesis. It also aligns with research indicating that these domains account for up to 73% of all occupational accidents in the Netherlands (Lindhout & Reniers, 2017).

Their current safety approach focusses on the following aspects. There is a big focus on constant technological innovation such as safer machines, better Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) and improvements in safety protocols. They make sure that everybody receives the appropriate (safety) training to execute their function and provide additional trainings for specific target audiences such as the crisis teams. Prevention advisors walk around at the sites to check for safety-related problems and to monitor the compliance of the safety protocols and new employees get a mentor appointed to adapt easier to the current safety protocols. They launched an international health and safety initiative, with which they try to reduce the number of severe accidents to zero by setting up global standards and "Golden rules" of safety (see Figure A1 in Appendix 1A). Recently they started to focus increasingly

24 CHAPTER 1

more on the human factor behind the unsafe behavior and introduced a new safety training wherefore they select influential employees on the work floor to become stewards and to boost shared vigilance among the workers, aiming to create a new and better safety culture.

All these interventions bear witness of a great effort to reduce the number of incidents and the unsafe behavior at the sites, but they all have one thing in common; most of them focus largely on the system 2 of decision-making and deliberate behavior. This is not necessarily a bad thing as system 2 interventions (e.g., training, protocols, safety talks) and basic safe infrastructure and machinery are the basis of a good safety policy (Hofmann et al., 2017; Olson et al., 2016; Spigener et al., 2022); but this dominant focus on system 2 in the current safety interventions also shows that there is room for other additional interventions that address directly to system 1 and assist system 2 limitations. This new focus may be the key to surpass the safety plateau that many industrial companies, like the steel plant involved, have reached.

#### **ADVANCING APPLIED BEHAVIORAL SCIENCE**

In an era marked by transformative technological advancements and a growing understanding of human behavior (incl. bounded rationality), the field of applied behavioral science stands at the threshold of unprecedented possibilities (Hallsworth, 2023; Mills, 2022). These includes novel methods that advance the practice of nudging, but also new behavioral tools, informed by bounded rationality, that extent beyond nudging. In CHAPTER 6, we look ahead to some innovative ways of incorporating artificial intelligence (AI) to identify cognitive biases (i.e., a systematic distortion of judgement, Tversky and Kahneman (1974)), personalize (nudge) interventions for more impact and to grasp the complexities of underlying behavioral drivers, that are all relevant but not limited to industrial safety. We also focus on some related environmental, social, and economic costs associated with behavioral AI applications (Erion et al., 2022; Ryan, 2020). The aim is to clarify the dynamic interplay between AI, organizational decision-making and the multifaceted spectrum of behavioral techniques that poses both challenges and opportunities (Mills et al., 2023). In addition, in the general discussion (CHAPTER 6), we expand the scope beyond nudging by showing how other tools, such as 'behavioral audits' (Sunstein, 2022), can inform on and leverage human bounded rationality in future behavior change initiatives. Our structured outlook provides novel possibilities to steer safety behavior in the right direction and aims to enrich the current scope of applied behavioral science beyond mere choice architectural (or nudge) interventions (Ewert, 2020). These advancement equally enable changes in the larger systems in which fallible individuals operate (Chater & Loewenstein, 2022). CHAPTER 6 and the following general discussion (CHAPTER 7) do provide guidance in the rapid changing landscape of applied behavioral science by offering insights, frameworks, and critical reflections on the current state of the art and the path forward.

#### NUDGING SAFETY AMIDST THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC

As this doctoral thesis took shape, the world grappled with an unprecedented challenge—the COVID-19 pandemic. The pandemic disrupted lives, economies and research activities, including ours related to industrial safety in (impacted) workplace settings (Ingram et al., 2021). Social and behavioral science soon proved vital to support the pandemic control (Van Bavel et al., 2020). Therefore, in response to this unforeseen challenge, two field experiments were carried out, leveraging the principles of nudging to encourage adherence to COVID-19 guidelines. One of them, focused on promoting hand hygiene, is included in this doctoral thesis, because the insights gained on social influence are highly relevant to industrial safety (Casey et al., 2017). This study constitutes the first empirical chapter (CHAPTER 2), serving as a prelude to the broader application of nudging in the realm of safety.

#### **R**EFERENCES

- Allcott, H. (2011). Social norms and energy conservation. *Journal of Public Economics*, 95(9-10), 1082-1095. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpubeco.2011.03.003
- Allcott, H., & Rogers, T. (2014). The Short-Run and Long-Run Effects of Behavioral Interventions: Experimental Evidence from Energy Conservation. *American Economic Review*, 104(10), 3003-3037. https://doi.org/10.1257/aer.104.10.3003
- Avineri, E. (2014). Nudging Safer Road Behaviours. Tel Aviv Academic College of Engineering, Afeka/Acitral.
- Barham, L. (2013). From hand to handle: the first industrial revolution. OUP Oxford.
- Benartzi, S., Beshears, J., Milkman, K. L., Sunstein, C. R., Thaler, R. H., Shankar, M., Tucker-Ray, W., Congdon, W. J., & Galing, S. (2017). Should Governments Invest More in Nudging? *Psychological Science*, 28(8), 1041-1055. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797617702501
- Bergquist, M., Thiel, M., Goldberg, M. H., & van der Linden, S. (2023). Field interventions for climate change mitigation behaviors: A second-order meta-analysis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 120(13), e2214851120. https://doi.org/doi:10.1073/pnas.2214851120
- Berthet, V. (2022). The Impact of Cognitive Biases on Professionals' Decision-Making: A Review of Four Occupational Areas [Review]. Frontiers in Psychology, 12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.802439
- Bicchieri, C. (2017). Norms in the Wild: How to Diagnose, Measure, and Change Social Norms. Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780190622046.001.0001
- Bryan, C., Tipton, E., & Yeager, D. (2021). Behavioural science is unlikely to change the world without a heterogeneity revolution. *Nature Human Behaviour*. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-021-01143-3

- Bucher, T., Collins, C., Rollo, M. E., McCaffrey, T. A., De Vlieger, N., Van der Bend, D., Truby, H., & Perez-Cueto, F. J. A. (2016). Nudging consumers towards healthier choices: a systematic review of positional influences on food choice. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 115(12), 2252-2263. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0007114516001653
- Carden, L., & Wood, W. (2018). Habit formation and change. *Current Opinion in Behavioral Sciences*, 20, 117-122. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cobeha.2017.12.009
- Casey, T., Griffin, M., Flatau Harrison, H., & Neal, A. (2017). Safety Climate and Culture: Integrating Psychological and Systems Perspectives. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 22. https://doi.org/10.1037/ocp0000072
- Chater, N., & Loewenstein, G. (2022). The i-frame and the s-frame: How focusing on individual-level solutions has led behavioral public policy astray. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 1-60. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0140525X22002023
- Congiu, L., & Moscati, I. (2022). A review of nudges: Definitions, justifications, effectiveness. *Journal of Economic Surveys*, *36*(1), 188-213. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/joes.12453
- D'Egidio, G., Patel, R., Rashidi, B., Mansour, M., Sabri, E., & Milgram, P. (2014). A study of the efficacy of flashing lights to increase the salience of alcohol-gel dispensers for improving hand hygiene compliance. *American Journal of Infection Control*, 42(8), 852-855. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajic.2014.04.017
- Davidai, S., Gilovich, T., & Ross, L. D. (2012). The meaning of default options for potential organ donors. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 109(38), 15201-15205. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1211695109
- DeJoy, D. M. (2005). Behavior change versus culture change: Divergent approaches to managing workplace safety. *Safety Science*, 43, 105-129. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssci.2005.02.001

- DellaVigna, S., & Linos, E. (2022). RCTs to Scale: Comprehensive Evidence From Two Nudge Units. *Econometrica*, 90(1), 81-116. https://doi.org/10.3982/Ecta18709
- Erion, G., Janizek, J., Hudelson, C., Utarnachitt, R., McCoy, A., Sayre, M., White, N., & Lee, S.-I. (2022).
  A cost-aware framework for the development of AI models for healthcare applications. *Nature Biomedical Engineering*, 6. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41551-022-00872-8
- Evans, J. S. B. T., & Stanovich, K. E. (2013). Dual-Process Theories of Higher Cognition:Advancing the Debate. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 8(3), 223-241. https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691612460685
- Ewert, B. (2020). Moving beyond the obsession with nudging individual behaviour: Towards a broader understanding of Behavioural Public Policy. *Public Policy and Administration*, 35(3), 337-360. https://doi.org/10.1177/0952076719889090
- Fernández-Muñiz, B., Montes-Peón, J. M., & Vázquez-Ordás, C. J. (2009). Relation between occupational safety management and firm performance. *Safety Science*, 47(7), 980-991. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssci.2008.10.022
- Foster, R. J., Hotchkiss, J., Buckley, J. G., & Elliott, D. B. (2014). Safety on stairs: Influence of a tread edge highlighter and its position. *Experimental Gerontology*, 55, 152-158. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exger.2014.04.009
- Gehlert, T., Schulze, C., & Schlag, B. (2012). Evaluation of different types of dynamic speed display signs. *Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behaviour*, 15(6), 667-675. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trf.2012.07.004
- Geller, E. S. (2005). Behavior-Based Safety and Occupational Risk Management. *Behavior Modification*, 29(3), 539-561. https://doi.org/10.1177/0145445504273287
- Hallsworth, M. (2022). Making Sense of the "Do Nudges Work?" Debate. https://behavioralscientist.org/making-sense-of-the-do-nudges-work-debate/

- Hallsworth, M. (2023). A manifesto for applying behavioural science. *Nature Human Behaviour*, 7(3), 310-322. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-023-01555-3
- Hanks, A. S., Just, D. R., Smith, L. E., & Wansink, B. (2012). Healthy convenience: nudging students toward healthier choices in the lunchroom. *Journal of Public Health*, 34(3), 370-376. https://doi.org/10.1093/pubmed/fds003
- Haslam, C., O'Hara, J., Kazi, A., Twumasi, R., & Haslam, R. (2016). Proactive occupational safety and health management: Promoting good health and good business. *Safety Science*, *81*, 99-108. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssci.2015.06.010
- Hofmann, D. A., Burke, M. J., & Zohar, D. (2017). 100 years of occupational safety research: From basic protections and work analysis to a multilevel view of workplace safety and risk. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 102(3), 375-388. https://doi.org/10.1037/apl0000114
- Hollands, G. J., Bignardi, G., Johnston, M., Kelly, M. P., Ogilvie, D., Petticrew, M., Prestwich, A., Shemilt, I., Sutton, S., & Marteau, T. M. (2017). The TIPPME intervention typology for changing environments to change behaviour. *Nature Human Behaviour*, 1(8), 0140. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-017-0140
- House, J., Lacetera, N., Macis, M., & Mazar, N. (2022). Nudging the nudger: A field experiment on the effect of performance feedback to service agents on increasing organ donor registrations. *National Bureau of Economic Research*. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.3386/w30547
- Hudson, P. (2007). Implementing a safety culture in a major multi-national. *Safety Science*, 45(6), 697-722. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssci.2007.04.005
- Ingram, C., Downey, V., Roe, M., Chen, Y., Buttner, F. C., Buggy, C., & Perrotta, C. (2021). COVID-19 prevention and control measures in workplace settings: a rapid review and meta-analysis. *European Journal of Public Health*, 31, 113-113. <Go to ISI>://WOS:000713802500294

Johnson, E., & Goldstein, D. (2003). Medicine. Do defaults save lives? Science (New York, N.Y.), 302, 1338-1339. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1091721

Kahneman, D. (2011). Thinking, Fast and Slow. Farrar, Straus and Giroux.

Kazdin, A. E. (1973). Methodological and assessment considerations in evaluating reinforcement programs in applied settings. *Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis*, 6(3), 517-531. https://doi.org/10.1901/jaba.1973.6-517

Kletz, T. (2001). An Engineers view of Human Error. Institute of Chemical Engineers.

- Knegtering, B., & Pasman, H. J. (2009). Safety of the process industries in the 21st century: A changing need of process safety management for a changing industry. *Journal of Loss Prevention in the Process Industries*, 22(2), 162-168. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jlp.2008.11.005
- Langen, N., Ohlhausen, P., Steinmeier, F., Friedrich, S., Engelmann, T., Speck, M., Damerau, K., Bienge, K., Rohn, H., & Teitscheid, P. (2022). Nudges for more sustainable food choices in the out-of-home catering sector applied in real-world labs. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling, 180*, 106167. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2022.106167
- Lerner, M. J., Macaulay, J., & Berkowitz, L. (1970). Altruism and helping behavior. Academic Press.
- Lin, Y., Osman, M., & Ashcroft, R. (2017). Nudge: Concept, Effectiveness, and Ethics. Basic and Applied Social Psychology, 39, 1-14. https://doi.org/10.1080/01973533.2017.1356304
- Lindhout, P., & Reniers, G. (2017). What about nudges in the process industry? Exploring a new safety management tool. *Journal of Loss Prevention in the Process Industries*, 50, 243-256. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jlp.2017.10.006
- McGettigan, P., Sly, K., O'Connell, D., Hill, S., & Henry, D. (1999). The effects of information framing on the practices of physicians. J Gen Intern Med, 14(10), 633-642. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1525-1497.1999.09038.x

- Mertens, S., Herberz, M., Hahnel, U. J. J., & Brosch, T. (2022). The effectiveness of nudging: A metaanalysis of choice architecture interventions across behavioral domains. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 119(1). https://doi.org/ARTN e210734611810.1073/pnas.2107346118
- Milkman, K. L., Patel, M. S., Gandhi, L., Graci, H. N., Gromet, D. M., Ho, H., Kay, J. S., Lee, T. W., Akinola, M., Beshears, J., Bogard, J. E., Buttenheim, A., Chabris, C. F., Chapman, G. B., Choi, J. J., Dai, H. C., Fox, C. R., Goren, A., Hilchey, M. D., ... Duckworth, A. L. (2021). A megastudy of text-based nudges encouraging patients to get vaccinated at an upcoming doctor's appointment. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *118*(20). https://doi.org/ARTN e21011651180.1073/pnas.2101165118
- Mills, S. (2022). AI for behavioral science (1st ed. ed.). CRC Press.
- Mills, S., Costa, S., & Sunstein, C. R. (2023). AI, Behavioural Science, and Consumer Welfare. Journal of Consumer Policy. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10603-023-09547-6
- Münscher, R., Vetter, M., & Scheuerle, T. (2016). A Review and Taxonomy of Choice Architecture Techniques. Journal of Behavioral Decision Making, 29(5), 511-524. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/bdm.1897
- Nazaripour, E., Halvani, G., Jahangiri, M., Fallahzadeh, H., & Mohammadzadeh, M. (2018). Safety performance evaluation in a steel industry: A short-term time series approach. *Safety Science*, 110, 285-290. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssci.2018.08.028
- Nemeroff, C., & Karoly, P. (1991). Operant methods. Helping people change: A textbook of methods, 122-160.
- Olson, R., Varga, A., Cannon, A., Jones, J., Gilbert-Jones, I., & Zoller, E. (2016). Toolbox talks to prevent construction fatalities: Empirical development and evaluation. *Safety Science*, *86*, 122-131. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssci.2016.02.009

- Palmer, L. R. (1926). History of the Safety Movement. *The ANNALS of the American Academy of Political* and Social Science, 123(1), 9-19. https://doi.org/10.1177/000271622612300104
- Payne, B. K., & Hannay, J. W. (2021). Implicit bias reflects systemic racism. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 25(11), 927-936. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2021.08.001
- Perneger, T. V. (2005). The Swiss cheese model of safety incidents: are there holes in the metaphor? BMC Health Serv Res, 5, 71. https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6963-5-71

Reason, J. (1990). Human Error. Cambridge University Press.

- Reason, J. (2000). Human error: models and management. *Bmj*, 320(7237), 768-770. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.320.7237.768
- Ryan, M. (2020). In AI We Trust: Ethics, Artificial Intelligence, and Reliability. Science and Engineering Ethics, 26(5), 2749-2767. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11948-020-00228-y
- Saari, J. (1992). Successful implementation of occupational health and safety programs in manufacturing for the 1990s. International Journal of Human Factors in Manufacturing, 2(1), 55-66. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/hfm.4530020105
- Simon, H. A. (1955). A Behavioral Model of Rational Choice. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 69(1), 99-118. https://doi.org/10.2307/1884852
- Spigener, J., Lyon, G., & McSween, T. (2022). Behavior-based safety 2022: today's evidence. *Journal of Organizational Behavior Management*. https://doi.org/10.1080/01608061.2022.2048943

Sunstein, C. R. (2015). Nudging and Choice Architecture: Ethical Considerations. Law.

- Sunstein, C. R. (2017). Nudges that fail. Behavioural Public Policy, 1(1), 4-25. https://doi.org/10.1017/bpp.2016.3
- Sunstein, C. R. (2022). Sludge Audits. *Behavioural Public Policy*, 6(4), 654-673. https://doi.org/PII S2398063X1900032010.1017/bpp.2019.32

- Swuste, P., Gulijk, C. v., & Zwaard, W. (2010). Safety metaphors and theories, a review of the occupational safety literature of the US, UK and The Netherlands, till the first part of the 20th century. Safety Science, 48(8), 1000-1018. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssci.2010.01.020
- Thaler, R., & Benartzi, S. (2004). Save More Tomorrow<sup>™</sup>: Using Behavioral Economics to Increase Employee Saving. *Journal of Political Economy*, 112(S1), S164-S187. https://doi.org/10.1086/380085
- Thaler, R., & Sunstein, C. (2008). Nudge: Improving decisions about health, wealth, and happiness. Yale University Press.
- Thaler, R., Sunstein, C., & Balz, J. (2012). Choice Architecture. In. https://doi.org/10.13140/2.1.4195.2321
- Tham, D. S. Y., Sowden, P. T., Grandison, A., Franklin, A., Lee, A. K. W., Ng, M., Park, J., Pang, W., & Zhao, J. (2020). A systematic investigation of conceptual color associations. *J Exp Psychol Gen*, 149(7), 1311-1332. https://doi.org/10.1037/xge0000703
- Tversky, A., & Kahneman, D. (1974). Judgment under Uncertainty Heuristics and Biases. *Science*, *185*(4157), 1124-1131. https://doi.org/DOI 10.1126/science.185.4157.1124
- Van Bavel, J. J., Baicker, K., Boggio, P. S., Capraro, V., Cichocka, A., Cikara, M., Crockett, M. J., Crum, A. J., Douglas, K. M., Druckman, J. N., Drury, J., Dube, O., Ellemers, N., Finkel, E. J., Fowler, J. H., Gelfand, M., Han, S. H., Haslam, S. A., Jetten, J., . . Willer, R. (2020). Using social and behavioural science to support COVID-19 pandemic response. *Nature Human Behaviour*, 4(5), 460-471. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-020-0884-z
- Van Rookhuijzen, M., De Vet, E., & Adriaanse, M. A. (2021). The Effects of Nudges: One-Shot Only? Exploring the Temporal Spillover Effects of a Default Nudge [Original Research]. Frontiers in Psychology, 12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.683262

- Weijers, R. J., de Koning, B. B., & Paas, F. (2021). Nudging in education: from theory towards guidelines for successful implementation. *European Journal of Psychology of Education*, 36(3), 883-902. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10212-020-00495-0
- Zohar, D., Cohen, A., & Azar, N. (1980). Promoting increased use of ear protectors in noise through information feedback. *Hum Factors*, 22(1), 69-79. https://doi.org/10.1177/001872088002200108

## CHAPTER 2

# NUDGE INTERVENTIONS PROMOTING HAND HYGIENE: A LARGE-SCALE FIELD EXPERIMENT IN AN INDUSTRIAL PLANT<sup>1</sup>

This study investigated the effectiveness of nudge interventions promoting hand hygiene in an industrial plant during the COVID-19 pandemic. A large field experiment was conducted with 861 participants and 14,645 observations. The interventions involved manipulating the placement of alcohol gel dispensers, the presence of social norm messages, and the placement of footstep stickers on the ground. All interventions significantly increased the usage of alcohol gel dispensers, with the combination of placement and social norm message providing the greatest results, increasing usage by 47%. People passing by in groups had a higher probability of using the dispenser than individuals, and this effect appeared to be solely mediated by the leading example of the first person in the group using the dispenser. The findings provide guidance for promoting health and safety compliance within organizations to combat surging infection rates related to COVID-19 and other infectious diseases, such as the seasonal flu.

Keywords: Nudging; Hand hygiene; Infectious diseases; Field experiment; Herd behavior; Social Norms; Process Industry

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Costa, S., Disli, M., Duyck, W., & Dirix, N. (in press). Nudge Interventions Promoting Hand Hygiene: A Large-Scale Field Experiment in an Industrial Plant. *Journal of Public Health.* 

36 CHAPTER 2

#### INTRODUCTION

Hand hygiene is a critical factor to prevent illness and counter the spread of infectious diseases (Aiello et al., 2008; Wong et al., 2014). Good hand hygiene practices have shown to, among others, reduce illness-related absenteeism, at work (Arbogast et al., 2016) or schools (Wang et al., 2017), mitigate food poisoning (Lee et al., 2017) and prevent detrimental or even fatal hospital-acquired-infections (HAIs) (Boyce & Pittet, 2002; Jefferson et al., 2009). More recently, it also appeared as one of the important safety guidelines to prevent the spread of the coronavirus (SARS-CoV-2), in public and in the workplace, during the pandemic (Brauner et al., 2021; Ingram et al., 2021). To date, multiple vaccines have proven effective against this coronavirus reducing hospitalization, severe illness and excess mortality drastically (McDonald et al., 2021). Yet, the higher risk for fatalities in developing countries (Levin et al., 2022) and the potential increasing chance of future pandemics, due to climate change (Mora et al., 2022), indicate that insights into pandemic control, and combatting the spread of infectious diseases in general, remains of primordial importance. Next to vaccination, it became evident that human behavior plays an important role in controlling such a pandemic and infection. Good hand hygiene, social distancing, the wearing of mouth masks, ventilation and a significant reduction in social contacts, appeared to be the core aspects to battle the spread of the virus (Brauner et al., 2021; Ingram et al., 2021; Talic et al., 2021). Preventive behavioral measures to stop the spread of viral infections, like disinfecting hands, have been more common and promoted in health environments because health risks are greater in these contexts (Allegranzi & Pittet, 2009). However, the coronavirus and other viruses like the seasonal flu penetrate all levels of society, endangering also other vulnerable groups of people (Mirzadeh & Khedmat, 2022; Liu et al., 2021), including the workforce of organizations and their social networks. The present paper aims to assess whether behavioral interventions can be used to promote good hand hygiene in a non-health private company context and hence to evaluate if these behavioral interventions could assist in controlling the spread of these viruses.
Especially in environments with many social interactions, effective safety measures against the coronavirus are critical. Not only in the context of Corona, but also for other diseases that may compromise employee health and absence. Previous studies have shown that influenza accounts for millions of lost days at work and substantial economic losses to employers (Akazawa et al., 2003). Here, we aim to investigate the social dynamics that influence compliance with hygienic safety measures. In order to do so, we carry out a field experiment at the sites of a Belgian steel plant, with a total of 5500 employees, to investigate the influence of several behavioral interventions on hand hygiene. We set up interventions such as varying the position of hand sanitizers, increasing their visibility and by placing messages to encourage hand hygiene. Because group influences are very important in large industrial plants, we also assess whether there is a difference in the usage of the hand sanitizer when entering in group compared to people who pass by individually. Those insights can prove useful to support policymakers in minimizing the infection rates in both health and non-health organizations, and society as a whole.

## Revising Safety Measures from a Boundedly Rational Behavioral Perspective

Next to vaccines, interventions implemented to slow down the spread of the coronavirus include hand washing and disinfecting, wearing masks in public, physical distancing, ventilation and eventually a variety of lockdowns, covering curfew, quarantines and travelling restrictions (Lunn et al., 2020; Meyerowitz-Katz & Merone, 2020). It became increasingly clear however that the expected compliance with the proposed more rational measures is complicated by a variety of human factors. From a social perspective, the perseverance of people is put to the test on respecting the corona measures, by demanding a reduction of social interaction, self-isolation, curfew restrictions, limited physical affection and the lack of leisure activities. This derogation of the social tissue is detrimental for the mental health of the population (Xiong et al., 2020). Both economic and social challenges complicate fostering and enforcing compliance with the imposed safety measures (McKibbin & Fernando, 2021).

38 CHAPTER 2

It is therefore important to take a closer look at the behavioral and cognitive barriers that hamper compliance with the safety measures in more depth. Some people might have the intention to comply with the safety measures, to the extent that they find it reasonable, but fail to act accordingly. Other people might be ignorant or reluctant to compliance. What determines whether people decide to disinfect their hands, when arriving at the workplace, or not? Do people apply rational calculations about the infection rate at work? We know that humans are not always rational agents that optimize behavior, especially not in such a complex and unseen pandemic. Human decision-making is bound in its rationality and often works with heuristics that are prone to cognitive biases (Kahneman, 2011). Other influences such as the strong impact of human emotions result in decisions and actions that can differ strongly from our desired outcome; or the outcomes that governments consider desirable (Benartzi et al., 2017). According to the dual-process theory of decision-making (Kahneman, 2011), a relevant distinction can be made between two systems of thinking.

System 1 thinking is a more automatic, fast and unconscious way of thinking that requires little effort and is associated with no feeling of control. This is seen as an instinctive way of 'thinking' or decision-making, and includes subconscious values, drives and beliefs that influence our 'gut reactions'. Examples are the automatic actions when driving a car on an empty road, subconsciously linking a color to certain moods and mindlessly following the example of a group of people (e.g., looking up or suddenly starting to run). System 2 thinking is considered a more rational way of thinking and is associated with the subjective experience of power to act, choice and concentration. It includes conscious attention for the mental effort that is being done. Examples are trying to remember something, comparing the price-quality of products and focusing attention in a noisy room. Behavioral interventions that address system 1 assist in following through with the right intentions or that encourage the desired behavior by rearranging the social or physical environment. This approach, also

bounded rationality, in current safety measures and is a valuable complementary component of current behavioral change strategies.

# The Concept of Nudging

The idea that humans are boundedly rational has given rise to a series of psychological studies investigating how behavior can be influenced through by modifying contextual, often subconscious, factors. Thaler and Sunstein (2008) put forward the concept of 'nudging', meaning literally 'to give a little push', to address this practice. They suggest that people can be guided and supported in making the right decisions to promote the more preferred behavior, by altering the choice architecture surrounding this behavior - i.e., the physical, social and psychological aspects of the context that influence our choices. A typical example of a nudge is a default opting-out procedure to promote organ donations (Davidai et al., 2012), which leverages the human tendency to minimize effort when indifferent to the outcome (de Ridder et al., 2022). Another example is the use of colorful footprints towards the stairs to promote stair climbing (Van Hoecke et al., 2018). This salient intervention draws attention to a certain desired action (i.e., stair climbing) suggesting it is the better choice to make in the given situation. The goal of these nudges is to counter undesired flaws in modern day decision-making, targeting evolutionary heuristics and cognitive limitations, to achieve the desired behavioral outcomes (Tversky & Kahneman, 1974). The application of nudges has been found successful in various domains, including health (Hanks et al., 2012), financial decision-making (Thaler & Benartzi, 2004), climate preserving actions (Bergquist et al., 2023) and education (Weijers et al., 2021), and can be an aid to a good health and safety policy (Dolan et al., 2012; Goldenbeld et al., 2016).

### Effectiveness, Cost-Effectiveness and Ethical Concerns

A recent meta-analysis by Mertens and colleagues (2022), including more than 200 studies, concludes that overall choice architecture interventions (or nudges) promote behavioral change with a small to medium effect size (Cohen's d = 0.45). Other studies, including data from governmental nudge

units (DellaVigna & Linos, 2022) and controlling for publication bias (Maier et al., 2022), call for caution and indicate that expected effect sizes are likely to be lower. Hallsworth (2022) adds that the goal should be to assess the effectivity of nudges in specific contexts, rather than to summarize the effectiveness of nudges in its entirety; which may lead to inaccurate and irrelevant conclusions. Context dependency is key for nudge interventions and should encourage research to define the crucial influencing environmental factors. In addition, the long-term effects of nudges have barely been studied and the few studies show mixed results (Brandon et al., 2017; Marchiori et al., 2017; Van Rookhuijzen et al., 2021). It appears to be dependent on both nudge types and implementation context, which again highlights the importance of a fine-grained analysis of the contextual moderators.

One of the biggest advantages of using nudge interventions is their cost-effectiveness in comparison to typical intervention methods such as financial incentives. Indeed, Benartzi et al. (2017) report that government nudges often yield particularly high returns at a low cost when it comes to boosting retirement savings, college enrolment, energy conservation, and vaccination rates. For example, \$1 spent on retirement saving interventions resulted in an increased contribution of \$100 for nudges, compared to \$14.58 for information campaigns and \$1.24 for tax incentives. These findings suggest that nudging interventions could be of great value to improve the cost effectiveness of behavior change programs in public and private organizations, including public health policy.

Nudging has also sparked debates concerning ethical issues and whether it is legitimized to alter people's behavior in often-covert ways without consent of the affected individuals (Lin, Osman & Ashcroft, 2017). Sunstein (2015) concludes that when nudges fall within the periphery of the concept of manipulation (i.e., not the strongest forms such as lies), when they have legitimate purposes, when they would be effective, and when they do not diverge from the kinds of influences that are common and unobjectionable in ordinary life, that the burden of justification often can be met. Also, it is impossible not to have a choice architecture. For instance, regarding placement of alcohol gel dispensers, it has to be placed somewhere. Optimal placement may be a nudge, but suboptimal placement is also a nudge relative to the optimal position, be it in the wrong direction from a health optimization viewpoint.

# Nudging Hand Hygiene

Prior to COVID-19, hand hygiene was already particularly important for hospitals, as HAIs can be detrimental or fatal for patients with a weakened immune system (Boyce & Pittet, 2002). Hand hygiene is considered one of the primordial factors to combat HAIs (Jefferson et al., 2009). Aaerestrup and Moesgaard (2017) examined how hospital visitors can be nudged to comply with hand hygiene protocols. They found that nudge interventions focused on the placement of the hand sanitizers, colorful indications and social norm messages (i.e., informing about what people do or find important) were successful in promoting hand hygiene. These findings were replicated in more recent studies in hospitals with larger sample sizes (Mobekk & Stokke, 2020; Hansen et al., 2021). A systematic review on nudge effectiveness promoting hand hygiene found that nudges were overall effective, but included mainly studies in hospitals and schools, and only one in a shopping street and a military base (Gof, 2022). These results are encouraging in the light of a pandemic, and for controlling viral viruses in general, as they provide guidance of how we could successfully improve hand hygiene in a non-health private organization using nudge interventions. More closely to this topic, Van Dessel and colleagues (2022) found nudges (i.e., placement plus red sign 'Please disinfect hands', and posters with elderly 'Disinfecting hands saves lives. Will you disinfect your hands?') to be effective in promoting hand hygiene among visitors of a supermarket. A remaining question which we address in the current study is whether these interventions can be successful in contexts such as the daily workplace, especially contexts in which health and hygiene is not very apparent, like industrial plants. The clear distinction of the effect of hygiene nudges between environments where hygiene is less apparent (e.g., industrial plants), compared to environments where hygiene is more apparent (e.g., hospitals, schools, food stores), is hardly investigated. In addition, most nudge studies focus on visitors, while more research among employee populations is needed (Gof, 2022).

### Friction and Salience

Some choice architectural elements used in previous nudge studies, including those promoting hand hygiene, form a valuable basis for this study. Friction is one of those concepts often used for effective behavior change. This concept was first described in the 19<sup>th</sup> century by Guillaume Ferrero as 'the Principle of Least Effort' (1894), stating that if humans are presented with multiple paths for any decision, they will inevitably pick the easiest. Metcalfe et al. (2020) found that the mere placement of healthy food in school cafeterias affected the food selection and consumption of the pupils, and Houten et al. (1981) nudged participants to take the stairs by increasing the waiting time of the elevator by 16 sec. By strategically placing hand sanitizers and reducing friction, an increased usage of alcohol gel could be expected, as found in the hospital studies (Aaerestrup and Moesgaard, 2017).

Another relevant aspect includes altering the salience of the alcohol gel dispensers. Salience is described as that property by which some things stand out compared with its surroundings. It captures the capacity of something in the environment to catch and retain one's attention (Taylor & Thompson, 1982). A better placement of the hand sanitizer increases the visibility and might be more salient. As an example of the versatile ways in which salience can be increased, Hansen (2011) found that the use of green footstep prints towards trash cans reduces littering. He argues that increased salience is an important aspect of behavior change interventions and that the presence of stronger social norms could moderate the salience effect. This means that the stronger a certain behavior is considered as 'desirable', the stronger the effect can be of salient interventions drawing more attention to these specific actions.

# Group Behavior and Social norms

People are easily influenced by their social context. How others behave or what they value (i.e., social norms) has a strong impact on the individuals' belief and behavior. Research has shown that the

behavior and attitudes of others can be contagious, either by the thought of missing information that the group must have (i.e., social proof; Cialdini, 1993, 1999) or by the need to belong to a group, based on the fear of being expelled, which can lead to conformity<sup>2</sup> (Ash, 1956). In the light of the COVID-19 pandemic, the apparent impact of social influences is shown in recent occurrences, such as global panic buying in retail (Prentice et al., 2022) and international stock market inefficiencies (Aslam et al., 2022). Both examples are generated by contagious behaviors and expectations, and stress the possible consequences of herd mentality and herd behavior<sup>3</sup> (Banerjee, 1992). Studies in several domains, including health and finance, use insights in those social dynamics (i.e., herd behavior, conformity and social proof) to implement behaviorally informed social interventions (Allcott, 2011; Bikhchandani & Sharma, 2000; Lindhout & Reniers, 2017). The same social dynamics should be considered when developing safety interventions to combat infectious diseases (e.g., promoting hand hygiene), especially during a pandemic.

During the pandemic clear expectations have been communicated by the government and employers regarding safety measures (Brauner et al., 2021; Talic et al., 2021), and relatives and colleagues express their opinions and values to a certain degree. In this way, behavior such as hand hygiene compliance can become strongly subjected to social norm influences. Social norm nudges provide feedback on one's actions compared to a reference group<sup>4</sup> and have proven particularly effective in promoting pro-environmental behavior (Farrow et al., 2017; Bergquist et al., 2022). Social normative feedback can either be descriptive, representing what most people actually do to allow impactful comparisons (e.g., "the majority of guests reuse their towels" in Goldstein et al., 2008), or injunctive,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Conformity is the act of matching attitudes, beliefs, and behaviors to group norms to avoid rejection (Ash, 1956).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Herd behavior refers to people acting in the same way as others are doing, instead of using their own information or by making independent decisions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Reference groups refer to any group that is used by an individual as a standard for evaluating themselves and their own behavior (Bicchieri, 2017).

communicating what behavior others approve or disapprove (e.g., "Please don't remove the petrified wood from the park" in Cialdini et al., 2006). According to Cialdini (2013), injunctive norms are often more effective when the undesirable behavior is more prevalent than the desirable behavior. In a health context, social norm messaging has proven effective in promoting hand hygiene among hospital visitors (Mobekk & Stokke, 2020). The question remains whether the effect maintains in an environment, such as a steel industry plant, where social norms towards hand hygiene are less strong and explicit.

# **CURRENT STUDY**

According to studies in hygiene-focused environments, including schools and hospitals (Jefferson et al., 2020), proper hand hygiene reduces acute respiratory infections (ARIs) and absenteeism by up to 16% and 36%, respectively. Hospital studies suggest health-promoting nudges can enhance hand hygiene compliance by around 55%, leading to an approximate 8% ARI reduction and a 16% decrease in absenteeism. As COVID-19 and seasonal flus impact the broader population, more research, especially in under investigated less hygiene-centric organizational settings, is needed to assess the effectiveness of behavioral interventions in reducing workplace absenteeism and preventing hospitalizations (Mirzadeh & Khedmat, 2022; Liu et al., 2021). For this end, a large-scale field experiment is carried out at the Belgian site of the multinational steel factory during the pandemic (June – August 2020). Here, we aim to examine if nudge effects hold in a context where health and hygiene is less apparent and that involves mainly employees instead of visitors (e.g., successful hand hygiene nudges in supermarkets, Van Dessel et al. (2022)), often overlooked in nudge studies (Kubera, 2023) (RQ1). To address this issue, multiple nudge interventions are developed and implemented on the site of the steel company.

The first nudge intervention focuses on the placement of the hand sanitizers. By doing this we alter the required amount of effort to perform the action, which is often referred to as a reduction of

friction (Popova & Popov, 2015). By making the action easier to perform, even slightly, an increase of the desired behavior is likely to occur. In accordance with similar behavioral studies manipulating friction to promote healthy food, consumption and hand hygiene in hospitals, we expect this intervention to have a moderate effect on hand hygiene compliance at the industrial plant (Hypothesis 1). A second intervention focuses on salience by placing green footstep prints towards the hand sanitizer. This should redirect the attention to the hand sanitizer more explicitly and increase its weight on the decision to comply or not. A small positive effect on hand hygiene compliance is expected (Hypothesis 2), as was found in previous studies with salient footstep prints in the context of littering (Hansen, 2011) and the use of stairs (Van Hoecke et al., 2018). A third intervention is a displayed message relating to the elaborated concept of social norms (Bicchieri, 2017). By providing information about what others do (i.e., descriptive norms) and approve (i.e., injunctive norms) regarding the use of the hand sanitizer, we aim to highlight good examples and values, and to evoke social influences promoting hand hygiene. The use of social norm messages proved successful in improving hand hygiene in hospitals (Mobekk, 2020). Here we expect a positive effect of social norm messaging, but smaller than in the hospital environment, as compliance with hand hygiene and its potential consequences carries a lower weight in the current industrial context (Hypothesis 3).

In addition, we aim to study if the appearance in group influences the usage of the hand sanitizer (RQ2), taking in consideration the relevant insights of herd behavior (Le Bonn, 1899; Economou et al., 2018; Lin, 2018). Here, we expect that people in group become more aware of potential moral condemnations and therefore become more sensitive for guiding social cues (i.e., social norm messages and behavior of group members) and tend to conformity (Banerjee, 1992), increasing the usage of the hand sanitizer (Hypothesis 4).

### **METHOD**

#### **Participants**

In this study, carried out in a natural industrial setting, we observed all employees passing by the main entrances in the Administrative Building (AB) of the steel plant. During the two months of our research, 861 separate employees worked at the AB, excluding those who worked remotely. Of this group, 74% identified themselves as male (N= 639) and 26% as female (N=222). The male group had an average age of 48 years old (M= 48.2, SD= 10.6), compared to an average age of 46 years in the female group (M= 46.3, SD= 8.7). The members of both groups had a predominantly Belgian nationality, respectively 98% and 95% for the male and female group. Most of the employees working at the AB are white-collar workers, with a small share of blue-collar workers (<5%). Before starting this study, approval was obtained from the labor unions representing all employees, informing them about the content of the study, interventions and privacy implications. Summaries of the results are free accessible for the employees on the intranet website of the steel plant. Ethical clearance for this study was provided by the safety department of the industrial plant.

# **Research Design**

In this field experiment, we use a mixed design incorporating within-subjects evaluations per location and between-subjects comparisons between locations, including multiple control groups (see overview Table 1). Five locations at the AB were selected with the highest number of passersby. This included three main entrances to the building (*Gate 1-3*), the sandwich bar (*Gate 4*) and one entrance to the restaurant (*Gate 5*). A variety of interventions was assigned to each location, including pre- and posttests. Except for the control location, each location contained a varying combination of the interventions but in a different order to partially counterbalance sequence effects. The experiment lasted 7 weeks in total. *Gate 5* functioned as a control measurement. No interventions were implemented here.

experiment, this location had to close in week 6. Therefore, several control measurements were done at other locations, removing active interventions for a week, to see if the effects would decrease or persist. In the other gates (*Gates 1-4*), the control condition and Intervention 1 lasted for two weeks, while other interventions lasted at least 1 week.

# Table 1

The sequence of the nud	ge interventions per la	ocation
-------------------------	-------------------------	---------

	Week 1	Week 2	Week 3	Week 4	Week 5	Week 6	Week 7
Gate 1 (camera footage)	Control	Control	Placement	Placement	Placement Social norm	Placement Social norm Footsteps	Control
Gate 2 (camera footage)	Control	Control	Placement	Placement	Placement Footsteps	Placement Social norm Footsteps	Placement Social norm Footsteps
Gate 3	Control	Control	Placement	Placement	Placement Footsteps	Control	Placement Footsteps
Gate 4	Control	Control	Placement	Placement	Placement Social Norm	Placement Social Norm	Placement Social Norm
Gate 5	Control	Control	Control	Control	Control	/	/

*Note.* Gate 1 = 'Main entrance Wing 5'; Gate 2 = 'Main entrance 2; Gate 3 = 'Main exit; Gate 4 = 'Sandwich bar'; Gate 5= 'Restaurant'; Control = 'Original position of hand sanitizer'

### Materials and Procedure

We test the effect of the mere placement of the dispensers (see Figure 1), removing them from the wall and placing them on a pillar in the middle of the entrance (see Figure 2), making it more visible and less effortful to use the dispenser. The same manual dispensers are chosen that hung up already, requiring a horizontal push to use it. Every location has the same type of dispenser. Using a new, hands free, dispenser could have influenced the behavior of interest and thus the results of the experiment. For this reason, four stable stands are crafted at the central workshop of the industrial plant with weighted bases to resist the impact of horizontal pushes. For the second intervention, we add a sign with a social norms message ("Here we use ALCOHOL GEL to protect each other", in Dutch) on a green background (see Figure 3). A potential unintended effect of social norms messaging occurs when the message emphasizes the majority of people performing the undesired behavior. A message displaying that 30% of the people comply with the rules, triggers thoughts of 70% doing the opposite (Cialdini et al., 2006; Goldstein et al., 2008). As we estimate the initial compliance rate to be rather low, we decide to keep the message more abstract by not providing any percentages. Mentioning the 5% baseline level of compliance at the administrative building of the steel plant could have been detrimental for the effectiveness of this intervention. A third intervention is the use of salient green footstep prints on the floor heading towards the alcohol gel dispenser (see Figure 4). For this purpose, we used ground stickers that can be placed easily on the ground and were robust. At last, we test a combination of all three nudges, including placement, salient footsteps and a social norms message (Figure 5).

### Figure 1

Original placement of the hand sanitizer (Control condition)



# Figure 2

*The mere placement of the hand sanitizer on a pillar (Intervention 1)* 



# Figure 3

*The placement of the hand sanitizer on a pillar with a social norms message (Intervention 2)* 



# Figure 4

*The placement of the hand sanitizer with salient footprints (intervention 3)* 



# Figure 5

The placement of the hand sanitizer on a pillar with a social norms message along with salient footprints (Intervention 4)



### **Observation Method**

Two observation methods were selected: alcohol gel consumption (in ml) and camera footage.

#### Alcohol Gel Consumption

At all locations, changes in the volume of the dispensers were measured. This provided us with information on how much alcohol gel had been used exactly at each of the five location. From this we could deduce and estimate how many of the passersby disinfected their hands. To make an accurate estimate two things needed to be assessed, namely the number of pushes per individual while using the dispenser and how much milliliter of alcohol gel one push contains. A preliminary observation has been carried out to check the number of pushes. From the 100 people observed, 97 pushed the dispenser one time, the other 3 persons two times. Based on this observations, the assumption was made that one person would push the dispenser one time in most cases during the experiment. Camera footage was used to double check as will be discussed later. To assess the volume of one push, the average was taken of 50 pushes. The average volume of one push was 1 ml. The consumption of the alcohol gel was measured at each location twice a week, at Wednesday and Friday evening at 19h. To determine the number of passersby data was collected from the electric gates, which people need to pass to enter, together with camera footage.

### Camera Footage

At specific locations, including *Gate 1* and *Gate 2*, camera footage was used. This allows us to make observations that are more accurate and to double-check the reliability of the alcohol consumption method. Specifically, we used this data to investigate social effects, usage in group or individually, and the difference between different time slots (07h00 - 11h00; 11h00 - 15h00; 15h00 - 19h00). In this way, data from more than 14 000 observations is collected during the experiment across all locations. In-person observations were not appropriate because of the time-consuming nature, the impossibility to observe multiple places simultaneously because of lack of additional observers, and the

potential impact on the participants' behavior. The approval for using cameras is obtained from employee unions and the management of the industrial plant on condition that the privacy of the employees would be strictly protected.

# **Data Analysis**

We use the ordinal least squares (OLS) method to investigate the effect of the nudge interventions on the alcohol gel consumption, along with the mere effect of the time periods (i.e., 'Monday-Tuesday-Wednesday' and 'Thursday-Friday') and locations on the consumption of the alcohol gel. The usage (in ml) per passerby is the dependent variable, while the interventions, time periods and locations served as predictors.

To attain a deeper insight into the usage of the alcohol gel dispenser a logistic regression (LR) was conducted to analyze the dichotomous data of dispenser use (1= used, 0= not used) collected using the camera footage. These results do not only provide us a more detailed insight in the effectiveness of the nudges, but also allow us to investigate the effect of social dynamics in influencing the usage of the alcohol gel dispenser. More specifically, we measure the effect on usage by the participants being in a group or not and whether or not the first person used the dispenser. In addition, the effect of individual weekdays (i.e., Monday, Tuesday, Wednesday, Thursday and Friday) and specific time intervals per day (i.e., 'Morning' = 07h00-11h00, 'Noon' = 11h00-15h00, and 'Afternoon' = 15h00-19h00) are assessed. The Odds-ratio (OR) is used to facilitate the interpretation of the probabilities of the dichotomous outcome variable. The OR is a measure of association between exposure and outcome. It represents the odds that an outcome will occur given a particular exposure, compared to the odds that the outcome will occur without that exposure. All analyses were performed in IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, version 27 (IBM Corp., Armonk, N.Y., USA).

### **R**ESULTS

# Ordinary Least Squares (OLS) Regression - Alcohol Gel Consumption

Table 2 displays the results of the first part of the OLS regression analysis, including the effect of the nudge interventions, time periods (i.e., 'Monday-Tuesday-Wednesday' and 'Thursday-Friday') and locations, for the alcohol consumption method. The results of the OLS regression show us that all the intervention conditions have a statistically significant result on a 0.01 level (p < .01).

In the control condition, the dispenser was used in 7% (N=993)<sup>5</sup> of the opportunities observed (N=13820). In the placement and placement-footsteps condition, the dispenser was used in 27% (N=2434) and in 47% (N=1125) of the 2393 and 3075 observed opportunities respectively. For the placement-message condition, the dispenser was used in 45% (N= 1384) of the observed opportunities (N=3075), and in the placement-message-footsteps condition the dispenser was used in 57% (N= 1613) of the observed opportunities (N=2830). See Table A1 in Appendix 2A for a more detailed overview of the number of passersby and the alcohol gel consumption (in ml) per condition. Passersby in the placement condition are 21% more likely to use the alcohol gel dispenser when compared to the baseline. Passersby in the placement-message condition respectively have a 46%, 38% and 54% higher probability of using the alcohol gel. The regression model additionally incorporates the second time period (i.e., "Thursday-Friday"). The results reveal that the passersby in the have a small lower chance of 3% using the dispenser when compared to the baseline (i.e., "Monday-Tuesday-Wednesday"), but these results are not significant. Next to nudging interventions and days-of-the-week effects, the model also controls for the locations of dispensers. Estimation results indicate that passersby at the locations *Main entrance Wing* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Note that this number represent the usage in ml. Given that pre-observations determined that 97% of the participants pushes one time and that one push equals 1ml, we use the usage in ml as an estimate of the number of individuals who used the dispensers.

5 ('Gate 1') and *Main entrance 2* ('Gate 2') are respectively 8% and 15% more likely to use the alcohol gel, when compared to the baseline measure, here *Main exit* ('Gate3'). People that passed by at the locations *Sandwich bar* ('Gate 4') and *Restaurant* ('Gate 5') were respectively 17% and 14% more likely to use the alcohol gel. Figure 6 provides an overview of the usage of the hand sanitizers (in ml/passerby) per condition.

# Table 2

VARIABLES	USAGE HAN	USAGE HAND SANITIZER		
	В	95% CI		
Placement	0.213***	0.16 - 0.27		
	(-7.758)			
Placement-message	0.417***	0.34 - 0.50		
	(-10.904)			
Placement-footsteps	0.431***	0.35 - 0.51		
	(-10.715)			
Placement-footsteps-message	0.516***	0.43 - 0.60		
	(-12.729)			
Thursday-Friday	-0.025	-0.07 - 0.02		
	(-1.230)			
Gate 1	0.078**	0.01 - 0.15		
	(-2.329)	0.00 0.00		
Gate 2	$(0.149^{***})$	0.08 - 0.22		
	(-4.514)	0.00 0.24		
Gate 4	(4.571)	0.09 - 0.24		
Cata 5	(-4.3/1)	0.06 0.22		
Gate 5	(3.612)	0.00 - 0.22		
	(-3.012)			
Observations	64			
R-squared	0.885			

# Results of the OLS regression analysis

*Note.* t-statistics in parentheses; \*\*\* p < .01, \*\* p < .05, \* p < .1; reference level for interventions 'Control', days of the week 'Monday-Tuesday-Wednesday' and for gates 'Gate 3'.

#### 54 CHAPTER 2

# Figure 6



The usage of the hand sanitizers (alcohol gel consumption)

### Logistic Regression (LR) Analysis - Camera Footage

The results of the LR provides us a more detailed insight into the effects of the nudge interventions, including differences on daily basis (i.e., Monday, Tuesday, Wednesday, Thursday and Friday) or certain time period during the day ('Morning', 'Noon' and 'Afternoon'). The data collected based on the camera footage has a higher accuracy and can thus be used as a double check of the effects found using the alcohol consumption method. The cameras were only present at location *Main entrance Wing 5* ('Gate1') and *Main entrance 2* ('Gate2'), so the following findings only refer to these locations.

### Nudge Interventions

A summary of the results can be found in Table 3. The results of the LR analysis show that all intervention conditions have a statistically significant effect on a 0.01 level (p < .01). In the control condition, the dispenser was used in 4% (N=7274) of the opportunities observed (N=326). In the placement and placement-footsteps condition, the dispenser was used in 28% (N=1141) and in 41% (N=321) of the 4142 and 789 observed opportunities respectively. For the placement-message

condition, the dispenser was used in 45% (N=226) of the observed opportunities (N=502), and in the placement-message-footsteps condition the dispenser was used in 51% (N=987) of the observed opportunities (N=1938). See Table A2 in Appendix 2A for a detailed overview of the number of passersby and hand sanitizer usage per condition. The OR of the placement condition indicates that passersby in this condition were 7.7 times more likely to use the alcohol gel than in the baseline condition ('Control'). The OR ratio of the placement-footsteps condition, the placement-message condition and the placement-footsteps-message condition indicates that passersby were respectively 17.9, 19.8 and 20.4 times more likely to utilize the dispenser compared to the baseline condition. Figure 7 provides an overview of the usage of the hand sanitizers (in %) for all conditions.

### Figure 7



*The usage of the hand sanitizers (camera footage)* 

# Weekday and Time of the Day

When checking for the effects of the before mentioned days of the week in Table 3, we see that each day presents a statistically significant effect. When taking Monday as the baseline condition, we see that the passersby at the other days are 12-19% less likely to use the alcohol gel dispenser. For Tuesday, Wednesday, Thursday and Friday, this is 12% (p < .1), 13% (p < .1), 15% (p < .05) and 19% (p < .01) respectively. The results also show us that the passersby in the morning, between 07h00-11h00, ('Morning') are 15% less likely (p < .01) to use the alcohol gel compared to the baseline, in this case the time period between 11h00 and 15h00 ('Noon'). People passing by between 15h00-19h00 ('Afternoon') were 41% less likely (p < .01) to disinfect their hands compared to the baseline.

### Social Group Effects

The LR analysis also allows us to investigate how social influences impact the usage of the alcohol gel (Table 3). The results of the first model indicate that passersby in group ('Group') are 8.4 times more likely (p < .01) to use the dispenser than when they are not in group; controlling for the weekdays and daily time periods. The second model adds the variable 'Group 1st', which captures if the first person in the group did or did not use the dispenser. When we look at the results we see that passersby in group were 27.3 times more likely (p < .01) to use the alcohol gel when the first person used the alcohol gel, compared to when this person did not. In addition, we see that the group effect, observed in the first model, is no longer significant after controlling for the 'Group 1st'. This indicates that not the mere fact of being in group impacts the use of the alcohol gel, but that the group effect is likely to be mediated by the leading example of the first person using or not using the dispenser. This finding remain stable after controlling for weekdays and time of the day effects. Across both models, we observe that the intervention effects remain relatively stable and significant at a 0.01 level (p < .01). In a subsequent analysis, we found that people who are in a group with the first person using ('Group 1<sup>sv</sup>) were 2.5 times more likely (p < .01) to use the hand sanitizer compared to people who are in a group in general. Additionally, we found that people in a group with the first person using were 16.8 times more likely (p < .01) to sanitize their hands compared to individuals in a groups where the first person did not use the hand sanitizer.

# Table 3

VARIABLES		USAGE HA	AND SANITIZER	
	Exp (B)	Exp (B)	95% CI	Cohen's D
Placement	7.728***	7.724***	6.76 - 8.83	0.69
	(-30.05)	(-30.045)		
Placement-footsteps	17.896***	17.891***	16.02 - 24.36	1.08
	(-31.05)	(-31.052)		
Placement-message	19.781***	19.755***	14.91 - 21.46	1.13
	(-27.93)	(-27.924)		
Placement-footsteps-message	20.456***	20.438***	17.71 - 23.59	1.15
	(-41.204)	(-41.198)		
Tuesday	0.896	0.9	0.78 - 1.04	-0.07
	(-1.494)	(-1.430)		
Wednesday	0.859**	0.862**	0.75 - 0.99	-0.02
	(-2.182)	(-2.120)		
Thursday	0.832***	0.835**	0.73 - 0.96	-0.02
	(-2.605)	(-2.549)		
Friday	0.763***	0.773***	0.66 - 0.90	-0.05
	(-3.486)	(-3.303)		
Morning	0.851***	0.852***	0.77 - 0.94	-0.05
-	(-3.314)	(-3.262)		
Afternoon	0.592***	0.601***	0.51 - 0.71	-0.15
	(-6.285)	(-6.111)		
Group	8.363***	0.543	0.16 - 1.85	1.29
sh	(-12.192)	(-0.977)		
Group (first person)	(	24.012***	16.62 - 37.15	1.58
		(-4.833)		
Observations	14,645	14,645		

Results of the Logistic Regression (LR) analysis

*Note.* Z-statistics in parentheses; \*\*\* p < .01, \*\* p < .05, \* p < .1; reference level for interventions 'Control', days of the week 'Monday' and time of the day 'Noon'.

# DISCUSSION

Next to the medical approach, it became clear that human behavior is a vital factor to temper a pandemic by an infectious virus like COVID-19 (Bavel et al., 2020). Yet, successfully attaining desired changes in behavior is proving difficult. Therefore, evaluating the effectiveness of behavioral interventions in controlling the spread of the coronavirus, and in extension for other viruses, such as

the season flu, in both health and non-health environments, is undeniably necessary (Jefferson et al., 2020).

### Nudges Promoting Hand Hygiene: Friction, Salience and Social norms

Reducing friction is one of the most straightforward, yet also one of the most underutilized behavioral change techniques. Sunstein (2022b) also refers to the term 'sludge' to name excessive frictions that needlessly prevent people from doing what they want or should do. Thaler (2021) adds that removing or reducing barriers could be more productive than trying to overcome them. This can be seen as the urge of humans to follow the path of least resistance and convenience, driven by system 1, that is only deviated from for good reasons by the intervention of System 2 (Kahneman, 2011). Our findings fall in line and reveal that the mere placement of the dispenser, clearly in sight and directly at the entrance, influences the hand sanitizing behavior of the passersby. These results validate previous studies showing that by simply altering the required effort, people can be nudged to consume healthier (Metcalfe et al., 2020), take the stairs more instead of the elevator (Houten et al., 1981) and to complete otherwise complex registration forms (Sunstein, 2022b).

By implementing salient green footsteps, we were able to draw the attention of the passersby and attain a small, but positive effect on compliance on top of the mere placement. Similar to the footsteps being used to reduce littering (Hansen, 2011), this study shows that these visual cues can be used to elicit the desired action, by increasing visibility. Together with the successful alterations in friction, these salient changes show how much the direct environment influences people at the specific moment they have to make a choice (Ischen et al., 2022). Kahnemann (2011) captures this in his acronym WYSIATI ('What You See Is All There Is'), referring to the fact that people make judgements or impressions according to the information that is available (i.e., availability heuristic), mainly driven by the automatic processing of system 1. Through displaying a short social norm message, we implemented an additional environmental cue, providing information about the customs and values of the social environment (Bicchieri, 2017). The message contained both descriptive ('Here we use alcohol gel') and injunctive aspects ('to protect each other') and had a clear significant positive effect on hand sanitizing behavior. Being part of a group has always been important to humans, giving system 1 great weight to avoid potential social norm violations in our decision-making; an argument supported by brain response studies to social norms (Zinchenko & Arsalidou, 2018). Our findings show, together with a vast amount of studies in the literature (see Allcott, 2011; Bicchieri, 2017; Cialdini et al., 2006), that conveying social norm information in concise timely messages can successfully influence behavior.

The successful implementation of the hand hygiene nudges indicates the potential of behavioral interventions that respond to the underlying system 1. Large informational health campaigns, regulation and well-developed hygiene procedures are essential, but rely mainly on infallible logical processing of information (i.e., System 2). This study proves that a complementary approach, focused on designing good choice architecture using behavioral insights (including nudges), should be considered to overcome and assist psychological shortcomings in safety and health compliance.

### Nudging Hand Hygiene in a Non-Health Organizational Environment

Previous studies found that nudge interventions can significantly promote hand hygiene compliance in hospitals (Mobekk, 2020). As the effectiveness of nudge interventions is heavily depending on the implementation context (Hauser et al., 2018; Sunstein, 2022a), the question remained whether the nudge interventions would also work in organizational environments where hygiene is less prevalent, unlike hospitals, schools and food stores (Gof, 2022; Hansen et al., 2021; Van Dessel et al., 2022). This study is among the first to investigate the effectiveness of nudges promoting hand hygiene in a non-health organizational environment and the findings confirm the effectiveness of hygiene promoting nudges in such contexts. This ties in with a debate regarding the practice of nudging. Recent

studies found that the effectiveness of nudges can be smaller than expected when controlling for publication bias (DellaVigna & Linos, 2022; Maier et al., 2022). An important consideration here is that the expected effectiveness of nudge techniques in general can be very different from observed effects if the context is insufficiently taken into account (Hallsworth, 2022). For example, a recent study on the effect of salience on hand sanitizing in a shopping street found no effect of the intervention (Weijers & de Koning, 2021), whereas the current results in a factory and previous results in hospitals do show the effectiveness of this type of nudge. This shows that specific locations and contexts could act as a mediating factor. By testing the effectiveness of nudge interventions in heterogeneous domains, we can increase our understanding of the applicability of nudge techniques to promote specific behaviors like the disinfection of hands. Sunstein (2022) argues that the most important implication involves shifting to more targeted and personalized nudge interventions, which can produce higher welfare benefits than blind 'mass' approaches.

#### The Additivity and Cost-Effectiveness of Nudge Interventions

In our study, the combination of the nudge interventions lead to a higher increase in people disinfecting their hands in comparison to the isolated interventions. It appears that the effect of the nudges added up to a great degree, instead of cancelling each other out. This shows that both saliency and social factors may influence system 1 simultaneously and independently. In a study with much smaller effects, Brandon et al. (2019) also reported a smaller reduced peak load electricity consumption with isolated interventions (2%-4%) compared to a combination of interventions (7% reduction). They equally found additivity of the nudge interventions in subsequent applications and limited evidence of crowd out effects. Ayal and colleagues (2021) concur with this idea of additivity and found that combining visibility cues and social norms was more effective to orient people toward more moral behavior then separate interventions. The additivity of effects is of course even more important for nudging that yields smaller effect sizes (DellaVigna, 2022). If multiple nudge techniques can be

combined to attain a cumulative greater effect, this would be of great value for policy makers and behavioral change practitioners trying to promote certain behaviors, including compliance with the hygienic safety measures.

Associated with the effectiveness of nudge interventions are the costs incurred for implementation. Benartzi and colleagues (2017) showed that simple nudge interventions were able to achieve significant results in a very cost-effective way, when compared to more classic policy instruments, including information campaigns and tax incentives. In this study the implementation cost were equally kept to a minimum. The total amount of the intervention costs added up to no more than 200 euros in total, excluding the organization cost of a limited number of necessary meetings. This allows us to make a rough estimation of the cost-effectiveness of our interventions regarding absenteeism. The absence rate during the winter period due to the seasonal flu at the steel plant is on average around 10%. We already mentioned that good hand hygiene can reduce absenteeism up to 36% (Jefferson et al., 2020) and that our combined nudge condition resulted in a 50% compliance rate among the 861 employees at the AB (i.e., 15.5 avoided cases). The median cost of a lost day at work for the industrial organization adds up to 300 euros/day for white-collar workers and the lost days per case of illness is considered to be three on average (Akazawa et al., 2003). This then results in an avoided cost of 13950 euro and a return on investment (ROI) ratio of 68 for every euro invested in implementing the nudges. This high ROI ratio aligns with findings of Benartzi and colleagues (2017) where ROI ratios added up to 100 for every dollar spent for nudges increasing retirement savings, while information campaigns and tax incentives attained a ratio of 14.58 and 1.24 respectively. A future careful analysis should be done to compare different hygiene promoting interventions (including nudges), regarding their cost-effectiveness, to further substantiate these findings.

### **Group Effects and Herd Behavior**

Another important aspect of this research is the influence of the social dynamics on the usage of the alcohol gel dispenser. The findings provides interesting results concerning this matter, showing that people who pass by in group are significantly more likely to disinfect their hands, than people who pass by individually. However, this effect is mediated by the leading example of the first person in the group. It appears that the behavior of the first person in the group largely determines whether the other will use the dispenser or not. This is a clear example of herd behavior where passersby assume that the example of the person in the front of them is the way to go (Banerjee, 1992). They might believe that the person or people in front of them know(s) something that they are not aware of, concerning the necessity to comply with the safety measure or not. It could also be possible that the passersby following the example fear the possibility to be rejected by the group and conform to avoid this threat, leaning towards conformity (Ash, 1956). In addition, the dimension of social proof could be at play and is strongly related to the concept of herd behavior. This is defined as an informative social influence that can lead to herd behavior. Seeing how others behave in ambiguous situations where we are uncertain might provide information or cues in guiding actions (Cialdini, 1993). In this case, individuals who are not familiar with the new situation might take the behavior of the first person as a guidance for appropriate action. For the reason that the effect remains stable over the weekdays, it might be more plausible to assume that people follow the example because they want to avoid accusations from the group, than that they do not know how to act in the specific situation.

## Time and Day of the Week Effects

Interestingly, we see that passersby are more likely to use the alcohol gel on Monday, than on the other days of the week. An explanation might be that people start their week with fresh energy and good intentions, but that this diminishes as the days go by. This idea is further supported, as the odds of using the alcohol gel lowers when days of the week pass by; with the lowest probability at Friday. This is in line with the concept of ego depletion. The ego depletion theory indicates that self-control draws from a finite pool of cognitive resources. When the pool of cognitive resources declines, so does self-control (Kahneman, 2011), and therefore also the reliance on System 2, in favor of system 1 thinking. Another finding is that people are more likely to use the dispenser at noon, between 11h00 -15h00, which might be an anticipation of people getting their lunch. If the virus possibly finds their way to the hands of the people, they might have the reflection to disinfect their hands before bringing them to their mouth to eat. Another explanation might be that people are less subjected to time pressure during the lunch break to comply with the safety measures, while during the morning (7h00-11h00) or afternoon (15h00-19h00) they might be more in a rush. Although nudge interventions influence the odds of people performing a certain behavior, certain factors remain likely to moderate its effectiveness, including cognitive load (Carroll et al., 2018; Sweller, 1988). In this case, time pressure could reduce the effectiveness of the nudge interventions, but still invoke a relative smaller reduction then in a situation with more System 2 interventions (e.g., training or campaigns). Referring back to the concept of ego depletion, we actually would expect here that nudge interventions experience a relatively smaller reduction in effectiveness because it draws on less cognitive resources then typical System 2 interventions (Kahneman, 2011).

### Long-Term Effectiveness

An important and insufficiently investigated aspect of nudging is the long-term effect of the interventions (Marchiori et al., 2017). Our findings show that the effectiveness of the nudges maintained for several weeks and that the effect almost completely disappeared after removing the nudges (i.e., drop to pre-test level). This entails two things. First, it shows that the within-subjects design (sequence of interventions) is not the driving force behind the large effect sizes in the consecutive conditions. Secondly, it show that the hygiene nudges in this study have no long-term effects on behavior after the nudges are removed, and thus most likely not on attitudes (related to health and hygiene). Previous

studies have shown that some interventions can have a long-lasting effect on behavior even after removing the nudges, such as the continued climbing of stairs after the closing time of the elevator was lowered to the pre-test level (Houten et al., 1981). More research is needed to identify which factors, related to the nudge approach, could lead to effective habit formation; including the necessary number of repetitive actions (not equal to intervention duration), the role of the implementation context and the features of the desired action (Wood, 2019).

### Limitations and Further Research

For this research, a large field experiment was conducted at the steel plant. An advantage of field studies is that the findings have a high ecological validity (Meyer, 1995). Because of the high ecological validity, the chances are higher that our e can be replicated at different, but similar, real life settings. Field experiments, on the other hand, tend to have a generally lower internal validity. For this reason, a well thought out experimental design was used, including pre- and posttest, control measures and high number of participants (n= 861, 14 645 observations), to control for these confounding influences to the greatest extent. Further research should integrate both controlled (e.g., laboratory or online) and more ecologically valid methods (e.g., field experiments and 'mega studies', which are massive field experiments, see Milkman et al. (2021)) to support each other's deficiencies and further substantiate our findings. This aligns with Beshears and Kosowsky (2020) highlighting the need for both approaches to advance the field of nudging.

Another limitation of this study is that it is unclear how peripheral characteristics of the nudging interventions, such as the color of the footsteps or message, could influence the result (note that Aaerestrup and Moesgaard, 2017, had similar results with red messages). Likewise, given limited resources (i.e., available locations, time restrictions), we only tested one variation of the message being displayed right above the dispenser. Future exploration of different nudge formats (e.g., different colors and a variation of social norm messages) can bring additional value to the current findings.

Subsequently, our findings do not allow to draw conclusions on the long-term effects of the interventions (i.e., >3 months later). Some of the nudge interventions' effects, in general, have shown to decrease over time (Allcot & Rogers, 2014). We were able to show that the effect of the interventions maintained for several weeks and that the effect disappeared completely after nudge removal. Yet, a follow-up after a couple of months was intended, but not possible due to the rapidly changing governmental policy and business environment (e.g., mandatory remote work) due to the pandemic.

Further research should aim to refine which types of nudges work for promoting hand hygiene in which settings and under which circumstances. The organizational context, for example, both present in this study and the hospital studies, but not in the shopping street where similar interventions proved ineffective (Weijers & de Koning, 2021), could play a role in the nudge effectiveness. Michael Hallsworth (2022) highlights that having an eye for different effects in different environments with different cultures and demographics, rather than merely generalizing conclusions across different contexts and populations, is necessary to advance the field of behavioral science (incl. nudging) and to overcome distorted interpretations regarding nudge effectivity.

# **CONCLUSION**

This study investigates the effectiveness of nudge solutions for the rapid surging infection rates during the coronavirus pandemic. More specifically, nudge interventions were developed and tested for the first time to promote hand hygiene in a non-health private company context. A large field experiment was conducted at the sites of a multinational steel plant, investigating nudges that would increase the number of people disinfecting their hands at the main entrances. The nudge interventions included the placement of the alcohol gel dispenser, a social norms message and footsteps placed on the ground. All interventions contributed significantly to an increase in the usage of the alcohol gel dispensers by the passersby. In addition, our findings show that people passing by in group have a significantly higher probability of using the alcohol gel than when they passed by individually. This effect was largely determined by the first person in the group using the alcohol gel dispenser. The nudge approach proved successful to promote hand hygiene in heterogeneous environments, including a nonhealth private company context, and provides guidance to combat contagious viruses, such as the coronavirus and the seasonal flu.

### REFERENCES

- Aarestrup, S.C., Moesgaard, F., & Schuldt-Jensen, J. (2016). Nudging hospital visitors' hand hygiene compliance. iNudgeyou The Applied Behavioural Science Group. https://inudgeyou.com/wpcontent/uploads/2017/08/OP-ENG-Hand\_Hygiene.pdf
- Aiello, A. E., Coulborn, R. M., Perez, V., & Larson, E. L. (2008). Effect of Hand Hygiene on Infectious Disease Risk in the Community Setting: A Meta-Analysis. *American Journal of Public Health*, 98(8), 1372-1381. https://doi.org/10.2105/ajph.2007.124610
- Akazawa, M., Sindelar, J. L., & Paltiel, A. D. (2003). Economic Costs of Influenza-Related Work Absenteeism. Value in Health, 6(2), 107-115. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1524-4733.2003.00209.x
- Allcott, H. (2011). Social norms and energy conservation. *Journal of Public Economics*, 95(9-10), 1082-1095. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpubeco.2011.03.003
- Allcott, H., & Rogers, T. (2014). The Short-Run and Long-Run Effects of Behavioral Interventions: Experimental Evidence from Energy Conservation. *American Economic Review*, 104(10), 3003-3037. https://doi.org/10.1257/aer.104.10.3003
- Allegranzi, B., & Pittet, D. (2009). Role of hand hygiene in healthcare-associated infection prevention. *Journal of Hospital Infection*, 73(4), 305-315. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhin.2009.04.019

Arbogast, J. W., Moore-Schiltz, L., Jarvis, W. R., Harpster-Hagen, A., Hughes, J., & Parker, A. (2016).
 Impact of a Comprehensive Workplace Hand Hygiene Program on Employer Health Care
 Insurance Claims and Costs, Absenteeism, and Employee Perceptions and Practices. J Occup
 Environ Med, 58(6), e231-240. https://doi.org/10.1097/jom.000000000000738

Asch, S. E. (1956). Studies of Independence and Conformity .1. A Minority of One against a Unanimous Majority. *Psychological Monographs*, 70(9), 1-70. https://doi.org/DOI 10.1037/h0093718

- Aslam, F., Ferreira, P., Ali, H., & Kauser, S. (2022). Herding behavior during the Covid-19 pandemic: a comparison between Asian and European stock markets based on intraday multifractality. *Eurasian Economic Review*, 12(2), 333-359. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40822-021-00191-4
- Ayal, S., Celse, J., & Hochman, G. (2021). Crafting messages to fight dishonesty: A field investigation of the effects of social norms and watching eye cues on fare evasion. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 166, 9-19.

https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.obhdp.2019.10.003

- Banerjee, A. V. (1992). A Simple-Model of Herd Behavior. Quarterly Journal of Economics, 107(3), 797-817. https://doi.org/Doi 10.2307/2118364
- Benartzi, S., Beshears, J., Milkman, K. L., Sunstein, C. R., Thaler, R. H., Shankar, M., Tucker-Ray, W., Congdon, W. J., & Galing, S. (2017). Should Governments Invest More in Nudging? *Psychological Science*, 28(8), 1041-1055. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797617702501
- Bergquist, M., Thiel, M., Goldberg, M. H., & van der Linden, S. (2023). Field interventions for climate change mitigation behaviors: A second-order meta-analysis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 120(13), e2214851120. https://doi.org/doi:10.1073/pnas.2214851120

Beshears, J., & Kosowsky, H. (2020). Nudging: Progress to date and future directions. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 161, 3-19. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.obhdp.2020.09.001

Bicchieri, C. (2017). Norms in the Wild: How to Diagnose, Measure, and Change Social Norms. Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780190622046.001.0001

Bikhchandani, S., & Sharma, S. (2000). Herd Behavior in Financial Markets. *IMF Staff Papers*, 47(3), 279-310. https://doi.org/10.2307/3867650

Boyce, J. M., & Pittet, D. (2002). Guideline for Hand Hygiene in Health-Care Settings.
Recommendations of the Healthcare Infection Control Practices Advisory Committee and the HICPAC/SHEA/APIC/IDSA Hand Hygiene Task Force. Society for Healthcare
Epidemiology of America/Association for Professionals in Infection Control/Infectious
Diseases Society of America. MMWR Recomm Rep, 51(Rr-16), 1-45, quiz CE41-44.

- Brandon, A., List, J. A., Metcalfe, R. D., Price, M. K., & Rundhammer, F. (2019). Testing for crowd out in social nudges: Evidence from a natural field experiment in the market for electricity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, *116*(12), 5293-5298. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1802874115
- Brauner, J. M., Mindermann, S., Sharma, M., Johnston, D., Salvatier, J., Gavenciak, T., Stephenson, A.
  B., Leech, G., Altman, G., Mikulik, V., Norman, A. J., Monrad, J. T., Besiroglu, T., Ge, H.,
  Hartwick, M. A., Teh, Y. W., Chindelevitch, L., Gal, Y., & Kulveit, J. (2021). Inferring the
  effectiveness of government interventions against COVID-19. *Science*, *371*(6531), 802-+.
  https://doi.org/ARTN eabd933810.1126/science.abd9338
- Carroll, K. A., Samek, A., & Zepeda, L. (2018). Food bundling as a health nudge: Investigating consumer fruit and vegetable selection using behavioral economics. *Appetite*, 121, 237-248. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2017.11.082

Cialdini R. B. (1993). Influence: the psychology of persuasion (Rev.). Quill/William Morrow.

Cialdini, R. B. (2013). Influence: Science and Practice (5th ed.). Pearson.

- Cialdini, R. B., Demaine, L. J., Sagarin, B. J., Barrett, D. W., Rhoads, K., & Winter, P. L. (2006). Managing social norms for persuasive impact. *Social Influence*, 1(1), 3-15. https://doi.org/10.1080/15534510500181459
- Cialdini, R. B., Wosinska, W., Barrett, D. W., Butner, J., & Gornik-Durose, M. (1999). Compliance with a request in two cultures: The differential influence of social proof and commitment/consistency on collectivists and individualists. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 25(10), 1242-1253. https://doi.org/Doi 10.1177/0146167299258006
- Davidai, S., Gilovich, T., & Ross, L. D. (2012). The meaning of default options for potential organ donors. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 109(38), 15201-15205. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1211695109
- de Ridder, D., Kroese, F., & van Gestel, L. (2022). Nudgeability: Mapping Conditions of Susceptibility to Nudge Influence. Perspectives on Psychological Science, 17(2), 346-359. https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691621995183
- DellaVigna, S., & Linos, E. (2022). RCTs to Scale: Comprehensive Evidence From Two Nudge Units. Econometrica, 90(1), 81-116. https://doi.org/10.3982/Ecta18709
- Dolan, P., Hallsworth, M., Halpern, D., King, D., Metcalfe, R., & Vlaev, I. (2012). Influencing behaviour: The mindspace way. *Journal of Economic Psychology*, 33(1), 264-277. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joep.2011.10.009
- Economou, F., Hassapis, C., & Philippas, N. (2018). Investors' fear and herding in the stock market. *Applied Economics*, 50(34-35), 3654-3663. https://doi.org/10.1080/00036846.2018.1436145
- Farrow, K., Grolleau, G., & Ibanez, L. (2017). Social Norms and Pro-environmental Behavior: A Review of the Evidence. *Ecological Economics*, 140, 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2017.04.017

- Ferrero, G. (1894). L'inertie mentale et la loi du moindre effort. Revue Philosophique de la France Et de l'Etranger, 37(n/a), 169 - 182.
- Goff, M. (2022). Nudging for Hand Hygiene: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis (Master's thesis). Georgia State University. https://doi.org/10.57709/28832241
- Goldstein, N. J., Cialdini, R. B., & Griskevicius, V. (2008). A room with a viewpoint: Using social norms to motivate environmental conservation in hotels. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 35(3), 472-482. https://doi.org/10.1086/586910
- Goldenbeld, C., de Groot-Mesken, J., & Rijsdijk, H. (2016). Beïnvloeding van snelheidsgedrag door nudging. Stichting Wetenschappelijk Onderzoek Verkeersveiligheid SWOV.
- Hallsworth, M. (2022, August 2). Making Sense of the "Do Nudges Work?" Debate. Behavioral Scientist. https://behavioralscientist.org/making-sense-of-the-do-nudges-work-debate/
- Hanks, A. S., Just, D. R., Smith, L. E., & Wansink, B. (2012). Healthy convenience: nudging students toward healthier choices in the lunchroom. *Journal of Public Health*, 34(3), 370-376. https://doi.org/10.1093/pubmed/fds003
- Hansen, P.G., (2011). *Green Nudge: Nudging Litter Into The Bin.* iNudgeyou The Applied Behavioural Science Group. https://inudgeyou.com/en/green-nudge-nudging-litter-into-the-bin/
- Hansen, P. G., Larsen, E. G., Modin, A., Gundersen, C. D., & Schilling, M. (2021). Nudging hand hygiene compliance: a large-scale field experiment on hospital visitors. *Journal of Hospital Infection*, 118, 63-69. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhin.2021.09.009
- Hauser, O. P., Gino, F., & Norton, M. I. (2018). Budging beliefs, nudging behaviour. *Mind & Society*, 17(1), 15-26. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11299-019-00200-9
- Ingram, C., Downey, V., Roe, M., Chen, Y., Buttner, F. C., Buggy, C., & Perrotta, C. (2021). COVID-19 prevention and control measures in workplace settings: a rapid review and meta-analysis. *European Journal of Public Health*, 31, 113-113. <Go to ISI>://WOS:000713802500294

- Ischen, C., Meijers, M. H. C., Vandeberg, L., & Smit, E. G. (2022). Seen as Green? Assessing the Salience and Greenness of Environmentally Friendly Packaging Cues. *Journal of Food Products Marketing*, 28(1), 31-48. https://doi.org/10.1080/10454446.2022.2038757
- Jefferson, T., Del Mar, C., Dooley, L., Ferroni, E., Al-Ansary, L. A., Bawazeer, G. A., van Driel, M. L., Foxlee, R., & Rivetti, A. (2009). Physical interventions to interrupt or reduce the spread of respiratory viruses: systematic review. *Bmj-British Medical Journal*, 339. https://doi.org/ARTN b367510.1136/bmj.b3675
- Jefferson, T., Del Mar, C. B., Dooley, L., Ferroni, E., Al-Ansary, L. A., Bawazeers, G. A., van Driel,
  M. L., Jones, M. A., Thorning, S., Beller, E. M., Clark, J., Hoffmann, T. C., Glasziou, P. P., &
  Conly, J. M. (2020). Physical interventions to interrupt or reduce the spread of respiratory
  viruses. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*(11).

https://doi.org/10.1002/4651858.CD006207.pub5

Johnson, E., & Goldstein, D. (2003). Medicine. Do defaults save lives? Science (New York, N.Y.), 302, 1338-1339. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1091721

Kahneman, D. (2011). Thinking, Fast and Slow. Farrar, Straus and Giroux.

- Kubera, P. (2023). Nudging in the workplace: Moving beyond the traditional management toolbox. Scientific Papers Of Silesian University Of Technology, 172 (Organization and Management Series). https://managementpapers.polsl.pl/wp-content/uploads/2023/06/172-Kubera.pdf
- Le Bon, G. (1899). The Crowd: A Study of the Popular Mind. *International Journal of Ethics*, 9(4), 521-523.
- Lee, H. K., Abdul Halim, H., Thong, K. L., & Chai, L. C. (2017). Assessment of Food Safety Knowledge, Attitude, Self-Reported Practices, and Microbiological Hand Hygiene of Food Handlers. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 14(1), 55. https://www.mdpi.com/1660-4601/14/1/55

- Levin, A. T., Owusu-Boaitey, N., Pugh, S., Fosdick, B. K., Zwi, A. B., Malani, A., Soman, S.,
  Besançon, L., Kashnitsky, I., Ganesh, S., McLaughlin, A., Song, G., Uhm, R., Herrera-Esposito, D., Campos, G. d. I., Antonio, A. C. P., Tadese, E. B., & Meyerowitz-Katz, G.
  (2022). Assessing the burden of COVID-19 in developing countries: systematic review, meta-analysis and public policy implications. *BMJ Global Health*, 7(5), e008477. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjgh-2022-008477
- Lin, M. C. (2018). The impact of aggregate uncertainty on herding in analysts' stock recommendations. International Review of Financial Analysis, 57, 90-105. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.irfa.2018.02.006
- Lin, Y., Osman, M., & Ashcroft, R. (2017). Nudge: Concept, Effectiveness, and Ethics. *Basic and Applied Social Psychology*, *39*, 1-14. https://doi.org/10.1080/01973533.2017.1356304
- Lindhout, P., & Reniers, G. (2017). What about nudges in the process industry? Exploring a new safety management tool. *Journal of Loss Prevention in the Process Industries*, 50, 243-256. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jlp.2017.10.006
- Liu, B., Spokes, P., He, W. Q., & Kaldor, J. (2021). High risk groups for severe COVID-19 in a whole of population cohort in Australia. *Bmc Infectious Diseases*, 21(1). https://doi.org/ARTN 68510.1186/s12879-021-06378-z
- Lunn, P. D., Belton, C. A., Lavin, C., McGowan, F. P., Timmons, S., & Robertson, D. A. (2020). Using Behavioral Science to help fight the Coronavirus. *Journal of Behavioral Public Administration*, 3(1). https://doi.org/10.30636/jbpa.31.147
- Maier, M., Bartoš, F., Stanley, T. D., Shanks, D. R., Harris, A. J. L., & Wagenmakers, E.-J. (2022). No evidence for nudging after adjusting for publication bias. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 119(31), e2200300119. https://doi.org/doi:10.1073/pnas.2200300119
- Marchiori, D. R., Adriaanse, M. A., & De Ridder, D. T. D. (2017). Unresolved questions in nudging research: Putting the psychology back in nudging. *Social and Personality Psychology Compass*, 11. https://doi.org/10.1111/spc3.12297
- McDonald, I., Murray, S. M., Reynolds, C. J., Altmann, D. M., & Boyton, R. J. (2021). Comparative systematic review and meta-analysis of reactogenicity, immunogenicity and efficacy of vaccines against SARS-CoV-2. *Npj Vaccines*, 6(1). https://doi.org/ARTN 7410.1038/s41541-021-00336-1
- McKibbin, W., & Fernando, R. (2021). The Global Macroeconomic Impacts of COVID-19: Seven Scenarios. *Asian Economic Papers*, 20(2), 1-30. https://doi.org/10.1162/asep\_a\_00796
- Mertens, S., Herberz, M., Hahnel, U. J. J., & Brosch, T. (2022). The effectiveness of nudging: A metaanalysis of choice architecture interventions across behavioral domains. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 119(1). https://doi.org/ARTN e210734611810.1073/pnas.2107346118
- Metcalfe, J. J., Ellison, B., Hamdi, N., Richardson, R., & Prescott, M. P. (2020). A systematic review of school meal nudge interventions to improve youth food behaviors. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 17(1). https://doi.org/ARTN 7710.1186/s12966-020-00983-y
- Meyer, B. D. (1995). Natural and Quasi-Experiments in Economics. Journal of Business & Economic Statistics, 13(2), 151-161. https://doi.org/Doi 10.2307/1392369
- Meyerowitz-Katz, G., & Merone, L. (2020). A systematic review and meta-analysis of published research data on COVID-19 infection fatality rates. *International Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 101, 138-148. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijid.2020.09.1464
- Milkman, K. L., Gromet, D., Ho, H., Kay, J. S., Lee, T. W., Pandiloski, P., Park, Y., Rai, A., Bazerman, M., Beshears, J., Bonacorsi, L., Camerer, C., Chang, E., Chapman, G., Cialdini, R., Dai, H.,

Eskreis-Winkler, L., Fishbach, A., Gross, J. J., . . . Duckworth, A. L. (2021). Megastudies improve the impact of applied behavioural science. *Nature*, *600*(7889), 478-483. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-021-04128-4

- Mirzadeh, M., & Khedmat, L. (2022). Pregnant women in the exposure to COVID-19 infection outbreak: the unseen risk factors and preventive healthcare patterns. *Journal of Maternal-Fetal & Neonatal Medicine*, 35(7), 1377-1378. https://doi.org/10.1080/14767058.2020.1749257
- Mobekk, H., Hessen, D. O., Fagerstrom, A., & Jacobsen, H. (2020). For Your Eyes Only: A Field Experiment on Nudging Hygienic Behavior. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 11. https://doi.org/ARTN 60344010.3389/fpsyg.2020.603440
- Mora, C., McKenzie, T., Gaw, I. M., Dean, J. M., von Hammerstein, H., Knudson, T. A., Setter, R.
  O., Smith, C. Z., Webster, K. M., Patz, J. A., & Franklin, E. C. (2022). Over half of known human pathogenic diseases can be aggravated by climate change. *Nature Climate Change*, *12*(9), 869-875. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-022-01426-1
- Popova, E., & Popov, V. L. (2015). The research works of Coulomb and Amontons and generalized laws of friction. *Friction*, *3*(2), 183-190. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40544-015-0074-6
- Prentice, C., Quach, S., & Thaichon, P. (2022). Antecedents and consequences of panic buying: The case of COVID-19. *International Journal of Consumer Studies*, 46(1), 132-146. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijcs.12649
- Sunstein, C. (2015). Nudges and Choice Architecture: Ethical Considerations. Yale journal on regulation, Forthcoming. https://ssrn.com/abstract=2551264
- Sunstein, C. R. (2022a). The distributional effects of nudges. Nature Human Behaviour, 6(1), 9-10. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-021-01236-z
- Sunstein, C. R. (2022b). Sludge Audits. *Behavioural Public Policy*, 6(4), 654-673. https://doi.org/PII S2398063X1900032010.1017/bpp.2019.32

- Sweller, J. (1988). Cognitive Load During Problem Solving: Effects on Learning. *Cognitive Science*, 12(2), 257-285. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15516709cog1202\_4
- Talic, S., Shah, S., Wild, H., Gasevic, D., Maharaj, A., Ademi, Z., Li, X., Xu, W., Mesa-Eguiagaray, I., Rostron, J., Theodoratou, E., Zhang, X. M., Motee, A., Liew, D., & Ilic, D. (2021).
  Effectiveness of public health measures in reducing the incidence of covid-19, SARS-CoV-2 transmission, and covid-19 mortality: systematic review and meta-analysis (vol 375, e068302, 2021). *Bmj-British Medical Journal, 375*. https://doi.org/ARTN n299710.1136/bmj.n2997
- Taylor, S. E., & Thompson, S. C. (1982). Stalking the Elusive Vividness Effect. Psychological Review, 89(2), 155-181. https://doi.org/Doi 10.1037/0033-295x.89.2.155
- Thaler, R., & Benartzi, S. (2004). Save More Tomorrow<sup>TM</sup>: Using Behavioral Economics to Increase Employee Saving. *Journal of Political Economy*, *112*(S1), S164-S187. https://doi.org/10.1086/380085
- Thaler, R. H., & Sunstein, C. R. (2008). Nudge: improving decisions about health, wealth, and happiness. Yale University Press.
- Thaler, R. (2021). What's next for nudging and choice architecture? Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 163, 4-5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.obhdp.2020.04.003
- Tversky, A., & Kahneman, D. (1974). Judgment under Uncertainty Heuristics and Biases. *Science*, *185*(4157), 1124-1131. https://doi.org/DOI 10.1126/science.185.4157.1124
- Van Bavel, J. J., Baicker, K., Boggio, P. S., Capraro, V., Cichocka, A., Cikara, M., Crockett, M. J., Crum, A. J., Douglas, K. M., Druckman, J. N., Drury, J., Dube, O., Ellemers, N., Finkel, E. J., Fowler, J. H., Gelfand, M., Han, S. H., Haslam, S. A., Jetten, J., . . . Willer, R. (2020). Using social and behavioural science to support COVID-19 pandemic response. *Nature Human Behaviour*, 4(5), 460-471. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-020-0884-z

- Van Dessel, P., Boddez, Y., & Hughes, S. (2022). Nudging societally relevant behavior by promoting cognitive inferences. *Scientific Reports*, 12(1), 9201. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-12964-1
- Van Hoecke, A. S., Seghers, J., & Boen, F. (2018). Promoting Stair Climbing in a Worksite and Public Setting: Are Footprints Enough? *American Journal of Health Promotion*, 32(3), 527-535. https://doi.org/10.1177/0890117117694284
- Houten, R.V., Nau, P. A., & Merrigan, M. (1981). Reducing Elevator Energy Use a Comparison of Posted Feedback and Reduced Elevator Convenience. *Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis*, 14(4), 377-387. https://doi.org/DOI 10.1901/jaba.1981.14-377
- Van Rookhuijzen, M., De Vet, E., & Adriaanse, M. A. (2021). The Effects of Nudges: One-Shot Only? Exploring the Temporal Spillover Effects of a Default Nudge. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.683262
- Wang, Z., Lapinski, M., Quilliam, E., Jaykus, L.-A., & Fraser, A. (2017). The effect of hand-hygiene interventions on infectious disease-associated absenteeism in elementary schools: A systematic literature review. *American Journal of Infection Control*, 45(6), 682-689. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajic.2017.01.018
- Weijers, R. J., & de Koning, B. B. (2021). Nudging to Increase Hand Hygiene During the COVID-19 Pandemic: A Field Experiment. *Canadian Journal of Behavioural Science-Revue Canadienne Des Sciences Du Comportement*, 53(3), 353-357. https://doi.org/10.1037/cbs0000245
- Weijers, R. J., de Koning, B. B., & Paas, F. (2021). Nudging in education: from theory towards guidelines for successful implementation. *European Journal of Psychology of Education*, 36(3), 883-902. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10212-020-00495-0

Wong, V. W. Y., Cowling, B. J., & Aiello, A. E. (2014). Hand hygiene and risk of influenza virus infections in the community: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Epidemiology & Infection*, 142(5), 922-932. https://doi.org/10.1017/S095026881400003X

Wood W. (2019). Good habits bad habits. Pan Books.

Xiong, J. Q., Lipsitz, O., Nasri, F., Lui, L. M. W., Gill, H., Phan, L., Chen-Li, D., Iacobucci, M., Ho, R., Majeed, A., & McIntyre, R. S. (2020). Impact of COVID-19 pandemic on mental health in the general population: A systematic review. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 277, 55-64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2020.08.001

Zinchenko, O., & Arsalidou, M. (2018). Brain responses to social norms: Meta-analyses of fMRI studies. *Hum Brain Mapp*, *39*(2), 955-970. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.23895

# CHAPTER 3

# NUDGING SAFETY BEHAVIOR IN THE STEEL INDUSTRY: EVIDENCE FROM TWO FIELD STUDIES<sup>1</sup>

The practice of nudging received much attention in different domains of human behaviour (e.g., finance, health, traffic safety and sustainability), but its relevance has not been systematically investigated for safety in the process industry. This study aimed to investigate the effectiveness of nudge interventions in promoting safety behavior in the steel industry through field experiments in a large steel plant, particularly in relation to gas hazards and falling from stairs The results of both experiments showed that the nudge interventions were very effective in promoting safety behavior among workers. An icon reminding of the gas dangers on work jackets effectively increased gas detector compliance, while hand print cues were able to promote workers holding onto handrails. Related organizational implications for a safety nudging approach are discussed. Overall, these findings suggest that nudge interventions can be a cost-effective approach to promote safety behavior in the steel industry. The suggested nudge framework should be implemented as part of a holistic safety approach to promote safety behavior among workers and prevent severe accidents.

Keywords: Nudging; Safety Behavior; Process Industry; Gas Hazards; Staircase Safety; Field Experiment; Decision-Making

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Costa, S., Duyck, W., Van Wouwe, E., & Dirix, N. (in press). Nudging Safety Behavior in the Steel Industry: Evidence from Two Field Studies. *Safety Science* 

# **INTRODUCTION**

Unsafe working environments imply a great human and economic cost. Starting in the fifties of the previous century, safety awareness has risen and incident rates in the process industry have known a remarkable decrease thanks to the introduction of improved technologies and safety standards. In the seventies, an increased focus on risk assessment and mitigation followed (Hudson, 2007), most often approached by a more technical perspective. Although these interventions were able to significantly reduce the number of accidents (CDC, 1999; Weeks, 1991), much room for improvement remained, and an additional focus on safety behavior and the safety culture was needed. How to effectively change the unsafe behavior of the employees still remains a complex issue and is raised by several experts as the last remaining challenge to resolve (Hopkins, 2006; Knegtering & Pasman, 2009; Lindhout & Reniers, 2017; Reason, 2009). Although concepts as 'prevention through design' might reduce accidents in some parts of the industry, a change in unsafe behavior would be able to eliminate nearly all occupational accidents. Therefore any further reduction of the accidents would require a more thoroughly understanding and control of the underlying behavioral component of safety (Bhattacharjee et al., 2011; Krause, 2001; Talabi et al., 2015). Research shows that up to 90% of the occupational accidents are human error related (Kletz, 2001). Addressing the human behavioral factor is therefore the biggest challenge for safety management today.

In the last decades, studies have brought new insights in human behavior, showing that people do not always act logically and with consideration, nor that they always make decisions in a fully rational way (Kahneman, 2011; Simon, 1955). The conception that people are 'boundedly rational' in turn led to the idea that people may benefit from a behavioral context that exploits automatic and suboptimal behavioral biases. This includes the implementation of subtle behavioral pushes, known as 'nudges', that strategically change the choice architecture (i.e., the physical, social and psychological aspects of the context that influence our choices, Thaler et al. (2012)) to change behavior, instead of focusing solely on rules, economic incentives, knowledge transfer and training (Thaler & Sunstein, 2008). Here, we want to apply the core insights of bounded rationality within behavioral science to industrial safety behavior, which to this day remains little explored (Lindhout & Reniers, 2017).

This unique field study takes place in a large Belgian steel plant that is familiar with the evolution and the current challenges concerning safety in the process industry. Although the incident rate dropped significantly over the years following classical and state-of-the-art safety approaches, their efforts seemed to have reached a plateau of a seemingly non-reducible number of safety incidents. In this study, we aim to investigate whether nudge interventions and choice architecture constitute an effective and supplementary safety management tool that complements the current classical safety approach. To this end, we developed and tested nudge interventions in safety domains that frequently encounter incidents in the steel industry, namely fall and gas hazards.

# Two Systems of Decision-Making and Nudging

Actions can stem from deliberate, conscious reasoning or from automatic, unconscious responses triggered by the environment. Kahneman (2011) terms this distinction as 'system 1 and system 2 thinking' or the dual-process theory of decision-making. System 1 involves fast, instinctive, and unconscious decision-making, driven by subconscious values and beliefs, such as quick answers to simple math problems or associating red with aggression (Tham et al., 2020). On the other hand, system 2 is a more rational, deliberate thinking process, requiring conscious effort and attention, such as remembering something or comparing product prices. Both systems are typically active, with system 1 providing constant automatic responses, while System 2 engages in more complex or unplanned situations.

Thaler and Sunstein (2008) put forward the practice of 'nudging', meaning literally 'to give a little push', as a way to leverage bounded rationality. They suggest that people may be guided and supported in making the right decisions by subtly altering the choice architecture in which the behavior

occurs. Examples are the use of smaller plates, which lowers the number of (unhealthy) food consumption (Wansink & van Ittersum, 2013) or painting colorful footprints on the ground towards stairs to lower elevator use (Van Hoecke et al., 2018). Importantly, individuals retain the freedom of choice, but typically behavior changes as a function of simple, and often cheap, targeted choice architecture interventions. Nudge interventions have been studied and implemented successfully in several domains, including health and well-being, financial decisions, energy efficiency, eating behavior, work performance and so forth (Castleman & Page, 2015; Hanks et al., 2012; Johnson & Goldstein, 2003; Schultz et al., 2007; Thaler & Sunstein, 2008; Torgler, 2004).

#### The Effectiveness and Cost-Effectiveness of Nudge Interventions

Hummel and Maedche (2019) conducted a review of 100 primary publications and found that 62% of experimentally tested nudges had statistically significant effects on behavior, with a median effect size of 21%. Similarly, a recent meta-analysis by Mertens et al. (2022), including over 200 studies and 450 effect sizes, reported an overall small to medium effect size for nudge interventions (Cohen's d = 0.45). Some studies call for caution, including those from governmental nudge units (DellaVigna & Linos, 2022) and those that controlled for publication bias (Maier et al., 2022), and suggest that actual expected effect sizes may be lower. Hallsworth (2022) adds emphasis on the importance of assessing the effectiveness of nudges in specific contexts to avoid drawing general, but inaccurate conclusions.

The cost-effectiveness of nudges is another advantage of this approach. Benartzi et al. (2017) report return on investment (ROI) ratios for nudges that ranged between 10– 100 for every invested dollar, compared to 14.68 for campaigns and 1.24 for tax incentives. Nudge interventions can therefore be of great value in improving the cost-effectiveness of behavior change programs in public and private organizations, including safety management. Besides the financial ROI, they are also often easy to apply and implement.

The practice of nudging sparked a debate on ethical implications, as it often involves covertly influencing behavior without consent (Lin et al., 2017). Recurring objections to the practice are that it is based on paternalistic grounds, it is a threat for an individual's autonomy, and it is unclear in whose interest the choice architects operate (Grüne-Yanoff & Hertwig, 2016; Hansen & Jespersen, 2013). In response to these objections, Sunstein (2015) states that it is pointless to object to choice architecture or nudging as such, as choice architecture cannot be avoided. Either situation influences towards one behavior or another. It is reasonable to worry about or object to particular nudges, but not to nudging in general. Secondly, he argues that from an autonomy and welfare point of view nudge interventions are actually required. This because other interventions such as bans, taxes or other traditional interventions often impact an individual's autonomy more than nudge interventions do. In their FORGOOD framework, Lades and Delaney (2022) propose seven ethical dimensions to consider when developing nudges, including fairness, openness, respect, goals, opinions options and delegation. Typically, the practice of nudging is considered legitimized when behavioral freedom is preserved and when the outcomes benefit both the influencer as the person who is being influenced (Sunstein, 2015). In the case of work health and industrial safety, this is more straightforward, as employer and employee interests are aligned, towards the safety of the employee. Yet, for industrial applications, an ethical board should guard the ethical appropriateness of suggested objectives, nudge formats and associated observation methods. Also, it is important to engage employee representatives (e.g., unions) in the decision process, as was also done for this study.

#### Taxonomy of Nudge Interventions

A plethora of toolkits (e.g., MINDSPACE, EAST) and nudge classifications exist (e.g., Hummel and Maedche (2019), Beshears and Kosowsky (2020) and Hansen and Jespersen (2013). While they all provide their own unique contributions, one of the most comprehensive, yet uncluttered taxonomy of nudge interventions is the one developed by Münscher et al. (2016). Münscher et al. (2016) categorize nudges, also known as choice architecture interventions, into three clusters, each targeting specific psychological barriers and encompassing various techniques (see Figure 1) (Mertens et al., 2022). The first cluster, 'decision information', leverages decision-related information by increasing its availability, comprehensibility, and personal relevance. Techniques include providing social reference information, like social norms, to reduce ambiguity and guide appropriate behavioral responses. For instance, a study by Allcott (2011) showed that households receiving letters comparing their energy consumption to similar neighbors reduced usage by 2%, comparable to the impact of traditional financial interventions. Other techniques in this cluster involve providing (direct) feedback (Cappa et al., 2020) or rephrasing informational messages in more simplified and personally relevant formats (Cappa et al., 2020; Mills, 2022).

The 'decision structure' cluster leverages the context-dependency of decision-making by modifying the format or arrangement of choices. Notable techniques include changing defaults, such as opt-out organ donor policies that significantly increase donor rates (Davidai et al., 2012). Crucial seems to be the effort people are willing to put into making the right decisions or the lack of interest in changing automated actions (e.g., defaults) they do not consider important or are not even aware of. Techniques altering decision structure also include changing effort through friction modification (e.g., increasing elevator waiting time to promote staircase use) and manipulating the order of choices or using decoys (Stoffel et al., 2020).

The final cluster, 'decision assistance,' addresses the intention-behavior gap by reinforcing selfregulation. Techniques include reminders, such as text messages before medical appointments to boost vaccination rates (Milkman et al., 2021), and commitment facilitation, where, for example, precommitment to future retirement savings significantly increases savings rates (Thaler & Benartzi, 2004). This taxonomy facilitates the strategic development and implementation of multiple nudges, targeting specific psychological drivers or barriers for improved decision-making.

# Figure 1

# Taxonomy of choice architecture interventions (after Mertens et al., 2022)

Psychological barrier	Intervention category	Intervention technique		
Limited access to decision-relevant information	Decision information: increase the availability, comprehensibility, and/or personal relevance of information	Translate information: adapt attributes to facilitate processing of already available information and/or shift decision maker's perspective Make information visible: provide access to relevant information		
		Provide social reference point: provide social normative information to reduce situational ambiguity and behavioral uncertainty		
Limited capacity to evaluate and compare choice options	Decision structure: alter the utility of choice options through their arrangement in the decision	Change choice defaults: set no action default or prompt active choice to address behavioral inertia, loss aversion, and/or perceived endorsement		
	environment or the format of decision making	Change option-related effort: adjust physical or financial effort to remove friction from desirable choice option Change range or composition of options: adapt categories or		
		change of choice options to facilitate evaluation Change option consequences: adapt social consequences or microincentives to address present bias, bias in probability weighting, and/or loss aversion		
Limited attention and self-control	Decision assistance: facilitate self-regulation	Provide reminders: increase the attentional salience of desirable behavior to overcome inattention due to information overload		
		Facilitate commitment: encourage self or public commitment to counteract failures of self-control		

# Nudging and Choice Architecture in the Domain of Safety

Nudging applications in the domain of safety are limited in quantity as compared to other application areas such as health, economic decision-making and sustainability (see meta-analysis of Mertens et al. (2022) for an overview). The studies that do relate to safety are mainly situated in the domain of traffic safety (Avineri, 2014; Goldenbeld et al., 2016). An example of a successful safety nudge in the domain of traffic is the use of 'speed reduction markings' (National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine, 2008), which are progressively narrower painted white lines that create a visual illusion of acceleration, prompting drivers to lower their speed (Thaler & Sunstein, 2008). Other examples are the use of personalized feedback to improve driving performance (Choudhary et al., 2019), or the use of salient seatbelt reminders (Lie et al., 2008).

While various common safety interventions in the process industry could classify as nudges, such as signalization or warning signals, very few to no studies have investigated the potential of nudge interventions for industrial safety as a distinct and complementary safety approach (Lindhout & Reniers, 2017). This is confirmed by a recent literature review of choice architecture applications in the construction industry (Sarpy et al., 2021) that found sparse nudge studies in the construction sector or related industrial sectors (e.g., farming and manufacturing). One study by Luria et al. (2008) found that visibility in the workplace moderated the level of manager-employee interaction after a supervisor coaching session, which in turn led to a greater compliance with ear protection. Another study by Rice et al. (2022), found that sending text messages could promote the number of performed toolbox talks (i.e., short safety talks) in construction. A last study by Zohar et al. (1980) in a steel plant, found that the use of direct feedback of temporary hearing loss, by showing hearing capacity graphs before and directly after shifts in noisy departments, was able to increase the compliance rate of wearing earplugs from 40% to 85%. The adoption of a nudge framework could both enhance the categorization of previous safety interventions that address the same psychological barriers, and stimulate the development of new safety interventions that complement and extend previous findings.

Lindhout and Reniers (2017) propose exploring nudging as a novel industrial safety tool, identifying improvement areas in industrial risk-taking. They distinguish between deliberate unsafe acts (e.g., considering rules unnecessary) and those stemming from automatic decision-making (e.g., memory lapses due to fatigue). In doing so, they take into account the role played by the management that enable unsafe choices (e.g., economic priority, poor instructions or lacking awareness). This approach aligns with safety models like the Swiss Cheese Model (Reason, 1990) and the Human Factor Analysis and Classification System (HFACS) (Shappell & Wiegmann, 2001; Wiegmann & Shappell, 2003), recognizing various causal layers for accidents (i.e., organizational, environmental, personal, etc.) and the role of intention in separating error from violation. This aligns with the fundament of the choice architecture taxonomy (Münscher et al., 2016) that built its clusters around trying to overcome the intention-behavior gap or to influence the intention for the better. It should be noted that nudges will

not always be able resolve safety concerns stemming from flawed procedures or inaccurate instructions provided by team leaders. In general, nudges may aid in promoting better adherence to safety rules, given that the rules themselves are deemed appropriate.

# **CURRENT STUDY**

The Belgian steel plant involved employs over 5000 employees and processes raw materials to steel coils and refined products via a chain of coordinated factories, including cokes plants, blast furnaces and sinter plant, hot- and cold rolling mills, galvanization lines and tailored blanks facilities. Although the safety standards at the industrial plant are rather high, a couple of thousands of incidents (i.e., near accidents) still do occur at their sites. These incidents align with the specific safety domains that typically account for the largest proportion of accidents (up to 75%) in the heavy industry, including working at height, handling heavy loads, contact with moving machine parts, gas hazards and traffic safety (Lindhout & Reniers, 2017). The current safety approach prioritizes technological innovation, upgraded Personal Protective Equipment (PPE), enhanced protocols and comprehensive employee training (e.g., handling unexpected crises). Advisors monitor safety and protocol compliance, and focused training targets influential employees to foster shared vigilance and enhance the safety culture. With the current interventions primarily targeting deliberate decision-making (system 2), there is recognition of the need for additional interventions addressing more automatic responses (system 1) and cognitive limitations to surpass the safety plateau.

We carry out two field experiments in this large steel plant to evaluate the effectiveness of nudge interventions as part of a holistic safety approach. We select two out of the five safety domains that typically account for the most safety accidents, including gas hazards and staircase safety (as part of working at height). The first aim of this study is to evaluate the effectiveness of nudge interventions in promoting gas detector compliance (RQ1), which is a crucial element in preventing gas hazards (Hall et al., 2021). The second aim is to investigate if nudges prove useful in mitigating unsafe behaviors involved in staircase safety (RQ2). Staircase safety is not only relevant in the process industry or for working at height, slips, trips and falls also account for one of the largest proportions of occupational accidents in general (European Agency for Safety and Health at Work, 2022).

# **EXPERIMENT 1**

Gas hazards play a critical safety role in the process industry and the steel industry. These industries deal with various gases, some of which can be highly flammable, toxic, or explosive (Eckhoff, 2006; Linnerud et al., 1998). Gas hazards refer to any gas or vapor that can pose a risk to human health, safety, or the environment (Khan & Amyotte, 2002). The aim of the first experiment was to evaluate the effectiveness of nudge interventions in promoting gas detector compliance, therefore mitigating dangerous exposure to potential gas hazards.

Gas detectors are part of the critical personal protective equipment (PPE) in areas where gas is present. Yet, is it known that PPE compliance can be a hassle in the process industry for various reasons (e.g., workers considering the PPE unnecessary or impractical, the lack of clear guidelines and difficulties to monitor compliance on large industrial plants) (Man et al., 2021; Vukicevic et al., 2022). Although the danger of gas poisoning is a strong enough argument for many to respect precautionary measures, typically we see workers habituating to risks (Lee & Kim, 2022) and other behavioral drivers that lead to suboptimal gas detector compliance (i.e., memory lapses due to time pressure). The multinational steel producer involved in this study sees an incompliance of around 15% in the most recent years at their Belgian sites (as found by frequent tallying samples collected on a yearly basis).

We conduct a field experiment to measure the effect of two different nudges on safety behavior. The experiment takes place in a blast furnace and sinter plant of the industrial site, which is an environment that is exposed to gas hazards on a continuous basis. We focus one on of the most prevalent and dangerous gasses in this area, namely carbon monoxide (CO), which is a colorless, odorless, and tasteless gas (Ernst & Zibrak, 1998). The main components of gas detector compliance we aim at include wearing the gas detector, activating it and wearing it at the right place (i.e., on the left chest at breath height). The proper calibration of gas detectors is also important, but is not targeted in this study because it would entail more intrusive observation with high risk of confounding the study results by increased participant awareness.

# Behavioral Techniques and Hypotheses

A round of informal interviews (n=10) two months before the start of the experiment reveal that most employees claim to be aware of the risk involved, but mainly forget to wear or activate the detector when they do not comply with the rules. In addition, they state that it is not always clear where the appropriate place for the detector is (e.g., on helmet, jacket or pants) and that it is not always clear where the more gas hazardous areas are. Therefore, our nudge interventions aim to assist in making safety choices, within Münscher et al. (2016) their cluster Decision Assistance. Relevant behavioral techniques and nudge concepts to promote gas detector compliance include reminders, priming, feedback, social norms and commitment.

First, cue-based reminders play a vital role in assisting individuals prone to forgetfulness amid daily distractions. Rogers and Milkman (2016) emphasize their superiority over written or electronic reminders, underscoring their underappreciation.

Second, the concept of priming, as explored by Bargh and Chartrand (2000), reveals how initial exposure to a stimulus can influence subsequent responses. Contextual changes, such as altering colors, can evoke distinct emotional and behavioral reactions, as highlighted by Tham et al. (2020).

Third, providing direct feedback can help to inform employees when they are not in order with their PPE's; similar to digital speed signs in traffic informing on the adequacy of speed (Gehlert et al., 2012). This relates to providing information for social comparison, which causes the greatest behavior change in the domain of climate change mitigation behaviors (d=0.370), surpassing financial incentives (d=0.317) (Bergquist et al., 2023).

Fourth, social comparison heavily relies on social norms, reflecting the substantial influence of others' actions and values (Bicchieri, 2017). This holds true in the workplace, where strategic use of social information can nudge employees towards better PPE compliance by displaying positive examples and limiting the visibility of non-compliance (Newaz et al., 2019).

Lastly, pre-commitment strategies, successful in pension saving programs like Save More Tomorrow (Thaler and Benartzi, 2004), assist individuals in adhering to their intentions. Workers in general state to be aware of the high risk of gas hazards and their willingness to comply. The emphasis here is on supporting workers in following through on intentions and strategically influence risk perception, that can diminish over time (Lee & Kim, 2022), to promote safety behavior (cf. 'Decision assistance').

Here, we will test the potential of a combination of the approaches above. The push buttons nudge intervention focuses on integrating commitment strategies and elements of (social) feedback, and is expected to have a positive effect on wearing, positioning and activating the detector (Hypothesis 1). This nudge includes a setup with a digital screen stating 'CO detector activated and at chest height?', accompanied with red and green push buttons (Figure 3). The screen also shows how many colleagues previously pushed the green button. The aim is to let people commit to a certain behavior, increasing the motivation to follow through with their intention, which can be amplified by seeing the good example of previous colleagues (i.e., social proof). Displaying information on the actions being adequate (green button) or dangerous and unaccepted (red button) provides clear feedback that assists in directing appropriate subsequent actions (i.e., activating and wearing detector correctly).

The second, icon nudge is a red triangle shaped icon placed at the jackets at chest height stating 'CO detector here!' with a little skull symbol on top (Figure 4). It serves as a visible reminder, including

priming features to influence risk perception, and is expected to increase the number of people wearing gas detectors (Hypothesis 2a). The reminder is continuously active and visible when detectors are not worn correctly. When detectors are worn properly, the icon becomes invisible. This ensures the reminder's presence only when necessary, preventing the extinction of its effect. The approach aligns with shared vigilance for safety, allowing colleagues to easily identify non-compliance and serving as a reminder for them to address the issue as well. The use of a skull and red triangle is expected to prime negative affect (Kareklas & Muehling, 2014; Pravossoudovitch et al., 2014; Tham et al., 2020), inducing feelings of unsafety and anxiety, positively influencing the perceived risk (Slovic et al., 2005). We expect the effect to be similar on the various aspects of wearing the detector correctly, being wearing it at the right position and activating it (Hypothesis 2b).

The effect of both nudges is expected to be significant, but small (Hypothesis 3). Which in itself is not a problem, because of the high cost-efficiency of nudges and the difficulty of achieving any behavioral change for the safety domain at hand (any marginal increase is highly welcome).

# Figure 3

Push buttons nudge



Method

**Participants** 

Figure 4 Icon nudge ('CO-detector here!')



This experiment takes place in a blast furnace and sinter plant of the industrial plant, forming one joint department, where 85 blue-collar employees work. All internal workers are included in the experiment. These workers are all Dutch-speaking men. The average age is 33.08 years (SD=10.85) and the average level of seniority is 10.26 years (SD= 9.53). The workers either worked in a rotating shift system (6h-14h, 14h-22h, 22h-6h, and a fourth shift was free of work), or in a day team (9h–17h). We set up two observation moments per week for each shift and the day team<sup>2</sup>. This way, there are eight observation moments per week and almost all 85 participants, except those that were in the 'free of work'-shift, were tallied weekly. For the number of observations, we are dependent on the goodwill and time of the line managers, the foremen and the participants, as well as time constraints. A power analysis conducted, using G\*Power, assured that we would have more observations (n= 963) then needed (n=848) to find an expected odds ratio (OR) of 1.5, which is a small effect size (Sánchez-Meca, 2003). This aligns with the general conception in the literature that nudges commonly have a smaller effect size (DellaVigna & Linos, 2022). Before starting this study, approval is obtained from the labor unions representing all employees, informing them about the content of the study, interventions and privacy implications. Summaries of the results are free accessible for the employees on the intranet website of the steel plant. Ethical clearance for this study is provided by the safety department and labor unions of the industrial plant.

# **Research Design**

The first experiment has a within-subjects design (see Figure 2). All 85 participants are exposed to the same safety nudges in the same subsequent conditions. In the first condition, a baseline measurement of the safety behavior is performed, during which no safety nudges are implemented. In

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Collecting clustered data is difficult given the simultaneous presence of multiple teams and would require too intrusive observation methods to tell them apart (e.g., repeated questioning by observers or changing visible work wear per team). Therefore, the group of participants is treated as a homogenous group.

the second condition, the participants are exposed to the first safety nudge. In the third condition, this first nudge is removed during an extinction period. With this extinction period, we want to minimize the impact of the previous intervention on the next one. After this period, all participants are exposed to the second safety nudge in the fourth condition. In the last phase, the fifth condition, participants are exposed to both safety nudges at the same time. The order of conditions is the same for all participants, as the industrial plant only allows one intervention site, and work schedule and operational demands applied. Additional extinction periods were intended after the fourth ('Icon nudge') and the fifth condition ('Icon nudge + push buttons nudge'), but did not proceed due to unplannable operational demands and organizational constraints, so that a fully (counter-)balanced design was not possible.

# Figure 2

*Within-subjects design of nudge implementation (3 weeks per condition, except for the baseline measurement that lasted 6 weeks)* 



# Materials and Procedure

# Measures and Observation Method

Safety behavior in this experiment refers to the correct usage of the personal CO-detector by blue-collar workers at the blast furnace and sinter plant. This safety behavior consists of two actions. Firstly, the CO-detector has to be worn in the right place (on the left chest at breath height). Secondly,

the CO-detector has to be activated. The dependent variables include 1) whether people carry the COdetector (' Wearing detector'), 2) if the detector is activated ('Activating detector'), 3) the proper placement on the body ('Position detector') and 4) full compliance, which entails wearing the activated detector at the right place ('Correct usage). To investigate the safety behavior, on-site observations are organized in the workplace (i.e., where they should comply with the CO detector guidelines). Alternatives such as reading out data of the individual CO-detectors, using camera footage or selfreports are considered, but they are not included due to increased risk of socially desirable behavior, inaccurate measurements and/or privacy issues or adverse reactions. The on-site observations are conducted twice a week by foremen of each of the teams (the different shifts and the day team) using structured and standardized forms developed in collaboration with field experts (see Table A1 in Appendix 3A). Every observer receives a training, including a clear explanation of the objective, explanation of concepts on the observation form and practical guidelines to observe in a non-intrusive way. They are told that random double-checking can take place at any time to monitor tallying accuracy. The observers are instructed to observe between the start of the shift and the first subsequent break. The forms are filled out shortly after the observation, aiming to preserve the subtlety of the observations, and registered in Excel. The observers do not collect any personal data to ensure the anonymity of the workers. At the end of every month, both the anonymous observation forms and Excel files are sent to the researchers, allowing to control for data-entry errors. To limit potential confounding influences, the participants are told two months upfront that a general safety study would take place requiring data from multiple safety domains (incl. gas hazards), without further details. The temporal delay (i.e., 2 months), vague study description and clear instructions for subtle observations (e.g., strategic places, not standing still for too long, while talking, etc.), keep potential unwanted influences of in-person observations to a minimum.

# Nudge Intervention Procedure

*Push Buttons Nudge*. The text on the display says "CO-detector activated and at chest height? ---> Press the correct button!". The green button says 'yes', and the red button says 'no'. Also, an image of a worker with the correct placement of his activated CO-detector is shown. The display is placed at the exit of the shared cafeteria area, which all workers pass going back to work. Once they pass through this door, they should wear a CO detector, entering a potentially dangerous zone. It is here were observers check if they comply with safety rules or not (i.e., after interacting with the machine). Thus when leaving the cafeteria area, the workers have to push the button that indicates their behavior. When pressing green, the worker get this feedback message on a green screen: "Congratulations! You are well-protected!"; plus they see the real number of how many previous colleagues pushed the green button. When pushing red, the worker get this feedback message on a red screen: "You are in danger!"; the number of people pressing the red button is not displayed to prevent reversed social effects.

*Icon Nudge*. The icon nudge, a warning triangle plus text ("CO-detector here!"), is attached with hook-and-loop fasteners on the work wear of the workers at chest height. Attaching the icon with hook-and-loop fasteners on the outfits of all 85 participants, was done by a warehouse worker.

Both nudges are developed collaboratively with the safety experts. While the researchers propose innovative ideas using behavioral insights, based on informal interviews and observations, the safety experts monitor feasibility and fit with existing procedures. Labor unions are involved throughout the process, to evaluate the ethical appropriateness of the suggested nudges (cfr. FORGOOD ethical framework) and associated observation methods.

#### Data Analysis

To answer the hypotheses of the first experiment, multiple binary logistic regression analyses on the dichotomous variable counts are conducted. This type of analysis is suitable to examine the effect of multiple predictors (i.e., different experimental conditions) on binary variables (i.e., the correct usage of the CO-detector, tallied in different aspects). The logistic regression coefficients are used to calculate the OR which is an effect size measure that quantifies the association between two binary variables. It represents the odds of an event occurring in one group compared to another group. The OR is calculated by dividing the odds of the event occurring in one group by the odds of the event occurring in the other group. The OR can range from zero to infinity, with a value of one indicating no association between the two variables, a value above one indicating a positive association, as opposed values below one that represent a negative association. In general, the magnitude of an OR can be classified as small (1.5), medium (2.5), or large (4) (Chinn, 2000; Hasselblad & Hedges, 1995; Sánchez-Meca et al., 2003), although different fields and differences in the base-rate may imply different interpretations (Chen et al., 2010). Also, the Cohen's d is calculated to interpret the effect sizes (i.e., d = 0.2 small, d = 0.5 medium and d = 0.8 large). All analyses are performed in IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, version 27 (IBM Corp., Armonk, N.Y., USA).

# Results

During the 18 weeks of safety behavior observations, in total, we collected 1006 individual observations, of which 963 are included in the analyses. 43 observations are excluded since it was not clear if those data belong to internal workers or external contractors.

#### Push Button Nudge and Extinction

Based on the recorded data, we find out that in the push buttons nudge condition many workers pushed the buttons (2455 times on the green and 678 times on the red button, see details in Appendix 3B Table B1). This is a manipulation check to see whether workers actually do use the push buttons nudge. The aforementioned numbers show that this is the case. The results of the binary logistic regression analyses indicate that the push button interventions has a small significant effect on the wearing of the gas detector (OR 1.51, p <.1), but not on the other outcome variables (i.e., activating or position of the gas detector), when compared to the baseline condition (i.e., control without nudges). We do not find a significant increasing trend of the effect with the weeks passing by, which one could expect with the display of a continuously rising number of previously complying colleagues (cfr. social norms). When we take a closer look to the subsequent extinction period (i.e., removal of push buttons nudge); we see that the significant effect on the wearing of the detector disappears and that no significant effects are found on the other outcome variables. See Figure 5 for the compliance ratios in percentages by condition.

# Icon Nudge

The results of the logistic regression analyses indicate that the icon nudge has a medium effect on the wearing of the detector (OR 2.21 p <.01) and activating it (OR 2.55, p <.01), compared to the baseline condition (i.e., control condition without nudges). On the other hand, it had a rather small effect on the position of the gas detector (OR 1.93, p <.01) and the completely correct usage (i.e., wearing at the right place and activated) (OR 1.71, p <.05). These results indicate that the workers are clearly more likely to wear the gas detector and activate the gas detector when the icon nudge is present (versus the absence of the nudge), but that they are only slightly encouraged to wear the protector at the right place; which ultimately reduces the nudge effect on full compliance.

# Push Buttons and Icon combination

Besides evaluating the effect of the nudges individually, we also look at the combination of both nudges implemented simultaneously in a distinct experimental condition. Again, binary logistic regression analyses are conducted to evaluate the effect of the combined nudge condition on the binary outcome variables (i.e., wearing the gas detector, activating it and the right placement on the chest), compared to the control condition without nudges. The results indicate that the nudge combination have a large effect on the wearing of the gas detector (OR 5.02, p <.01), a medium to large effect on the activation of the detector (OR 3.34, p <.01) and a medium effect on both the right placement of the detector (OR 2.57, p <.01) and on being fully compliant (OR 2.77, p <.01). It appears that the combination of both the push button nudge and the icon nudge results in workers being significantly

more compliant with the CO-detector guidelines, as compared to when they are working in the absence of those nudge interventions. The combination of nudges also seems to elicit a higher significant effect on full detector compliance (OR 2.71, p <.01) relative to the icon nudge (OR 1.71, p <.05) and the push buttons nudge (which is insignificant).

# Table 1

VARIABLES	Wearing D	etector	Activating Detector		Position Detector		Correct Usage	
-	Exp (B)	d	Exp (B)	d	Exp (B)	d	Exp (B)	d
Push buttons	1.51*	0.23	1.20	0.10	1.10	0.05	1.10	0.05
	(1.754)		(0.846)		(0.423)		(0.452)	
Push buttons	1.16	0.08	1.04	0.02	1.04	0.02	1.09	0.05
(extinction)	(0.535)		(0.154)		(0.154)		(0.319)	
Icon	2.21***	0.44	2.55***	0.52	1.93***	0.36	1.71**	0.29
	(3.021)		(3.618)		(2.720)		(2.344)	
Icon - Push	5.02***	0.89	3.34***	0.67	2.57***	0.52	2.77***	0.56
buttons	(4.271)		(3.879)		(3.273)		(3.626)	
Observations	963		963		963		963	

*The effect of the nudges on gas detector compliance* 

*Note.* z-statistics in parentheses; \*\*\* p < .01, \*\* p < .05, \* p < .1; reference level for interventions 'Control – Baseline measurement'.

# Figure 5



The percentage of correct usage of the CO-detector among control and test conditions

# Discussion

The first experiment examines the influence of two types of safety nudges, namely the push buttons nudge and the icon nudge on CO-detector compliance. The push buttons nudge has a small significant influence on the wearing of the detector, prompting individuals to get one, but not on activating or positioning. Those already wearing the detector may lack the reflex to check activation or correct positioning, while those not wearing it potentially forget to attend to it during routine walks to the lending machine. An activating reminder at the lending machine could mitigate this oversight. Adding extra information after pressing the red button (e.g., importance compliance and repetition guidelines) could also potentially increase the effect. The push button effect did not significantly increase over the weeks, as one could expect from a proportionate social norms effect of displayed numbers (Cialdini et al., 1999). Potentially, the rapid initial growth (up to 500 in 4 days) led to higher insensitivity to further increases, given that people think in relative sense (Bushong et al., 2020). While we were able to monitor the use of the push buttons to some degree with push data (finding a regular pattern over three weeks), future replications could aim to observe the action with cameras or a badging system to account for every individual independently. Using cameras could clarify, for example, if people adjust the detector before pressing, press red and adjust after, or do not interact at all. Moreover, there is confusion in the factory's gas detector guidelines. Some supervisors and prevention experts permit wearing the gas detector on the helmet, provided it is at 'breath level,' contrary to the formal requirement of wearing it on the chest. This ambiguity may prompt individuals to relocate the detector to inappropriate positions, such as pants, shoulders or helmet, as noted by some workers post-experiment. This indicates the importance of clarity in prevention guidelines and the consistency in supervision (Newaz et al., 2019). No effects are found in the extinction period after removing the push button nudge, indicating both that the nudge effect disappears after removal as that the mere succession of in-person observations is not a determining condition for the establishment of the effect.

Overall, the icon nudge is more effective on all outcomes (i.e., activation and placement) than the push button nudge. It appears that a reminder that is omnipresent in the workplace, resulting in more nudge exposure, can be more effective. In addition, it is likely that a higher level of interactions with and visibility of this nudge amplifies social influence through shared vigilance (Brizon & Wybo, 2006), which results a bigger effect on gas detector compliance. Also, the danger-inducing icon (i.e., red triangle with skull) can contribute to a stronger corrective action via negative affect, as compared to the push button nudge that merely mentions 'you are in danger!' (Slovic et al., 2005). The priming effect of colors, including red as danger associations, is widely accepted (Pravossoudovitch et al., 2014; Tham et al., 2020), and increasing support is found for danger association of visual cues referring to death or dying (incl. skulls) to promote desired behavioral intentions (Kareklas & Muehling, 2014; Wogalter et al., 1995). Despite, our logical assumption between skulls and its relevance to gas hazard signaling should be further investigated. A tight time schedule did not allow us to pre-test the priming effect (i.e., comparing symbol with and without skull), but given the success of the intervention we advise to explore this in further research (e.g., online survey or lab study). The clear visual placement of the icon at chest height is assumed the reason for its significant effect on positioning, with the relatively smaller impact on position (compared to wearing) again being influenced by unclear prevention guidelines (i.e., breath vs. chest height).

The combination of both nudges has a medium to large effect on CO-detector compliance. This effect is larger than the nudges individually, which points at the additivity of nudge interventions. This finding aligns with previous studies in the nudge literature that show that often the effect of nudges interventions combined is larger than in isolation (Ayal et al., 2021; Brandon et al., 2019). This additivity is a promising answer to the critic of the rather small effect of nudge interventions as shown in recent meta-analyses (DellaVigna & Linos, 2022).

# **EXPERIMENT 2**

Danger of falling from stairs is always present, especially in certain working environments and weather conditions. The cold-rolling pickling mill (CPM) at the industrial plant involved is a workplace dealing with a large amount of oil emulsion that coats surfaces, including the stairways, leading to a higher risk and number of falling incidents. When taking the stairs, both technical (e.g., the height of the steps, the handrail, the material of the stairs, etc.) and behavioral factors play an important role (e.g., holding handrails and adjusting speed). In a preliminary observation at the CPM, we saw that up to 25% of passersby did not hold the handrail when coming down the stairs. When asking a part of the group (n= 15) why they didn't hold the handrail, two months before the start of the experiment, they said it was for no particular reason; adding that it was presumably due to forgetting or by being in a hurry (cfr. economic time pressure). This is interesting in the light of 'nudgeability', as the lack of strong preferences often indicates a larger nudge potential (de Ridder et al., 2022).

#### Behavioral Techniques and Hypotheses

Some elements trying to increase the visibility of the footsteps for better foot placement (i.e., yellow markings footstep end; see Foster et al. (2014)) or to reduce the speed (i.e., gate at the top of the stairs) were already in place, so we focused on holding onto the handrail. The aim here is to create the intention and to remind people of the appropriate safety action, which apparently quickly escapes attention. Some behavioral techniques and concepts seem particularly interesting, including reminders, salience and priming.

Reminders can help to focus on staircase safety, when workers attention drifts due to daily work related tasks. This reminder needs to be salient, which can be defined as the characteristic of something that stands out from its environment and draws the individual's attention (Taylor & Thompson, 1982). Aiming to focus on S1 processing, the use of text will and should be limited or absent, considering that this involves more cognitive effort (cfr. S2 processing) (Kahneman, 2011). As workers indicate that they are indifferent to using the handrail or not, a simple reminder can be sufficient to make them use it. This reminder would also signal again the risks and dangers involved. Priming can be useful to prime unconscious thought preceding specific actions. Either by the use of color or by using other (visual) cues that influence the intended behavior. For example, Bargh et al. (1996) found that prior exposure to words associated with elderly stereotypes, led to participants walking slower towards the elevator upon leaving the laboratory.

The workers stated in their informal interviews that they are largely indifferent to holding the handrail or not, and most likely forget it or do not think about it when they do not use it. Therefore, it appears that trying to elicit an intention and provide assistance to follow through with this intention would be the right approach, tapping into Münscher et al.'s (2016) clusters Decision Information and Decision Assistance respectively. Following this rationale, a variety of nudges is developed to promote workers holding the handrails. The general concept is a hand print sticker that is placed on the handrail,

which serves as a salient reminder attracting attention to handrail (Figure 6 and 7). The hand shape is meant to be an action cue that clearly indicates what action needs to be performed; being it through low effort conscious and potentially subconscious processing (i.e., hand shape activating subliminal relevant connections that stimulate the tendency to grab something). We believe that the use of reminders will significantly increase the number of people holding the handrail (Hypothesis 4), and in line with nudge literature, a small effect is expected (Hypothesis 5).

We choose to test the execution of the hand stickers in two colors, being blue and green. A first consideration is to have sufficient contrast on the yellow handrails and the fact that blue is a color often used for safety signage (e.g., required PPE's). Another consideration is the potential priming effect that green could have to accentuate the action as being good and desired. Red would have been relevant, as this is linked to increased negative affect and higher perceived risk, but it can be confusing in the way that it can indicate that people should 'not' grab the handrail (e.g., warning) or that it is forbidden. In addition, green spheres are tested to see if the hand shape of the intervention is determining for its effect; controlling for a mere salient colored cue that draws attention to the handrail being sufficient to install the effect. The effect of the reminder is expected to be different as the composition of the reminder changes (e.g., color and shape) (Hypothesis 6).

A relevant aspect of evaluating the effectiveness of the nudge includes dividing the desired behavior into two parts, being 1) holding the handrail and 2) holding the handrail for the full length. The latter is, logically, the safest option and the optimal outcome. We expect a significant increase in people holding the handrail at full length, but the effect is likely to be lower than the increase in people holding the handrail partially (as holding the handrail can be seen as a mild form of cumulating effort, which people tend to avoid) (Hypothesis 7).

# Figure 6

Blue hand prints



# Figure 7

# Green hand prints



# Method

# **Participants**

This experiment takes place in a specific area of the CPM, with 3 dangerous staircases, where the internal workers (n=118) have to pass by multiple times during a shift. All internal workers were included. This group exists predominantly out of males (n= 115) with only 3 females working in these departments. The average age is 44.27 years (SD= 10.49) and the average seniority adds up to 18.42 years (SD= 12.66). The total of workers is almost equally divided over 4 teams, including team A (n=31), B (n=28), C (=30) and D (n=29)<sup>3</sup>. Per staircase a distinct part of the participants (i.e., equally distributed number, ranging between 37 and 39 individuals) uses one particular staircase, with limited use of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Team A (30 males 1 female; average age 47.45 (SD = 11.04); average seniority 18.16 (SD = 13.11)); B (27 males 1 female; average age 43.07 (SD = 10.47); average seniority 16.70 (SD = 13.04)); C (30 males female; average age 46.20 (SD = 10.25); average seniority 20.22 (SD = 12.18)); D (28 males 1 female; average age 41.49 (SD = 10.07); average seniority 19.38 (SD = 12.60))

other staircases throughout the shift. The demographics of these subgroups<sup>4</sup> are very similar to one another and is not expected to influence the results. A large number of observation is registered (n=2412) in order to include all teams on an equal basis for the control and experimental conditions<sup>5</sup>. Before starting this study, approval was obtained from the labor unions representing all employees, informing them about the content of the study, interventions and privacy implications. Summaries of the results are free accessible for the employees on the intranet website of the steel plant. Ethical clearance for this study is provided by the safety department and labor unions of the industrial plant.

# **Research Design**

A mixed design is used, including multiple within-subject conditions per staircase, varying from control to experimental nudge conditions, and between-subjects comparisons between the staircases. Different experimental conditions are tested at staircase 2 (i.e., blue hands<sup>6</sup>) than at staircase 3 (i.e., green spheres and hands), while staircase 1 served mainly as a control location. In week 5 an experimental condition was introduced at staircase 1 (i.e., blue hand prints) to check if the effect would hold on another location too. The blue hands condition at staircase 1 was implemented one week earlier than instructed, due to unforeseen maintenance of nearby installations at week 6, and the camera at staircase 3 went out of service due to technical problems, complicating a fully balanced design. Table 2 shows an overview of the research design and sequence of conditions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Staircase 1 (37 males 1 female; average age 43.93 (SD = 10.32); average seniority 17.51 (SD = 11.47)); Staircase 2 (39 males 1 female; average age 41.58 (SD = 10.44); average seniority 19.62 (SD = 10.75)); Staircase 3 (37 males 1 female; average age 48.12 (SD = 9.86); average seniority 22.15 (SD = 11.73))

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Collecting clustered data is difficult given the simultaneous presence of multiple teams and would require too intrusive observation methods to tell them apart (e.g., changing visible work wear per team). Therefore, the group of participants is treated as a homogenous group.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> We initially intended a 'blue spheres' condition preceding the first blue hands condition (staircase 2) to further disentangle the effects of symbol and color, but faced delay in delivery of the appropriate materials leading to a cancellation of this condition.

	Week 1	Week 2	Week 3	Week 4	Week 5
Staircase 1	Control	Control	Control	Control	Blue hands
Staircase 2	Control	Blue hands	Blue hands	Blue hands	Blue hands (+)
Staircase 3	Control	Control	Green spheres	Green hands	/

# Table 2

Sequence of nudge implementations

Note: 'Blue hand (+)' indicates a higher number of blue hands on the handrail compared to 'Blue hands'

# Materials and Procedure

Measures and Observation Method. The safety behavior included in this experiment involves holding onto the handrails, partially or for the entire length of the handrail. In addition, we controlled for the direction ('upward' vs. 'downward'), time of the day ('morning' 5:30-6:30 a.m., 'noon' 12:30-2:00 p.m. & 'evening' 9:30-10:30 p.m.), speed ('slow' vs. 'fast', by estimation) and passersby being in group or not ( $\geq$ 2). Camera footage is used to observe to what degree passersby comply with the handrail instructions for the three staircases. Two independent observers assess the footage. Every variable received a binary code, allowing a simple and direct data-input. Participants are informed two months upfront (to ensure forgetting) that a general safety study would take place requiring anonymous data-collection via camera-footage, without providing further details to limit confounding influences. Due to the time-consuming nature and the inability to observe multiple locations simultaneously without additional observers, in-person observations were deemed unsuitable.

#### Nudge Intervention Procedure

Following the sequence of the research design, polyester sphere and hand print stickers (i.e., green and blue) are placed at the handrails of the three staircases. The hand prints at the bottom of the handrail are directed upwards and at the top downwards (i.e., switching direction towards the middle)

to align with the initial walking direction when approaching the stairs. We test the different effect of a lower (3 bottom and 3 top stickers per handrail, 12 for both sides) and higher number of hand prints stickers on the handrail (5 bottom and 5 top stickers per handrail, 20 for both sides). We choose for a minimum of three hands, top and bottom, to attract sufficient attention and install a base level of salience, and test a higher number of hands, with a maximum of 5 for the given length of handrail (avoiding overlap), to see if increased salience will benefit the impact.

Similar to the first experiment, the nudges are developed collaboratively with the safety experts following the same procedure. Again, labor unions are involved throughout the process, to evaluate the ethical appropriateness of the suggested nudges (cfr. FORGOOD ethical framework) and associated observation methods.

# Data Analysis

Multiple binary logistic regression analyses are conducted to evaluate the effect of the nudge interventions, given the binary values of the dependent variables (e.g., holding the handrail or not). The OR is used to interpret the effect sizes, together with the Cohen's d. All analyses were performed in IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, version 27 (IBM Corp., Armonk, N.Y., USA).

# Results

During this experiment, 2412 observations are collected and no observations are excluded for analysis.

# Nudge Interventions: Colored Hand Prints and Spheres

The results of the logistic regressions show us that the blue hand print stickers have a small to medium significant effect on both holding the handrail and holding it fully, with an OR of 2.32 (p < .01) and 2.23 (p < .01) respectively, as compared to the baseline condition (i.e., control condition without nudges) (see Table 3). The higher number of blue hands also has a small to medium significant effect on both outcome variables with an OR of 2.71 for holding the handrail (p < .01) and an OR of

2.34 for holding it along the entire length (p < .01). The green spheres show no significant effect on either of the outcome variables. The green hand print stickers on the other hand show equally a small to medium significant effect on both holding the handrail (OR 2.37, p < .01) and holding it fully (OR 2.41, p < .01). When assessing the long-term effect of the blue hand stickers we still find the small to medium significant effect on holding the handrail, with an OR of 2.48 (p < .01), and on holding it across the entire length, with an OR of 2.10 (p < .1). See Figure 9 for the compliance ratios in percentages by condition.

#### Speed and Direction

Besides looking at the mere effect of the nudge interventions on the safety behaviors, also other covariates are taken into account, including the speed and the direction that people are going. The speed of people is an estimate of the observer and is divided into two categories being 'fast' and 'slow'. Little confusion exists as the distinction between being in a hurry or not is mostly clear. The results show that no significant effect was found here of people going fast, compared to people going slow, on holding the handrail or holding it completely. We do find a small significant effect of people going downward, which shows that they are 1.39 more likely to hold the handrail (p <.01), and 1.51 times more likely to hold it fully (p <.01), compared to people going upward (see Table 3).

# Group Effects and Time of the Day

In addition, we are interested to see if people in group behave differently (i.e., a minimum of 2 persons or more) in comparison with individuals. We find a small significant effect showing that people in group were 1.25 times more likely to hold the handrail (p <.1), and 1.48 times to hold it fully (p <.01), relative to individuals (see Table 3). Lastly, we look for differences between different times of the day (i.e., morning, noon and evening). No significant effects are found here.

#### Organizational factors

In addition to the binary logistic regression analyses, another interesting finding originates from the observations. From the individuals that do not hold the handrail, up to 40% has their hands full with material. Leaving no free hands to hold the handrail. Some examples of the materials involved boxes and pipes, personal protective equipment's (PPEs), work toolboxes and backpacks.

# Table 3

VARIABLES	Holding handrail		Holding handrail fully	
-	Exp (B)	d	Exp (B)	d
Blue hands	2.32***	0.46	2.23***	0.44
	(-7.179)		(-7.018)	
Blue hands (higher	2.71***	0.55	2.34***	0.47
number)	(-4.72)		(-4.293)	
Green spheres	1.24	0.12	1.23	0.11
	(-1.277)		(-1.079)	
Green hands	2.37***	0.48	2.41***	0.48
	(-3.844)		(-4.009)	
Blue hands (long-	2.48***	0.50	2.10***	0.41
term)	(-4.413)		(-3.829)	
	0.99	-0.01	0.87	-0.08
Speed (fast)	(081)		(-1.077)	
Direction	1.39***	0.18	1.51***	0.23
(downward)	(-3.248)		(-3.99)	
Group	1.25*	0.13	1.48***	0.22
	(-1.78)		(-2.913)	
Noon	1.05	0.02	1.07	0.04
	(-0.393)		(-0.651)	
Evening	1.13	0.07	1.18	0.09
	(-0.969)		(-1.317)	
Observations	2412		2412	

The effect of nudges and other covariates on handrail compliance

*Note.* z-statistics in parentheses; \*\*\* p < .01, \*\* p < .05, \* p < .1; reference level for interventions 'Control', for speed 'Slow', for direction 'Upward', for group 'Not in group' and for time of the day 'Morning'.
# Figure 9



The percentage of people holding the handrail among control and test conditions

# Discussion

We aimed to evaluate the effectiveness of nudge interventions on the safety behavior of people using staircases. The findings suggest that nudge interventions (i.e., reminders), such as blue and green hand print stickers, can have a positive effect on people's safety behavior on staircases. It is noteworthy that the effects are relatively small, but still significant and very cost-effective (i.e., nudge cost around 20 euro per staircase). The lack of significant effects of green spheres may imply that the hand shape is a determining factor (cfr. action cue); more than the priming color of the implementation (i.e., blue or green) (Tham et al., 2020). Using the color red could have a bigger effect on risk perception (Luximon et al., 1998; Pravossoudovitch et al., 2014), but can be confusing to interpret the required action (i.e., 'holding handrail desired or forbidden?'). It should be noted that placing hand prints stickers on 'all' stairs could contribute to a more rapid habituation, diminishing the salience effect (Hall & Rodríguez, 2017). A strategical use of the nudges by placing them on the most dangerous stairs (e.g., higher and bigger staircases as opposed to very small ones) is recommended, depending on the context at hand. The valuable findings related to other covariates highlight the importance of considering the direction of travel, speed and the social context in which people use staircases in promoting safety behavior. The bigger nudge effect on going downward, which is more dangerous, likely reflects an activation of risk related thoughts, being it deliberately (cfr. System 2) or more subconsciously (cfr. system 1). The group effects can be explained through social influence, leaning towards conformity (Asch, 1956; Cialdini & Goldstein, 2004) and herd behavior (Bikhchandani & Sharma, 2000; Le Bon, 1899). Here we see that it was not just the difference in pace that influenced holding the handrail in group, as the effect holds for people in group using the staircase independent of the space between the passersby on the staircases. The study's finding that up to 40% of people who did not hold the handrail had their hands full with material underscores the importance of considering organizational factors in promoting safety behavior on escalators. For instance, providing storage space and implementing policies that prevent people from using both hands to carry materials on stairs (e.g., elevators or two-person guideline), can increase the likelihood of people holding the handrail while using the stairs. This aligns with the HFACS model of Wiegmann and Shappell (2003) that stresses the different layers that contribute to safety behavior, going from organizational to individual factors.

Importantly, we see that the significant nudge effect of the blue hands hold over a period of three months, with a limited decline, which is crucial in evaluating nudging as a safety management tool. Those medium to long-term effect are less understood in nudging literature (Marchiori et al., 2017), making this is a promising result for (safety) applications 'in the wild' (Mazar & Soman, 2022). These insights can inform the development of interventions and policies aimed at promoting safety behavior on staircases, thereby reducing the risk of accidents and injuries, and their related costs (Chen et al., 2021; Gavious et al., 2009).

#### **GENERAL DISCUSSION**

Nudging has received a lot interest in the last decade, building on the work of multiple Nobel Laureates addressing the role of bounded rationality in human decision-making (Earl, 2018; Leahey, 2003). This vast amount of research is mainly concentrated in specific fields of research, including among others (behavioral) economics, health and well-being, and public policy (Dellavigna & Linos, 2022; Thaler & Sunstein, 2008). Little research is done in the domain of safety, except for traffic safety (Avineri, 2014; Goldenbeld et al., 2016), and almost no studies exist evaluating the nudge approach for industrial safety; despite its great potential (Kletz, 2001; Lindhout & Reniers, 2017). This study aimed to evaluate the potential of nudge interventions to promote industrial safety through two field experiments in the steel industry.

# **Evaluating Industrial Safety Nudges**

This study forms a starting point for an ongoing structured evaluation of nudge interventions to foster industrial safety. Our two field experiments provide evidence that small cost-efficient nudges can promote safety behavior in the domains of gas hazards and staircase safety. Especially the nudges that were omnipresent at the workplace (i.e., the gas icon and hand shaped stickers), which resulted in a higher level of nudge exposure, seemed to be the most effective. This aligns with the complexity of safety behavior involving often not one, but repeated and endured necessary actions. Influencing single point decision, such as being an organ donor or not (Davidai et al., 2012), can sufficiently be influenced at one strategic point of time. Influencing endured desired behavior (e.g., constantly wearing gas detector) is likely to benefit more from a higher exposure to nudges throughout the day; which also increases the chance of eliciting positive social influence through shared vigilance (Brizon & Wybo, 2006). This in line with the system 1 and 2 reasoning, where system 1 benefits of assisting choice architecture at multiple relevant decision points, because of the lack of capacity of system 2 to keep this safe thought active during the day (Kahneman, 2011).

Interestingly, our findings confirm the previous finding in nudge literature that combined nudge interventions have a bigger effect than in those nudges in isolation (Ayal et al., 2021; Brandon et al., 2019). This additivity of our safety nudges is promising to counter the criticism on the smaller effects of nudges. If small, but cost-efficient, nudge effects can be combined for bigger impact, its relevance for safety management increases. This combination of nudges, either implemented simultaneously or in sequential fashion, holds the potential to foster a safety culture by making increased safety compliance more visible to other colleagues (e.g., altering perceived social norms, Bicchieri (2017)). In addition, making safety more visible and present through nudges could elicit the idea that managers put more effort into safety (DeJoy, 2005). This perception in turn might lead to reciprocal tendencies of workers (Molm et al., 2007), making them more willing to completermy to safety guidelines (Walker & Hutton, 2006) and potentially more receptive to safety nudges. An important determining factor for nudges to support a change in safety culture is the long-term effect of those nudges. Our study finds some support of the persisting effects on the medium-long-term (i.e., 3 months) for the hand shaped reminders. The long-term effect of other safety nudges stills needs to be explored. This need holds not only for safety nudges, but also for nudge literature in general, which only provided limited results on lasting impact, underscoring the difference between specific types of nudges and the role of implementation context (Brandon et al., 2017; Marchiori et al., 2017; Van Rookhuijzen et al., 2021).

# A New Psychological Framework for Addressing Industrial Safety Behavior

The fact that nudge applications exist in industrial safety practice and research, but have not been addressed as such, shows the lag of adopting the practice of nudging and dual-process theories of decision-making in this field. The benefit of this adoption would be to structure nudge development and to categorize existing interventions that enhances both communication of successful approaches and facilitates further improvement. By using this new psychological framework, more psychological depth can be provided in the evaluation of the human factors contributing to safety (Shappell & Wiegmann, 2001). This can explain, and predict, workers experiencing high levels of fatigue or cognitive load (e.g., due to complex tasks or taxing working conditions) (Aldekhyl et al., 2018; Tinghög et al., 2016) to be less susceptible for system 2 interventions (e.g., safety campaigns, work instructions or training); for example due to memory lapses. Good choice architecture can help to structure workplaces (i.e., both physical and digital) that appeal to system 1 functioning, which keeps operational even during taxing work conditions (e.g., unexpected production problem, night shifts, extreme temperatures and environmental noise, etc.). The taxonomy proposed by Münscher et al. (2016) facilitates nudge development, relevant to the psychological barriers at play. The three clusters of nudge interventions defined provide a good starting point to develop industrial safety nudges and are likely to evolve along with the nudge literature. The new psychological framework discussed should not replace existing safety models, including those on safety culture (DeJoy, 2005; Vierendeels et al., 2018) or human factors (cfr. Reason's Swiss Cheese Model or HFACS), but should be treated as a complement that provides greater psychological depth.

Together with the new psychological framework of bounded rationality, and the associated practice of nudging, goes a necessary endeavor to rethink the ethical framework in which behavior change initiatives operate (Bowman, 2018). The FORGOOD framework can be used as a guideline to steer and evaluate the ethical application of nudges (Lades & Delaney, 2022), for both practitioners and ethical boards, but scholars agree that more rigorous monitoring practices (e.g., behavioral audits) and regulations are needed to control for unintended side effects of interventions or malicious attempts for manipulation (Chowdhurry, 2021; Mills, 2023). In addition, advancing machine learning technologies have made the proliferation of risk (e.g., misinformation campaigns) and the need for ethical protocols and risk mitigating actions more pressing (Mills et al., 2023).

#### Nudging as Part of a Holistic Safety Approach

The findings of the two field experiments show the potential of the nudge approach for industrial safety. The assessment of long-term effects and their scalability will need to enforce this statement in the near future (Lindhout & Reniers, 2017; Marchiori et al., 2017). This leads us to the question how nudge intervention can be integrated in a holistic safety approach that incorporates human, technical and organizational elements.

Both Reasons' Swiss Cheese model (Reason, 1990) and the HFACS model (Shappell & Wiegmann, 2001) highlight the multiple layers that contribute to unsafe behaviors, including organizational influences, (in)consistent supervision, preconditions for unsafe acts and unsafe acts themselves (discriminating between violations and errors). Taking the perspective of those models, the concept of 'layered nudging' can be introduced. Layered nudging captures the capability of nudge interventions to be implemented on multiple levels, being it vertical or horizontally. Vertical layered nudges are implemented at multiple levels in the (organizational) hierarchy, to prevent fallacies in decision-making processes that can contribute to safety accidents. This can be seen as an optimization of multiple lines of defense that prevent accidents to 'slip through the holes' of the Swiss Cheese metaphor. Horizontal layered nudging follows the same reasoning of lines of defense optimization, but focuses on multiple subsequent decision points that lead to a certain undesired action for a specific group or individual on the same hierarchical layer (e.g., relevant to gas detector compliance are picking up the detector, calibrate it, put it on correctly, etc.). Although the distinction between vertical and horizontal layered nudging can at times be useful, the main idea is that nudges can contribute to influence desired behavior by working on multiple levels (i.e., lines of defense), by optimizing managerial decision-making as well as influencing workers' unsafe behavior more directly.

Hallsworth (2023) proposes to use boundedly rational behavioral insights as a 'lens' to see human behavior and efforts to change it. By this, he means that technical improvements or alteration in the workplace, for example, should take into consideration their impact on the human element. Better-designed safety PPE's stored at a more inconvenient place could even be worse than the older models that were easily accessible because of a lower level of compliance. Those conflicts can arise from taking a more rational perspective, instead of this 'behavioral lens'. Hallsworth (2023) uses the term 'choice infrastructure' capturing the need of sufficient capability (and support) to use this behavioral lens from the very start, such as designing a new workplace, instead of trying to overcome existing problems by adding choice architectural interventions (i.e., nudges) when the new workplace appears to be misaligned with human behavior.

#### Limitations and Further Research

Methodological limitations of this study include having no separate control group in experiment 1, no consistent removal and re-entry of nudges to isolate the effect (e.g., ABAB), and similar nudges not being tested at multiple locations. Most of these limitations are due to limited resources and unforeseen practical challenges, common to field experiments (Samek, 2019), which on the other hand have the advantage of high ecological validity. They highlight the need to complement field studies with more controlled and affordable experiments (e.g., online or lab) and follow-up studies. Those follow-up studies should a) aim to replicate findings, b) zoom in on a specific nudges by testing a range slightly differing applications and c) test the same nudge at multiple locations (i.e., assessing both contextual moderators and scalability). Another way to meet these requirements is via collaborative action. Massive field experiments or 'mega studies' have been proposed as a novel and promising method to overcome common limitations in applied behavioral science (Milkman et al., 2021; Ruggeri et al., 2020). By collecting millions of data from multiple independent teams, these studies allow testing dozens of nudge variations in various contexts, and would enable a thorough assessment and optimization of future industrial safety nudges. These mega studies could equally provide more insights in how workplace conditions (i.e., individuals as employees, situational factors and cultural variations; Kubera (2023))

influence nudges differently than applications in public and private situations, by comparing the same nudges in those different settings.

Nudge effects often cumulate (Ayal et al., 2021; Brandon et al., 2019). Further research should explore why additivity of nudge effects seem apparent. Do combined nudges work on different psychological processes that add up, or is it just an increase of intensity of the same processes? Also, different types of nudges elements might influence certain individuals differently, as acknowledged by scholars who stress the need of for heterogeneity approach of nudging (Bryan et al., 2021; Hallsworth, 2023; Sunstein, 2022). This aligns with previous work highlighting the need to consider personality traits (i.e., agreeableness, conscientiousness, neuroticism) as key correlates of workplace safety (Beus et al., 2015). Future work should explore potential interactions between nudges and these personality traits to inform personalized behavior change interventions.

To evaluate industrial safety nudges effectively, a systematic analysis synthesizing relevant preexisting safety interventions that qualify as nudges is crucial (Lindhout & Reniers, 2017). Münscher et al.'s (2016) nudge taxonomy provides a useful framework for this analysis, but continuous updates are necessary to accommodate ever new and harder to classify behavioral techniques (e.g., priming).

Some findings in this study show persistent medium-term effects of industrial safety nudges, but more research is needed to see if the effects endure for a longer period. Next to long-term durability, understanding contextual conditions that moderate or mediate safety nudges is equally essential, and aligns with the broader challenges the nudging approach faces today (Hallsworth, 2023). Consistently, exploring interactions between safety nudges and traditional interventions like informational campaigns and training (cfr. system 2) is a vital yet unexplored research direction. Positive findings regarding these interaction effects could validate the role of nudges in enhancing industrial safety management alongside more established interventions.

# CONCLUSION

This study demonstrates that nudge interventions can be a promising approach to promote safety behavior in the process industry, particularly in the steel industry. The findings from the field experiments show that nudges, such as icons and hand print cues, were effective in increasing safety compliance among workers. This suggests that nudging can be a cost-effective solution to promote safety behavior and prevent severe accidents in the workplace. While nudging has been widely applied in different domains (including finance, health, traffic safety and sustainability), its relevance for safety in the process industry has not been systematically investigated. This study fills this gap by providing empirical evidence of the effectiveness of nudges in the steel industry. The organizational implications of a safety nudging approach are also discussed, highlighting the importance of integrating nudging into a holistic safety approach. In essence, the results of this study have important implications for the steel industry and other process industries, as they demonstrate the potential of nudging to improve safety behavior and prevent accidents. Further research could investigate the generalizability of these findings to other industries and explore the long-term effects of nudging interventions on safety behavior. Nonetheless, the present study provides a valuable contribution to the literature on safety interventions, emphasizing the importance of implementing a multi-faceted safety approach that includes nudging.

#### REFERENCES

- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) (1999). Improvements in workplace safety-United States, 1900-1999. *Morbidity and mortality weekly report*, 48(22), 461-469.
- Aldekhyl, S., Cavalcanti, R. B., & Naismith, L. M. (2018). Cognitive load predicts point-of-care ultrasound simulator performance. *Perspect Med Educ*, 7(1), 23-32. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40037-017-0392-7

- Allcott, H. (2011). Social norms and energy conservation. *Journal of Public Economics*, 95(9-10), 1082-1095. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpubeco.2011.03.003
- Asch, S. E. (1956). Studies of Independence and Conformity .1. A Minority of One against a Unanimous Majority. *Psychological Monographs*, 70(9), 1-70. https://doi.org/DOI 10.1037/h0093718
- Avineri, E. (2014). Nudging Safer Road Behaviours. Tel Aviv Academic College of Engineering, Afeka/Acitral.
- Ayal, S., Celse, J., & Hochman, G. (2021). Crafting messages to fight dishonesty: A field investigation of the effects of social norms and watching eye cues on fare evasion. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 166, 9-19. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.obhdp.2019.10.003
- Benartzi, S., Beshears, J., Milkman, K. L., Sunstein, C. R., Thaler, R. H., Shankar, M., Tucker-Ray, W., Congdon, W. J., & Galing, S. (2017). Should Governments Invest More in Nudging? *Psychological Science*, 28(8), 1041-1055. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797617702501
- Beshears, J., & Kosowsky, H. (2020). Nudging: Progress to date and future directions. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 161, 3-19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.obhdp.2020.09.001
- Beus, J., Dhanani, L., & McCord, M. (2015). A Meta-Analysis of Personality and Workplace Safety: Addressing Unanswered Questions. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 100, 481-498. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0037916
- Bhattacharjee, S., Ghosh, S., & Young-Corbett, D. (2011). Safety Improvement Approaches in Construction Industry: A Review and Future Directions. 47th ASC Annual International Conference.
- Bicchieri, C. (2017). Norms in the Wild: How to Diagnose, Measure, and Change Social Norms. Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780190622046.001.0001
- Bikhchandani, S., & Sharma, S. (2000). Herd Behavior in Financial Markets. *IMF Staff Papers*, 47(3), 279-310. https://doi.org/10.2307/3867650

- Bowman, J. S. (2018). Thinking about Thinking: Beyond Decision-Making Rationalism and the Emergence of Behavioral Ethics. *Public Integrity*, 20(sup1), S89-S105. https://doi.org/10.1080/10999922.2017.1410461
- Brandon, A., List, J. A., Metcalfe, R. D., Price, M. K., & Rundhammer, F. (2019). Testing for crowd out in social nudges: Evidence from a natural field experiment in the market for electricity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 116(12), 5293-5298. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1802874115
- Brizon, A., & Wybo, J. (2006). Vigilance: a process contributing to the resilience of organizations.
- Bryan, C., Tipton, E., & Yeager, D. (2021). Behavioural science is unlikely to change the world without a heterogeneity revolution. *Nature Human Behaviour*. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-021-01143-3
- Bushong, B., Rabin, M., & Schwartzstein, J. (2020). A Model of Relative Thinking. The Review of Economic Studies, 88(1), 162-191. https://doi.org/10.1093/restud/rdaa055
- Cappa, F., Rosso, F., Giustiniano, L., & Porfiri, M. (2020). Nudging and citizen science: The effectiveness of feedback in energy-demand management. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 269, 110759. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2020.110759
- Castleman, B. L., & Page, L. C. (2015). Summer nudging: Can personalized text messages and peer mentor outreach increase college going among low-income high school graduates? *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization*, 115, 144-160. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jebo.2014.12.008
- Chen, C., Reniers, G., Khakzad, N., & Yang, M. (2021). Operational safety economics: Foundations, current approaches and paths for future research. Saf Sci, 141, 105326. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssci.2021.105326
- Chen, H., Cohen, P., & Chen, S. (2010). How Big is a Big Odds Ratio? Interpreting the Magnitudes of Odds Ratios in Epidemiological Studies. *Communications in Statistics - Simulation and Computation*, 39(4), 860-864. https://doi.org/10.1080/03610911003650383

- Chinn, S. (2000). A simple method for converting an odds ratio to effect size for use in meta-analysis. *Statistics in Medicine*, 19(22), 3127-3131. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/1097-0258(20001130)19:22<3127::AID-SIM784>3.0.CO;2-M
- Choudhary, V., Shunko, M., Netessine, S., & Koo, S. (2019). Nudging Drivers to Safety: Evidence from a Field Experiment. *SSRN Electronic Journal*. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3491302
- Chowdhury, R. M. M. I. (2021). The ethics of nudging: Using moral foundations theory to understand consumers' approval of nudges. *Journal of Consumer Affairs*. https://doi.org/10.1111/joca.12431
- Cialdini, R. B., & Goldstein, N. J. (2004). Social influence: Compliance and conformity. *Annual Review* of Psychology, 55, 591-621. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.55.090902.142015
- Cialdini, R. B., Wosinska, W., Barrett, D. W., Butner, J., & Gornik-Durose, M. (1999). Compliance with a request in two cultures: The differential influence of social proof and commitment/consistency on collectivists and individualists. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 25(10), 1242-1253. https://doi.org/Doi 10.1177/0146167299258006
- Davidai, S., Gilovich, T., & Ross, L. D. (2012). The meaning of default options for potential organ donors. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 109(38), 15201-15205. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1211695109
- de Ridder, D., Kroese, F., & van Gestel, L. (2022). Nudgeability: Mapping Conditions of Susceptibility to Nudge Influence. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 17(2), 346-359. https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691621995183
- DeJoy, D. M. (2005). Behavior change versus culture change: Divergent approaches to managing workplace safety. *Safety Science*, 43, 105-129. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssci.2005.02.001
- DellaVigna, S., & Linos, E. (2022). RCTs to Scale: Comprehensive Evidence From Two Nudge Units. *Econometrica*, 90(1), 81-116. https://doi.org/10.3982/Ecta18709

- Earl, P. E. (2018). Richard H. Thaler: A Nobel Prize for Behavioural Economics. Review of Political Economy, 30(2), 107-125. https://doi.org/10.1080/09538259.2018.1513236
- Eckhoff, R. K. (2006). Explosion Hazards in the Process Industries. Gulf Publishing Company. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/C2013-0-15503-1
- Ernst, A., & Zibrak, J. D. (1998). Carbon Monoxide Poisoning. New England Journal of Medicine, 339(22), 1603-1608. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM199811263392206
- Foster, R. J., Hotchkiss, J., Buckley, J. G., & Elliott, D. B. (2014). Safety on stairs: Influence of a tread edge highlighter and its position. *Experimental Gerontology*, 55, 152-158. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exger.2014.04.009
- Gavious, A., Mizrahi, S., Shani, Y., & Minchuk, Y. (2009). The costs of industrial accidents for the organization: Developing methods and tools for evaluation and cost-benefit analysis of investment in safety. *Journal of Loss Prevention in the Process Industries*, 22(4), 434-438. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jlp.2009.02.008
- Goldenbeld, C., de Groot-Mesken, J., & Rijsdijk, H. (2016). Beïnvloeding van snelheidsgedrag door nudging. SWOV, Den Haag.
- Grüne-Yanoff, T., & Hertwig, R. (2016). Nudge Versus Boost: How Coherent are Policy and Theory? Minds and Machines, 26(1), 149-183. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11023-015-9367-9
- Hall, G., & Rodríguez, G. (2017). Habituation and conditioning: Salience change in associative learning.
   Journal of Experimental Psychology: Animal Learning and Cognition, 43, 48-61.
   https://doi.org/10.1037/xan0000129
- Hall, J. E., Hooker, P., & Jeffrey, K. E. (2021). Gas detection of hydrogen/natural gas blends in the gas industry. *International Journal of Hydrogen Energy*, 46(23), 12555-12565. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2020.08.200

- Hallsworth, M. (2022). Making Sense of the "Do Nudges Work?" Debate. https://behavioralscientist.org/making-sense-of-the-do-nudges-work-debate/
- Hallsworth, M. (2023). A manifesto for applying behavioural science. *Nature Human Behaviour*, 7(3), 310-322. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-023-01555-3
- Hanks, A. S., Just, D. R., Smith, L. E., & Wansink, B. (2012). Healthy convenience: nudging students toward healthier choices in the lunchroom. *Journal of Public Health*, 34(3), 370-376. https://doi.org/10.1093/pubmed/fds003
- Hansen, P. G., & Jespersen, A. M. (2013). Nudge and the Manipulation of Choice: A Framework for the Responsible Use of the Nudge Approach to Behaviour Change in Public Policy. *European Journal of Risk Regulation*, 4(1), 3-28. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1867299X00002762
- Hasselblad, V., & Hedges, L. V. (1995). Meta-analysis of screening and diagnostic tests. *Psychol Bull*, *117*(1), 167-178. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.117.1.167
- Hopkins, A. (2006). What are we to make of safe behaviour programs? *Safety Science*, 44(7), 583-597. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssci.2006.01.001
- Hudson, P. (2007). Implementing a safety culture in a major multi-national. *Safety Science*, 45(6), 697-722. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssci.2007.04.005
- Hummel, D., & Maedche, A. (2019). How effective is nudging? A quantitative review on the effect sizes and limits of empirical nudging studies. *Journal of Behavioral and Experimental Economics*, 80, 47-58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socec.2019.03.005
- Johnson, E., & Goldstein, D. (2003). Medicine. Do defaults save lives? Science (New York, N.Y.), 302, 1338-1339. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1091721

Kahneman, D. (2011). Thinking, Fast and Slow. Farrar, Straus and Giroux.

- Kareklas, I., & Muehling, D. D. (2014). Addressing the Texting and Driving Epidemic: Mortality Salience Priming Effects on Attitudes and Behavioral Intentions. *Journal of Consumer Affairs*, 48(2), 223-250. https://doi.org/10.1111/joca.12039
- Khan, F. I., & Amyotte, P. R. (2002). Inherent safety in offshore oil and gas activities: a review of the present status and future directions. *Journal of Loss Prevention in the Process Industries*, 15(4), 279-289. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0950-4230(02)00009-8

Kletz, T. (2001). An Engineers view of Human Error. Institute of Chemical Engineers.

Knegtering, B., & Pasman, H. J. (2009). Safety of the process industries in the 21st century: A changing need of process safety management for a changing industry. *Journal of Loss Prevention in the Process Industries*, 22(2), 162-168. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jlp.2008.11.005

Krause, T., Sellers, G. & Horn, C. (2001). Moving to the 2nd generation in behaviour-based safety.

- Kubera, P. (2023). Nudging in the workplace: Moving beyond the traditional management toolbox *Scientific Papers Of Silesian University Of Technology*, 172(Organization and Management Series). https://managementpapers.polsl.pl/wp-content/uploads/2023/06/172-Kubera.pdf
- Lades, L. K., & Delaney, L. (2022). Nudge FORGOOD. Behavioural Public Policy, 6(1), 75-94. https://doi.org/10.1017/bpp.2019.53
- Le Bon, G. (1899). The Crowd: A Study of the Popular Mind. International Journal of Ethics, 9(4), 521-523.
- Leahey, T. H. (2003). Herbert A. Simon: Nobel Prize in Economic Sciences, 1978. *Am Psychol*, 58(9), 753-755. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066x.58.9.753
- Lee, B., & Kim, H. (2022). Measuring effects of safety-reminding interventions against risk habituation. Safety Science, 154, 105857. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssci.2022.105857

- Lie, A., Krafft, M., Kullgren, A., & Tingvall, C. (2008). Intelligent Seat Belt Reminders—Do They Change Driver Seat Belt Use in Europe? *Traffic Injury Prevention*, 9(5), 446-449. https://doi.org/10.1080/15389580802149690
- Lin, Y., Osman, M., & Ashcroft, R. (2017). Nudge: Concept, Effectiveness, and Ethics. Basic and Applied Social Psychology, 39, 1-14. https://doi.org/10.1080/01973533.2017.1356304
- Lindhout, P., & Reniers, G. (2017). What about nudges in the process industry? Exploring a new safety management tool. *Journal of Loss Prevention in the Process Industries*, 50, 243-256. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jlp.2017.10.006
- Linnerud, I., Kaspersen, P., & Jaeger, T. (1998). Gas monitoring in the process industry using diode laser spectroscopy. *Applied Physics B*, 67(3), 297-305. https://doi.org/10.1007/s003400050509
- Luria, G., Zohar, D., & Erev, I. (2008). The effect of workers' visibility on effectiveness of intervention programs: Supervisory-based safety interventions. *Journal of Safety Research*, 39(3), 273-280. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsr.2007.12.003
- Luximon, A., Chung, L., & Goonetilleke, R. (1998). Safety Signal Words and Color Codes: The Perception of Implied Hazard by Chinese People. *Proceedings of The 5th Pan-Pacific Conference on Occupational Ergonomics*.
- Maier, M., Bartoš, F., Stanley, T. D., Shanks, D. R., Harris, A. J. L., & Wagenmakers, E.-J. (2022). No evidence for nudging after adjusting for publication bias. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 119(31), e2200300119. https://doi.org/doi:10.1073/pnas.2200300119
- Man, S. S., Alabdulkarim, S., Chan, A. H. S., & Zhang, T. R. (2021). The acceptance of personal protective equipment among Hong Kong construction workers: An integration of technology acceptance model and theory of planned behavior with risk perception and safety climate. *Journal* of Safety Research, 79, 329-340. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsr.2021.09.014

Marchiori, D. R., Adriaanse, M. A., & De Ridder, D. T. D. (2017). Unresolved questions in nudging research: Putting the psychology back in nudging. *Social and Personality Psychology Compass*, 11, No Pagination Specified-No Pagination Specified. https://doi.org/10.1111/spc3.12297

Mazar, N., & Soman, D. (2022). Behavioral Science in the Wild. University of Toronto Press.

- Mertens, S., Herberz, M., Hahnel, U. J. J., & Brosch, T. (2022). The effectiveness of nudging: A metaanalysis of choice architecture interventions across behavioral domains. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 119(1). https://doi.org/ARTN e210734611810.1073/pnas.2107346118
- Milkman, K. L., Gromet, D., Ho, H., Kay, J. S., Lee, T. W., Pandiloski, P., Park, Y., Rai, A., Bazerman, M., Beshears, J., Bonacorsi, L., Camerer, C., Chang, E., Chapman, G., Cialdini, R., Dai, H., Eskreis-Winkler, L., Fishbach, A., Gross, J. J., . . . Duckworth, A. L. (2021). Megastudies improve the impact of applied behavioural science. *Nature*, 600(7889), 478-483. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-021-04128-4
- Milkman, K. L., Patel, M. S., Gandhi, L., Graci, H. N., Gromet, D. M., Ho, H., Kay, J. S., Lee, T. W., Akinola, M., Beshears, J., Bogard, J. E., Buttenheim, A., Chabris, C. F., Chapman, G. B., Choi, J. J., Dai, H. C., Fox, C. R., Goren, A., Hilchey, M. D., ... Duckworth, A. L. (2021). A megastudy of text-based nudges encouraging patients to get vaccinated at an upcoming doctor's appointment. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *118*(20). https://doi.org/ARTNe210116511810.1073/pnas.2101165118
- Mills, S. (2022). Personalized nudging. Behavioural Public Policy, 6(1), 150-159. https://doi.org/10.1017/bpp.2020.7
- Mills, S. (2023). Deceptive Choice Architecture and Behavioural Audits. Retrieved October 8, 2023 from https://ssrn.com/abstract=4575923

- Mills, S., Costa, S., & Sunstein, C. R. (2023). AI, Behavioural Science, and Consumer Welfare. Journal of Consumer Policy. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10603-023-09547-6
- Molm, L. D., Schaefer, D. R., & Collett, J. L. (2007). The Value of Reciprocity. *Social Psychology Quarterly*, 70(2), 199-217. https://doi.org/10.1177/019027250707000208
- Münscher, R., Vetter, M., & Scheuerle, T. (2016). A Review and Taxonomy of Choice Architecture Techniques. Journal of Behavioral Decision Making, 29(5), 511-524. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/bdm.1897
- Newaz, M. T., Davis, P., Jefferies, M., & Pillay, M. (2019). The psychological contract: A missing link between safety climate and safety behaviour on construction sites. *Safety Science*, 112, 9-17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssci.2018.10.002
- Pravossoudovitch, K., Cury, F., Young, S. G., & Elliot, A. J. (2014). Is red the colour of danger? Testing an implicit red–danger association. *Ergonomics*, 57(4), 503-510. https://doi.org/10.1080/00140139.2014.889220

Reason, J. (1990). Human Error. Cambridge University Press.

Reason, J. (2009). Managing the risks of organizational accidents. Ashgate.

- Rice, S. P. M., Rimby, J., Hurtado, D. A., Gilbert Jones, I., & Olson, R. (2022). Does sending Safety Toolbox Talks by text message to Residential Construction Supervisors increase Safety Meeting Compliance? Occupational Health Science, 6(3), 313-332. https://doi.org/10.1007/s41542-022-00118-8
- Ruggeri, K., Alí, S., Berge, M., Bertoldo, G., Bjørndal, L., Cortijos Bernabeu, A., Davison, C., Demić,
  E., Esteban Serna, C., Friedemann, M., Kong, S., Jarke, H., Karakasheva, R., Khorrami, P.,
  Kveder, J., Andersen, T., Lofthus, I., McGill, L., Nieto, A., & Folke, T. (2020). Replicating
  patterns of prospect theory for decision under risk. *Nature Human Behaviour*.
  https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-020-0886-x

- Samek, A. (2019). Chapter 6: Advantages and disadvantages of field experiments. In Handbook of Research Methods and Applications in Experimental Economics (pp. 104–120, 448). Edward Elgar Publishing. https://doi.org/10.4337/9781788110563.00014
- Sánchez-Meca, J., Marín-Martínez, F., & Chacón-Moscoso, S. (2003). Effect-size indices for dichotomized outcomes in meta-analysis. *Psychol Methods*, 8(4), 448-467. https://doi.org/10.1037/1082-989x.8.4.448
- Sarpy, S. A., Betit, E., Barlet, G., & Echt, A. (2021). A literature review of behavioral economics in the construction industry: Use of choice architecture techniques to accelerate acceptance and adoption of safety and health research findings and solutions.: National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH) Retrieved from https://www.cpwr.com/wp-content/uploads/Behavioral-Economics-Literature-Review.pdf
- Schultz, P. W., Nolan, J. M., Cialdini, R. B., Goldstein, N. J., & Griskevicius, V. (2007). The constructive, destructive and reconstructive power of social norms. *Psychological Science*, 18(5), 429-434. https://doi.org/DOI 10.1111/j.1467-9280.2007.01917.x
- Shappell, S., & Wiegmann, D. (2001). Applying Reason: The human factors analysis and classification system (HFACS). *Human Factors and Aerospace Safety*, 1(1), 59-86.
- Simon, H. A. (1955). A Behavioral Model of Rational Choice. The Quarterly Journal of Economics, 69(1), 99-118. https://doi.org/10.2307/1884852
- Slovic, P., Peters, E., Finucane, M., & MacGregor, D. (2005). Affect, Risk, and Decision Making. *Health Psychology*, 24. https://doi.org/10.1037/0278-6133.24.4.S35
- Stoffel, S. T., Kerrison, R. S., Vlaev, I., & von Wagner, C. (2020). Offering male endoscopists as decoy option to nudge disinclined women to have colorectal cancer screening. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 43(3), 511-518. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10865-019-00095-4

- Sunstein, C. (2015). Nudges and Choice Architecture: Ethical Considerations. Yale journal on regulation (forthcoming).
- Sunstein, C. R. (2022). The distributional effects of nudges. Nature Human Behaviour, 6(1), 9-10. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-021-01236-z
- Talabi, B., Edum-Fotwe, F., & Gibb, A. (2015). Construction actor safety behaviour: antecedents, current thinking and https://repository.lboro.ac.uk/articles/conference\_contribution/Construction\_actor\_safety\_

behaviour\_antecedents\_current\_thinking\_and\_directions\_/9436682

- Thaler, R., & Benartzi, S. (2004). Save More Tomorrow<sup>™</sup>: Using Behavioral Economics to Increase Employee Saving. *Journal of Political Economy*, 112(S1), S164-S187. https://doi.org/10.1086/380085
- Thaler, R., & Sunstein, C. (2008). Nudge: Improving decisions about health, wealth, and happiness. Yale University Press.
- Thaler, R., Sunstein, C., & Balz, J. (2012). Choice Architecture. In. https://doi.org/10.13140/2.1.4195.2321
- Tham, D. S. Y., Sowden, P. T., Grandison, A., Franklin, A., Lee, A. K. W., Ng, M., Park, J., Pang, W.,
  & Zhao, J. (2020). A systematic investigation of conceptual color associations. *J Exp Psychol Gen*, 149(7), 1311-1332. https://doi.org/10.1037/xge0000703
- Tinghög, G., Andersson, D., Bonn, C., Johannesson, M., Kirchler, M., Koppel, L., & Västfjäll, D. (2016). Intuition and Moral Decision-Making – The Effect of Time Pressure and Cognitive Load on Moral Judgment and Altruistic Behavior. *Plos One*, *11*, e0164012. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0164012

- Torgler, B. (2004). Moral Suasion: An Alternative Tax Policy Strategy? Evidence from a Controlled Field Experiment in Switzerland. *Economics of Governance*, 5, 235-253. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10101-004-0077-7
- Van Hoecke, A. S., Seghers, J., & Boen, F. (2018). Promoting Stair Climbing in a Worksite and Public Setting: Are Footprints Enough? *American Journal of Health Promotion*, 32(3), 527-535. https://doi.org/10.1177/0890117117694284
- Vierendeels, G., Reniers, G., van Nunen, K., & Ponnet, K. (2018). An integrative conceptual framework for safety culture: The Egg Aggregated Model (TEAM) of safety culture. *Safety Science*, 103, 323-339. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssci.2017.12.021
- Vukicevic, A. M., Djapan, M., Isailovic, V., Milasinovic, D., Savkovic, M., & Milosevic, P. (2022). Generic compliance of industrial PPE by using deep learning techniques. *Safety Science*, 148, 105646. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssci.2021.105646
- Walker, A., & Hutton, D. M. (2006). The application of the psychological contract to workplace safety. *Journal of Safety Research*, 37(5), 433-441. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsr.2006.06.001
- Wansink, B., & van Ittersum, K. (2013). Portion size me: plate-size induced consumption norms and win-win solutions for reducing food intake and waste. J Exp Psychol Appl, 19(4), 320-332. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0035053
- Weeks, J. L. (1991). Occupational Health and Safety Regulation in the Coal Mining Industry: Public Health at the Workplace. *Annual Review of Public Health*, 12(1), 195-207. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.pu.12.050191.001211
- Wiegmann, D., & Shappell, S. (2003). A Human Error Approach to Aviation Accident Analysis: The Human Factors Analysis and Classification System (1st ed.). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315263878

Wogalter, M. S., Magurno, A. B., Carter, A. W., Swindell, J. A., Vigilante, W. J., & Daurity, J. G. (1995).
Hazard Associations of Warning Header Components. Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Annual Meeting, 39(15), 979-983.
https://doi.org/10.1177/154193129503901503

Zohar, D., Cohen, A., & Azar, N. (1980). Promoting increased use of ear protectors in noise through information feedback. *Hum Factors*, 22(1), 69-79. https://doi.org/10.1177/001872088002200108

# **CHAPTER 4**

# PROMOTING SAFETY TALKS WITH NUDGES: A LARGE LONGITUDINAL FIELD STUDY IN AN INDUSTRIAL PLANT<sup>1</sup>

Nudge interventions have been proposed as a new tool to promote industrial safety in the process industry. This study aims to evaluate the potential of nudges to promote the number and the distribution of safety talks. Two large field experiments (+300 000 observations) are performed at an industrial steel plant (+5000 employees) in Belgium, investigating the effect of reminders, social feedback and personal feedback. The results of the fist experiment show that all tested nudges have a small significant positive effect on the number of safety talks performed. The second experiment evaluates the long-term effectiveness of a feedback nudge over a very long period of 1.5 years. The nudge improved the spread of the safety talks, but the effect diminishes slightly over time. We conclude that strategic nudge development has the potential to become part of a holistic safety approach, yet further assessment of the long-term effects of nudge interventions and moderating contextual influences is needed.

Keywords: Nudging; Industrial Safety; Safety Talks; Process Industry; Decision-Making

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Costa, S., Duyck, W., & Dirix, N. (2023). Promoting Safety Talks with Nudges: A Large Longitudinal Field Study in an Industrial Plant [Manuscript submitted for publication].

# INTRODUCTION

Over the years, multiple approaches have been developed in industrial safety management to prevent serious accidents from occurring, ranging from technical improvements to better managing systems and the integration of the human factor analysis (Hudson, 2007; Reason, 2009). While constant technological and managerial innovations are needed, the importance of a deeper understanding of safety behavior became increasingly clear (Hopkins, 2006; Knegtering & Pasman, 2009). Research shows that up to 90% of occupational accidents are human-error related (Kletz, 2001). Unsurprisingly, experts agree that learning how to change safety behavior appropriately is one of the biggest remaining challenges.

Introducing the concept of safety culture in the last decades provided the field with insights in how social influence, driven by core values and beliefs, impacts safety behavior (DeJoy, 2005). Yet, the role of subconscious psychological drivers that influence safety decisions, and how to counter-act them, remains poorly understood. Nudge interventions have been proposed as an alternative method (Lindhout & Reniers, 2017) that complements classical safety approaches. Instead of targeting conscious and deliberate thought processes through instruction, protocols and training, these small behavioral interventions focus on making subtle changes in the decision context that interact with subconscious cognitive processes and their limitations (Thaler & Sunstein, 2008). The aim of this study is to build upon this proposition by evaluating the effect of safety nudges in promoting the number, and distribution, of performed safety talks on-site of a large Belgian steel plant (+5000 employees). The long-term effects of the safety nudges are monitored, in which we simultaneously address a gap in the nudging literature (Beshears & Kosowsky, 2020; Marchiori et al., 2017; Van Rookhuijzen et al., 2021).

#### The Importance of Safety Talks

Industrial safety is a crucial aspect of the process industry, and it requires the continuous implementation of safety protocols and measures. Safety talks or safety meetings encourage employees

to remain aware of the potential hazards present in their working environment and the measures necessary to prevent accidents (Hinze et al., 2013; Zohar & Luria, 2003). A safety talk at an industrial site is a structured communication session, individual or in group, conducted by supervisors or safety professionals to promote safety awareness and reinforce safe work practices<sup>2</sup> (Kaskutas et al., 2016). Safety talks have proven to be effective tools in promoting industrial safety. Either by directly influencing safety awareness, risk perception and safety knowledge (Christian et al., 2009; Hoonakker et al., 2005; Huang et al., 2018; Sawacha et al., 1999), or by indirectly representing a good safety culture (Naji et al., 2022), known to have a big impact on safety behavior (Brondino et al., 2012; Kalteh et al., 2021; Vierendeels et al., 2018). Hinze et al. (2013) found that 'reported participation in safety meetings' in construction was one of the differentiating practices associated with a significant reduction in recordable injury rates. A 5-year longitudinal study of Hoonakker et al. (2005), found that regularly scheduled safety meetings were related to better safety results and lower safety insurance costs (often used as a safety outcome indicator). Lastly, a recent study of Naji et al. (2022) shows the mediating role that safety communication plays between safety culture and safety outcomes, further highlighting the importance of frequent safety talks.

Despite their importance, both the quality and the frequency of safety talks can be improved in practice. Olson et al. (2016) highlight multiple challenges, such as employee engagement, lack of personalization and a suboptimal frequency. Many employees consider safety talks to be a chore and consequently often pay little attention to the information presented. Organizations need to find ways to make safety talks more engaging and interactive (Forck, 2005). Another challenge is that safety talks are often not provided frequently enough (Arcury et al., 2012; Kines et al., 2010), which threatens

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$  A distinction can be made between safety meetings (i.e., more formal and longer talks with safety experts or supervisors discussing multiple hazards) and toolbox talks (i.e., shorter informal safety conversations before work or during breaks with direct supervisors and close colleagues) (Kaskutas et al., 2016). In this study, we focus on the more formal safety meetings, which will be further referred to as safety talks.

employee engagement keeping safety top of mind (Zohar & Luria, 2003). The Occupational Health and Safety Administration (OSHA) emphasizes the significance of periodic safety discussions, generally advising to perform one safety talk a month (contingent on the sector and company size; see OSHA (2016) and OR-OSHA (2019)). However, in case of the large multinational steel plant involved in this research, the predetermined goal of one safety talk per worker a month is often not met. In this study, we dig deeper into the psychological barriers that prevent supervisors to perform sufficient safety talks with the workforce.

#### The Boundedly Rational Individual

Over the last decades, research in human decision-making has shown that decisions and human behavior are frequently not the result of mere logical reasoning (cfr. Homo Economicus, see Persky (1995)). Simon (1997) argues that humans are 'boundedly rational', relying on subconscious simplified models and heuristics (i.e., mental shortcuts) instead of analyzing all the information available. Kahneman (2011) captures this metaphorically in his dual-process theory of decision-making (i.e., system 1 & 2). System 1 refers to the intuitive and automatic mode of thinking, which operates mainly without conscious thought. It operates effortlessly and quickly, relying on heuristics and immediate associations (e.g., linking a red color to aggression, see Tham et al. (2020)). System 2 represents the deliberate and analytical mode of thinking, is much slower and controlled, and requires conscious mental effort (e.g., complex mathematical calculations or safety education). Because our brain has little evolutionary interest or adaptation to operate in industrial plants, the mismatch between evolutionary heuristics and cognitive limitations, (cfr. system 1), and modern-day safety challenges (cfr. system 2), can partially explain the persistence of certain behavioral challenges and recurrent inadequate choices.

#### Nudging

The practice of nudging focuses on making subtle adaptions in the decision context – social, physical or informational – to steer behavior in the desired direction without limiting choice alternatives

or economic incentives (Thaler & Sunstein, 2008). It aims to incorporate the contextual influences, by targeting system 1 more directly, and overcoming system 2 limitations (e.g., the inability to remember everything), when recreating the 'choice architecture' (i.e., the design and presentation of choice options) (Thaler et al., 2012). An example of a nudge is changing the defaults to promote organ donations, requiring an administrative action to opt-out instead of requiring an action to opt-in (Davidai et al., 2012). People tend to follow the path of the least resistance (i.e., inertia) and go with pre-set options when they are ignorant to the outcome, doubt which option is best or just don't care enough to spend energy on whatever action required (Michaelsen & Sunstein, 2023). Another example is the use of social comparison messaging to increase sustainable action. For instance , water and energy waste is reduced by providing information (e.g., e-mail or letter) about the actual use of resources by neighbors or other peers, providing a benchmark for one's own behavior. In a second-order meta-analysis, Bergquist et al. (2023) found social comparison to be even more effective (d = 0.37) than financial incentives (d = 0.32) to promote climate change mitigating behaviors. This effect occurs because people are heavily influenced by their social environment, including what others do and value (i.e., social norms, see Bicchieri (2017)).

Early discussions questioned the ethics of nudging, as some scholars deemed it manipulative (Lin et al., 2017). Nowadays, there is a consensus that nudging is accepted if the outcomes benefit both the practitioner and the target audience (e.g., improving health). In such cases, neglecting inappropriate choice architecture is unethical in itself (e.g., keeping unhealthy food at eye level at schools, which promotes consumption). Besides that consideration, it is also impossible 'not to influence': one has to determine the organ donation defaults to either 'yes' or 'no' anyway, and each of these has effects on outcomes (Sunstein, 2015). Importantly, nudges have proven to be cost-efficient (Benartzi et al., 2017) and to elicit mainly small to medium significant effects in a variety of applications domains, including health, finance and sustainability (Mertens et al., 2022). Recent debates questioned whether the nudge

effect still holds when controlling for publication bias (Maier et al., 2022). A comprehensive study including data from governmental nudge units in both the UK and USA, that pre-register and report every experiment (i.e., less susceptible to publication bias) confirmed that the nudge effects 'in the wild' (8.7% increase over the average control) are smaller than in academic journals (33.4%), but that they still remain significant (DellaVigna & Linos, 2022). Because nudge effects are very context dependent (de Ridder et al., 2022), a heterogeneity approach, considering all moderating and mediating variables involved, is proclaimed by experts as the way forward (Bryan et al., 2021; Hallsworth, 2023; Sunstein, 2022).

#### Nudging Safety and Safety Talks

Nudge studies in the realm of safety, and by extension industrial safety, are still premature. Mainly traffic safety has known a surge in the last decades. One example includes the use of smart belt devices that provide an auditory reminder that becomes an annoying sound when the seatbelt is not buckled up (Lie et al., 2008). This reminding sound shows how nudges can assist the cognitive limitations of system 2. Limited cognitive capacity, or cognitive laziness, prevents people from remembering everything. A reminder helps the individual by directing the selective attentional process in the desired direction. In addition, a persisting sound becomes annoying, creating mental friction (i.e., cognitive resistance experienced when processing information, making decisions, or solving problems; see Dooley (2019)), which might motivate people to buckle up, because enduring the sound requires more cognitive effort than buckling up. Both nudge examples show how different small behavioral interventions can change human behavior by affecting system 1 more directly or by assisting the limited system 2 functioning.

Lindhout and Reniers (2017) propose the nudge approach as a new method to promote industrial safety in the process industry. They state that multiple safety interventions by definition fall under the criteria of a 'nudge' (e.g., painted arrows, signs and the use of colors), but that to this date little to no studies exist that investigate the effectiveness and strategic use of nudge interventions for industrial safety. We found one recent study of Rice et al. (2022) that nudges residential construction supervisors to increase the performance of regular on-site toolbox talks (i.e., short informal safety talks before work or during breaks) by sending short talk formats through text-messaging on the mobile phone; providing both inspiration for topics as serving as a mere reminder. The number of toolbox talks performed improved by 19% during the text message period. Interestingly, the term nudging is not mentioned in this study, although the tested intervention meets the 'nudge criteria', clearly showing the lag in adopting this framework for safety. The authors confirm that currently, no other studies have examined the potential of nudge interventions to promote the performed number of safety talks for occupational safety and that more research is needed to overcome their limitations (i.e., using a within-subject pre-post design with no control group and limited sample of 56 supervisors).

Performing safety talks can be seen as an outcome of a sequence of human decisions, and therefore, lend oneself to benefit from an optimized choice architecture (Thaler et al., 2012). People need to be informed about the specific number of talks that they need to perform, they need to remember at the given moment that they have to perform this talk and make it work with the rest of their schedule. Understanding the benefits of the safety talks, considering the amount of effort that is needed to register every talk and the influence of what colleagues do and value, are all factors that can influence the eventual decision of performing a safety talk (Olson et al., 2016). Considering all behavioral and contextual factors that influence the eventual action is needed to develop a tailored nudge intervention that promotes performing safety talks. In addition, one might wonder whether nudges should target behaviors that are indirectly related to an end goal (e.g., in this case promoting safety behavior and reducing accidents), or should instead only focus on the last person in the sequence performing the action. We argue that nudges should be used to counter inadequate decision-making on all levels, because accidents for example are a result of cumulated flaws in decision-making and suboptimal processes throughout the hierarchy of an organization (Wiegmann & Shappell, 2003). Recent studies show that nudging the behavior of regulators or other intermediates (e.g., customer service representatives) is a promising avenue to influence the behavior of end users, solving the problem at hand, complementing the narrow approach of solely targeting the last person in line (cfr. 'nudging the nudger', see House et al. (2022) and Dudley and Xie (2022). We conclude that nudges have the potential to improve industrial safety and that a holistic and strategic approach should be used to integrate nudges on multiple layers of the decision hierarchy leading to a given level of safety (cfr. 'layered nudging', see Costa et al. (2023)).

# A Structured Approach: Taxonomy of Choice Architecture

By definition, nudges already exist in the field of industrial safety, but to this day, no overarching framework or strategy exists to implement them (Lindhout & Reniers, 2017). Münscher et al. (2016) propose a taxonomy to group nudging (or choice architectural) techniques in three separate clusters to strategize nudge development. Each cluster is built around a specific psychological barrier that the matching techniques try to overcome (for a comprehensive overview, see Mertens et al. (2022) and Münscher et al. (2016)). This taxonomy of choice architecture interventions can be used as a guideline to develop nudges in the field of industrial safety and beyond.

Decision information focuses on the limited access to decision-relevant information and tries to increase the availability, comprehensibility and personal relevance of information. Making information accessible and providing (direct) feedback are techniques that fall under this cluster and have proven to work in the field of sustainability. Cappa et al. (2020) showed that providing feedback on energy usage can reduce energy waste significantly. Likewise, by providing transparent information and feedback on how many safety talks are being performed, how those talks are spread over the workforce (i.e., aiming to reach as many employees as possible) and how other departments perform, could nudge practitioners to perform more talks and optimize the spread. The underlying mechanism entails the limitations of system 2 to keep track of everything and the limited access to decision-relevant information, which is countered by the nudge interventions at hand. Related to this is the use of personally relevant information (Mills, 2022b) and the use of social reference points to increase the impact of any message (Cialdini et al., 1999). Humans, as social beings, are heavily influenced by what other people do or value (i.e., by social norms, see Bicchieri (2017)). Displaying social information of exemplary behavior has found to be effective in promoting environmental conservation (Allcott, 2011; Goldstein et al., 2008), reducing bribery (Kobis et al., 2022) and increasing tax income (Torgler, 2004).

Decision structure aims to address the limited capacity to evaluate and compare choice options, and structures choice options by changing their arrangement in the decision environment or the format of decision-making. Changing defaults is a widely known technique that alters the decision structure by changing the standard setting from opting-in to opting-out, exploiting the tendency of humans to go with pre-set options that require no effort (i.e., cognitive inertia) (Michaelsen & Sunstein, 2023). They work when strong motivations for alternatives are absent, which may nevertheless concern fundamental life choices, for instance, increasing organ donation (Davidai et al., 2012) and pension savings significantly (Thaler & Benartzi, 2004). Reducing friction is a related technique that manipulates the mental or physical effort individuals have to do for a given action (Dooley, 2019). Vanhouten et al. (1981) found that increasing the closing time of elevator doors, implying a longer waiting time, increased staircase usage. By modifying friction that practitioners encounter when planning, performing and registering safety talks, one can expect a positive effect on compliance.

Decision assistance counters the limited attention and self-control of an individual by facilitating self-regulation. By providing reminders, one can overcome memory lapses and stimulate the desired action. A successful example is the use of text-based reminders to increase vaccine uptake (Milkman et al., 2021). Accordingly, providing sufficient reminders for scheduling and executing the planned safety talks would benefit the outcome, as confirmed by research from Rice et al. (2022), in which text

reminders increased the number of toolbox talks in construction significantly (i.e., 19%). Another technique involves the use of pre-commitment strategies, nudging people to follow through with their intentions by exploiting the human tendency to reduce 'cognitive dissonance' (i.e., avoiding having conflicting beliefs and attitudes) (Festinger, 1957). Temporal landmarks, such as the beginning of the month, have been shown to amplify the impact of pre-commitment strategies (i.e., fresh start effect) for, among others, future savings (Dai et al., 2014).

# Evaluating Nudge Effectiveness Over Time

The aim of any intervention targeting safety-related behavior is to achieve lasting behavior change. Safety culture approaches and behaviour-based safety programs, which focus mainly on operant condition<sup>3</sup> and system 2 interventions, including coaching (Geller, 2005; Nemeroff & Karoly, 1991), have proven to maintain positive effects over the long-term (Krause et al., 1999). The current nudging literature has a gap concerning long-term effects (Beshears & Kosowsky, 2020). The few studies that do exist show mixed results (Brandon et al., 2017; Marchiori et al., 2017; Van Rookhuijzen et al., 2021). The long-term effectiveness of nudges appears to be contingent upon the particular nudge types employed and the circumstances in which they are applied, highlighting the necessity for a comprehensive analysis of contextual variables that may influence their impact (Bryan et al., 2021; Hallsworth, 2023).

In a large-scale natural experiment with over 14 000 individuals, Gravert and Collentine (2021) found that descriptive social norms (i.e., providing information on what relevant others do, "72% of your neighbors are traveling with public transport occasionally") are not effective in nudging public transport usage. On the other hand, they found that economic incentives (i.e., a four-week free travel

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Operant conditioning is a learning process in which behaviors are shaped by their consequences, either through reinforcement or punishment (Nemeroff & Karoly, 1991). Reinforcing safe behaviors (e.g., wearing helmet) with (costly) rewards can enhance safety. However, when this reinforcement is no longer provided, extinction of the desired behavior can occur: the improved safety compliance is expected to gradually drop back to the baseline.

card) significantly increasing the uptake, which remained for months after removing the incentive pointing towards habit formation (i.e., automated actions largely driven by system 1). This study highlights both the importance of incorporating the heterogeneous effects of nudges (descriptive social norms do work in other contexts; see Bicchieri (2017) and Cialdini et al. (2006)), as the potential of behavioral interventions to foster habit formation after sustained exposure. The question remains what nudges are capable of maintaining their effect over time, which in turn could assist in developing adequate habits (Allcott & Rogers, 2014; Wood, 2019).

Lindhout and Reniers (2017) argue that nudges can be a useful contribution to industrial safety management to foster the current stagnating safety improvements. Therefore, a proper longitudinal analysis of safety nudging effects is necessary to push forward nudge theory as an established part of a holistic safety approach. Such a longitudinal analysis not only benefits the safety literature, but also entails an invaluable contribution to the scarce long-term evaluation of nudging in its entirety.

# **CURRENT STUDY**

This study aims to investigate the effectiveness of nudge interventions in promoting the frequency (i.e., the number of talks) and spread (i.e., the number of employees that had a talk) of safety talks in the steel industry (RQ1), as well as examining the long-term maintenance of their effects (RQ2). Two field experiments are carried out at a Belgian site (+ 5000 employees) of a large multinational steel plant. The Belgian site processes raw materials to highly developed end products, through a variety of large separate departments (incl. blast furnaces, hot – and cold rolling mills, maintenance warehouse, raw material departments, galvanization lines etc.), allowing for an analysis of independent test and control groups. The Belgian steel plant aims to have at least one safety talk performed by every eligible supervisor a month (cfr. frequency) and for every worker to receive one talk each month (in line with standard OSHA guidelines, see OSHA (2016) and OR-OSHA (2019)). Given that both targets are

142 CHAPTER 4

consistently not met, a series of nudge interventions is tested to improve both the frequency and the spread of the safety talks among the workers in this firm.

In the first experiment, nudge interventions are developed to promote the number of safety talks performed. A series of interviews were carried out in various departments preceding the experiment to explore psychological barriers at play. Recurring themes are operational demands, making it challenging to allocate sufficient time for safety talks (i.e., setting other priorities) and forgetting to perform sufficient safety talks because of daily tasks taking up all the attention. Other barriers include the inconvenience of registering safety talks and the belief that some colleagues carry the team or, on the opposite, do not value performing qualitative safety talks in general. Various behavioral techniques are used to counter the psychological barriers at play, including reminders, reduced friction, social feedback and personal feedback. The reminder nudge (i.e., email format) assists in following through with the right intention by overcoming memory lapses and attention deficits (cfr. Decision Assistance), similar to the text reminder that proved effective in increasing the number of toolbox talks in construction (Rice et al., 2022). A safety talk registration link is added to this reminder to limit the required effort, minimizing the friction encountered in performing this action (cfr. Decision Structure) (Dooley, 2019). By providing feedback nudges, we address the limited capacity of individuals to access decision-relevant information (cfr. Decision Information), including personal and social information (cfr. social norms, Bicchieri (2017)), that has proven to work in previous studies (Cialdini, 2013; House et al., 2022; Zohar & Luria, 2003). In line with the nudging literature, we believe that the nudge interventions will have a small significant positive effect on the performed number of safety talks, including the reminder (Hypothesis 1), the social feedback nudge (Hypothesis 2) and the personal feedback nudge (Hypothesis 3). The personal feedback intervention is expected to have the biggest impact, as it acts most upon the performance of the individual directly (Hypothesis 4), while the reminder is expected to have the smallest influence (cfr. recent meta-analyses where Decision

Information generally outperforms the Decision Assistance cluster, see Mertens et al. (2022)) (Hypothesis 5).

The second field experiment examines how a nudge intervention can foster the spread of safety talks and whether this effect is maintained in the long-term. Safety results at the industrial plant show that the current spread averages around 40 to 50% of employees receiving no safety talks on a monthly basis. OSHA guidelines encourage regular safety talks with all workers (e.g., every worker receiving a talk once a month) (OR-OSHA, 2019; OSHA, 2016); this supports the consensus at the firm that the spread of safety talks among the employees should be improved. Psychological barriers are explored during the same interviews of the first experiment. The main barrier appears to be the lack of knowledge and transparency of the exact spread at a given moment in time. It is difficult to keep track of the spread without easily accessible mechanisms providing up-to-date information (other than personally analyzing the registered safety talks). Our cognitive capacity (cfr. system 2) simply does not allow us to remember this by heart in the case of large firms. Therefore, a feedback nudge is developed and tested providing information on the spread among the workers on a monthly basis. Similar to the feedback nudges in experiment 1, the focus here lies in providing accessibility to otherwise hidden decision-relevant information (cfr. Decision Information). A recent randomized control trial (RCT) showed that feedback nudges were capable of increasing the performance of service agents on increasing organ donation registrations (i.e., 25% increase) (House et al., 2022), further substantiating our choice for the intervention. The effect of the nudge intervention is monitored over a period of one year to investigate its sustainability. Hereby, we address both the gap in nudging literature concerning long-term effects (Marchiori et al., 2017; Van Rookhuijzen et al., 2021), as the robustness of the nudging approach as a newly established part of safety management (Lindhout & Reniers, 2017). We believe that the feedback nudge will have a small significant positive effect on the spread (Hypothesis 6) and that this effect will maintain one year later but decrease compared to the first month (Hypothesis 7).

144 CHAPTER 4

#### **EXPERIMENT 1**

The effect of nudges promoting the number of safety talks performed is examined. A variety of nudge interventions is tested, including reminders, reduced friction, and personal and social feedback.

#### Method

#### **Participants**

The sample of the first field experiment consists of 1303 internal supervisors of the industrial plant (1241 men,  $M_{age} = 43.1$ , SD = 10.5) from 8 separate departments; including the Cokes Factory (COO, n= 69), Blast Furnaces (BF, n= 168), Raw Materials (RM, n= 127), Galvanization Line (GL, n= 108), the Cold-Rolling Pickling Mill (CPM, n= 199), General Services (GS, n= 154), Steel Factory (STL, n= 233) and Cold-Rolling Mill (CM, n= 245). A total number of 199 379 observations is collected. Before starting this study, approval is obtained from the labor unions representing all employees, informing them about the content of the study, interventions and privacy implications. Summaries of the results are freely accessible for the employees on the intranet website of the steel plant. Ethical clearance for this study is provided by the safety department of the industrial plant. All the registered safety talks are exported out of the registration software, allowing for non-intrusive data collection.

#### Research Design

A quasi-experimental pre-post design is used to evaluate the nudge effects per department, including five control departments with no interventions implemented (see Table 1). The reminder is tested at the COO, the social feedback nudge at CPM and the personal feedback nudge at the GL. Every condition lasts one month, except for the post-test that lasted 3 months to control for variations during the summer vacation period. The binary dependent variable is the blue-collar workers receiving a safety talk ('1') or not ('0') on a daily basis. The control departments include RM, BF, GS, STL and CM.
#### Table 1

Departments	Month 1	Month 2	Month 3-5
Cokes Factory (COO)	Baseline	Reminder	Post-test
Cold-Rolling Pickling Mill (CPM)	Baseline Social feedback Pos		Post-test
Galvanization Line (GL)	Baseline	Personal feedback	Post-test
Raw Materials (RM)	Baseline	Control	Post-test
Blast Furnaces (BF)	Baseline	Control	Post-test
General services (GS)	Baseline	Control	Post-test
Steel Factory (STL)	Baseline	Control	Post-test
Cold-Rolling Mill (CM)	Baseline	Control	Post-test

#### Research design of the nudge implementation

#### Procedure

Supervisors are expected to perform a minimum of one safety talk a month. This entails going to the workplace and discussing safety-related issues with one or multiple employees of choice (there are no strict duration guidelines). They can choose to indicate this moment in their Outlook agenda or perform this talk spontaneously when it suits them. To date there is no obligation in effect, because of irregular production requirements and the preference to safeguard employee autonomy.

The reminder at COO is sent via the Outlook mailing system twice a week (every Monday and Wednesday) containing the following message: 'Dear colleague, don't forget to schedule and register your safety talks. You can do this via the link below. Thank you very much!'. A hyperlink is added that leads directly to the page to register the talk, mitigating the effort to register (i.e., reducing friction).

The social feedback nudge at CPM involves a mail sent at the end of every week (again using Outlook). This mail consisted of two parts: 1) General information on the number of talks performed and what percentage this is from the monthly goal (this varies depending on the size of the departments) (i.e., 'This month we have set a target X safety talks. Up to now we have reached X safety talks, which

is X % of our goal'). At the end of the first week, a progression of 25% is expected, in the second week 50% and so forth. 2) The second part contains information of how well all departments perform (with CPM generally being slightly under average in the last months, allowing to test upward social norm effects).

The personal feedback nudge is similar to the social feedback nudge; sent at every end of the week and consisting also out of two parts: 1) General information (identical to social feedback nudge) and 2) feedback on the personal progression ('You have reached X% of your goal').

#### Data Analysis

The hypotheses are examined using multiple binary logistic regression analyses on counts of the binary dependent variable (i.e., registered safety talks). Logistic regression coefficients are utilized to calculate the odds ratio (OR), which measures the association between two binary variables. The OR compares the odds of an event occurring in one group to the odds in another group. An OR of 1 indicates no association, values above 1 indicate a positive association, and values below 1 represent a negative association. The magnitude of an OR can be classified as small (1.5), medium (2.5), or large (4) (Chinn, 2000; Hasselblad & Hedges, 1995; Sánchez-Meca et al., 2003), although interpretations may vary across different fields and base-rate differences (Chen et al., 2010). Cohen's d was also calculated as an additional measure of effect size (0.2 = small, 0.5 = medium, 0.8 = large). Separate within-subject analyses are carried out per department due to the difference in baselines among departments, which do not allow meaningful between-department comparisons (other than defining which department performs better in general). The statistical analyses were conducted using IBM SPSS Statistics version 27.

#### Results

The results of the binary logistic regression can be found in Table 2. The reminder nudge in the COO department has a small significant effect on the number of safety talks performed with an OR

of 1.29 (p < .01, 95% CI: 1.11 - 1.50) when compared to the baseline (i.e., the baseline of the department at hand, one month before nudge implementation). The COO post-test (i.e., after nudge removal) shows a small to medium significant negative effect with a 0.55 odds ratio (p < .01, 95% CI: 0.48 - 0.63), indicating a significant decline of the performed number of safety talks compared to the baseline. The social feedback nudge at CPM has a small significant positive effect on safety talk performance with an odds ratio of 1.33 (p < .01, 95% CI: 1.18 - 1.51). The CPM post-test has a medium negative effect compared to the baseline with a 0.41 odds ratio (p < .01, 95% CI: 0.36 - 0.46). The personal feedback nudge at GL has an odds ratio of 1.57 (p < .01, 95% CI: 1.27 - 1.93), implying a small significant positive effect on performing safety that is slightly bigger than the other nudges. The GL post-test shows a small negative effect with an odds ratio of 0.74 (p < .01, 95% CI: 0.61 - 0.90), which aligns with the post-test of COO and CPM. The control departments show no positive effects of the control conditions compared to their individual baseline. The control condition of the BF has a non-significant odds ratio of 0.93 (p > .1 95% CI: 0.82 - 1.05), similar to GS and CM having a non-significant odds ratio of 1.14 (p> .1, 95% CI: 0.96 - 1.36) and 1.05 (p > .1, 95% CI: 0.94 - 1.17) respectively. The control condition of both RM and STL have a small negative effect on the performed number of safety talks compared to the baseline with an odds ratio of 0.72 (p < .01, 95% CI: 0.63 - 0.84) and 0.84 (p < .01, 95% CI: 0.75 -0.95) respectively. The post-tests of all control departments display a negative effect, ranging from small to medium (see Table 2 and Figure 1 for more information).

#### Table 2

VARIABLES	Number of safety talks					
	Exp (B)	d				
COO						
Reminder	1.29***	1.11 - 1.50	0.14			
Post-test	0.55***	0.48 - 0.63	-0.33			
Observations	10 557					

The effect of the nudges on the number of performed safety talks

CPM			
Social feedback	1.33***	1.18 - 1.51	0.16
Post-test	0.41***	0.36 - 0.46	-0.49
Observations	30 447		
GL			
Personal feedback	1.57***	1.27 - 1.93	0.25
Post-test	0.74***	0.61 - 0.90	-0.17
Observations	16 524		
BF			
Control (1)	0.93	0.82 - 1.05	-0.04
Post-test	0.66***	0.59 - 0.73	-0.23
Observations	25 704		
RM			
Control (2)	0.72***	0.63 - 0.84	-0.18
Post-test	0.51***	0.45 - 0.57	-0.37
Observations	19 431		
GS			
Control (3)	1.14	0.96 - 1.36	0.07
Post-test	0.49***	0.42 - 0.58	-0.39
Observations	23 562		
STL			
Control (4)	0.84***	0.75 - 0.95	-0.10
Post-test	0.64***	0.58 - 0.71	-0.25
Observations	35 649		
CM			
Control (5)	1.05	0.94 - 1.17	0.03
Post-test	0.71***	0.65 - 0.77	-0.19
Observations	37 485		

*Note.* \*\*\* p < .01, \*\* p < .05, \* p < .1; reference level for interventions 'Baseline'

#### Figure 1



The number of talks per person per condition

#### Discussion

We aimed to evaluate the effectiveness of nudge interventions promoting the number of performed safety talks. Both the reminder nudge (i.e., Decision Assistance) and the feedback nudges (i.e., Decision Information) appear to have a small significant effect on safety talk performance, with personal feedback eliciting a slightly larger effect. It appears that people benefit more from personal feedback on performance, providing insights into personal contributions and most likely, including feelings related to exposure, such as guilt or shame, than the comparison between other (better performing) departments that are too distant. This aligns with the proclaimed heterogeneity approach, advocating a tailored and personalized nudging strategy (Bryan et al., 2021; Mills, 2022b; Sunstein, 2022), with the personal feedback nudge having different personal effects on multiple target audiences (i.e., depending on your efforts). All control departments show no significant or very small significant negative effects, indicating the probable absence of uncontrolled external factors strongly enhancing

the safety performance in that period. This confirms that the increase in the nudge conditions can be attributed to the interventions.

#### **EXPERIMENT 2**

In Experiment 2, the focus is not on the frequency of safety talks but on the spread of the safety talks among the workforce (i.e., rather than looking at the absolute number of safety talks in a department, here we try to maximize the number of different employees who have a safety talk within the department on a monthly basis). We examine the effect of a feedback nudge on the spread, and the maintenance of the nudge effect over time.

#### Method

#### **Participants**

The second field experiment contains a sample of 1380 internal supervisors (1317 men,  $M_{age}$  = 42.4, SD = 10.8) from 8 separate departments; involving the Steel Factory (STL, n= 233), General Services (GS, n= 154), Cokes Factory (COO, n= 69), Blast Furnaces (BF, n= 168), Raw Materials (RM, n= 127), Hot-Rolling Mill (HM) (n= 185) Cold-Rolling Mill (CM, n= 245) and the Cold-Rolling Pickling Mill (CPM, n= 199). A total number of 127 941 observations is collected. Similar to the first experiment, approval is obtained from the labor unions representing all employees, informing them about the content of the study, interventions and privacy implications. Summaries of the results are freely accessible to the employees on the intranet website of the steel plant. Ethical clearance for this study is provided by the safety department of the industrial plant. All the registered safety talks are exported out of the registration software, allowing for non-intrusive data collection.

#### **Research Design**

A longitudinal quasi-experimental design is used to evaluate the nudge effect on the spread of the safety talks at the SF department, including multiple independent control departments (i.e., GS, COO, BF, RM, HM, CM and CPM). The feedback intervention in this experiment can be automated in the short-term and therefore lends itself to a long-term analysis of the effect. Data on the spread are collected from March 2020 until November 2022. The intervention is implemented at the beginning of May 2021 and remains active onwards. The other departments are not exposed to any intervention influencing the spread and serve as a mere control.

#### Procedure

The feedback nudge in this experiment contains a mail that is sent at the end of every week via the Outlook mailing system since the first implementation of the nudge in May 2021. The message in the mail is the following: 'We aim to have every employee at the Steel Factory (STL) receiving at least one safety talk a month. Below you find a list of all your employees and the number of safety talks they received this month'.

#### Data Analysis

The impact of the feedback nudge (over time) is assessed through multiple binary logistic regression analyses, considering the binary nature of the dependent variables (e.g., receiving a safety talk or not). Effect sizes are interpreted using the odds ratio (OR) and Cohen's d. Again, separate within-subject analyses are carried out per department due to the difference in baselines between departments, not allowing for meaningful between-subject comparisons. IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, version 27 (IBM Corp., Armonk, N.Y., USA) was employed to conduct all statistical analyses.

#### Results

The results of the binary logistic regression at STL are shown in Table 3. The feedback nudge at STL, in the first month (May 2021), has a large positive significant effect on the spread of the safety talks (i.e., maximizing the number of people receiving a talk on a monthly basis), when compared to the baseline (May 2020), with an odds ratio of 4.45 (p < .01, 95% CI: 3.50 - 5.67). Table 3 shows the evolution of the effect of both the control conditions (i.e., months without nudge prior to the nudge

implementation) compared to the baseline (May 2021), as the changes of the feedback nudge over time (see Figure 2). The effect of the feedback nudge varies every month since its application, ranging from odds ratio of 2.28 to 4.97. In general, we see that the effect of the feedback nudge maintains as time progresses, but it slightly fades out. For clarity, Table 4 represents the average odds ratio of three periods (i.e., pre-intervention period 'Mar 2020 - Apr 2021', first-year intervention period 'May 2021 - May 2022' and the last 6 months period 'June 2022 - Nov 2022'). Here we see that at STL the average odds ratio for the control conditions during the pre-intervention period (Mar 2020 - Apr 2021) is 1.66, implying a small positive effect, 3.71 for the first-year intervention period (May 2021 - May 2022), which is a medium to large positive effect, and 2.74 for the last 6 months period, representing a medium positive effect when compared to the baseline (May 2021). The results of binary logistic regression for all control departments (incl. GS, COO, RM, BF, CPM, CM and HM) can be found in Appendix 4A (Tables A1 – A7). The average odds ratios in Table 4 show that most of the control departments display significantly smaller odds ratios for both the first-year of the intervention period 'May 21 - May 22' (ranging from 0.99 to 2.66) and the last 6 months period (ranging from 0.58 to 2.32). These effects are likely to be higher given a general appeal at the industrial site to perform more talks at the beginning of 2021 (i.e., increased monitoring and encouragement by middle management to meet the pre-set targets, explaining the drop at Jan 21 in Figure 2), whereas without, the difference between STL and the control departments would probably be greater. Only the control condition at the CM department reaches average odds ratios, in both these periods, above 2. However, given its high odds ratio in the period preceding the intervention 'Mar 20 – April 21' (i.e., 1.99), this can largely be explained by regression to the mean.

## Table 3

The effe	ct of the	feedback nu	dge on the	e spread of	safety talk	ks (STL)
55	2		0		20	

VARIABLES		No safety talk	
	Exp (B)	95% C.I.	d
	-		
Control (Mar 20)	1.66***	1.36 - 2.07	0.28
Control (Apr 20)	1.73***	1.39 - 2.15	0.30
Control (June 20)	0.66***	0.53 - 0.83	-0.23
Control (July 20)	1.06	0.85 - 1.32	0.03
Control (Aug 20)	1.66***	1.36 - 2.07	0.28
Control (Sept 20)	1.25**	1.01 - 1.56	0.12
Control (Oct 20)	1.19	0.96 - 1.48	0.10
Control (Nov 20)	0.87	0.69 - 1.08	-0.08
Control (Dec 20)	0.77**	0.61 - 0.96	-0.14
Control (Jan 21)	1.27**	1.02 - 1.57	0.13
Control (Feb 21)	2.64***	2.10 - 3.30	0.54
Control (Mar 21)	3.69***	2.92 - 4.67	0.72
Control (Apr 21)	3.16***	2.51 - 3.98	0.63
Feedback spread (May 21)	4.45***	3.50 - 5.67	0.82
Feedback spread (June 21)	4.37***	3.44 - 5.56	0.81
Feedback spread (July 21)	3.21***	2.55 - 4.04	0.64
Feedback spread(Aug 21)	3.02***	2.40 - 3.80	0.61
Feedback spread (Sept 21)	3.14***	2.49 - 3.95	0.63
Feedback spread (Oct 21)	4.97***	3.89 - 6.36	0.88
Feedback spread (Nov 21)	3.31***	2.62 - 4.17	0.66
Feedback spread (Dec 21)	2.87***	2.29 - 3.60	0.58
Feedback spread (Jan 22)	4.41***	3.47 - 5.62	0.82
Feedback spread (Feb 22)	3.61***	2.85 - 4.56	0.71
Feedback spread (Mar 22)	3.63***	2.88 - 4.59	0.71
Feedback spread (Apr 22)	2.83***	2.25 - 3.55	0.57
Feedback spread (May 22)	4.37***	3.44 - 5.56	0.81
Feedback spread (June 22)	3.11***	2.47 - 3.92	0.63
Feedback spread (July 22)	2.41***	1.93 - 3.01	0.49
Feedback spread (Aug 22)	2.41***	1.93 - 3.01	0.49
Feedback spread (Sept 22)	3.18***	2.53 - 4.01	0.64
Feedback spread (Okt 22)	3.02***	2.40 - 3.80	0.61
Feedback spread (Nov 22)	2.28***	1.83 - 2.85	0.45
Observations	21/17		

## Figure 2



*The evolution of the spread of safety talks over time (vertical line representing nudge implementation and 'Control' the average of control departments)* 

### Table 4

The average odds ratios for each department in three distinct periods

	STL (Feedback)	GS (C)	COO (C)	RM (C)	BF (C)	CPM (C)	CM (C)	HM (C)	Control Avg.
Mar 20 – Apr 21	1.66	1.48	1.00	1.01	1.13	1.46	1.91	1.40	1.25
May 21 – May 22	3.71	1.55	0.99	1.20	1.49	1.74	2.66	1.96	1.66
June 22 – Nov 22	2.74	1.22	0.58	0.76	1.23	1.80	2.32	1.67	1.37

*Note.* 'C' stands for 'Control condition' and 'Control Avg.' refers to the average of the odds ratios of all control departments for a given period.

#### Discussion

We evaluated the effect of a safety nudge improving the spread of the safety talks and the maintenance of the effect over time (i.e., 1.5 years). The results show that the feedback nudge has a large significant positive effect on the spread of safety talks in the first month, meaning that a higher number of different individual employees have a safety talk in the department with the experimental manipulation in comparison to the control departments. The effect maintains over time, but knows a decline, ending with still a medium to large effect in the last months, after a long period of 1.5 years. This illustrates the possible sustainability of nudging effects. Most of the control departments know a small significant positive effect during the same intervention period, implying a general trend towards better spread. However, the effect in the other departments is significantly smaller than at the STL (incl. feedback nudge), showing that external factors cannot account for the medium to large nudging effect. Of course, in field experiments, especially in complex industrial settings, control of all variables affecting behavior is impossible. On the other hand, the ecological validity of an actual factory ensures the realworld applicability of behavioral interventions (Beshears & Kosowsky, 2020), and their significant effect above all possible natural, simultaneous contextual variation. It is also important to note that our huge sample size constitutes the necessary noise buffer to detect the intervention effects (Harrison & List, 2004). We conclude that the feedback nudge intervention worked, providing access to covert information (cfr. cluster Decision Information) and up-to-date information on the supervisor's efforts; and that the effect maintains for at least 1.5 years, be it with a declining effect size. Further evaluation is needed to see whether the effect stabilizes or fades out over time.

#### **GENERAL DISCUSSION**

Nudging has garnered substantial attention over the past decade, drawing on the contributions of esteemed Nobel Laureates who have examined the impact of bounded rationality on human decision-

making (Earl, 2018; Leahey, 2003). While a wealth of research has been conducted in specific fields such as (behavioral) economics, health and well-being, and public policy, there has been limited exploration of nudging within the realm of safety, with the exception of traffic safety (Avineri, 2014; Goldenbeld et al., 2016). Surprisingly, few studies have evaluated the application of the nudge approach in industrial safety despite its great potential (Kletz, 2001; Lindhout & Reniers, 2017). This study aimed to evaluate the role nudges can play in fostering the number and spread of safety talks performed at a steel plant and the maintenance of the effect over time.

#### Nudging the Frequency and Spread of Safety Talks

Our findings demonstrate the effectiveness of nudging to influence safety communication practices in the workplace. Experiment 1 demonstrated the varying effects of different nudges on safety talk frequency within departments. The reminder nudge implemented in the COO department resulted in a small significant increase in safety talks, while the social feedback nudge in the CPM department also showed a small positive impact. Providing social information of more closely related peers (e.g., teams instead of departments) might have exerted a stronger influence, either upwards or downwards, depending on peer performance (Cialdini et al., 2006; Goldstein et al., 2008). In contrast, the personal feedback nudge at GL demonstrated a slightly stronger effect. These findings align with previous literature highlighting the potential of nudging to influence behavior change in specific contexts when integrating more personalized nudge interventions (Milkman et al., 2021; Mills, 2022b). Together with the study of Rice et al. (2022), successfully nudging toolbox talks with text reminders, these findings highlight the potential of nudges to promote the frequency of safety talk performance. Interestingly, the post-tests conducted after the removal of the nudges showed a decline in safety talk performance compared to the baselines. This finding suggests that the presence of nudges played a crucial role in sustaining the desired behavior change. It implies that an ongoing or extended presence of the nudges is necessary to maintain the positive effects of nudging interventions (Bernedo et al., 2014). Experiment 2 focused on supervisors spreading their safety talks more evenly among the workforce and examined the effects of a feedback nudge. The results demonstrated that the feedback nudge had a significant positive impact on increasing the number of workers receiving at least one safety talk every month. In line with House et al. (2022), feedback nudges prove to be a useful nudging technique to enhance (supervisory) decision-making, extending further than merely influencing the safety behavior of workers (cfr. 'nudging the nudger', see also Dudley and Xie (2022)). The findings suggest that nudging can serve as a valuable tool in promoting the frequency and spread of safety talks, encouraging employees to engage in meaningful discussions about safety-related issues (Zohar & Luria, 2003).

#### Long-Term Nudge Effectiveness and Habit Formation

While the short-term effects of nudging interventions have been explored extensively, the longterm effectiveness of nudges remains an area of ongoing research (Marchiori et al., 2017). Long-term effects of nudges may be contingent upon various factors, including the specific types of nudges employed and contextual variables (Brandon et al., 2017; Congiu & Moscati, 2022). Therefore, conducting comprehensive longitudinal analyses of safety nudging effects is essential for establishing nudges as an integral component of safety management (Lindhout & Reniers, 2017), next to the already proven behavioral-safety and safety culture approaches (Geller, 2005; Krause et al., 1999). The feedback nudge in experiment 2 displayed a positive significant effect on the spread of safety talks. However, the effect diminished over time, going from a large to still a medium positive effect after a very long period of 1.5 years. Further evaluation is needed to see if the effect stabilizes or keeps diminishing, indicating the need for continued monitoring and adaptation of nudging interventions to ensure their long-term effectiveness (Beshears & Kosowsky, 2020). While nudge interventions primarily aim to address system 1 processes, Banerjee and John (2021) argue that some elements of reflection (e.g., self-awareness and internal reflection) are likely to make nudges more effective and promote its long-term maintenance (referred to by them as 'nudge plus'). Given that our interventions (i.e., reminder and feedback) tend to be conceived more consciously than other nudging techniques (e.g., priming mood through colors, see Tham et al. (2020); this can have contributed to the long-term effectiveness of the nudges.

Relevant to long-term nudge effects is the aspect of habit formation. Habit formation is a process by which behaviors become automatic responses to specific cues or contexts and is a critical factor in promoting lasting behavior change (Wood & Rünger, 2016). The findings of the first experiment show that a short nudge implementation of 1 month does not show any learning effect or habit formation, as the effect does not hold. Previous research has shown that nudges were able to maintain a certain effect after the nudge removal by influencing habit formation (Allcott & Rogers, 2014; Bernedo et al., 2014; Vanhouten et al., 1981). Making behaviors habitual depends on various factors (incl. context, rewards and repetitions; see Wood (2019)) that are targeted by nudging. Nudging influences both the context and the number of repetitions, meaning that understanding the dynamic (and interaction) between endured nudge effectiveness and habit formation will be crucial to evaluating long-term nudge effectiveness. Here, the feedback nudge remained active in the second experiment, not allowing us to evaluate potential habit formation. Note that for the spread of safety talks the access to decision-relevant information is pivotal, which might hamper the performance of habits in its absence.

#### Strategic Development of Nudges as Part of a Comprehensive Safety Approach

Nudging techniques offer a promising approach to behavior change in the realm of industrial safety. To guide the strategic development of effective nudges, Münscher et al. (2016) proposed a taxonomy that groups nudging techniques into three clusters. This framework provides valuable guidance for leveraging nudges as part of a comprehensive safety approach.

Three clusters are discussed, including decision information (i.e., altering the access, the content or comprehensibility of decision-relevant information), decision structure (i.e., altering the format or arrangement of choice options) and decision assistance (i.e., helping to follow through with intentions with reminders and pre-commitment) (see Mertens et al. (2022) for the related effect sizes). Important psychological barriers preventing sufficient and dispersed safety talks appeared to be the limited access to (personally) relevant decision information, administrational efforts, reliance on well-performing colleagues and memory lapses due to competing daily operational tasks. Defining the psychological antecedents helps to develop nudges that can counter those barriers (Hallsworth, 2023). Feedback nudges were used to promote accessibility of information and making it more personally relevant (cfr. Decision Information) and reminders, including hyperlinks to registration forms, assist in overcoming memory lapses and to reduce friction (i.e., the required effort) (cfr. Decision Assistance and Decision Structure). The psychological barriers at play show how the limited capacity of system 2 can hamper decision-making and how managing the safety efforts can benefit from small adaptations in the choice architecture.

Nudge interventions in itself are not entirely new to the realm of safety. Signs, the use of colors, arrows and so forth, have been around for hundreds of years (Lindhout & Reniers, 2017). The novelty is in its strategical development and understanding of the mechanisms underlying their effectiveness, for instance through the dual-process theory of decision-making (i.e., system 1 and 2) (Kahneman, 2011). The strategic development of nudges within the framework proposed by Münscher et al. (2016) holds promise for enhancing safety practices in industrial settings. By aligning nudges with the taxonomy clusters and considering their role in decision information, decision structure, and decision assistance, organizations can address psychological barriers and leverage behavior change principles to promote a safer work environment.

#### Limitations and Further Research

Despite the valuable insights gained from our study on nudging the frequency and spread of safety talks among workers, several limitations should be acknowledged. These limitations open avenues for further research, highlighting important aspects that warrant exploration in the field of nudging and safety interventions.

Our study primarily focused on implementing nudging interventions in real-world settings through field experiments (cfr. 'behavioral science in the wild', see Mazar and Soman (2022)). While this approach offers valuable insights into the practical application of nudging techniques, further research (e.g., online vignette study) is needed to compare more variations of the tested nudges to assess their effectiveness, including different text formats of reminders or feedback messages, the frequency of the messages (i.e., daily, weekly, monthly) and messenger effects (i.e., who provides the reminders or feedback, see Hafner et al. (2019). In real life, this requires scarce resources, while online experiments with vignettes might be able to test a great number of conditions in an efficient way. The ones that prove to be the most effective can again be tested in practice with a higher ecological validity. In this study, we faced some organizational constraints (i.e., limited resources and IT capacity for automation) that prevented to evaluate the long-term effectiveness of the nudges in the first experiment. Technological innovations (or advanced technological firms) would allow to automate the provision of feedback (incl. multiple variations) and easily monitor its long-term effects. Current advances in artificial intelligence (AI) even allow going further by creating algorithms that could optimize the feedback format automatically (e.g., updating every month with variations among departments) depending on the related outcomes (cfr. 'hypernudging', see Mills (2022a) and Mills et al. (2023)), and should be explored in the field of industrial safety too.

The examination of how nudging relates to and complements other programs and communication strategies is another crucial element. Understanding the synergies and potential conflicts between nudging interventions and more typical system 2 interventions (incl. coaching and training) can inform the development of comprehensive safety approaches. In this study, we nudged supervisors to perform more talks instead of providing the supervisors workshops or presentations (i.e., conventional system 2 intervention) that highlight the benefits of safety talks. Safety talks align with a more typical system 2 approach, so here we used nudges to optimize the performance of a typical system 2

intervention that has proven to have a significant positive effect on safety-related conduct (Hoonakker et al., 2005; Olson et al., 2016; Rice et al., 2022). How effective nudging successful system 2 interventions is compared to nudges that directly influence worker safety behavior (e.g., signs or sounds), or the combination of both (cfr. layered nudging, see Costa et al. (2023)), still has to be investigated.

In addition, research on the long-term effectiveness of nudges and their contextual influences will contribute to advancing the application of nudges as an integral part of comprehensive safety management. Our results on successful long-term nudge applications are among the few (Marchiori et al., 2017; Van Rookhuijzen et al., 2021). Behavioral interventions that remain effective for an extended period of time have also proven to contribute to habit formation (Bernedo et al., 2014; Brandon et al., 2017). Further research will need to indicate if safety nudges (e.g., feedback nudge promoting the spread of safety talks) are capable of forming sustained safety habits and under which conditions (i.e., necessary effect size, repetition and duration of intervention) (Gravert & Collentine, 2021; Wood, 2019). In line with the foregoing, how long the effect of a safety talk lasts on safety behavior and how this translates to long-term safety results remains poorly understood and should be explored further (Hoonakker et al., 2005; Rice et al., 2022).

#### **CONCLUSION**

Nudging has gained attention as a behavior change approach, yet its application in safety, particularly in industrial settings, remains limited (Lindhout & Reniers, 2017). Our study evaluates the effectiveness of nudging in promoting the number and distribution of performed safety talks at a steel plant. The results highlight the potential of nudging to influence safety communication practices, with reminders, social feedback, and personal feedback nudges showing significant positive impacts. The large positive influence of a feedback nudge on the spread of safety talks persisted after 1.5 years, although the effect faded out slightly over time. The strategic development of nudges, guided by the

proposed taxonomy of choice architecture (Münscher et al., 2016), offers promise for enhancing safety practices. However, further research needs to explore the long-term effects of other nudging techniques and their interaction with currently established safety approaches.

#### **R**EFERENCES

- Allcott, H. (2011). Social norms and energy conservation. *Journal of Public Economics*, 95(9-10), 1082-1095. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpubeco.2011.03.003
- Allcott, H., & Rogers, T. (2014). The Short-Run and Long-Run Effects of Behavioral Interventions: Experimental Evidence from Energy Conservation. *American Economic Review*, 104(10), 3003-3037. https://doi.org/10.1257/aer.104.10.3003
- Arcury, T. A., Mills, T., Marín, A. J., Summers, P., Quandt, S. A., Rushing, J., Lang, W., & Grzywacz, J.
  G. (2012). Work safety climate and safety practices among immigrant Latino residential construction workers. *American Journal of Industrial Medicine*, 55(8), 736-745. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/ajim.22058
- Avineri, E. (2014). Nudging Safer Road Behaviours. Tel Aviv Academic College of Engineering, Afeka/Acitral.
- Banerjee, S., & John, P. (2021). Nudge plus: incorporating reflection into behavioral public policy. Behavioural Public Policy, 1-16. https://doi.org/10.1017/bpp.2021.6
- Benartzi, S., Beshears, J., Milkman, K. L., Sunstein, C. R., Thaler, R. H., Shankar, M., Tucker-Ray, W., Congdon, W. J., & Galing, S. (2017). Should Governments Invest More in Nudging? *Psychological Science*, 28(8), 1041-1055. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797617702501
- Bergquist, M., Thiel, M., Goldberg, M. H., & van der Linden, S. (2023). Field interventions for climate change mitigation behaviors: A second-order meta-analysis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 120(13), e2214851120. https://doi.org/doi:10.1073/pnas.2214851120

- Bernedo, M., Ferraro, P. J., & Price, M. (2014). The Persistent Impacts of Norm-Based Messaging and Their Implications for Water Conservation. *Journal of Consumer Policy*, 37(3), 437-452. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10603-014-9266-0
- Beshears, J., & Kosowsky, H. (2020). Nudging: Progress to date and future directions. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 161, 3-19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.obhdp.2020.09.001
- Bicchieri, C. (2017). Norms in the Wild: How to Diagnose, Measure, and Change Social Norms. Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780190622046.001.0001
- Brandon, A., Ferraro, P. J., List, J. A., Metcalfe, R. D., Price, M. K., & Rundhammer, F. (2017). Do the Effects of Social Nudges Persist? Theory and Evidence from 38 Natural Field Experiments. *Microeconomics: Intertemporal Consumer Choice & Savings eJournal.*
- Brondino, M., Silva, S. A., & Pasini, M. (2012). Multilevel approach to organizational and group safety climate and safety performance: Co-workers as the missing link. *Safety Science*, 50(9), 1847-1856. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssci.2012.04.010
- Bryan, C., Tipton, E., & Yeager, D. (2021). Behavioural science is unlikely to change the world without a heterogeneity revolution. *Nature Human Behaviour*. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-021-01143-3
- Cappa, F., Rosso, F., Giustiniano, L., & Porfiri, M. (2020). Nudging and citizen science: The effectiveness of feedback in energy-demand management. *Journal of Environmental Management*, *269*, 110759. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2020.110759
- Christian, M., Bradley-Geist, J., Wallace, C., & Burke, M. (2009). Workplace Safety: A Meta-Analysis of the Roles of Person and Situation Factors. *The Journal of applied psychology*, 94, 1103-1127. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0016172
- Cialdini, R. B. (2013). Influence: Science and Practice (5th ed.). Pearson.

- Cialdini, R. B., Demaine, L. J., Sagarin, B. J., Barrett, D. W., Rhoads, K., & Winter, P. L. (2006). Managing social norms for persuasive impact. *Social Influence*, 1(1), 3-15. https://doi.org/10.1080/15534510500181459
- Cialdini, R. B., Wosinska, W., Barrett, D. W., Butner, J., & Gornik-Durose, M. (1999). Compliance with a request in two cultures: The differential influence of social proof and commitment/consistency on collectivists and individualists. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 25(10), 1242-1253. https://doi.org/Doi 10.1177/0146167299258006
- Congiu, L., & Moscati, I. (2022). A review of nudges: Definitions, justifications, effectiveness. *Journal of Economic Surveys*, *36*(1), 188-213. https://doi.org/10.1111/joes.12453
- Costa, S., Duyck, W., Van Wouwe, E., & Dirix, N. (2023). Nudging Safety Behavior in the Steel Industry: Evidence from Two Field Studies. [Manuscript submitted for publication].
- Dai, H., Milkman, K., & Riis, J. (2014). The Fresh Start Effect: Temporal Landmarks Motivate Aspirational Behavior. *Management Science*, 60, 2563-2582. https://doi.org/10.1287/mnsc.2014.1901
- Davidai, S., Gilovich, T., & Ross, L. D. (2012). The meaning of default options for potential organ donors. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 109(38), 15201-15205. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1211695109
- de Ridder, D., Kroese, F., & van Gestel, L. (2022). Nudgeability: Mapping Conditions of Susceptibility
   to Nudge Influence. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 17(2), 346-359.
   https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691621995183
- DeJoy, D. M. (2005). Behavior change versus culture change: Divergent approaches to managing workplace safety. *Safety Science*, 43, 105-129. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssci.2005.02.001
- DellaVigna, S., & Linos, E. (2022). RCTs to Scale: Comprehensive Evidence From Two Nudge Units. Econometrica, 90(1), 81-116. https://doi.org/10.3982/Ecta18709

- Dooley, R. (2019). Friction: The Untapped Force That Can Be Your Most Powerful Advantage. McGraw-Hill Education.
- Dudley, S. E., & Xie, Z. (2022). Nudging the nudger: Toward a choice architecture for regulators. Regulation & Governance, 16(1), 261-273. https://doi.org/10.1111/rego.12329
- Earl, P. E. (2018). Richard H. Thaler: A Nobel Prize for Behavioural Economics. Review of Political Economy, 30(2), 107-125. https://doi.org/10.1080/09538259.2018.1513236
- Festinger, L. (1957). A Theory of Cognitive Dissonance. Stanford University Press. https://doi.org/doi:10.1515/9781503620766
- Forck, M. A. (2005). ISMAs (involved safety meeting activities). Occup Health Saf, 74(8), 18, 20.
- Geller, E. S. (2005). Behavior-Based Safety and Occupational Risk Management. *Behavior Modification*, 29(3), 539-561. https://doi.org/10.1177/0145445504273287
- Goldenbeld, C., de Groot-Mesken, J., & Rijsdijk, H. (2016). Beinvloeding van snelheidsgedrag door nudging.
- Goldstein, N. J., Cialdini, R. B., & Griskevicius, V. (2008). A room with a viewpoint: Using social norms to motivate environmental conservation in hotels. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 35(3), 472-482. https://doi.org/10.1086/586910
- Gravert, C., & Collentine, L. O. (2021). When nudges aren't enough: Norms, incentives and habit formation in public transport usage. *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization*, 190, 1-14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jebo.2021.07.012
- Hafner, R., Elmes, D., & Read, D. (2019). Exploring the Role of Messenger Effects and Feedback Frames in Promoting Uptake of Energy-Efficient Technologies. *Current Psychology*, 38(6), 1601-1612. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-017-9717-2
- Hallsworth, M. (2023). A manifesto for applying behavioural science. *Nature Human Behaviour*, 7(3), 310-322. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-023-01555-3

- Harrison, G. W., & List, J. A. (2004). Field Experiments. *Journal of Economic Literature*, 42(4), 1009-1055. https://doi.org/10.1257/0022051043004577
- Hinze, J., Hallowell, M., & Baud, K. (2013). Construction-Safety Best Practices and Relationships to Safety Performance. *Journal of Construction Engineering and Management*, 139(10), 04013006. https://doi.org/doi:10.1061/(ASCE)CO.1943-7862.0000751
- Hoonakker, P., Loushine, T., Carayon, P., Kallman, J., Kapp, A., & Smith, M. J. (2005). The effect of safety initiatives on safety performance: A longitudinal study. *Applied Ergonomics*, 36(4), 461-469. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apergo.2004.07.006
- Hopkins, A. (2006). What are we to make of safe behaviour programs? *Safety Science*, 44(7), 583-597. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssci.2006.01.001
- House, J., Lacetera, N., Macis, M., & Mazar, N. (2022). Nudging the nudger: A field experiment on the effect of performance feedback to service agents on increasing organ donor registrations. *National Bureau of Economic Research*. https://doi.org/10.3386/w30547
- Huang, Y.-h., Sinclair, R. R., Lee, J., McFadden, A. C., Cheung, J. H., & Murphy, L. A. (2018). Does talking the talk matter? Effects of supervisor safety communication and safety climate on longhaul truckers' safety performance. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 117, 357-367. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aap.2017.09.006
- Hudson, P. (2007). Implementing a safety culture in a major multi-national. *Safety Science*, 45(6), 697-722. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssci.2007.04.005

Kahneman, D. (2011). Thinking, Fast and Slow. Farrar, Straus and Giroux.

Kalteh, H. O., Mortazavi, S. B., Mohammadi, E., & Salesi, M. (2021). The relationship between safety culture and safety climate and safety performance: a systematic review. *International Journal of Occupational Safety and Ergonomics*, 27(1), 206-216. https://doi.org/10.1080/10803548.2018.1556976

- Kaskutas, V., Jaegers, L., Dale, A. M., & Evanoff, B. (2016). Toolbox Talks: Insights for Improvement. *Professional Safety*, 61(01), 33-37.
- Kines, P., Andersen, L. P. S., Spangenberg, S., Mikkelsen, K. L., Dyreborg, J., & Zohar, D. (2010). Improving construction site safety through leader-based verbal safety communication. *Journal of Safety Research*, 41(5), 399-406. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsr.2010.06.005

Kletz, T. (2001). An Engineers view of Human Error. Institute of Chemical Engineers.

- Knegtering, B., & Pasman, H. J. (2009). Safety of the process industries in the 21st century: A changing need of process safety management for a changing industry. *Journal of Loss Prevention in the Process Industries*, 22(2), 162-168. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jlp.2008.11.005
- Kobis, N. C., Troost, M., Brandt, C. O., & Soraperra, I. (2022). Social norms of corruption in the field: social nudges on posters can help to reduce bribery. *Behavioural Public Policy*, 6(4), 597-624, Article Pii s2398063x1900037x. https://doi.org/10.1017/bpp.2019.37
- Krause, T. R., Seymour, K. J., & Sloat, K. C. M. (1999). Long-term evaluation of a behavior-based method for improving safety performance: a meta-analysis of 73 interrupted time-series replications. *Safety Science*, 32(1), 1-18. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0925-7535(99)00007-7
- Leahey, T. H. (2003). Herbert A. Simon: Nobel Prize in Economic Sciences, 1978. Am Psychol, 58(9), 753-755. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066x.58.9.753
- Lie, A., Krafft, M., Kullgren, A., & Tingvall, C. (2008). Intelligent Seat Belt Reminders—Do They Change Driver Seat Belt Use in Europe? *Traffic Injury Prevention*, 9(5), 446-449. https://doi.org/10.1080/15389580802149690
- Lin, Y., Osman, M., & Ashcroft, R. (2017). Nudge: Concept, Effectiveness, and Ethics. Basic and Applied Social Psychology, 39, 1-14. https://doi.org/10.1080/01973533.2017.1356304

- Lindhout, P., & Reniers, G. (2017). What about nudges in the process industry? Exploring a new safety management tool. *Journal of Loss Prevention in the Process Industries*, 50, 243-256. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jlp.2017.10.006
- Maier, M., Bartoš, F., Stanley, T. D., Shanks, D. R., Harris, A. J. L., & Wagenmakers, E.-J. (2022). No evidence for nudging after adjusting for publication bias. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 119(31), e2200300119. https://doi.org/doi:10.1073/pnas.2200300119
- Marchiori, D. R., Adriaanse, M. A., & De Ridder, D. T. D. (2017). Unresolved questions in nudging research: Putting the psychology back in nudging. *Social and Personality Psychology Compass*, 11, No Pagination Specified-No Pagination Specified. https://doi.org/10.1111/spc3.12297

Mazar, N., & Soman, D. (2022). Behavioral Science in the Wild. University of Toronto Press.

- Mertens, S., Herberz, M., Hahnel, U. J. J., & Brosch, T. (2022). The effectiveness of nudging: A metaanalysis of choice architecture interventions across behavioral domains. *Proceedings of theNational Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 119(1). https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2107346118
- Michaelsen, P., & Sunstein, C. R. (2023). Default Nudges: From People's Experiences to Policymaking Implications. Palgrave Macmillan Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-21558-2
- Milkman, K. L., Patel, M. S., Gandhi, L., Graci, H. N., Gromet, D. M., Ho, H., Kay, J. S., Lee, T. W., Akinola, M., Beshears, J., Bogard, J. E., Buttenheim, A., Chabris, C. F., Chapman, G. B., Choi, J. J., Dai, H. C., Fox, C. R., Goren, A., Hilchey, M. D., . . . Duckworth, A. L. (2021). A megastudy of text-based nudges encouraging patients to get vaccinated at an upcoming doctor's appointment. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 118(20). https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2101165118
- Mills, S. (2022a). Finding the 'nudge' in hypernudge. *Technology in Society*, 71, 102117. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techsoc.2022.102117

- Mills, S. (2022b). Personalized nudging. Behavioural Public Policy, 6(1), 150-159. https://doi.org/10.1017/bpp.2020.7
- Mills, S., Costa, S., & Sunstein, C. R. (2023). AI, Behavioural Science, and Consumer Welfare. Journal of Consumer Policy. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10603-023-09547-6
- Münscher, R., Vetter, M., & Scheuerle, T. (2016). A Review and Taxonomy of Choice Architecture Techniques. Journal of Behavioral Decision Making, 29(5), 511-524. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/bdm.1897
- Naji, G. M. A., Isha, A. S. N., Alazzani, A., Saleem, M. S., & Alzoraiki, M. (2022). Assessing the Mediating Role of Safety Communication Between Safety Culture and Employees Safety Performance. *Frontiers in Public Health*, 10, 840281. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2022.840281
- Nemeroff, C., & Karoly, P. (1991). Operant methods. Helping people change: A textbook of methods, 122-160.
- Olson, R., Varga, A., Cannon, A., Jones, J., Gilbert-Jones, I., & Zoller, E. (2016). Toolbox talks to prevent construction fatalities: Empirical development and evaluation. *Safety Science*, *86*, 122-131. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssci.2016.02.009
- OR-OSHA. (2019). Safety Committees and Safety Meetings (OAR Division 1 437-001-0765). Retrieved July 16, 2022 from https://osha.oregon.gov/OSHARules/div1/437-001-0765.pdf
- OSHA. (2016). Safety and Health Programs in the States. Retrieved July 16, 2022 from https://www.osha.gov/sites/default/files/Safety\_and\_Health\_Programs\_in\_the\_States\_Whit e\_Paper.pdf
- Persky, J. (1995). The Ethology of Homo Economicus. Journal of Economic Perspectives, 9(2), 221-231. https://doi.org/10.1257/jep.9.2.221
- Reason, J. (2009). Managing the risks of organizational accidents. Ashgate.

- Rice, S. P. M., Rimby, J., Hurtado, D. A., Gilbert Jones, I., & Olson, R. (2022). Does sending Safety Toolbox Talks by text message to Residential Construction Supervisors increase Safety Meeting Compliance? Occupational Health Science, 6(3), 313-332. https://doi.org/10.1007/s41542-022-00118-8
- Sawacha, E., Naoum, S., & Fong, D. (1999). Factors affecting safety performance on construction sites. International Journal of Project Management, 17(5), 309-315. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0263-7863(98)00042-8
- Simon, H. A. (1997). Administrative behavior : a study of decision-making processes in administrative organizations (Fourth edition ed.). The Free Press.
- Sunstein, C. (2015). Nudges and Choice Architecture: Ethical Considerations. Yale journal on regulation (forthcoming).
- Sunstein, C. R. (2022). The distributional effects of nudges. Nature Human Behaviour, 6(1), 9-10. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-021-01236-z
- Thaler, R., & Benartzi, S. (2004). Save More Tomorrow<sup>™</sup>: Using Behavioral Economics to Increase Employee Saving. *Journal of Political Economy*, 112(S1), S164-S187. https://doi.org/10.1086/380085
- Thaler, R., & Sunstein, C. (2008). Nudge: Improving decisions about health, wealth, and happiness. Yale University Press.
- Thaler, R., Sunstein, C., & Balz, J. (2012). Choice Architecture. In. https://doi.org/10.13140/2.1.4195.2321
- Tham, D. S. Y., Sowden, P. T., Grandison, A., Franklin, A., Lee, A. K. W., Ng, M., Park, J., Pang, W.,
  & Zhao, J. (2020). A systematic investigation of conceptual color associations. *J Exp Psychol Gen*, 149(7), 1311-1332. https://doi.org/10.1037/xge0000703

- Torgler, B. (2004). Moral Suasion: An Alternative Tax Policy Strategy? Evidence from a Controlled Field Experiment in Switzerland. *Economics of Governance*, 5, 235-253. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10101-004-0077-7
- Van Rookhuijzen, M., De Vet, E., & Adriaanse, M. A. (2021). The Effects of Nudges: One-Shot Only? Exploring the Temporal Spillover Effects of a Default Nudge [Original Research]. Frontiers in Psychology, 12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.683262
- Vanhouten, R., Nau, P. A., & Merrigan, M. (1981). Reducing Elevator Energy Use a Comparison of Posted Feedback and Reduced Elevator Convenience. *Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis*, 14(4), 377-387. https://doi.org/DOI 10.1901/jaba.1981.14-377
- Vierendeels, G., Reniers, G., van Nunen, K., & Ponnet, K. (2018). An integrative conceptual framework for safety culture: The Egg Aggregated Model (TEAM) of safety culture. *Safety Science*, *103*, 323-339. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssci.2017.12.021
- Wiegmann, D., & Shappell, S. (2003). A Human Error Approach to Aviation Accident Analysis: The Human Factors Analysis and Classification System (1st ed.). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315263878
- Wood, W. (2019). Good habits, bad habits : the science of making positive changes that stick (First edition ed.). Farrar, Straus and Giroux.
- Wood, W., & Rünger, D. (2016). Psychology of Habit. Annu Rev Psychol, 67, 289-314. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-122414-033417
- Zohar, D., & Luria, G. (2003). The use of supervisory practices as leverage to improve safety behavior: A cross-level intervention model. *Journal of Safety Research*, 34(5), 567-577. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsr.2003.05.006

## CHAPTER 5

# PREVENTING HAZARDOUS EXPOSURE TO SUSPENDED LOADS WITH NUDGE INTERVENTIONS<sup>1</sup>

This study investigates the effectiveness of nudging strategies in enhancing safety practices related to suspended loads in industrial settings. Three field experiments featuring social proof, friction and salience nudges revealed that all interventions effectively increased the distance to suspended loads, promoting safer practices among workers. The social proof experiment found displaying the number of colleagues following safe pathways increases its usage. The friction experiment found the nearby placement of no-touch tools to be more effective than supervisory communication. In the salience experiment, a light projection beneath suspended loads is found to significantly promote keeping distance. These effects persisted over an extended period, signifying long-term safety potential. A layered nudging approach, combining horizontal and vertical strategies, emerged as a key recommendation. Horizontal nudging aims to mitigate risks through multiple simultaneous nudges, while vertical nudging amplifies the impact through a sequence of nudges at different organizational layers. Integrating nudging into current safety practices, guided by cognitive frameworks, offers a holistic approach to safety enhancement. This research contributes practical insights for designing effective workplace safety initiatives, emphasizing the multifaceted nature of safety behavior and the importance of leveraging psychological principles.

Keywords: Nudging; Industrial Safety; Safety Behavior; Layered Nudging; Bounded Rationality

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Costa, S., Duyck, W., & Dirix, N. (2023). *Preventing Hazardous Exposure to Suspended Loads with Nudge Interventions* [Manuscript submitted for publication].

#### **INTRODUCTION**

The significance of industrial safety cannot be overstated, as it stands as a pillar of modern society's progress and well-being (Hofmann et al., 2017). Industries, ranging from manufacturing and construction to energy production, play a pivotal role in shaping economies and improving living standards (Stearns, 2020). However, this progress comes with inherent risks that necessitate meticulous attention to safety protocols and ensuring adherence to it. Industrial accidents not only jeopardize the health and lives of workers but can also lead to catastrophic environmental damage (Peterson et al., 2003), economic setbacks (Gavious et al., 2009), and social upheaval (Meshkati, 1998). Through the application of rigorous scientific principles, risk assessment, and the implementation of advanced safety measures, the potential for accidents can be minimized, ensuring the harmonious coexistence of industrial development and human welfare (Beus et al., 2016; Min et al., 2019).

Over the decades, traditional industrial safety approaches have undeniably contributed to improving workplace conditions and reducing accidents. This evolved from technological advancement and better management systems, followed more recently by safety culture (i.e., altering safety norms and values) and behavior-based safety programs (i.e., promoting critical safety behavior through coaching and incentives). Despite their best efforts, industrial safety now seems to have reached a plateau in results obtained with those combined approaches (Hudson, 2007). Research indicates that up to 90% of occupational accidents are human-error related (Kletz, 2001), implying that a better understanding of human errors in interaction with potential hazards (e.g., machinery) can be seen as the last main issue to resolve (Lindhout & Reniers, 2017).

#### Towards a New Safety Approach: Bounded Rationality and the Practice of Nudging

The evolving landscape of human behavior and decision-making calls for a fresh perspective to enhance the effectiveness of current safety approaches. Enter 'nudging', a concept rooted in behavioral economics and psychology that holds the potential to foster industrial safety (Thaler & Sunstein, 2008). Unlike traditional approaches that often rely on rules, regulations, and punitive measures, the nudging interventions focus on gently guiding individuals towards safer choices through subtle changes in the physical, social or informational decision context (i.e., choice architecture) (Thaler et al., 2012). Examples are the placement of healthy food at eye level to increase consumption (increasing visibility and salience<sup>2</sup>, Bucher et al. (2016)), the use of a citrus odor to promote hand hygiene (priming<sup>3</sup>) subconscious associations, King et al. (2016)) or simple reminder messages to reduce the number of 'no shows' at dentist check-ups (countering memory lapses, Altmann and Traxler (2014)). Human behavior is inherently influenced by evolutionary drivers and simple heuristics<sup>4</sup> (e.g., 'follow the group'), that are not optimally aligned with modern-day complexities and therefore lead to systematic deviations (i.e., cognitive biases) from prescribed goals (e.g., safety protocols) (Kahneman, 2011; Tversky & Kahneman, 1974). Instead of ignoring or denying these biases, nudging starts from their acknowledgment and understanding in order to exploit them in reaching the same goal by presenting information or altering environments in ways that nudge individuals towards desired behaviors without compromising their freedom of choice. Humans, for example, have learned implicitly to value social interactions and belonging for a variety of reasons that would enhance survival (Aronson, 1994). While a heuristic 'follow the group' might be beneficial in some occasions (e.g., collective climate preserving actions, see Bergquist et al. (2023)), it can also lead to systematic mismatches (cfr. cognitive biases) that steer behavior in a wrong direction (e.g., the spread of fake news, Van Der Linden (2023)). Social norm nudges have been shown to capitalize successfully on this heuristic by displaying covert information on what the majority of the group values or does (Bicchieri, 2017). One study showed that providing the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Salience is the characteristic of something that stands out from its environment and draws the individual's attention (Taylor & Thompson, 1982).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Priming involves how an initial stimulus can unconsciously affect our response to a subsequent stimulus (Bargh & Chartrand, 2000).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Heuristics, or rules of thumb, are considered an attempt of our brain to deal with an abundance of information in the world relevant for survival. Over the centuries, they have become automated and an integrated part of our decision-making process (Tversky & Kahneman, 1974).

social norm message '75% of the people in this room re-use their towel' was able to foster sustainable behavior (Goldstein et al., 2008). For additional nudging examples, see Thaler and Sunstein (2008) and Sunstein (2014).

The nudging approach aligns with the modern understanding that human decision-making is boundedly rational, meaning that it is deeply affected by social, cognitive, and emotional factors (Simon, 1955). Kahneman's (2011) dual-process theory of decision-making captures this adequately by referring to a 'system 1' that is more automatic, subconscious and instinctive, and a 'system 2' that is more deliberate, effortful and slower. System 1 generates constant implicit impressions of its environment through sensory information and heuristics, and heavily influences the operations of conscious system 2 that only becomes active when situations become more complex<sup>5</sup> (e.g., difficult calculations or deciding which safety protocol to follow). This psychological framework allows us to clarify the underlying mechanisms that drive human behavior and how nudges influence behavior by exploiting system 1 processes (e.g., implicitly linking color to mood, see Tham et al. (2020)) and system 2 limitations (e.g., using reminders to counter the inability to remember everything).

#### Nudge Effectiveness and Strategic Implementation

Research on nudging underscores its ability to generate significant behavioral changes across diverse domains, including health, finance and sustainability (Bergquist et al., 2023; Raban et al., 2023; Thaler & Benartzi, 2004). For an overview of the average effect sizes and related ongoing discussions, see Mertens et al. (2022), Maier et al. (2022) and Hallsworth (2022). Whether these effects sustain over the long-term has yet to be further investigated (Congiu & Moscati, 2022; Marchiori et al., 2017; Van Rookhuijzen et al., 2021). Nudges often exhibit cost-effectiveness, requiring minimal financial investment compared to traditional approaches. Benartzi et al. (2017) found the return on investment

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Captured metaphorically by Kahneman (2011) as 'lazy system 2'

ratios per invested dollar by governments to be much higher for nudges (10 - 100) than for informational and educational campaigns (14.68) or economic tax incentives (1.24). While scholars brought ethical considerations to attention (i.e., regarding individual autonomy and transparency), the current consensus supports ethically sound nudges when aligned with mutually beneficial end goals, such as health and safety (Chowdhury, 2021; Sunstein, 2015).

#### Nudge Taxonomy: A Guide for Strategic Development

Multiple models and frameworks exist to facilitate behavioral change and nudge development (e.g., EAST, COM-B, MINDSPACE; see The Behavioural Insights Team (2014, April 11), (Michie et al., 2011) and Dolan et al. (2010) respectively). The framework of Münscher et al. (2016) is one of the most comprehensive and entails a taxonomy of nudging clusters and techniques (also called 'choice architecture techniques'), structuring the plethora of nudging interventions that there is today. They define three separate clusters that are based on distinct psychological barriers.

The first cluster, Decision Information, aims to improve the accessibility, clarity and personal relevance of decision-relevant information. Nudging techniques covered, among others, include social norm messages (e.g., "75% of the people reuse their towel"), framing (e.g., physicians advising a medical method with "a 95% chance of success" more than one with "a 5% chance of death", McGettigan et al. (1999)) or feedback on performance (e.g., "Your energy consumption this month was X" or "Your neighbors consumed less energy on average", Allcott (2011)). Second, the Decision Structure cluster capitalizes on the context-dependent nature of decision-making by adjusting the arrangement or format of choice options to shape behavior. Related nudging techniques are the use of defaults (e.g., opting-in versus opting-out policy for organ donations, Davidai et al. (2012)), altering the required effort or

experienced resistance for choice options (i.e., 'friction', Dooley (2019)) (e.g., increasing or decreasing<sup>6</sup> the convenience for healthy food or tobacco and alcohol respectively to alter consumption, Hollands et al. (2017)) or changing the arrangement or composition of choice options (e.g., sustainable food options on top of the menu are chosen more, Langen et al. (2022)). The final cluster, Decision Assistance, tackles the divide between intention and action by bolstering self-regulation. The objective is to diminish inadvertent behaviors stemming from restricted attention, memory lapses, and a lack of self-discipline. Nudges belonging to this cluster are the use of reminders (e.g., text-based reminder increasing vaccination uptake, Milkman et al. (2021)), salience nudges (e.g., the use of bright-colored tread edge highlighters to improve foot placement and prevent falling, Foster et al. (2014)) and precommitment (e.g., increased pension-saving by committing to employer-initiated automatic transfers of a fixed paycheck portion into savings, see Thaler and Benartzi (2004)). By utilizing Münscher et al.'s taxonomy, nudge designers can strategically align nudges with specific goals and psychological barriers encountered.

#### Nudging Industrial Safety

By integrating nudges into traditional safety strategies, industries can create environments that subtly encourage the adoption of safer behaviors. Although by definition multiple safety interventions qualify as nudges (e.g., use of signs, arrows or colors), to date very few studies exist that examine the potential of nudges as a complementary safety approach (Lindhout & Reniers, 2017). The few explored safety nudges are largely situated in the domain of traffic safety. One study found that smiley faces can increase the effectiveness of speed feedback displayed on digital speed signs (cfr. emotional influence system 1) (Gehlert et al., 2012). Despite their potential, industrial safety, nudge studies remain scarce,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> While nudging reduces the friction surrounding actions that benefit people, the related term 'sludge' has been coined for the opposite, interventions increasing friction that impede the appropriate actions (e.g., long text formats to make people agree on the terms without carefully reading it) (Sunstein, 2022b).

limiting our understanding of their full impact. Some studies do describe industrial safety interventions that can be defined as nudges, such as the use of yellow tread highlighters to promote foot placement on stairs (Foster et al., 2014) or text reminders for supervisors to promote the frequency of safety talks on a construction site (Rice et al., 2022); but they all lack a compelling framework (cfr. nudge theory and system 1 & 2) to classify all interventions based on the underlying psychological mechanisms.

#### Multiple Lines of Defense

When developing industrial safety nudges, it is important to incorporate established insights from the most recent safety models on human error and human factors (Lindhout & Reniers, 2017). Several renowned safety models show the complex interplay of factors leading to an accident. The Human Factors Analysis and Classification System (HFACS) categorizes factors affecting safety into four levels: organizational influences (e.g., suboptimal processes), unsafe supervision, pre-conditions for unsafe acts (e.g., employee knowledge, fatigue or bad weather) and unsafe acts (e.g., intentional violations or unintended error) (Shappell & Wiegmann, 2001; Wiegmann & Shappell, 2001). It offers a structured approach to dissect and mitigate factors contributing to accidents in complex systems (see Figure A1 in the Appendix for a representation of the model). This HFACS model is largely inspired by Reasons' Swiss Cheese Model (Perneger, 2005; Reason, 1990; Reason, 2000), which populated the idea that safety exists out of multiple layers and that accidents only occur because of flaws in every layer ('through the holes of multiple superimposed cheese slices' hence the metaphor, see Figures A2 and A3 in Appendix for a visual representation). Implementing and improving multiple lines of defense (e.g., better organization, supervision or training) should be able to prevent accidents in different stages, from early contributing organizational factors (e.g., insufficient safety investments) to direct leading factors on the work floor itself (e.g., distraction). Multiple nudge interventions should aim to target multiple lines of defense, simultaneously or sequentially, to surpass their smaller individual effects and to leverage the tendency of higher combined effects (or 'additivity') found in multiple studies (Ayal et al., 2021; Brandon et al., 2019).

#### **CURRENT STUDY**

Typically, working at height, handling heavy loads, contact with moving machine parts, gas hazards and traffic safety account for the largest proportion of accidents (up to 75%) in the process industry (Lindhout & Reniers, 2017). Given that, up to 90% of all occupational accidents are related to human errors (Kletz, 2001), this is an unexplored promising avenue. In this study, we explore the nudging potential in the domain of handling heavy loads through a series of field experiments in a large Belgian steel plant employing over 5000 employees. More specifically, we investigate if nudges can help workers to keep a safe distance to suspended heavy loads (e.g., steel coils or heavy machine parts). Mishandling or insufficient precautions during load movement can lead to life-threatening injuries, equipment damage, and production disruptions (de la Colina & Cervera, 2016; Häkkinen, 1982). Moreover, the complex and dynamic nature of such tasks demands precise adherence to safety protocols (OSHA, 2010b). Three experiments are carried out to evaluate the effectiveness of nudges in reducing behavioral flaws in multiple lines of defense-related to hazardous suspended load exposure (cfr. HFACS and the Swiss Cheese model); focusing mainly on multiple lines of defense on the same layer of 'unsafe acts' (Figure A1 in Appendix) and therefore using a more horizontal approach<sup>7</sup>. A set of observations and interviews is performed one month in advance to determine relevant psychological barriers and environmental factors. For all experiments, we selected the most fitting design, accounting for a multitude of constraints in real-life settings (e.g., sparse eligible locations, confounding influences and budget and time limitations).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> As opposed to a vertical approach that would use nudges to target flawed decision-making on multiple different layers of the hierarchy (e.g., nudging unsafe acts, unsafe supervision and organizational decision-making). While this vertical approach is highly relevant, it falls out of the scope of the current study (because of its feasibility).

#### **Experiment 1 - Following Safe Pathways**

The first experiment aims to nudge people in following the designated safe paths in the factories, guarding them from falling loads, entrapment and other potential hazards (e.g., contact with moving machine parts). Several behavioral elements play a role in adhering to this safety protocol, such as the visibility of the of the safe paths (e.g., green color), their logical and time-efficient placement in the factory and the social influence of colleagues complying with tracks or not. This experiment focuses on social norms that play a pivotal role in influencing safety behavior because people often adhere to what their peers do, trying to fit in with the group (cfr. herd behavior and conformity, see Banerjee (1992) and Asch (1956) respectively). A distinction can be made between descriptive norms (i.e., what people actually do, also called 'social proof') and injunctive social norms (i.e., what people value or deem appropriate). Research has shown that descriptive norms play a bigger role in influencing an individual's own decision, whereas injunctive norms play a bigger role in influencing recommendations to others (Zou & Savani, 2019). Moreover, norm nudging appears to be more effective when it entails norms of one's local setting and circumstances (i.e., 'provincial norms', see Goldstein et al. (2008). The nudge tested in this experiment includes a descriptive norm (or social proof) nudge displaying data (i.e., a digital sign) of the number of colleagues using the safety pathways to create a positive peer influence (i.e., increasing the access to decision-relevant social information, cfr. cluster Decision Information). We believe this nudge will lead to a small significant increase of people using the safety pathways, in line with the norm nudging literature (Hypothesis 1) (Bicchieri, 2017).

#### **Experiment 2 - No-Touch Tools**

The second experiment investigates a holistic approach to increase the use of no-touch tools, which are devices designed to enable hands-free operation of equipment or processes (e.g., a stick or a rope). The aim of these tools is to reduce the risk of injury by minimizing direct contact with potentially hazardous machinery or materials. This experiment aims to address flaws in multiple lines of defense
with both nudges and more standard (safety) interventions combined, which to date, is generally investigated separately (Beshears & Kosowsky, 2020). A first intervention involves the mere communication of supervisors to the workers that no-touch tools are of paramount importance for safety and should be used consistently where possible<sup>8</sup>. By using their supervisor as a messenger (i.e., increasing the relevance, cfr. Decision Information), at least a small effect of this message is expected (Hypothesis 2), in line with the literature of messenger effects (Hafner et al., 2019). Secondly, previous studies have shown that altering the placement of a product might increase its usage (e.g., increased consumption of healthy food; see Bucher et al. (2016)). By placing the no-touch tools closer to the workstations (i.e., reducing friction and effort, cfr. Decision Structure), that are currently often centralized in the workplace of the industrial plant, we expect a small significant effect on its usage (Hypothesis 3). Given that the decision structure cluster is typically considered the most effective of all three (Mertens et al., 2022), a slightly bigger effect is expected for the placement than for the communication (Hypothesis 4). Another important element that came up during the interviews was that some of these tools are considered impractical to use (e.g., a thick rope of 8m to guide a load). Based on the input of the workers on potential better equipment during a brainstorm, some new tools are introduced at the work floor (i.e., a more typical safety intervention of introducing new tools, together with allowing participation) and expected to have a small to medium effect on their usage (Hypothesis 5). By working on multiple aspects of no-touch tool compliance (cfr. multiple lines of defense), we aim to maximize the effect towards behavior change.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> To date, there is no strict obligations for using no-touch tools, safeguarding worker autonomy and exploring non-intrusive interventions before installing obligations and control mechanisms (that require consistent supervision).

#### Experiment 3 - Visibility and Awareness of Suspended Loads

The third experiment addresses a different aspect contributing to hazardous exposure to suspended loads, namely the compromised awareness of nearby employees and suspended load visibility. Heavy loads are often transported over larger distances, from a couple to hundreds of meters, inside or nearby the factories. While risk zones are often indicated with restricted access, people often have to pass or work nearby suspended moving loads. The nudge in this experiment aims to promote awareness in order to keep distance to the suspended load (cfr. 'triangle principle' handled by the industrial plant, distance should be proportionate to the height, see also VESI (2016), OSHA (2010a) and OSHA (2016)) by projecting a red and white light circle beneath the load. This light projection aims to increase the salience of the suspended load by directing attention towards it (i.e., supporting attention with environmental cues, cfr. Decision Assistance). By adding a red color, it is also expected to signal and prime potential danger, leading to increased risk perception and subsequent safety behavior (Luximon et al., 1998; Pravossoudovitch et al., 2014). Both directing attention and priming safety behaviors target system 1 processes directly. In addition, the light circle provides guidance on how far people exactly should stand when working nearby (cfr. triangle principle), which on sight is not always easy to determine (or at least prone to errors). We believe that projecting light circles will draw attention to the load's presence and potential hazards, having a small significant effect on workers keeping more distance (Hypothesis 6). As during the pre-observations, one month in advance, we noticed that people might act differently in group (e.g., older colleagues entering the circle and younger colleagues following suit), we expect that the effect on compliance might be different for individuals in group (Hypothesis

7).

# **EXPERIMENT 1**

The industrial plant involved in this study processes iron ores into finished products through a variety of large departments, including raw materials, cokes factory, steel factory, hot-rolling mill, cold-rolling mill, galvanization lines, general services (i.e., maintenance) and refining departments (i.e., making detailed end-products). The first experiment takes place in the Cold-Rolling Mill (CRM) where many heavy steel coils (e.g., 30 tons) are transported with cranes along the factory.

# Method

#### **Participants**

The participants include the employees of the CRM, with the exception of some external employees of other departments or contractors passing-by (a maximum of 5%). At the CRM there are four shifts<sup>9</sup> guaranteeing continuous staffing for constant production. Every shift employs around 120 workers, with approximately 480 to 500 workers on a daily basis (mainly male blue-collar workers). The internal employees of the CRM (N= 597) have a mean age of 43.35 years (SD = 11.59) and mean seniority of 19.88 years (SD = 12.61). A total of 11 360 observations is collected using camera footage (preventing potential Hawthorne effects). Before starting this study, approval is obtained from the labor unions representing all employees, informing them about the content of the study, interventions and privacy implications. Summaries of the results are freely accessible for the employees on their intranet website. Ethical clearance for this study is provided by the safety department of the industrial plant.

#### Design and Procedure

A within-subjects design is used, including a baseline measurement of 2 weeks (control), followed by a test measurement (active social proof nudge) in the subsequent third, fourth and fifth week. The social proof (or descriptive norm) nudge involves a digital sign that counts and displays the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Three rotating shifts (morning 6:00-14:00, evening 14:00-22:00 and night 22:00-6:00) and a day shift (8:00-16:00)

number of workers that used the safe pathway that day and that month. Note that we deliberately decided to only display the amount of people that used the safe road, and not the ones that do not to prevent adverse social norm effects (in case the majority would not comply). A permanent message on top of the sign says "Together safe on the green path" in Dutch (see Figure 1)<sup>10</sup>. A camera is used to observe the number of passersby using the safe path, when passing in the direction facing the sign (i.e., the main direction of passersby).

# Data Analysis

Binary logistic regression analyses are carried out to analyze the binary dependent variable (using the safe path = 1 or not =0) among control and test conditions. The odds ratio (small 1.5, medium 2.5 and large 4; see Chinn (2000), Hasselblad and Hedges (1995) and Sánchez-Meca et al. (2003)) and Cohen's D (0.2 = small, 0.5 = medium, 0.8 = large) are calculated as effect size measures. The statistical analyses are conducted using IBM SPSS Statistics version 27.

## Figure 1



A digital sign displaying the number of passersby on the safe pathway

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> While the green color of the path in Figure 11 for a large part decayed, 'green path' remains a consistently used and known term to the employees of the industrial plant (i.e., a synonym for 'safe pathway')

## Results

The results of the binary logistic regression can be found at Table 1. They show that, consistent with our prediction, the social proof nudge has a positive significant effect on the usage of the safe path. In contrast to our hypothesis, the effect of the social proof nudge is not small but large for the first week with an OR of  $3.80 \ (p < .01, 95\% \text{ CI}: 3.30 - 4.38)$ , even higher in the second week with an OR of  $4.87 \ (p < .01, 95\% \text{ CI}: 4.20 - 5.64)$  and the highest in the third week with an OR of  $5.36 \ (p < .01, 95\% \text{ CI}: 4.57 - 6.29)$ . The Cohen's D is equally provided in Table 2 as an alternative effect size. Figure 2 represents the number of passersby using the safe path in percentage per condition.

# Table 1

# The results of the binary logistic regression (Experiment 1)

VARIABLES	Usage safe path			
	Exp (B)	95% C.I.	d	
Social proof (week 1)	3.80*** (18.56)	3.30 - 4.38	0.74	
Social proof (week 2)	4.87*** (21.11)	4.20 - 5.64	0.87	
Social proof (week 3)	5.36*** (20.48)	4.57 - 6.29	0.93	
Observations	11 360			

*Note.* z-statistics in parentheses; \*\*\* p < .01, \*\* p < .05, \* p < .1; reference level for interventions 'Baseline (control)'.

## Figure 2



The number of people using the safe pathway (in %)

#### Discussion

The results indicate that a social proof nudge can lead to a large significant increase of employees using the safe pathways by displaying descriptive norms (i.e., what are colleagues actually doing); which is larger than the typical small to medium effect we can expect from the literature (Bergquist et al., 2023; Bicchieri, 2017). A potential moderator can be the (private) company context, as opposed to nudges more commonly investigated in the public domain (Kubera, 2023), and forms a promising avenue for further research. Note that displaying only the frequency of desired behavior, in contrast to both desired and undesired (i.e., not following the safe paths), can be strategic when the undesired behavior has a chance to be more prevalent (i.e., preventing reversed social norms effects) (Cialdini et al., 2006). While in our study, many of the participants were not aware of the identity of other people in the sample (i.e., workers from other shifts or subsections), in less populated settings, the visible compliance with the safety rules ("What do the workers in front of me?") can receive a greater weight (cfr. local or provincial norms, see Goldstein et al. (2008)). This can moderate the effect of a sign displaying the amount of

people complying (e.g., "I know how it is done in practice, you cannot fool me"). In addition, the effect of the social proof nudge seems to remain stable and even slightly increase in the subsequent weeks. It is plausible to assume that this slightly increasing trend is related to the increasing number of complying employees displayed at the sign, as the sign shows both passersby on a daily and monthly basis.

# **EXPERIMENT 2**

The second experiment takes place at the central workshop of the General Services (GS) department. This department takes care of the maintenance of machine parts, including heavy ones that need to be lifted on workstations and transported inside the warehouse. Therefore, no-touch tools are advised to use.

#### Method

#### **Participants**

The participant sample consists solely of internal workers from the central workshop of the GS department. A total of 52 participants work there, all working during a day shift. The workers are all male with a mean age of 43.99 years (SD = 11.85) and mean seniority of 19.72 years (SD = 11.38). A total of 500 observations is collected by two trained independent observers from a higher-located office space, invisible to the workers, with an overview of all workstations of the warehouse. The procedures for obtaining ethical approval and providing feedback to the employees were identical to Experiment 1.

#### Design

A within-subjects design is used, including a baseline measurement (control) and four subsequent test conditions (communication, placement of no-touch tools, new tools implementation and long-term follow-up). Every condition lasts one week, with 5 weeks in total (with the long-term follow-up taking place 6 months later). The communication condition includes an email sent by their supervisor (i.e., line manager) displaying a photo of the no-touch tools (see Figure 4) and the following message "Handling suspended heavy loads contains a high safety risk, therefore we strongly advice and expect you to use the no-touch tools where possible" in Dutch. A brief verbal repetition of this message was also provided at the beginning of the week. The placement condition includes moving the current no-touch tools from a central point in the warehouse to every workstation individually (reducing a 2 minute walk to seconds) (see Figure B1 in Appendix 5B for the indication on the work shop floor plan). For the last test condition, the old no-touch tools (see Figure 3 and 4) are replaced with new ones, based on input received during the preparatory interviews and observations performed one month in advance. The need for better, more stable and practical tools was mentioned and met by the new set of tools (see Figure 5 and 6). The long impractical rope to guide suspended loads is replaced by a dog leash that rolls up the excess rope automatically, a creative solution cleared by the safety department<sup>11</sup>. These new tools are again placed nearby the workstations. A long-term follow-up is carried out 6 months later (i.e., one week of observations), with the new tools and their altered placement nearby the workstations remaining active. Binary logistic regression analyses are carried out to analyze the binary dependent variable (using the no-touch tools = 1 or not = 0, on every occasion where a no-touch could be used) among control and test conditions. The odds ratio and Cohen's D are calculated as effect size measures.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Such a rope or leash allows employees to guide a suspended load over a longer distance and at times more flexible use than sticks, but is of course restricted to pulling actions

# Figure 3

An example of a suspended load



# Figure 5

The usage of the new dog leash



# Figure 4

The old no-touch tools



# Figure 6

The new no-touch tools



#### Results

The results of the binary regression analysis in Table 2 show that all interventions, except for the communication intervention (i.e., the line manager highlighting the importance of no-touch tools), had a positive significant effect on the usage of the no-touch tools. Inconsistent with our prediction, the effect of the communication is insignificant with an OR of 1.65 (p > .05, 95% CI: 0.52 - 5.24), while at least a small positive effect was expected. A large significant positive effect is found from the placement nudge on the use of no-touch tools with an OR of 10.23 (p < .01, 95% CI: 0.52 - 5.24). This effect increases significantly when in the subsequent condition new tools are combined with better placement, involving an OR of 99.75 (p < .01, 95% CI: 35.04 - 283.97), and holds largely over a period of 6 months with an OR of 76 (p < .01, 95% CI: 27.29 - 211.63). See Figure 7 for a representation in percentages of the amount of people using the no-touch tools among all conditions.

#### Table 2

VARIABLES	Usage safe path		
	Exp (B)	95% C.I.	d
Communication	1.65 (0.85)	0.52 - 5.24	0.28
Placement (friction)	10.23*** (4.61)	3.81 - 27.50	1.28
Placement + New tools	99.75*** (8.62)	35.04 - 283.97	2.54
Follow-up (6m)	76*** (8.28)	27.29 - 211.63	2.39
Observations	500		

## The results of the binary logistic regression (Experiment 2)

*Note.* z-statistics in parentheses; \*\*\* p < .01, \*\* p < .05, \* p < .1; reference level for interventions 'Baseline (control)'.

### Figure 7



The amount of people using the no-touch tools (in %)

## Discussion

All of the interventions appeared to increase the use of the no-touch tools significantly, apart from the communication of the supervisor highlighting its importance. At least some effect of the message was expected given the associated messenger effect (Hafner et al., 2019). The effect of the message might have been bigger if it was conveyed by more closely related supervisors (e.g., foremen or team leader) instead of the line manager ('n+1' or direct supervisors have shown to exert a bigger influence, see OECD (2020)). The placement nudge that reduced friction (cfr. Decision Structure) had a large effect, which is greater than expected (Dooley, 2019); implying that altering minimal efforts such as tool placement can have a big effect. Although the increased visibility likely had some moderating effect (Wansink et al., 2006), it is considered minimal given the absent difference in the baseline for workstations that had the tools in sight. The introduction of better tools, acquired through bottom-up input, had a large effect that even exceeded our optimistic medium-sized prediction. Because this intervention consists of multiple elements (i.e., placement, participation and technological innovation), further research is needed to clarify the most active component (or interaction). It does show that nudges (e.g., placement) are compatible with more traditional safety interventions (e.g., better tools and participation), and combined lean towards a promising holistic approach (Lindhout & Reniers, 2017). Another promising element is that the effect largely holds over a 6 month period, which is crucial for solid safety management (Krause et al., 1999) and sparse among behavior change initiatives (Beshears & Kosowsky, 2020).

#### **EXPERIMENT 3**

The third experiment takes place at one of the refining departments, Steel Decoration (SD), where decorative steel parts are produced and steel coils are packed for transport. These heavy steel coils are transported by cranes and lifted to the appropriate spot for packing. This can lead to dangerous exposure to the suspended loads when the safe distance is not respected.

#### Method

#### **Participants**

The sample exists out of 36 external workers from the SD department (i.e., packing and transporting coils outsourced to an external firm). The workers are all male with a mean age of 38.62 years (SD = 10.12) and mean seniority of 13.05 years (SD = 12.79). A total of 516 observations of workers transporting heavy loads is collected using camera footage<sup>12</sup>. The procedures for obtaining ethical approval and providing feedback to the employees were identical to Experiments 1 and 2.

# Design

The third experiment has a within-subjects design with a baseline measurement (i.e., control) followed by a test condition (i.e., light projection beneath load) and a follow-up one month later (i.e.,

 $<sup>^{12}</sup>$  Exceeding the necessary sample size of 361 to find a small effect prescribed by the power analysis (using G\*Power)

light projection remaining active). All three conditions last one week. A light projector is added to the crane and is activated once the crane picks up a load (i.e., by pressing on two push button on the hook using gravity). A red and white circle is projected beneath the load, which adapts to the height by increasing the circle's diameter (cfr. triangle principle; see Figure 8). In this experiment, we observed if workers and passersby keep their distance from the load (i.e., not entering the projected circle) when it is moving to and hanging above the workstation. Binary logistic regression analyses are carried out to analyze the binary dependent variable (standing outside the red circle = 1 or inside = 0; with a 0 given to an individual entering the circle minimum one time per transfer, with two transfers per steel coil that come and go) among the control and test condition. The odds ratio and Cohen's D are calculated as effect size measures.

## Figure 8

A red-white light projection of a circle beneath the suspended load



#### Results

Table 3 displays the results of the binary regression analysis. These results indicate, consistent with our predictions, that the light projection (i.e., salience nudge) has a significant positive effect on keeping distance to the suspended load (i.e., outside the red circle) when compared to the baseline. In

contrast to our hypothesis, the effect is large instead of small with an OR of 7.16 (p < .01, 95% CI: 2.35 - 21.83). This effect remains large and significant over a period of one month, but seems to know a small decline with an OR of 4.14 (p < .01, 95% CI: 0.08 - 1.63). Based on the observations using camera footage, it appears that workers who are not complying often try to perform an action (e.g., scanning the coil) before the coil hits the ground or to correct an action when the coils is already lifted of the ground (e.g., adjusting the packaging of the coil). Because our pre-observations indicated social influence from colleagues could play a role, we looked at the impact of being in group (i.e., at least with two persons), but found no significant effect on keeping distance to the suspended load with an OR of 0.37 (p > .05, 95% CI: 0.08 - 1.63). Figure 9 represent the percentage of people outside the red circle when near a suspended load for all conditions.

## Table 3

VARIABLES		Usage safe path		
	Exp (B)	95% C.I.	d	
Light projection	7.16*** (3.46)	2.35 - 21.83	1.09	
Light projection (1m)	4.14***	1.66 - 10.31	0.78	
Group	(3.03) 0.37 (-1.32)	0.08 - 1.63	-0.56	
Observations	516			

The results of the binary logistic regression (Experiment 3)

*Note.* z-statistics in parentheses; \*\*\* p < .01, \*\* p < .05, \* p < .1; reference level for interventions 'Baseline (control)'.

# Figure 9



Amount of people standing outside the projected red-white circle (in %)

# Discussion

The projected red and white circle beneath the suspended load successfully nudges employees to keep their distance, almost reaching full compliance (98%). This aligns with previous research indicating that making the desired action more salient can have a positive effect (cfr. Decision Assistance), but the effect is considerably higher than expected (Ischen et al., 2022). One potential reason is the obvious personal and direct benefit of safe actions in a high-risk situation that can moderate the salience effect (although this varies among individuals with different personality traits, Beus et al. (2015)). Another likely reason is the cumulative effect of combined elements, including salient aspects, but also increased visibility of unsafe actions (cfr. social norms) and the adaptive feedback element of the light projection. In fact, our findings suggest that providing feedback, involving the adaptive diameter of the circle relative to the height, can assist in deciding how far 'far enough' is exactly (cfr. Decision Information) (Cappa et al., 2020). Yet, further research should confirm this by investigating a projected circle with and without adapting to the height to define the added value of the feedback

component. Encouraging is that the effect persists largely one month later; further follow-ups will have to determine whether the effect lasts in the long-term. In addition, previous studies have shown how a red color can prime danger (Pravossoudovitch et al., 2014), however, further experimentation will have to indicate if the red color is determining for the effect of the light projection or if other colors (e.g., blue) work as well.

### **GENERAL DISCUSSION**

This study contributes to the applied understanding of nudging strategies within industrial contexts and offers insights into the potential of specific interventions to influence safety practices concerning suspended loads. Ultimately, the results will aid in designing more effective workplace safety initiatives and contribute to the ongoing discourse on enhancing occupational health and safety.

#### Nudging Distance to Suspended Loads

One of the central findings of this study is the effectiveness of various nudging interventions in increasing the distance to suspended loads. These interventions encompassed a range of strategies, each with its unique approach and rationale.

The deployment of a digital sign showing the frequency of colleagues using the safe path is rooted in the concept of social proof (or descriptive social norms) (Cialdini, 2013). This powerful psychological principle suggests that individuals are more likely to emulate behavior they perceive as the norm (Bicchieri, 2017), capitalizing on the evolutionary need for social inclusion and relatedness (cfr. system 1) (Aronson, 1994; Deci & Ryan, 2000). In this context, the digital sign displays those (covert) norms visually (cfr. Decision Information) and it appears that, as the displayed frequency increases, workers are increasingly (be it slightly) motivated to follow suit. This implies that social proof interventions become more effective when representing a larger (proportion of a) peer group, which is consistent with what we would expect based on the literature (Cialdini et al., 2006). By harnessing the power of social norms, one could facilitate the development of a new safety culture that is more adept to modern safety requirements (Naji et al., 2022).

The placement of no-touch tools is a practical example of reducing friction, which comes down to subtly altering the required effort (or the perception of it, Dooley (2019)). By making safe choices more convenient and altering their utility through rearrangement (cfr. Decision Structure), this intervention eliminates some of the obstacles that may have previously deterred workers from adhering to safety protocols (cfr. notifying and removing 'sludge', see Sunstein (2022b) and Thaler (2021)). Moreover, the combination of the placement with more standard safety interventions, such as better tools developed through bottom-up brainstorming, had a remarkable effect, reaching an impressive 84% usage. This underscores the potential synergy between nudge-based approaches and more technical, worker-driven safety initiatives (Lindhout & Reniers, 2017). Further testing should refine what degree of the effect originates from the better tools themselves in relation to the bottom-up approach and convenient and visible placement.

The use of a salient light projection (cfr. Decision Assistance), providing real-time feedback on the exact distance relative to the height of the suspended load (cfr. Decision Information), proved to be an incredibly effective nudging intervention. Increasing the salience of the suspended load makes the workers acutely aware of their proximity to potential dangers, requiring little cognitive effort and thus drawing mainly on system 1 processing. This has the advantage that in cognitive demanding situation, common for industrial settings (i.e., fatigue, taxing work conditions, difficult taks or time pressure; related to 'cognitive load', see Sweller (1988) and Aldekhyl et al. (2018)), workers are still being nudged to safety, while system 2 depending processes (e.g., actively monitoring every risk) might run out of fuel, fail and fall back on system 1 ('willpower as a limited resource', cfr. 'ego depletion' and the exhausted system 2, see Kahneman (2011)). By achieving nearly full compliance at 98%, this nudge intervention demonstrates the power of real-time, context-sensitive feedback (Buckley, 2020) and attention-drawing environmental cues (Wilson et al., 2016) in influencing safety behavior.

Furthermore, the longevity of the effects observed in this study is noteworthy. All interventions retained their effectiveness over an extended period (i.e., varying from one to six months, and counting), indicating that the impact of nudges and nudge combinations with standard safety interventions extend beyond short-term compliance (a delicate matter in the nudging literature that remains poorly understood, see Hallsworth (2023), Marchiori et al. (2017) and Thaler (2021)). This has significant implications for workplace safety, as sustained adherence to safety practices is paramount in preventing accidents and injuries (Krause et al., 1999; Spigener et al., 2022).

# A Layered Nudging Approach

The reasoning advocated by Reason's Swiss Cheese model (Perneger, 2005; Reason, 2000) and HFACS (Shappell & Wiegmann, 2001) to reinforce multiple lines of defense can be extended to nudge applications. The findings of this study indicate that nudges can promote multiple facets (e.g., following safe paths, using no-touch tools and keeping distance) that contribute to hazardous exposure to suspended loads and call for the adoption of an integrated nudging approach that consistently targets multiple lines of defenses in industrial safety contexts. We propose a new concept of 'layered nudging' as a new promising way forward, discriminating between horizontal and vertically layered nudging strategies.

Horizontally layered nudging, as demonstrated in this study, involves multiple small nudges that collectively mitigate risks on the same implementation level or layer. Using the example of the hierarchical HFACS model (Figure A1 in Appendix), this can involve multiple nudges targeting unsafe acts of workers on the work floor (layer 'unsafe acts'), or multiple nudges that aim to promote the frequency and quality of supervision (layer 'unsafe supervision'). For instance, workers may initially be nudged to follow safe paths using digital signs (utilizing social proof). If compliance remains suboptimal, they might receive additional nudges, such as a salient cue to maintain a safe distance through light projections beneath moving suspended loads. By implementing multiple small nudges simultaneously (or rapid succession), the eventual likelihood of accidents can be significantly reduced through the cumulative effect of nudges (i.e., targeting different behavioral barriers) that has been found in previous studies (Ayal et al., 2021; Brandon et al., 2019; Wilson et al., 2016).

On the other hand, vertically layered nudging targets agents in different layers of an organization (i.e., managers, supervisors, workers, etc.), not only targeting the last person to perform an unsafe action (typically 'the common man', while more voices rise to equally 'nudge the nudger', see Dudley and Xie (2022) and House et al. (2022)). Vertical layered nudging thus targets multiple layers of defense sequentially, in contrast to horizontally layered nudging that implement multiple nudge interventions on the same line of defense (e.g., unsafe acts of workers as a result of interaction with the direct work floor environment). Nudging supervisors to conduct more safety talks (Rice et al., 2022), for example, can increase safety awareness among those workers (Hoonakker et al., 2005) and keep safety top of mind (cfr. WYSIATI<sup>13</sup> or the availability heuristic, a mental shortcut relying on immediate or recent examples of information that come to mind to form thoughts and guide subsequent action, see Kahneman (2011)). These talks can amplify the motivation for using safe paths, increasing the susceptibility to our nudge visualizing social norms using a digital sign (i.e., people who have stronger preferences for something are more easily nudges, and vice versa, see de Ridder et al. (2022)). They might also enhance responsiveness to a salient light projection beneath suspended loads (here serving as a reminder), as research on the availability heuristic shows that recent accidents (and presumably also related talks about risk) largely influence future risk estimations and subsequent safety behavior (Slovic, 2000).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> WYSIATI ('What You See Is All There Is')

Both layered nudging approaches hold the potential to tackle popular nudge criticism of generally small effect sizes (DellaVigna & Linos, 2022) and to elevate current safety management by countering flawed decision-making on multiple levels contributing to occupational (fatal) accidents (Shappell & Wiegmann, 2001; Vierendeels et al., 2018).

#### Integrating Nudging in Current Safety Practice

The integration of nudging, particularly through a layered approach, into current safety practices represents a holistic and multifaceted approach to enhancing safety behavior in industrial settings. This approach recognizes that safety is influenced by a complex interplay of factors, including culture, technology, and management (Reason, 2000; Shappell & Wiegmann, 2001; Vierendeels et al., 2018).

The practice of nudging and associated techniques (Thaler & Sunstein, 2008), as well as Kahneman's (2011) metaphorical two systems of decision-making (i.e., system 1 and 2), provides a valuable framework for understanding safety behavior at a deeper level. Nudging can effectively target both systems, making safety decisions more automatic (system 1) while also promoting and assisting timely conscious deliberation when needed (system 2). By aligning nudging strategies with these cognitive processes, organizations can create a more comprehensive and effective approach to safety (Lindhout & Reniers, 2017).

Moreover, the clusters of Münscher et al. (2016) (i.e., Decision Information, Decision Structure and Decision Assistance) offer a taxonomy for categorizing existing and future nudging interventions (or 'choice architecture interventions') in the realm of industrial safety. These clusters help identify and strategize nudge development based on relevant psychological barriers and allow for meaningful comparison of which nudging techniques worked in what contextual conditions for which target audiences (cfr. a 'heterogeneity approach', indicated as the way forward by nudging experts, see Bryan et al. (2021)). In essence, Münscher et al.'s framework provides a roadmap for tailoring nudges to specific organizational contexts and psychological profiles, thereby optimizing their impact.

#### Limitations and Further Research

While this study has provided valuable insights into the potential of nudging in industrial safety, it is essential to acknowledge its limitations and avenues for future research.

Firstly, future (lab) studies could address the inherent constraints that are present in field studies, which have impact on the feasibility of certain designs (Cartwright, 2007; Samek, 2019). For example, the incorporation of additional between-subject control groups, in addition to the within-subjects baseline measure, could further validate the observed effects and enhance the robustness of the findings. Additionally, certain test conditions consisted of the simultaneous manipulation of multiple elements or interventions (e.g., colored light projection providing feedback; placement and new tools). To refine the implementation of these interventions, future research should aim to discriminate the most active components within them by dissecting and testing variations of the most successful applications. Also, a lower baseline can play a role, for example, 5% in the current study for the no-touch tools (being impractical or outdated), making re-evaluation of the interventions in contexts with a higher initial compliance rate (e.g., between 20 - 50%) important. Beshears and Kosowsky (2020) indicate that both field and laboratory research should be used as complimentary methods to advance empirical nudging literature by meeting each other shortcomings (i.e., external versus internal validity).

Secondly, this study focused more on a horizontal layered approach, targeting multiple barriers on the same hierarchical 'layer' (i.e., unsafe acts of workers, cfr. HFACS), in different but related contexts relevant to hazardous exposure to suspended loads. Future research should evaluate the effect of the horizontal layered approach at intersections where all nudges are active simultaneously, or in rapid succession, to evaluate its combined effect on safety behavior (e.g., in the same department). The vertical approach remains to be explored, as most nudge studies target the behavior of the final person in line directly (e.g., worker performing unsafe acts) (Dudley & Xie, 2022; House et al., 2022). While this is equally a cornerstone of nudging (i.e., 'influencing the problematic behavior directly'), it also entails a narrow-minded vision on how 'problematic behavior', such as unsafe behavior, occurs and can be prevented (Shappell & Wiegmann, 2001; Vierendeels et al., 2018). By targeting suboptimal decisionmaking on all layers of the organization hierarchy (i.e., multiple lines of defense), leading directly or indirectly to an undesired outcome, the nudging approach incorporates 'system thinking', which is deemed invaluable for lasting behavior change and further advancement of the behavioral science field (Hallsworth, 2023). This also includes further investigation of how nudges interact with standard safety interventions (e.g., resource allocation, campaigns, coaching and incentives), highlighted as a point of attention in the recent synthesis of nudging literature by Beshears and Kosowsky (2020).

Lastly, the scalability of the interventions to different locations and contexts remains an important area for investigation (DellaVigna & Linos, 2022; Hallsworth, 2022). Context is key, but its effect on nudging remains enigmatic (Bryan et al., 2021; Marchiori et al., 2017). More research is needed that defines (industrial) contextual moderators and mediators of nudge effectiveness (Sunstein, 2022a), other than the presence of strong preferences ('for' or 'against') that correlate with 'nudgeability' (de Ridder et al., 2022). Consistently, post-surveys of participants to examine their internal thoughts and perceptions regarding the interventions would provide valuable qualitative data. Understanding how workers perceive and react to nudges can inform the design of more tailored and effective interventions (Mills, 2022) and might clarify the moderating role of reflection (cfr. 'nudge plus', see Banerjee and John (2021)).

#### CONCLUSION

This study underscores the potential of nudging strategies to enhance safety practices in industrial settings. Various nudging interventions, including social proof, friction and salience, effectively increased distances to suspended loads, ensuring improved workplace safety. Crucially, these effects persisted largely over time, solidifying nudging's role as a sustainable safety measure. The call for a layered nudging approach, comprising horizontal and vertical strategies, emphasizes the multifaceted nature of safety behavior. By addressing various dimensions of safety simultaneously, this approach minimizes risk by countering flaws in multiple lines of defense. Integrating nudging into current safety practices, guided by cognitive frameworks and psychological principles, offers a holistic safety improvement strategy. Still, further investigation of the scalability, contextual moderators and the persistence of nudge effects over time is needed.

#### REFERENCES

- Aldekhyl, S., Cavalcanti, R. B., & Naismith, L. M. (2018). Cognitive load predicts point-of-care ultrasound simulator performance. *Perspect Med Educ*, 7(1), 23-32. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40037-017-0392-7
- Allcott, H. (2011). Social norms and energy conservation. *Journal of Public Economics*, 95(9-10), 1082-1095. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpubeco.2011.03.003
- Altmann, S., & Traxler, C. (2014). Nudges at the dentist. *European Economic Review*, 72, 19-38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.euroecorev.2014.07.007

Aronson, E. (1994). The social animal (7th ed. ed.). W H Freeman.

- Asch, S. E. (1956). Studies of independence and conformity: I. A minority of one against a unanimous majority. *Psychological Monographs*, 70(9), 1-70. https://doi.org/doi:10.1037/h0093718
- Ayal, S., Celse, J., & Hochman, G. (2021). Crafting messages to fight dishonesty: A field investigation of the effects of social norms and watching eye cues on fare evasion. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 166, 9-19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.obhdp.2019.10.003
- Banerjee, A. V. (1992). A Simple-Model of Herd Behavior. Quarterly Journal of Economics, 107(3), 797-817. https://doi.org/Doi 10.2307/2118364

- Banerjee, S., & John, P. (2021). Nudge plus: incorporating reflection into behavioral public policy. Behavioural Public Policy, 1-16. https://doi.org/10.1017/bpp.2021.6
- Bargh, J. A., & Chartrand, T. L. (2000). The mind in the middle: A practical guide to priming and automaticity research. In *Handbook of research methods in social and personality psychology*. (pp. 253-285). Cambridge University Press.
- Benartzi, S., Beshears, J., Milkman, K. L., Sunstein, C. R., Thaler, R. H., Shankar, M., Tucker-Ray, W., Congdon, W. J., & Galing, S. (2017). Should Governments Invest More in Nudging? *Psychological Science*, 28(8), 1041-1055. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797617702501
- Bergquist, M., Thiel, M., Goldberg, M. H., & van der Linden, S. (2023). Field interventions for climate change mitigation behaviors: A second-order meta-analysis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 120(13), e2214851120. https://doi.org/doi:10.1073/pnas.2214851120
- Beshears, J., & Kosowsky, H. (2020). Nudging: Progress to date and future directions. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 161, 3-19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.obhdp.2020.09.001
- Beus, J., Dhanani, L., & McCord, M. (2015). A Meta-Analysis of Personality and Workplace Safety: Addressing Unanswered Questions. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 100, 481-498. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0037916
- Beus, J. M., McCord, M. A., & Zohar, D. (2016). Workplace safety: A review and research synthesis. Organizational Psychology Review, 6(4), 352-381. https://doi.org/10.1177/2041386615626243
- Bicchieri, C. (2017). Norms in the Wild: How to Diagnose, Measure, and Change Social Norms. Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780190622046.001.0001
- Brandon, A., List, J. A., Metcalfe, R. D., Price, M. K., & Rundhammer, F. (2019). Testing for crowd out in social nudges: Evidence from a natural field experiment in the market for electricity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, *116*(12), 5293-5298. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1802874115

- Bryan, C., Tipton, E., & Yeager, D. (2021). Behavioural science is unlikely to change the world without a heterogeneity revolution. *Nature Human Behaviour*. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-021-01143-3
- Bucher, T., Collins, C., Rollo, M. E., McCaffrey, T. A., De Vlieger, N., Van der Bend, D., Truby, H., & Perez-Cueto, F. J. A. (2016). Nudging consumers towards healthier choices: a systematic review of positional influences on food choice. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 115(12), 2252-2263. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0007114516001653
- Buckley, P. (2020). Prices, information and nudges for residential electricity conservation: A metaanalysis. *Ecological Economics*, 172, 106635. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2020.106635
- Cappa, F., Rosso, F., Giustiniano, L., & Porfiri, M. (2020). Nudging and citizen science: The effectiveness of feedback in energy-demand management. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 269, 110759. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2020.110759
- Cartwright, N. (2007). Are RCTs the Gold Standard? *BioSocieties*, 2(1), 11-20. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1745855207005029
- Chen, H., Cohen, P., & Chen, S. (2010). How Big is a Big Odds Ratio? Interpreting the Magnitudes of Odds Ratios in Epidemiological Studies. *Communications in Statistics - Simulation and Computation*, 39(4), 860-864. https://doi.org/10.1080/03610911003650383
- Chinn, S. (2000). A simple method for converting an odds ratio to effect size for use in meta-analysis. *Statistics in Medicine*, 19(22), 3127-3131. https://doi.org/10.1002/1097-0258(20001130)19:22<3127::AID-SIM784>3.0.CO;2-M
- Chowdhury, R. M. M. I. (2021). The ethics of nudging: Using moral foundations theory to understand consumers' approval of nudges. *Journal of Consumer Affairs*. https://doi.org/10.1111/joca.12431
  Cialdini, R. B. (2013). *Influence: Science and Practice* (5th ed.). Pearson.

- Cialdini, R. B., Demaine, L. J., Sagarin, B. J., Barrett, D. W., Rhoads, K., & Winter, P. L. (2006). Managing social norms for persuasive impact. *Social Influence*, 1(1), 3-15. https://doi.org/10.1080/15534510500181459
- Congiu, L., & Moscati, I. (2022). A review of nudges: Definitions, justifications, effectiveness. *Journal of Economic Surveys*, *36*(1), 188-213. https://doi.org/10.1111/joes.12453
- Davidai, S., Gilovich, T., & Ross, L. D. (2012). The meaning of default options for potential organ donors. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 109(38), 15201-15205. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1211695109
- de la Colina, M. F., & Cervera, M. R. (2016). Handling Heavier Loads in Construction. Procedia Engineering, 161, 1127-1134. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.proeng.2016.08.524
- de Ridder, D., Kroese, F., & van Gestel, L. (2022). Nudgeability: Mapping Conditions of Susceptibility
   to Nudge Influence. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 17(2), 346-359.
   https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691621995183
- Deci, E. L., & Ryan, R. M. (2000). The "What" and "Why" of Goal Pursuits: Human Needs and the Self-Determination of Behavior. *Psychological Inquiry*, 11(4), 227-268. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15327965PLI1104\_01
- DellaVigna, S., & Linos, E. (2022). RCTs to Scale: Comprehensive Evidence From Two Nudge Units. *Econometrica*, 90(1), 81-116. https://doi.org/10.3982/Ecta18709
- Dolan, P., Hallsworth, M., Halpern, D., King, D., & Vlaev, I. (2010). MINDSPACE: influencing behaviour for public policy.
- Dooley, R. (2019). Friction: The Untapped Force That Can Be Your Most Powerful Advantage. McGraw-Hill Education.
- Dudley, S. E., & Xie, Z. (2022). Nudging the nudger: Toward a choice architecture for regulators. Regulation & Governance, 16(1), 261-273. https://doi.org/10.1111/rego.12329

- Foster, R. J., Hotchkiss, J., Buckley, J. G., & Elliott, D. B. (2014). Safety on stairs: Influence of a tread edge highlighter and its position. *Experimental Gerontology*, 55, 152-158. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exger.2014.04.009
- Gavious, A., Mizrahi, S., Shani, Y., & Minchuk, Y. (2009). The costs of industrial accidents for the organization: Developing methods and tools for evaluation and cost-benefit analysis of investment in safety. *Journal of Loss Prevention in the Process Industries*, 22(4), 434-438. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jlp.2009.02.008
- Gehlert, T., Schulze, C., & Schlag, B. (2012). Evaluation of different types of dynamic speed display signs. *Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behaviour*, 15(6), 667-675. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trf.2012.07.004
- Goldstein, N. J., Cialdini, R. B., & Griskevicius, V. (2008). A room with a viewpoint: Using social norms to motivate environmental conservation in hotels. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 35(3), 472-482. https://doi.org/10.1086/586910
- Hafner, R., Elmes, D., & Read, D. (2019). Exploring the Role of Messenger Effects and Feedback Frames in Promoting Uptake of Energy-Efficient Technologies. *Current Psychology*, 38(6), 1601-1612. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-017-9717-2
- Häkkinen, K. (1982). The progress of technology and safety in materials handling. *Journal of Occupational Accidents*, 4(2), 157-163. https://doi.org/10.1016/0376-6349(82)90019-0
- Hallsworth, M. (2022). Making Sense of the "Do Nudges Work?" Debate. https://behavioralscientist.org/making-sense-of-the-do-nudges-work-debate/
- Hallsworth, M. (2023). A manifesto for applying behavioural science. *Nature Human Behaviour*, 7(3), 310-322. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-023-01555-3
- Hasselblad, V., & Hedges, L. V. (1995). Meta-analysis of screening and diagnostic tests. *Psychol Bull*, 117(1), 167-178. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.117.1.167

- Hofmann, D. A., Burke, M. J., & Zohar, D. (2017). 100 years of occupational safety research: From basic protections and work analysis to a multilevel view of workplace safety and risk. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 102(3), 375-388. https://doi.org/10.1037/apl0000114
- Hollands, G. J., Bignardi, G., Johnston, M., Kelly, M. P., Ogilvie, D., Petticrew, M., Prestwich, A., Shemilt, I., Sutton, S., & Marteau, T. M. (2017). The TIPPME intervention typology for changing environments to change behaviour. *Nature Human Behaviour*, 1(8), 0140. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-017-0140
- Hoonakker, P., Loushine, T., Carayon, P., Kallman, J., Kapp, A., & Smith, M. J. (2005). The effect of safety initiatives on safety performance: A longitudinal study. *Applied Ergonomics*, 36(4), 461-469. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apergo.2004.07.006
- House, J., Lacetera, N., Macis, M., & Mazar, N. (2022). Nudging the nudger: A field experiment on the effect of performance feedback to service agents on increasing organ donor registrations. *National Bureau of Economic Research*. https://doi.org/10.3386/w30547
- Hudson, P. (2007). Implementing a safety culture in a major multi-national. *Safety Science*, 45(6), 697-722. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssci.2007.04.005
- Ischen, C., Meijers, M. H. C., Vandeberg, L., & Smit, E. G. (2022). Seen as Green? Assessing the Salience and Greenness of Environmentally Friendly Packaging Cues. *Journal of Food Products Marketing*, 28(1), 31-48. https://doi.org/10.1080/10454446.2022.2038757
- Kahneman, D. (2011). Thinking, Fast and Slow. Farrar, Straus and Giroux.
- King, D., Vlaev, I., Everett-Thomas, R., Fitzpatrick, M., Darzi, A., & Birnbach, D. J. (2016). "Priming" Hand Hygiene Compliance in Clinical Environments. *Health Psychology*, 35(1), 96-101. https://doi.org/10.1037/hea0000239
- Kletz, T. (2001). An Engineers view of Human Error. Institute of Chemical Engineers.

- Krause, T. R., Seymour, K. J., & Sloat, K. C. M. (1999). Long-term evaluation of a behavior-based method for improving safety performance: a meta-analysis of 73 interrupted time-series replications. *Safety Science*, 32(1), 1-18. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0925-7535(99)00007-7
- Kubera, P. (2023). Nudging in the workplace: Moving beyond the traditional management toolbox *Scientific Papers Of Silesian University Of Technology*, 172 (Organization and Management Series). https://managementpapers.polsl.pl/wp-content/uploads/2023/06/172-Kubera.pdf
- Langen, N., Ohlhausen, P., Steinmeier, F., Friedrich, S., Engelmann, T., Speck, M., Damerau, K., Bienge, K., Rohn, H., & Teitscheid, P. (2022). Nudges for more sustainable food choices in the out-of-home catering sector applied in real-world labs. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling, 180*, 106167. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2022.106167
- Lindhout, P., & Reniers, G. (2017). What about nudges in the process industry? Exploring a new safety management tool. *Journal of Loss Prevention in the Process Industries*, 50, 243-256. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jlp.2017.10.006
- Luximon, A., Chung, L., & Goonetilleke, R. (1998). Safety Signal Words and Color Codes: The Perception of Implied Hazard by Chinese People.
- Maier, M., Bartoš, F., Stanley, T. D., Shanks, D. R., Harris, A. J. L., & Wagenmakers, E.-J. (2022). No evidence for nudging after adjusting for publication bias. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 119(31), e2200300119. https://doi.org/doi:10.1073/pnas.2200300119
- Marchiori, D. R., Adriaanse, M. A., & De Ridder, D. T. D. (2017). Unresolved questions in nudging research: Putting the psychology back in nudging. *Social and Personality Psychology Compass*, 11. https://doi.org/10.1111/spc3.12297

- McGettigan, P., Sly, K., O'Connell, D., Hill, S., & Henry, D. (1999). The effects of information framing on the practices of physicians. J Gen Intern Med, 14(10), 633-642. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1525-1497.1999.09038.x
- Mertens, S., Herberz, M., Hahnel, U. J. J., & Brosch, T. (2022). The effectiveness of nudging: A metaanalysis of choice architecture interventions across behavioral domains. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 119(1). https://doi.org/ARTN e210734611810.1073/pnas.2107346118
- Meshkati, N. (1998). Lessons of Chernobyl and Beyond: Creation of the Safety Culture in Nuclear Power Plants. Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Annual Meeting, 42(10), 745-749. https://doi.org/10.1177/154193129804201019
- Michie, S., van Stralen, M. M., & West, R. (2011). The behaviour change wheel: A new method for characterising and designing behaviour change interventions. *Implementation Science*, 6(1), 42. https://doi.org/10.1186/1748-5908-6-42
- Milkman, K. L., Patel, M. S., Gandhi, L., Graci, H. N., Gromet, D. M., Ho, H., Kay, J. S., Lee, T. W., Akinola, M., Beshears, J., Bogard, J. E., Buttenheim, A., Chabris, C. F., Chapman, G. B., Choi, J. J., Dai, H. C., Fox, C. R., Goren, A., Hilchey, M. D., . . . Duckworth, A. L. (2021). A megastudy of text-based nudges encouraging patients to get vaccinated at an upcoming doctor's appointment. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *118*(20). https://doi.org/ARTN e210116511810.1073/pnas.2101165118
- Mills, S. (2022). Personalized nudging. Behavioural Public Policy, 6(1), 150-159. https://doi.org/10.1017/bpp.2020.7
- Min, J., Kim, Y., Lee, S., Jang, T.-W., Kim, I., & Song, J. (2019). The Fourth Industrial Revolution and Its Impact on Occupational Health and Safety, Worker's Compensation and Labor Conditions. *Safety and Health at Work*, 10(4), 400-408. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.shaw.2019.09.005

- Münscher, R., Vetter, M., & Scheuerle, T. (2016). A Review and Taxonomy of Choice Architecture Techniques. Journal of Behavioral Decision Making, 29(5), 511-524. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/bdm.1897
- Naji, G. M. A., Isha, A. S. N., Alazzani, A., Saleem, M. S., & Alzoraiki, M. (2022). Assessing the Mediating Role of Safety Communication Between Safety Culture and Employees Safety Performance. *Frontiers in Public Health*, 10, 840281. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2022.840281
- OECD (2020). Behavioural Insights and Organisations: Fostering Safety Culture. https://doi.org/10.1787/e6ef217d-en
- OSHA (2010a). Hoisting and rigging. Retrieved August 31, 2022 from https://www.osha.gov/lawsregs/regulations/standardnumber/1926/1926.753
- OSHA (2010b). *Keeping clear of the load*. Retrieved August 31, 2022 from https://www.osha.gov/lawsregs/regulations/standardnumber/1926/1926.1425
- OSHA (2016). Duty to have fall protection and falling object protection. Retrieved August 31, 2022 from https://www.osha.gov/laws-regs/regulations/standardnumber/1910/1910.28
- Perneger, T. V. (2005). The Swiss cheese model of safety incidents: are there holes in the metaphor? BMC Health Serv Res, 5, 71. https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6963-5-71
- Peterson, C. H., Rice, S. D., Short, J. W., Esler, D., Bodkin, J. L., Ballachey, B. E., & Irons, D. B. (2003). Long-Term Ecosystem Response to the Exxon Valdez Oil Spill. *Science*, 302(5653), 2082-2086. https://doi.org/doi:10.1126/science.1084282
- Pravossoudovitch, K., Cury, F., Young, S. G., & Elliot, A. J. (2014). Is red the colour of danger? Testing an implicit red–danger association. *Ergonomics*, 57(4), 503-510. https://doi.org/10.1080/00140139.2014.889220
- Raban, M. Z., Gates, P. J., Gamboa, S., Gonzalez, G., & Westbrook, J. I. (2023). Effectiveness of noninterruptive nudge interventions in electronic health records to improve the delivery of care in

hospitals: a systematic review. Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association. https://doi.org/10.1093/jamia/ocad083

Reason, J. (1990). Human Error. Cambridge University Press.

- Reason, J. (2000). Human error: models and management. *Bmj*, *320*(7237), 768-770. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.320.7237.768
- Reason, J., Carthey, J., & de Leval, M. R. (2001). Diagnosing "vulnerable system syndrome": an essential prerequisite to effective risk management. *Quality in Health Care*, 10(suppl 2), 21-25. https://doi.org/10.1136/qhc.0100021..
- Rice, S. P. M., Rimby, J., Hurtado, D. A., Gilbert Jones, I., & Olson, R. (2022). Does sending Safety Toolbox Talks by text message to Residential Construction Supervisors increase Safety Meeting Compliance? Occupational Health Science, 6(3), 313-332. https://doi.org/10.1007/s41542-022-00118-8
- Samek, A. (2019). Chapter 6: Advantages and disadvantages of field experiments. In Handbook of Research Methods and Applications in Experimental Economics (pp. 104–120, 448). Edward Elgar Publishing. https://doi.org/10.4337/9781788110563.00014
- Sánchez-Meca, J., Marín-Martínez, F., & Chacón-Moscoso, S. (2003). Effect-size indices for dichotomized outcomes in meta-analysis. *Psychol Methods*, 8(4), 448-467. https://doi.org/10.1037/1082-989x.8.4.448
- Shappell, S., & Wiegmann, D. (2001). Applying Reason: The human factorsanalysis and classification system (HFACS). *Human Factors and AerospaceSafety*, 1(1), 59-86.
- Simon, H. A. (1955). A Behavioral Model of Rational Choice. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 69(1), 99-118. https://doi.org/10.2307/1884852
- Slovic, P. (2000). The perception of risk. Earthscan Publications.

- Spigener, J., Lyon, G., & McSween, T. (2022). Behavior-based safety 2022: today's evidence. *Journal of Organizational Behavior Management*. https://doi.org/10.1080/01608061.2022.2048943
- Stearns, P. N. (2020). The Industrial Revolution in World History (5th Edition ed.). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003050186
- Sunstein, C. (2015). Nudges and Choice Architecture: Ethical Considerations. Yale journal on regulation (forthcoming).
- Sunstein, C. R. (2014). Nudging: A Very Short Guide. Journal of Consumer Policy, 37(4), 583-588. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10603-014-9273-1
- Sunstein, C. R. (2022a). The distributional effects of nudges. Nature Human Behaviour, 6(1), 9-10. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-021-01236-z
- Sunstein, C. R. (2022b). Sludge Audits. *Behavioural Public Policy*, 6(4), 654-673. https://doi.org/PII S2398063X1900032010.1017/bpp.2019.32
- Sunstein, C. R. (2022c). Sludge: What Stops Us from Getting Things Done and What to Do about It. The MIT Press.
- Sweller, J. (1988). Cognitive Load During Problem Solving: Effects on Learning. *Cognitive Science*, 12(2), 257-285. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15516709cog1202\_4
- Taylor, S. E., & Thompson, S. C. (1982). Stalking the Elusive Vividness Effect. Psychological Review, 89(2), 155-181. https://doi.org/Doi 10.1037/0033-295x.89.2.155
- Thaler, R. (2021). What's next for nudging and choice architecture? Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 163, 4-5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.obhdp.2020.04.003
- Thaler, R., & Benartzi, S. (2004). Save More Tomorrow<sup>™</sup>: Using Behavioral Economics to Increase Employee Saving. *Journal of Political Economy*, 112(S1), S164-S187. https://doi.org/10.1086/380085

- Thaler, R., & Sunstein, C. (2008). Nudge: Improving decisions about health, wealth, and happiness. Yale University Press.
- Thaler, R., Sunstein, C., & Balz, J. (2012). Choice Architecture. In. https://doi.org/10.13140/2.1.4195.2321
- Tham, D. S. Y., Sowden, P. T., Grandison, A., Franklin, A., Lee, A. K. W., Ng, M., Park, J., Pang, W., & Zhao, J. (2020). A systematic investigation of conceptual color associations. *J Exp Psychol Gen*, 149(7), 1311-1332. https://doi.org/10.1037/xge0000703
- The Behavioural Insights Team (2014, April 11). East: Four simple ways to apply behavioural insights. Retrieved August 31, 2022 from https://www.bi.team/publications/east-four-simple-ways-to-apply-behavioural-insights/
- Tversky, A., & Kahneman, D. (1974). Judgment under Uncertainty Heuristics and Biases. *Science*, *185*(4157), 1124-1131. https://doi.org/DOI 10.1126/science.185.4157.1124
- Van Der Linden, S. (2023). Foolproof: Why Misinformation Infects Our Minds and How to Build Immunity. W.W. Norton & Company.
- Van Rookhuijzen, M., De Vet, E., & Adriaanse, M. A. (2021). The Effects of Nudges: One-Shot Only? Exploring the Temporal Spillover Effects of a Default Nudge [Original Research]. Frontiers in Psychology, 12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.683262
- VESI. (2016). Guidance Note for Drop ZoneManagement within the Victorian Electricity Supply Industry. Retrieved August 31 from http://www.vesi.com.au/files/WorkPractices/Guidance\_Note\_for\_Drop\_Zone\_Managemen t\_within\_the\_VESI\_-\_February\_2016.pdf
- Vierendeels, G., Reniers, G., van Nunen, K., & Ponnet, K. (2018). An integrative conceptual framework for safety culture: The Egg Aggregated Model (TEAM) of safety culture. *Safety Science*, 103, 323-339. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssci.2017.12.021

- Wansink, B., Painter, J. E., & Lee, Y. K. (2006). The office candy dish: proximity's influence on estimated and actual consumption. *International Journal of Obesity*, 30(5), 871-875. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.ijo.0803217
- Wiegmann, D., & Shappell, S. (2001). Applying the Human Factors Analysis and Classification System (HFACS) to the Analysis of Commercial Aviation Accident Data.
- Wilson, A. L., Buckley, E., Buckley, J. D., & Bogomolova, S. (2016). Nudging healthier food and beverage choices through salience and priming. Evidence from a systematic review. *Food Quality* and Preference, 51, 47-64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodqual.2016.02.009
- Zou, X., & Savani, K. (2019). Descriptive norms for me, injunctive norms for you: Using norms to explain the risk gap. Judgment and Decision Making, 14(6), 644-648. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1930297500005362

# CHAPTER 6

# THE OPPORTUNITIES AND COSTS OF AI IN BEHAVIORAL SCIENCE<sup>1</sup>

This article discusses the opportunities and costs of AI in behavioral science. We argue that because of pattern detection capabilities, modern AI will be able to identify (1) new biases in human behavior and (2) known biases in novel situations. AI will also allow behavioral interventions to be personalized and contextualized, and thus produce significant benefits. Finally, AI can help behavioral scientists to 'see the system,' by enabling the creation of more complexand dynamic models of human behavior. While these opportunities will significantly advance behavioral science and offer great promise to improve the lives of citizens and consumers, we highlight several costs of using AI. We focus on some important environmental, social, and economic costs that are relevant to behavioral science and its application. Some of those costs involve privacy, others involve manipulation.

Keywords: Artificial Intelligence; Behavioral Science; Bias; Noise; Decision-Making; Systems

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Based on Mills, S., Costa, S., & Sunstein, C. R. (2023). AI, Behavioural Science, and Consumer Welfare. *Journal of Consumer Policy*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10603-023-09547-6
## INTRODUCTION

To say the least, artificial intelligence (AI) is developing with extraordinary speed. ChatGPT, an AI chatbot developed by OpenAI, is the fastest growing online service in history (Ahuja, 2023). The implications of AI for behavioral science may be particularly significant, extending far beyond the historic connection (Simon, 1981). Modern AI excels at pattern detection, from identifying animals within images to predicting text from an initial prompt. Modern behavioral science, particularly over the past 15 years, has focused on identifying and operationalizing bias and noise in human decision-making, and to providing correctives to reduce the effects of each (Hallsworth, 2023; Hallsworth and Kirkman, 2020; Halpern, 2015; Kahneman, 2011; Kahneman, Sibony and Sunstein, 2021; Thaler and Sunstein, 2008). Bias and noise are, essentially, behavioral patterns. Thus, AI is likely to be valuable within behavioral science for modelling and examining human behavior and perhaps for improving it, or improving on it (Mills, 2022a; Ludwig andMullainathan, 2022). For that reason, the use of AI alongside behavioral science is likely to be widespread in many applicable domains, such as consumer research and public policy (Sunstein, 2023).

This article outlines some opportunities and costs of AI-based behavioral science, including algorithmic behavioral science, in the coming years.

We highlight important work already done to identify discriminatory biases, such as racist and sexist word associations (*d-biases*), within natural language text via AI methods (Bolukbasi *et al.*, 2016; Brunet *et al.* 2019; Caliskan *et al.*, 2017). At the same time, we note that relatively little work (Horton, 2023; Jones and Steinhardt, 2022) to date has used AI to identify cognitive biases (*c-biases*), which are the focus of modern behavioral science. This is a clear, immediate opportunity for AI in behavioral science research (Ludwig and Mullainathan, 2022, 2021; Mills, 2023; Sunstein, 2022a, 2022b, 2019).

Modern behavioral science has also received significant criticism in recent years (Chater and Loewenstein, 2022; Maier *et al.*, 2022), some of it highlighting the need for more contextualized behavioral approaches that incorporate heterogeneity (Hallsworth, 2023a, 2022; Hecht *et al.*, 2022; Mills, 2022b, 2021;

Schimmelpfennig and Muthukrishna, 2023; Sunstein, 2023; Szaszi *et al.*,2022). This 'heterogeneity revolution,' (Bryan, Tipton and Yeager, 2021) is likely to be promoted and accelerated by AI technologies (Agrawal *et al.*, 2022; Michie *et al.*, 2017; Mills, 2022a; Rauthmann, 2020), both as a new tool for behavioral science and in conjunction with existingstrategies, such as mega studies (Buyalskaya *et al.*, 2023; Duckworth and Milkman, 2022; Milkman*et al.*, 2022; Milkman *et al.*, 2021).

Finally, from a complex systems perspective, AI has the potential to help behavioral scientists to 'see the system' (Hallsworth, 2023b). This may be through predicting the optimal timing and context for delivery of interventions (Mills, 2022c; Yeung, 2017). It may also take the form of probing human behavior as a complex system to identify optimal leverage points for affecting behavior change (Hallsworth, 2023b; Park *et al.*, 2023; Schmidt and Stenger, 2021).

AI also creates new costs for practitioners and consumers. We briefly address the environmental effects of AI in behavioral science (Crawford, 2021; Dhar, 2020; Wu *et al.*, 2022). Where behavioral science uses AI in behavioral interventions to promote pro-environmental consumer behaviors, these energy-intensive methods must factor into the final evaluation of the intervention. However, environmental costs will affect all disciplines that use AI. As such, we focus more on costs specific to behavioral science practitioners and consumers.

AI-behavioral models may impose substantial social costs, as by endangering privacy through data collection (Hagendorff, 2022; Sætra, 2020; Saheb, 2022), and interfering with the formation individual preferences (Bommasani *et al.*, 2022; Russell, 2019; Sunstein, 2022a). The latter risk sparticularly important when considering vulnerable individuals, such as children (Akgun and Greenhow, 2022; Smith and de Villiers-Botha, 2021). At least with regulation of various kinds, AImay be limited in its ability to accommodate important individual and societal values, and that limitation may undermine public trust and produce welfare costs from interventions otherwise forgone (Mills, 2023). Finally, AI-behavioral approaches may not be economically viable in somedomains where existing behavioral science methods are appropriate (Mills,

2022b; Sunstein, 2023,2012). Furthermore, skill premiums are likely to be high for professionals who command effective knowledge of behavioral science and AI, meaning that – at least in the near-term – established methods may prove more economically viable (Hallsworth, 2023b; Lipton and Steinhardt, 2018).

Understanding the opportunities of behavioral science and AI, as well as these costs, will be crucial for determining best-practice applications, and regulatory policy to protect consumers and citizens.

### **OPPORTUNITY 1: IDENTIFYING BIASES**

While behavioral science uses a suite of tools to affect behavior change (Hallsworth, 2023b,2022), and points to the need to go beyond merely identifying 'flaws' in human behavior (Bryan, Tipton and Yeager, 2021; Gigerenzer, 2018; Nisa *et al.*, 2020; Schimmelpfennig and Muthukrishna,2022), identifying bias and noise with AI is a clear opportunity for behavioral science. Behavioral biases can be understood as predictable patterns or error in human behavior (Kahneman, 2011; Thaler and Sunstein, 2008, 2003; Tversky and Kahneman, 1974), and the pattern-detecting capabilities of modern AI are likely to be well-suited to the task of identifying biases from behavioral data (Kleinberg *et al.*, 2018; Kleinberg *et al.*, 2015; Ludwig and Mullainathan, 2022, 2021; Mills, 2023; Sunstein, 2022a, 2022b, 2019). In fact, AI may identify biases that have never been identified before (Ludwig and Mullainathan, 2022). Equally, noise may hide patterns in behavior that humans may fail to spot, but that AI can identify and quantify (Aonghusa and Michie, 2020).

AI has been used to identify discriminatory biases within human behavior. For instance, *Word2Vec* is a natural language processing AI developed by Google (Mikolov *et al.*, 2013). Like many natural language AI systems, *Word2Vec* identifies the statistical relationships between wordsin terms of probabilities and uses these relationships to identify word associations (Wolfram, 2023). A user can then explore these associations through posing questions to the AI. Through such questioning, *Word2Vec* has often been found to produce gender-biased word associations (Bolukbasi *et al.*, 2016; Brunet *et al.* 2019). 'Word

embedding' models such as *Word2Vec* have also been used as 'Word Embedding Association Tests' (WEATs) to replicate the results of the Implicit Associations Test (IAT) using only (big) text data (Caliskan *et al.*, 2017; Evenepoel, 2022). In both instances, only natural language is used to identified various discriminatory biases, and thus it is not that the AI systems themselves are biased, but rather, that AI can be used to identify implicitbiases in natural language that were previously hidden (Brunet *et al.*, 2019).

These results suggest several opportunities. Such approaches represent alternatives approaches to, say, the IAT, for investigating human behavior. Methods such as the IAT can be challenging to implement and time-consuming (and raise questions about external validity). Furthermore, AI approaches can unlock new avenues for behavioral research. For instance, the WEAT can beapplied to any corpus of natural language data and can thus be used to explore implicit biases across different cultural groups and time periods (Evenepoel, 2022). One need not focus on language; the potential is much broader. AI pattern detection has been used to investigate the decision-making processes of judges and doctors, with practices such as 'mugshot bias' (the tendency to rely heavily on a defendant's mugshot) identified through AI analysis (Kleinberg *et al.*, 2019; Kleinberg *et al.*, 2018; Ludwig and Mullainathan, 2022, 2021; Sunstein, 2022a).

We are speaking here of discriminatory biases, or d-biases. While such biases have a long association with behavioral science, they are distinct from the cognitive biases (Wilke and Mata, 2012) – or c-biases – which generally concern modern behavioral science (Sunstein, 2022b). This is important to note to distinguish discussions of AI for detecting biases in behavioral science from the extensive literature on algorithmic bias (which generally focuses on d-biases). Relatively little work to date has explored the use of AI to identify c-biases (Horton, 2023; Jones and Steinhardt, 2022), though importantly, some AI-based analyses have shown judges (Kleinberg *et al.*, 2018; Ludwig and Mullainathan, 2022) and doctors (Mullainathan and Obermeyer, 2022) to use more prominent information in a manner which is indictive of availability bias and representativeness bias (Mills, 2023; Sunstein, 2022b). AI techniques have also been used to study

habit formation behavior within especially large datasets, identifying important factors that influence consumption habit formation, which may have been difficult to determine via traditional statistical techniques (Milkman *et al.*, 2023).

The relative paucity of such work should be seen as a compelling opportunity for research within behavioral science. Indeed, it is hardly premature to speculate about the possibilities such a research programme might hold. For instance, real-time data on the behavior of a financial stock trader – such as the status of their portfolio, the speed of their mouse clicks, the frequency of their email communications, and so on – might be used to predict whether the broker is in a 'hot' state, and automatically trigger risk management procedures ranging from nudge-like interventions (e.g., "you should take a break from the desk") to more coercive interventions (e.g., imposition of temporary trading limits).

# **OPPORTUNITY 2: INTEGRATING HETEROGENEITY**

Beyond expanding the toolkit by which researchers investigate human behavior, AI presents a unique opportunity for behavioral science to progress in a way that meets various concerns about the field.

Recent high-profile results have sparked considerable debate (Hallsworth, 2023a, 2022). In particular, questions have been raised about the effectiveness of some behavioral interventions(Maier *et al.*, 2022), given what are often small effect sizes (Beshears and Kosowsky, 2020; DellaVigna and Linos, 2022; van der Linden and Goldberg, 2020). Concern has also been raised about the value of behavioral interventions that are focused on individual behavior (Chater and Loewenstein, 2022), given current policy challenges such as climate change (Bergquist *et al.*, 2023;Nisa *et al.*, 2020). These concerns supplement earlier concerns about certain uses of behavioral insights in public policy, which have been challenged for potentially undermining individual autonomy and freedom of choice (Gigerenzer, 2015; Henderson, 2014; Mitchell, 2005; Rebonato, 2014, 2012; Rizzo and Whitman, 2020, 2009; Ryan, 2018; Sugden, 2013, 2009; Veetil, 2011). These different concerns – of being insufficiently effective and disrespectful to individuals – may or may not have force, and may be addressed by better integrating individual heterogeneity and context into behavioral science (Bryan, Tipton and Yeager, 2021; Hallsworth, 2023a, 2023b, 2022;Hecht *et al.*, 2022; Mills, 2022b, 2021; Schimmelpfennig and Muthukrishna, 2023; Sunstein, 2023;Szaszi *et al.*, 2022). The effectiveness of behavioral interventions is likely to depend on a multitude of factors, from the precise tool chosen (a default role, a warning, a reminder, a tax, a subsidy, amandate; Sunstein, 2023), to individual traits (Mills, 2022b; Peer *et al.*, 2020; Thunström *et al.*, 2018), to strength of preferences (de Ridder, Kroese and van Gestel, 2022) to cultural factors (Schimmelpfennig and Muthukrishna, 2023).

In recent years, behavioral studies have increasingly used moderation and mediation approaches to probe behavioral results to find and identify heterogeneous effects within a sample (Dolgopolova *et al.*, 2021; Hecht *et al.*, 2022; Jachimowicz *et al.*, 2019; Nekmat, 2020; Peer *et al.*, 2020; Thunström *et al.*, 2018) – for instance, when evaluating calorie labels (Thunström, 2019) or COVID-19 interventions (Kantorowicz-Reznichenko *et al.*, 2022; Krpan *et al.*, 2021). This can lead to a deeper understanding of the factors influencing the intervention, and thus creates opportunities for interventions to be tailored to specific environments, individuals, or policy objectives (Agrawal *et al.*, 2022; Mills, 2022b; Sunstein, 2023). More tailored to their personalpreferences and objectives (Krpan and Urbaník, 2021).

While such approaches are promising, and interject much needed nuance into the evaluation of behavioral results (Bryan, Tipton and Yeager, 2021; Hallsworth, 2022; Szaszi *et al.*, 2022), approaches such as analyzing the potential moderators of behavioral interventions are limited by the potentially subjective choices in how the sample is stratified to investigate the effect of, say,gender or personality. Furthermore, examining all possible combinations of heterogeneous factors on an identified effect may be too resource-intensive given current research practices, as moderators themselves may be moderated by additional factors. Indeed, for n variables being examined, an approximate estimate for the number of

potential models – without prior theory –would be *n!*, or *n*-factorial (Hayes, 2013). The question of resource intensity is particularly pertinent as behavioral science research increasingly uses 'mega studies' to investigate interventions (Duckworth and Milkman, 2022). These studies represent a very different route to understanding heterogeneous effects by embracing the power of scale. But in doing so, they are also burdenedby huge amounts of data, creating an opportunity for AI to assist in the analysis (Matz *et al.*, 2017; Milkman *et al.*, 2023).

AI may reduce or resolve many of the challenges brought by the added complexity of heterogeneity analysis (Lazer *et al.*, 2009). Deep learning AI systems, which dominate current AI modelling, may accommodate an essentially unlimited number of input variables in an *n*-length input vector. For instance, rather than examining the effect of extraversion on a consumer behavior, and *separately* examining the effect of openness on that same behavior, an AI approach would allow each consumer's unique personality profile to be examined holistically, leading to a predictive AI modelthat integrates far more heterogeneity than moderation approaches can accommodate (Kosinski *et al.*, 2013; Kosinki *et al.*, 2015; Matz *et al.*, 2017). These individual-level variables are likely to be accompanied by various other contextual variables, such as time of day or location (Benartzi, 2017;Hauser *et al.*, 2014; Hauser *et al.*, 2009; Milkman *et al.*, 2023), to further integrate heterogeneous factors, as many 'autonomous choice architects' already do (Hermann, 2021; Hui *et al.*, 2021; Johnson, 2021; Mills, 2022a, 2022c; Mills and Sætra, 2022; Morozovaite, 2021; Yeung, 2017).

Heterogeneity-respecting behavioral interventions, developed through AI, may lead to more effective (Mills, 2022b) and equitable (Sunstein, 2023) interventions that simultaneously address concerns about the effect size of interventions given the scale of some policy challenges (Chaterand Loewenstein, 2022; Nisa *et al.*, 2020). At the same time, a new-found emphasis on context andheterogeneity may turn out to be a sufficient response to the concern that behavioral interventions are homogeneous, one-size-fits-all strategies (Hallsworth, 2022). Interesting results are already being found. For instance, AI

recommendation algorithms to personalize reading recommendations for children, accounting for their abilities and tastes, have been found to produce higher levels of reading (Agrawal *et al.*, 2022).

## **OPPORTUNITY 3: HANDLING COMPLEXITY**

AI invites applied behavioral science to embrace, where relevant, the complexity inherent in real human behavior, and points towards an understanding of behavior as part of a complex adaptive system (Hallsworth, 2023b). In some of its forms, behavioral science has several overlaps with the fields of complexity economics (Bickley and Torgler, 2021; Foster, 2006; Rosser and Rosser, 2015; Sanbonmatsu *et al.*, 2021; Sanbonmatsu and Johnston, 2019; Simon, 1981; Spencer, 2018), which uses computational techniques to model the behavior of many artificial agents within economic systems (Arthur, 2021), and cybernetics (DeYoung, 2015; Forrester, 1971), which examines how information and feedback drive the evolution of simple and complex systems (Beer, 2002).

Behavioral interventions do not exist outside of the environment in which behavior occurs (Banerjee and Mitra, 2023; Sanders, Snijders and Hallsworth, 2018), and furthermore, behavior is typically not a static exercise, but a continuous one, with behaviors occurring before and after any intervention (Dolan and Galizzi, 2015; Galizzi and Whitmarsh, 2019; Krpan, Galizzi and Dolan, 2019; Maki *et al.*, 2019; Nafziger, 2020). An opportunity for AI within behavioral science is therefore predicting the optimal environments, including time of intervention delivery and before/after spillover effects of interventions (Michie *et al.*, 2017; Mills, 2022c). For instance, generative AI may be used to model many artificial agents within an 'artificial society,' to investigate behavioral responses to an intervention within a computer 'sandbox,' prior to real-world implementation (Aher *et al.*, 2023; Argyle *et al.*, 2023; Park *et al.*, 2023). This perspective requires behavior to be viewed not as a homogeneous, individual state, but as a dynamic, adaptive response to environmental factors (Hallsworth, 2023b; Sapolsky, 2017). Complexity and cybernetic perspectives encourage one to understand behavior as part of a wider system where different 'variables' within the system all represent potential opportunities to intervene and affect behavior change (Beer, 1993, 1979, 1970; Forrester, 1971). Particularly important variables within systems have been dubbed 'leverage points,' (Abson *et al.*, 2017; Leventon, Abson and Lang, 2021; Riechers *et al.*, 2021; Schmidt and Stenger, 2021). Within acomplex system, these variables have an outsized effect on the system as a whole, and from a behavioral perspective, have been offered as a valuable direction for future research to understand how behavioral interventions can be targeted to produce substantial behavior change (Abson *et al.*, 2017; Hallsworth, 2023b; Schmidt and Stenger, 2021; West *et al.*, 2020).

Identifying such points, however, may be difficult owing to the complexity of the system. Large amounts of data are required to appropriately model a sufficiently complex system (Beer, 1993;Komaki *et al.*, 2021; Meadows, 1997; Simon, 1981). Furthermore, these systems – by their nature – tend to be difficult to reduce to effective, useable models for sustained periods of time, leading to what systems theorists have dubbed the 'dancing with systems' problem (Meadows, 2001).

AI represents a promising approach for mapping behavioral systems and identifying leverage points (Ng, 2016), which in turn may enhance the effectiveness of behavioral interventions (Hallsworth, 2023b; Sanders, Snijders and Hallsworth, 2018; Schmidt and Stenger, 2021). Again, this is due to the dual technological advantages of AI in analyzing large amounts of data, and dynamically detecting patterns in data. As behavioral science develops to tackle more complex behavioral challenges, there will be a growing need for strategies to understand complexity, and design interventions capable of responding to and leveraging such complexity effectively. AI may facilitate the interjection of more complexity into this ever more interdisciplinary field.

## COSTS

AI will create several costs for behavioral science practitioners, and consumers. Some costs, such as the environmental cost of building, using, and maintaining massive AI systems, are costs that all disciplines that embrace AI technologies must address (Crawford, 2021; Dhar, 2020; Wu *et al.*, 2022). For instance, the carbon cost of training an AI model for a study of publication quality has been estimated to be the equivalent of the carbon consumption of approximately two average American lifetimes, or seven average global lifetimes (Hao, 2019; Strubell *et al.*, 2018). Where, say, AI-behavioral models are used to design and implement behavioral interventions to promotepro-environmental consumption decisions, the energy cost of such models must be a factor in the overall policy assessment, changing the required effectiveness of the behavioral intervention to compensate for the deleterious effects of developing and delivering it (Mills and Whittle, 2023).

Consumers and citizens might also face costs of diverse kinds; some of them are difficult to quantify. These include costs that arise from data collection, in terms of privacy costs (Hagendorff,2022; Sætra, 2020; Saheb, 2022), and from implementation, in terms of experiential costs (Russell,2019; Sunstein, 2022a; Tanner, 2021) such as outcome homogenization (Bommasani *et al.*, 2022). For instance, where sensitive data are required for an AI-behavioral model to effectively function, but the rationale for using such data cannot be explained to the data subject – perhaps due to alack of theoretical underpinning (Forde and Paganini, 2019; Gibney, 2018) – there is an ever- present risk that data is being misused and privacy unjustifiably violated. Even if justifiable, thepotential benefits of AI-behavioral models, in terms of predictive capacity and welfare-enhancing behavioral interventions, should not be taken as sufficient to assume consent for data collection (Sætra, 2019). Such social costs are particularly pronounced when considering vulnerable individuals, such as children, and the potential harms that AI-behavioral models may induce through intervening to change behavior at times of critical cognitive and personal development (Akgun and Greenhow, 2022; Russell, 2019; Smith and de Villiers-Botha, 2021).

There is also a pervasive risk of manipulation (Sunstein, 2015). AI might be used to lead people in directions that are not in their interest, perhaps by exploiting a lack of information or behavioral biases (Bar-Gill *et al.*, 2023). Indeed, pattern detection abilities could enable AI not only to personalize in a way that promotes people's welfare, but also to use their biases to their detriment. The costs along these dimensions could be high.

It is important, from a policy perspective, to retain human oversight and accountability for any costs that are incurred (Mills and Sætra, 2022). Having some 'human in the loop' is recognized in emerging AI position papers, such as in the UK (UK Centre for Data Ethics and Innovation, 2020), and is supported by research into public attitudes concerning algorithmic influence (Aoki, 2021; Ingrams *et al.*, 2021; Peppin, 2022; Kozyreva *et al.*, 2021).

While one may wish to balance social costs against the estimated welfare outcomes of more accurate or personalized interventions (Sunstein, 2012), poor theoretical underpinnings of AIbehavioral models may lead to a reliance on large datasets containing potentially sensitive behavioral details, lest the accuracy of the models be undermined. Broadly, the costs of AI- behavioral models, and the enhanced accuracy such approaches might bring (Mills, 2022b; Sunstein, 2023) should be weighed against the social and welfare costs of more generic, but less data-invasive, approaches to behavior change. For the foregoing reasons, AI-driven approaches may be less economical than established behavioral science approaches. While contextualizing interventions and using heterogeneity analysis to respect individual autonomy are substantial opportunities, it is important to recognize that behavioral science has already contributed much to public life without using such technologies (Beshears and Kosowsky, 2020; Jachimowicz *et al.*, 2019; Sanders, Snijders and Hallsworth, 2018). Where existing behavioral science competencies can deliver adequate benefits, an AI-behavioral approach may ultimately be more costly, in both time and economic costs. The cost of skills may also be a factor. As some have argued in computer science (Lipton and Steinhardt, 2018), the lack of skilled AI researcher capacity has led to limited critical oversight in AI development, with the costs of resolving this issue tied to the economic cost of enhancing skills. While emerging fields, such as behavioral data science, appear promising, there is likely to be a persistent skill premium which keeps the costs of AI-behavioral approaches high compared to established techniques, at least in the near-term.

This highlights an important additional risk: rapid deployment of AI-behavioral models is likely to demand more in terms of skills than present capacity within behavioral science can meet (Hallsworth, 2023b), which in turn creates the possibility of mis-deployment and misuse (Mills, 2023). Patience in the development of this space, coupled with efforts to build capacity and understand the necessary safeguards for AI-behavioral models – given the potential costs involved – is likely critical to the successful implementation of AI within behavioral science, and to the development of appropriate policy guidance and consumer protections.

### CONCLUSION

The opportunities AI presents for behavioral science are significant. AI has promise as a means of probing human behavioral data to identify new cognitive biases, or to identify known cognitive biases in novel contexts. AI may also promote the 'heterogeneity revolution' in behavioral science by allowing significantly more data to be used in the design and implementation of behavioral interventions. From a complex systems perspective, AI may be well-suited for optimizing the timing and context of intervention delivery, again enhancing effectiveness, as well as probing behavioral systems as a whole to predict optimal leverage points for affecting behavioral change.

AI usage in behavioral science will also create costs. As with all disciplines, behavioral science must synthesize the environmental costs of energy-intensive AI technologies into its practice. To those behavioral interventions that seek to promote pro-environmental behaviors, such a cost is particularly pertinent. AI will also create various social costs for consumers and citizens, which behavioral science must face. These include privacy costs from collecting potentially sensitive data on individual behavior, and the risks of AI-behavioral models interfering with vulnerable individuals. There are also several economic costs. AI-behavioral models are likely to raise the skill-requirements of behavioral science practitioners, making these approaches more expensive. Where such skills are scarce, there is also the risk that such methods are used without adequateunderstanding or oversight, leading to misuses and welfare costs suffered by the public. Furthermore, behavioral science can already do much without AI methods, and existing competencies should always be considered in comparison to potentially more costly alternatives.

As AI technologies develop, their potential will inevitably grow. The most productive paths forward focus on the distinctive opportunities and costs of an AI-driven behavioral science, with particular emphasis on the opportunity to learn more than ever before about both bias and noise, and to use what is learned to increase human welfare.

#### REFERENCES

- Abson, D. J., Fischer, J., Leventon, J., Newig, J., Schomerus, T., Vilsmaier, U., von Wehrden, H., Abernathy,
  P., Ives, C. D., Jager, N. W., Lang, D. J. (2017) 'Leverage points for sustainable transformation' *Ambio*, 46, pp. 30-39
- Aher, G., Arriaga, R. I., Kalai, A. T. (2023) 'Using Large Language Models to Simulate Multiple MHumans and Replicate Human Subject Studies' ArXiv. [Online] [Date accessed: 23/06/2023]: https://arxiv.org/pdf/2208.10264.pdf
- Ahuja, A. (2023) 'Generative AI is sowing the seeds of doubt in serious science' The Financial Times. [Online] [Date accessed: 01/03/2023]: https://www.ft.com/content/e34c24f6-1159-4b88-8d92- a4bda685a73c
- Agrawal, K., Athey, S., Kanodia, A., Palikot, E. (2022) 'Personalized Recommendations in EdTech: Evidence from a Randomized Controlled Trial ArXiv. [Online] [Date accessed: 23/06/2023]: https://arxiv.org/pdf/2208.13940.pdf

- Akgun, S., Greenhow, C. (2022) 'Artificial intelligence in education: Addressing ethical challenges in K-12 settings' AI and Ethics, 2, pp. 431-440
- Aoki, N. (2021) "The importance of the assurance that "humans are still in the decision loop" for public trust in artificial intelligence: Evidence from an online experiment' *Computers in Human Behavior*, 114, e. 106572
- Aonghusa, P. M., Michie, S. (2020) 'Artificial Intelligence and Behavioral Science Through the Looking Glass: Challenges for Real-World Application' *Annals of Behavioural Medicine*, 54, pp.942-947
- Argyle, L. P., Busby, E. C., Fulda, N., Gubler, J. R., Rytting, C., Wingate, D. (2023) 'Out of One, Many: Using Language Models to Simulate Human Samples' *Political Analysis*, 31(3), pp. 337-351

Arthur, W. B. (2021) 'Foundations of complexity economics' Nature Reviews Physics, 3, pp. 136-145

- Banerjee, S., Mitra, S. (2023) 'Behavioural public policies for the social brain' *Behavioural PublicPolicy*, DOI: 10.1017/bpp.2023.15
- Bar-Gill, O., Sunstein, C. R., Talgam-Cohen, I. (2023) 'Algorithmic Harm in Consumer Markets' Journal of Legal Analysis (forthcoming).
- Beer, S. (2002) 'What is cybernetics?' Kybernetes, 31(2), pp. 209-219
- Beer, S. (1993) 'Designing Freedom' Anansi: CanadaBeer, S. (1979) 'Decision and Control' Wiley: UK
- Beer, S. (1970) 'Managing modern complexity' Futures, 2(3), pp. 245-257
- Benartzi, S. (2017) 'The Smarter Screen: Surprising Ways to Influence and Improve Online Behavior' Portfolio:. USA
- Bergquist, M., Thiel, M., Goldberg, M. H., van der Linden, S. (2023) 'Field interventions for climatechange mitigation behaviors: A second-order meta-analysis' *Proceedings of the National Academyof Science*, 120(13), e. 2214851120
- Beshears, J., Kosowsky, H. (2020) 'Nudging: Progress to date and future directions' OrganizationalBehavior and Human Decision Processes, 161, pp. 3-19
- Bickley, S. J., Torgler, B. (2021) 'Behavioural Economics, What Have we Missed? Exploring "Classical" Behavioural Economics Roots in AI, Cognitive Psychology, and Complexity Theory' CREMA WorkingPaper Series no. 2021-21. [Online]

[Date accessed: 11/04/2023]:https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Benno-

Torgler/publication/351736247\_Behavioural\_Economics\_What\_Have\_we\_Missed\_Explo ring\_Classical\_Behavioural\_Economics\_Roots\_in\_AI\_Cognitive\_Psychology\_and\_Compl exity\_Theory/links/60a6c68da6fdcc6d626878ee/Behavioural-Economics-What-Have-we-Missed-Exploring-Classical-Behavioural-Economics-Roots-in-AI-Cognitive-Psychology- and-Complexity-Theory.pdf

- Bolukbasi, T., Chang, K., Zou, J., Saligrama, V., Kalai, A. (2016) 'Man is to Computer Programmer asWomen is to Homemaker? Debiasing Word Embeddings' [Online] [Date accessed: 25/01/2023]: https://proceedings.neurips.cc/paper/2016/file/a486cd07e4ac3d270571622f4f316ec5-Paper.pdf
- Bommasani, R., Creel, K. A., Kumar, A., Jurafsky, D., Liang, P. (2022) 'Picking on the Same Person: Does Algorithmic Monoculture lead to Outcome Homogenization?" ArXiv. [Online] [Date accessed: 11/04/2023]: https://arxiv.org/abs/2211.13972
- Brunet, M., Alkalay-Houlihan, C., Anderson, A., Zemel, R. (2019) 'Understanding the Origins of Bias in Word Embeddings' Proceedings of the 36<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Machine Learning. DOI: 10.48550/arXiv.1810.03611
- Bryan, C. J., Tipton, E., Yeager, D. S. (2021) 'Behavioural science is unlikely to change the world without a heterogeneity revolution' *Nature Human Behaviour*, 5, pp. 980-989
- Buyalskaya, A., Ho, H., Milkman, K. L., Li, X., Duckworth, A. L., Camerer, C. (2023) 'What can machine learning teach us about habit formation? Evidence from exercise and hygiene' *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science*, 120(17), e. 2216115120
- Caliskan, A., Bryson, J. J., Narayanan, A. (2017) 'Semantics derived automatically from language corpora contain human-like biases' *Science*, 356(6334), pp. 183-186

Chater, N., Loewenstein, G. (2022) 'The i-frame and the s-frame: How focusing on individual-level solutions has led behavioural public policy astray' *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, DOI: 10.1017/s0140525X22002023

Crawford, K. (2021) 'The hidden costs of AI' New Scientist, 249(3327), pp. 46-49

- DellaVigna, S., Linos, E. (2022) 'RCTs to Scale: Comprehensive Evidence from Two Nudge Units' Econometrica, 90(1), pp. 81-116
- De Ridder, D., Kroese, F., van Gestel, L. (2022) 'Nudgeability: Mapping Conditions of Susceptibility to Nudge Influence' *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 17(2), pp. 346-359
- Dhar, P. (2020) "The carbon impact of artificial intelligence' Nature Machine Intelligence, 2, pp. 423- 425 DeYoung, C. G. (2015) 'Cybernetic Big Five Theory' Journal of Research in Personality' 56, pp. 33-58
- Dolan, P., Galizzi, M. M. (2015) 'Like ripples on a pond: Behavioral spillovers and their implications for research and policy' *Journal of Economic Psychology*, 47, pp. 1-16
- Dolgopolova, I., Toscano, A., Roosen, J. (2021) 'Different Shades of Nudges: Moderating Effects of Individual Characteristics and States on the Effectiveness of Nudges during a Fast-Food Order' *Sustainability*, 13(23), e. 13347
- Duckworth, A. L., Milkman, K. L. (2022) 'A guide to megastudies' PNAS Nexus, 1, pp. 1-5
- Evenepoel, A. (2022) 'Identification of Social Bias with the Word Embedding Association Test' [Unpublished Manuscript].
- Forde, J. Z., Paganini, M. (2019) 'The Scientific Method in the Science of Machine Learning' ArXiv. [Online] [Date accessed: 15/09/2021]: https://arxiv.org/abs/1904.10922

Forrester, J. W. (1971) 'Counterintuitive behavior of social systems' Theory and Decision, 2, pp. 109-140

- Foster, J. (2016) 'Why is Economics Not a Complex Systems Science?' *Journal of Economic Issues*, 40(4), pp. 1069-1091
- Galizzi, M. M., Whitmarsh, L. (2019) 'How to Measure Behavioural Spillovers: A MethodologicalReview and Checklist' Frontiers in Psychology, 10, DOI: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00342

- Gibney, E. (2018) 'The scant science behind Cambridge Analytica's controversial marketing techniques' *Nature*, DOI: 10.1038/d41586-018-03880-4
- Gigerenzer, G. (2018) 'The Bias Bias in Behavioral Economics' Review of Behavioral Economics, 5, pp.303-336
- Gigerenzer, G. (2015) 'On the Supposed Evidence for Libertarian Paternalism' Review of Philosophy and Psychology, 6, pp. 361-383
- Hagendorff, T. (2022) 'Blind spots in AI ethics' AI and Ethics, 2, pp. 851-867
- Hallsworth, M. (2023a) 'Misconceptions about the Practice of Behavioral Public Policy' SSRN. [Online] [Date accessed:10/04/2023]:https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract\_id=4328659

Hallsworth, M. (2023b) 'A manifesto for applying behavioural science' Nature Human Behaviour, 7, pp. 310-323

- Hallsworth, M. (2022) 'Making Sense of the 'Do Nudges Work?' Debate' Behavioral Scientist. [Online] [Date accessed: 10/04/2023]: https://behavioralscientist.org/making-sense-of-the-do- nudges-work-debate/
- Hao, K. (2019) 'Training a single AI model can emit as much carbon as five cars in their lifetimes' MIT TechnologyReview. [Online][Dateaccessed:11/04/2023]: https://www.technologyreview.com/2019/06/06/239031/training-a-single-ai-model-can-

emit-as-much-carbon-as-five-cars-in-their-lifetimes/

- Hauser, J. R., Liberali, G., Braun, M. (2009) 'Website Morphing' Marketing Science, 28(2), pp. 201-401
- Hauser, J. R., Liberali, G., Urban, G. L. (2014) 'Website Morphing 2.0: Switching Costs, Partial Exposure, Random Exit, and When to Morph' *Management Science*, 60(6), pp. 1594-1616
- Hayes, A. F. (2013) 'Introduction to Mediation, Moderation, and Conditional Process Analysis: A Regression Approach' Guilford Press: USA
- Hecht, C. A., Dweck, C. S., Murphy, M. C., Yeager, D. S. (2022) 'Efficiently exploring the causal role of contextual moderators in behavioral science' *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science*, 120(1), e., 2216315120

Henderson, D. R. (2014) 'Libertarian Paternalism: Leviathan in Sheep's Clothing?' Society, 51, pp.268-273

- Hermann, E. (2022) 'Psychological targeting: nudge or boost to foster mindful and sustainable consumption?' *AI and Society*, DOI: 10.1007/soo146-022-01403-4
- Horton, J. J. (2023) 'Large Language Models as Simulated Economics Agents: What Can We Learn from Homo Silicus?' ArXiv. [Online]: https://arxiv.org/abs/2301.07543
- Hui, B., Zhang, L., Zhou, X., Wen, X., Nian, Y. (2022) 'Personalized recommendation system based on knowledge embedding and historical behavior' *Applied Intelligence*, 52, pp. 954-966
- Ingrams, A., Kaufmann, W., Jacobs, D. (2021) 'In AI we trust? Citizen perceptions of AI in government decision making' *Policy and Internet*, 14(2), pp. 390-409
- Ioannidis, J. P. A. (2012) 'Why Science is Not Necessarily Self-Correcting' Perspectives on Psychological Science, 7(6), pp. 645-654
- Ioannidis, J. P. A. (2005) 'Why Most Published Research Findings Are False' PLOS Medicine, 2(8),e. 124
- Jachimowicz, J. M., Duncan, S., Weber, E. U., Johnson, E. J. (2019) 'When and why defaults influence decisions: a meta-analysis of default effects' *Behavioural Public Policy*, 3(2), pp. 159-186
- Johnson, E. (2021) 'How Netflix's Choice Engine Drives Its Business' Behavioral Scientist. [Online] [Date accessed: 10/04/2023]: https://behavioralscientist.org/how-the-netflix-choice- engine-tries-to-maximize-happiness-per-dollar-spent\_ux\_ui/
- Jones, E., Steinhardt, J. (2022) 'Capturing Failures of Large Language Models via Human Cognitive Biases' ArXiv. [Online] [Date accessed: 23/06/2023]: https://arxiv.org/abs/2202.12299

Kahneman, D. (2011) 'Thinking, Fast and Slow' Penguin Books: UK

Kahneman, D., Sibony, O., Sunstein, C. R. (2021) 'Noise: A Flaw in Human Judgement' Little & Brown: USA

Kantorowicz-Reznichenko, E., Kantorowicz, J., Wells, L. (2022) 'Can vaccination intentions against COVID-19 be nudged?' *Behavioural Public Policy*, DOI: 10.1017/bpp.2022.20

- Kim, D. A., Hwong, A. R., Stafford, D., Hughes, A. D., O'Malley, J. A. Fowler, J. H., Christakis, N. A. (2015) 'Social network targeting to maximise population behaviour change: a clusterrandomised controlled trial' *The Lancet*, 386(9989), pp. 145-153
- Kleinberg, J., Lakkaraju, H., Leskovec, J., Ludwig, J., Mullainathan, S., (2018) 'Human Decisions and Machine Predictions' *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 133(1), pp. 237-293
- Kleinberg, J., Ludwig, J., Mullainathan, S., Obermeyer, Z. (2015) 'Prediction Policy Problems' American Economic Review, 105(5), pp. 491-495
- Kleinberg, J., Ludwig, J., Mullainathan, S., Sunstein, C. R. (2019) 'Discrimination in the Age of Algorithms' Journal of Legal Studies, 10, pp. 113-174
- Komaki, A., Kodaka, A., Nakamura, E., Ohno, Y., Kohtake, N. (2021) 'System Design Canvas forIdentifying Leverage Points in Complex Systems: A Case Study of the Agricultural System Models, Cambodia' *Proceedings of the Design Society*, 1, pp. 2901-2910
- Kosinski, M., Matz, S. C., Gosling, S. D., Popov, V., Stillwell, D. (2015) 'Facebook as a research tool for the social sciences: Opportunities, challenges, ethical considerations, and practical guidelines' *American Psychologist*, 70(6), pp. 543-556
- Kosinski, M., Stillwell, D., Graepel, T. (2013) 'Private traits and attributes are predictable from digital records of human behavior' *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science*, 110(15), pp.5802-5805
- Kozyreva, A., Lorenz-Spreen, P., Hertwig, R., Lewandowsky, S., Herzog, S. M. (2021) 'Publicattitudes towards algorithmic personalization and use of personal data online: evidence from Germany, Great Britain, and the United States' *Humanities and Social Sciences Communications*, 8(117), DOI: 10.1057/s41599-021-00787-w
- Krpan, D., Galizzi, M. M., Dolan, P. (20190 'Looking at Spillovers in the Mirror: Making a Case for 'Behavioural Spillunders' *Frontiers in Psychology*, 10, DOI: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.01142

- Krpan, D., Makki, F., Saleh, N., Brink, S. I., Klauznicer, H. V. (2020) 'When behavioural sciencecan make a difference in times of COVID-19' *Behavioural Public Policy*, 5(2), pp. 153-179
- Krpan, D., Urbaník, M. (2021) 'From libertarian paternalism to liberalism: behavioural science and policy in an age of new technology' *Behavioural Public Policy*, DOI: 10.1017/bpp.2021.40
- Lazer, D., Pentland, A., Adamic, L., Aral, S., Barabási, A., Brewer, D., Christakis, N., Contractor, N.,
  Fowler, J., Gutmann, M., Jebara, T., King, G., Macy, M., Roy, D., van Alstyne, M. (2009)
  'Computational Social Science' *Science*, 323(5915), pp. 721-723
- Leventon, J., Abson, D. J., Lang, D. J. (2021) 'Leverage points for sustainability transformations:nine guiding questions for sustainability science and practice' *Sustainability Science*, 16, pp.721-726
- Lipton, Z. C., Steinhardt, J. (2018) 'Troubling Trends in Machine Learning Scholarship' ArXiv. [Online] [Date accessed: 16/09/2021]: https://arxiv.org/abs/1807.03341
- Ludwig, J. Mullainathan, S., (2022) 'Algorithmic Behavioral Science: Machine Learning as a Tool for Scientific Discovery' Chicago Booth Working Paper no. 22-15. [Online] [Date accessed: 01/03/2023]: https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract\_id=4164272
- Ludwig, J., Mullainathan, S. (2021) 'Fragile Algorithms and Fallible Decision-Makers: Lessonsfrom the Justice System' *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 35(4), pp. 71-96
- Maier, M., Bartoš, F., Stanley, T. D., Wagenmakers, E. (2022) 'No evidence for nudging afteradjusting for publication bias' *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science*, 119(31), e. 2200300119
- Maki, A., Carrico, A. R., Raimi, K. T., Truelove, H. B., Araujo, B., Yeung, K. L. (2019) 'Meta- analysis of proenvironmental behaviour spillover' *Nature Sustainability*, 2, pp. 307-315
- Matz, S. C., Kosinski, M., Nave, G., Stillwell, D. J. (2017) 'Psychological targeting as an effective approach to digital mass persuasion' *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science*, 114(28), pp.12714-12719
- Meadows, D. (2001) 'Dancing with Systems' Whole Earth, 106, pp. 58-63
- Meadows, D. (1997) 'Leverage points: Places to intervene in a system' Whole Earth, 91(1), pp. 78-84

- Michie, S., Thomas, J., Johnston, M., Aonghusa, P. M., Shawe-Taylor, J., Kelly, M. P., Deleris, L.A.,
  Finnerty, A. N., Marques, M. M., Norris, E., O'Mara-Eves, A., West, R. (2017) 'The Human
  Behaviour-Change Project: harnessing the power of artificial intelligence and machine learning for
  evidence synthesis and interpretation' *Implementation Science*, 12(121), DOI: 10.1186/s13012-0170641-5
- Mikolov, T., Chen, K., Corrado, G., Dean, J. (2013) 'Efficient Estimation of Word Representations in Vector Space' ArXiv. [Online] [Date accessed: 04/07/2021]: https://arxiv.org/pdf/1301.3781.pdf
- Milkman, K. L., Gandhi, L., Patel, M. S., Graci, H. N., Gromet, D. M., Ho, H., Kay, J. S., Lee, T. W., Rothschild, J., Bogard, J. E., Brody, I., Chabris, C. F., Chang, E. Chapman, G. B., Dannals, J. E., Goldstein, N. J., Goren, A., Hershfield, H., Hirsch, A., Hmurovic, J., Horn,S., Karlan, D. S., Kristal, A. S., Lamberton, C., Meyer, M. N., Oakes, A. H., Schweitzer, M. E., Shermohammed, M., Talloen, J., Warren, C., Whillans, A., Yadav, K. N., Zlatev, J. J., Berman, R., Evans, C. N., Ladhania, R., Ludwig, J., Mazar, N., Mullainathan, S., Snider, C. K., Spiess, J., Tsukayama, E., Ungar, L., van den Bulte, C., Volpp, K. G., Duckworth, A. L. (2022) 'A 680.000-person megastudy of nudges to encourage vaccination in pharmacies' *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science*, 119(6), e. 2115126119
- Milkman, K. L., Gromet, D., Ho, H., Kay, J. S., Lee, T. W., Pandiloski, P., Park, Y., Rai, A., Bazerman, M., Beshears, J., Bonacorsi, L., Camerer, C., Chang, E., Chapman, G., Cialdini, R., Dai, H., Eskreis-Winkler, L., Fishbach, A., Gross, J. J., Horn, S., Hubbard, A., Jones, S. J., Karlan, D., Kautz, T., Kirgios, E., Klusowski, J., Kristal, A., Ladhania, R., Loewenstein, G., Ludwig, J., Mellers, B., Mullainathan, S., Saccardo, S., Spiess, J., Suri, G., Talloen, J. H., Taxer, J., Trope, Y., Ungar, L., Volpp, K. G., Whillans, A., Zinman, J., Duckworth, A. L.(2021) 'Megastudies improve the impact of applied behavioural science' *Nature*, 600, pp. 478- 483
- Mills, S. (2023) 'The Misuse of Algorithms in Society' SSRN. [Online] [Date accessed: 21/04/2023]: https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract\_id=4400026

- Mills, S. (2022a) 'AI for Behavioural Science' CRC Press: UK
- Mills, S. (2022b) 'Personalized Nudging' Behavioural Public Policy, 6(1), pp. 150-159
- Mills, S. (2022c) 'Finding the 'nudge' in hypernudge' Technology in Society, 71, e. 102117
- Mills, S. (2021) 'The Future of Nudging Will Be Personal' Behavioral Scientist. [Online] [Date accessed: 10/04/2023]: https://behavioralscientist.org/the-future-of-nudging-will-be-personal/
- Mills, S., Sætra, H. S. (2022) 'The autonomous choice architect' AI and Society, DOI:10.1007/s00146-022-01486-z
- Mills, S., Whittle, R. (2023) 'Seeing the nudge from the trees: The 4S framework for evaluating nudges' *Public* Administration, DOI: 10.1111/padm.12941
- Mitchell, G. (2005) 'Libertarian Paternalism is an Oxymoron' Northwestern University Law Review, 99(3), pp. 1245-1277
- Morozovaite, V. (2021) "Two sides of the digital advertising coin: putting hypernudging into perspective" Market and Competition Law Review, 5(2), pp. 105-145
- Mullainathan, S., Obermeyer, Z. (2022) 'Diagnosing Physician Error: A Machine Learning Approach to Low-Value Health Care' *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 137(2), pp. 679-727
- Nafziger, J. (2020) 'Spillover effects of nudges' Economics Letters, 190, e. 109086
- Ng, C. F. (2016) 'Behavioral Mapping and Tracking' in Gifford, R. (eds.) 'Research Methods for Environmental Psychology' (2016). DOI: 10.1002/9781119162124.ch3
- Nekmat, E. (2020) 'Nudge Effect of Fact-Check Alerts: Source Influence and Media Skepticismon Sharing of News Misinformation in Social Media' *Social Media and Society*, 6(1), DOI: 10.1177.2056305119897322
- Nisa, C. F., Sasin, E. M., Faller, D. G., Schumpe, B. M., Belanger, J. J. (2020) 'Reply to: Alternativemetaanalysis of behavioural interventions to promote action on climate change yields different conclusions' *Nature Communications*, 11, pp. 3901

- Park, J. S., O'Brien, J. C., Cai, C. J., Morris, M. R., Liang, P., Bernstein, M. S. (2023) 'Generative Agents: Interactive Simulacra of Human Behavior' ArXiv. [Online] [Date accessed: 20/04/2023]: https://arxiv.org/pdf/2304.03442.pdf
- Pedersen, T., Johansen, C. (2020) 'Behavioural artificial intelligence: an agenda for systematic empirical studies of artificial inference' *AI and Society*, 35(3), pp. 519-532
- Peer, E., Egelman, S., Harbach, M., Malkin, N., Mathur, A., Frik, A. (2020) 'Nudge me right: Personalizing online security nudges to people's decision-making styles' *Computers in Human Behavior*, 109, e. 106347
- Peppin, A. (2022) 'Who cares what the public think?' The Ada Lovelace Institute. [Online] [Date accessed: 21/04/2023]: https://www.adalovelaceinstitute.org/evidence-review/public- attitudes-dataregulation/
- Rahwan, I., Cebrian, M., Obradovich, N., Bongard, J., Bonnefon, J., Breazeal, C., Crandall, J. W., Christakis, N. A., Couzin, I. D., Jackson, M. O., Jennings, N. R., Kamar, E., Kloumann, I.M., Larochelle, H., Lazer, D., McElreath, R., Mislove, A., Parkes, D. C., Pentland, A., Roberts, M. E., Shariff, A., Tenenbaum, J. B., Wellman, M. (2019) 'Machine Behaviour' *Nature*, 568, pp. 477–486
- Rauthmann, J. F. (2020) 'A (More) Behavioural Science of Personality in the Age of Multi-Modal Snesing, Big Data, Machine Learning, and Artificial Intelligence' *European Journal of Personality*, 34(5), pp. 593-598
- Rebonato, R. (2014) 'A Critical Assessment of Libertarian Paternalsim' Journal of Consumer Policy, 37, pp. 357-396
- Rebonato, R. (2012) 'Taking Liberties: A Critical Examination of Libertarian Paternalism' Palgrave Macmillan: UK
- Riechers, M., Loos, J., Balázsi, A., García-Llorente, M., Bieling, C., Burgos-Ayala, A., Chakroun, L.,
  Mattijssen, T. J. M., Muhr, M. M., Pérez-Ramírez, I., Raatikainen, K. J., Rana, S., Richardson,
  M., Rosengren, L., West, S. (2021) 'Key advantages of the leverage points perspective to shape human-nature relations' *Ecosystems and People*, 17(1), pp. 205-214
- Rizzo, M. J., Whitman, G. (2020) 'Escaping Paternalism: Rationality, Behavioral Economics, and Public Policy' Cambridge University Press: UK

- Rizzo, M. J., Whitman, G. (2009) 'The knowledge problem of new paternalism' BYU Law Review,4, pp. 905-967
- Rosser, J. B., Rosser, M. V. (2015) 'Complexity and behavioral economics' Nonlinear Dynamics, Psychology, and Life Sciences, 19(20, pp. 201-226
- Russell, S. J. (2019) 'Human Compatible: AI and the Problem of Control' Penguin Books: UK Ryan, S. (2018)
  'Libertarian paternalism is hard paternalism' Analysis, 78(1), pp. 65-73 Sætra, H. S. (2020) 'Privacy as an aggregate public good' Technology in Society, 63, e. 101422
- Saheb, T. (2022) 'Ethically contentious aspects of artificial intelligence surveillance: a social science perspective' *AI and Ethics*, DOI: 10.1007/s43681-022-00196-y
- Sanbonmatsu, D. M., Cooley, E. H., Butner, J. E. (2021) 'The Impact of Complexity on Methods and Findings in Psychological Science' *Frontiers in Psychology*, 11, DOI: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.580111
- Sanbonmatsu, D. M., Johnston, W. A. (2019) 'Redefining Science: The Impact of Complexity on Theory Development in Social and Behavioral Research' *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 14(4), pp. 672-690
- Sanders, M., Snijders, V., Hallsworth, M. (2018) 'Behavioural science and policy: where are we now and where are we going?' *Behavioural Public Policy*, 2(2), pp. 144-167

Sapolsky, R. (2017) 'Behave: The Biology of Humans at our Best and Worst' Penguin Books: UK Schimmelpfennig,

- R., Muthukrishna, M. (2023) 'Cultural evolutionary behavioural science in public policy' Behavioural Public Policy, DOI: 10.1017/bpp.2022.40
- Schmidt, R., Stenger, K. (2021) 'Behavioral brittleness: the case for strategic behavioral public policy' Behavioural Public Policy, DOI: 10.1017/bpp.2021.16
- Simon, H. A. (1981) 'The Sciences of the Artificial' 2nd edition. MIT Press: USA
- Smith, J., de Villiers-Botha, T. (2021) 'Hey, Google, leave those kids alone: Against hypernudgingchildren in the age of big data' AI and Society, DOI: 10.1007/s00146-021-01314-w

Spencer, N. (2018) 'Complexity as an opportunity and challenge for behavioural public policy' Behavioural Public Policy, 2(2), pp. 227-234

- Strubell, E., Verga, P., Andor, D., Weiss, D., McCallum, A. (2018) 'Linguistically-Informed Self- Attention for Semantic Role Labelling' ArXiv. [Online] [Date accessed: 11/04/2023]: https://arxiv.org/abs/1804.08199
- Sugden, R. (2013) 'The Behavioural Economist and the Social Planner: To Whom Should Behavioural Welfare Economics be Addressed?' *Inquiry*, 56(5), pp. 519-538
- Sugden, R. (2009) 'On Nudging: A Review of Nudge: Improving Decisions About Health, Wealth and Happiness by Richard
  H. Thaler and Cass R. Sunstein' International Journal of Economics and Business, 16(3), pp. 365-373
- Sunstein, C. R. (2023) 'The use of algorithms in society' The Review of Austrian Economics, DOI:

10/1007/s11138-023-00625-z

- Sunstein, C. R. (2022a) "The distributional effects of nudges' Nature Human Behaviour, 6, pp. 9-10 Sunstein, C.
  R. (2022b) 'Governing by Algorithm? No Noise and (Potentially) Less Bias' Duke Law Journal, 71(6), pp. 1175-1205
- Sunstein, C. R. (2019) 'Algorithms, Correcting Biases' Social Research: An International Quarterly,86(2), pp. 499-511
- Sunstein, C. R. (2015) 'The Ethics of Influence' Cambridge University Press: Cambridge
- Sunstein, C. R. (2012) 'Impersonal Default Rules vs. Active Choices vs. Personalized Default Rules: A Triptych' [Online] [Date accessed: 11/04/2023]: https://dash.harvard.edu/bitstream/handle/1/9876090/decidingbydefault11\_5.pdf?seque nce=1
- Szaszi, B., Higney, A., Charlton, A., Gelman, A., Ziano, I., Aczél, B., Goldstein, D. G., Yeager, D.S., Tipton,
   E. (2022) 'No reason to expect large and consistent effects of nudge interventions' *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science*, 119(31), e. 2200732119

- Tanner, G. (2021) 'The Hours Have Lost Their Clock: The Politics of Nostalgia' Repeater Books: UK Thaler, R. H., Sunstein, C. R. (2003) 'Libertarian Paternalism' American Economic Review, 93, pp.175-179
- Thunström, L. (2019) 'Welfare effects of nudges: The emotional tax of calorie menu labeling' Judgment and Decision Making, 14(1), pp. 11-25
- Thunström, L., Gilbert, B., Jones-Ritten, C. (2018) 'Nudges that hurt those already hurting distributional and unintended effects of salience nudges' *Journal of Economic Behavior and Organization*, 153, pp. 267-282
- Tierney, W., Hardy, J. H., Ebersole, C. R., Leavitt, K., Viganola, D., Clemente, E. G., Gordon, M., Dreber,
  A., Johannesson, M., Pfeiffer, T., Hiring Decisions Forecasting Collaboration, Uhlmann, E. L.
  (2020) 'Creative destruction in science' Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 161, pp. 291-309
- Tversky, A., Kahneman, D. (1974) 'Judgment under Uncertainty: Heuristics and Biases' Science,185(4157), pp. 1124-1131
- UK Centre for Data Ethics and Innovation (2020) 'Review into bias in algorithmic decision-making' UK Government. [Online] [Date accessed: 21/04/2023]: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachmen t\_data/file/957259/Review\_into\_bias\_in\_algorithmic\_decision-making.pdf
- Van der Linden, S., Goldberg, M. H. (2020) 'Alternative meta-analysis of behavioral interventionsto promote action on climate change yields different conclusions' *Nature Communications*, 11, pp. 3915
- Veetil, V. P. (2011) 'Libertarian paternalism is an oxymoron: an essay in defence of liberty' *European Journal of Law* and Economics, 31, pp. 321-334
- West, R., Michie, S., Chadwick, P., Atkins, L., Lorencatto, F. (2020) 'Achieving behaviour change: A guide for national government' Public Health England. [Online] [Date accessed: 24/04/2023]:

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachmen t\_data/file/933328/UFG\_National\_Guide\_v04.00\_1\_1\_.pdf

- Wilke, A., Mata, R. (2012) 'Cognitive Bias' in Wilke, A., Mata, R. (eds.) 'Encyclopaedia of Human Behaviour' 2<sup>nd</sup> ed. (2012).
- Wolfram, S. (2023) 'What is ChatGPT Doing... and Why Does It Work?' [Online] [Date accessed:17/02/2023]: https://writings.stephenwolfram.com/2023/02/what-is-chatgpt-doing-and-why-does-it-work/
- Wu. C., Raghavendra, R., Gupta, U., Acun, B., Ardalani, N., Maeng, K., Chang, G., Behram, A., Huang, J., Bai, C., Gschwind, M., Gupta, A., Ott, M., Melnikov, A., Candido, S., Brooks, D., Chauhan, G., Lee, B., Lee., H. S., Akyildiz, B., Balandat, M., Spisak, J., Jain, R., Rabbat, M., Hazelwood, K. (2022) *Sustainable AI: Environmental Implications, Challenges, and Opportunities*' ArXiv. [Online] [Date accessed: 30/04/2023]: https://arxiv.org/pdf/2111.00364.pdf
- Yeung, K. (2017) 'Hypernudge: Big Data as a mode of regulation by design' *Information, Communication and Society*, 1, pp. 118

# CHAPTER 7 GENERAL DISCUSSION<sup>1</sup>

In the ever-evolving landscape of industrial safety, the concept of nudging emerges as a promising force for change. The evaluation of its potential has been the main objective and central tenet of this doctoral thesis. The idea is simple but profound: by understanding human behavior and cognitive processes, we can design interventions that gently guide individuals toward safer choices (Thaler & Sunstein, 2008). This departure from traditional safety measures, such as training and protocols, opens new doors to surpass the stagnating safety improvements that industrial safety management faces today (Lindhout & Reniers, 2017).

This discussion delves into the intricacies of nudging for industrial safety, exploring the application of behavioral science to mitigate risks. We start with insights on social influence from the COVID-19 study and its implications for industrial safety. Followed by a discussion of all safety nudges tested throughout the chapters, their effectiveness in promoting safety behavior and the strategic nudge development; using Münscher et al. (2016) taxonomy of choice architecture. Further, we address the long-term effectiveness and scalability of the tested safety nudges, and explore the concept of 'layered nudging'.

Furthermore, the discussion clarifies how dual-process theories of decision-making (incl. system 1 and 2, Kahneman (2011)) provide a new psychological framework for industrial safety, and the importance a holistic safety approach, integrating multiple behavioral, procedural and technical interventions, to maximize its impact. Lastly, we extend beyond nudging by emphasizing the relevance

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Partially based on Costa, S., Mills, S., Soman, D., Duyck, W., & Dirix, N. (2023). *Advancing Applied Behavioral Science: The GAP Framework* [Manuscript in preparation]

of other behavioral tools (e.g., behavioral audits) that leverage the features of bounded rationality (Dhami & Sunstein, 2022), and by indicating how recent developments in artificial intelligence (AI) can advance applied behavior science (Mills, Costa, et al., 2023). The aim here is to highlight the potential of adopting bounded rationality as a behavioral lens when developing behavior change initiatives to enhance industrial safety.

In a world where safety is a top priority, this discussion paves the way for a deeper understanding of how nudging and applied behavioral science can revolutionize industrial safety practices and foster an environment of well-being and protection. An endeavor that, in my opinion, we owe to all employees and families involved.

# NUDGING HAND HYGIENE AND THE RELEVANCE FOR INDUSTRIAL SAFETY

The COVID-19 pandemic presented an unprecedented challenge to societies worldwide (Daniel, 2020; Delardas et al., 2022; Ray et al., 2021). In CHAPTER 2, we discussed an experiment applying the principles of nudging to encourage adherence to COVID-19 protective guidelines. A central insight emerging from this study pertains to the effectiveness of nudges in fostering hand hygiene. Nudges addressing factors like reducing friction, enhancing salience, and leveraging social norms proved highly successful in encouraging hand sanitization; confirming the findings of nudge studies in more health or hygiene related contexts (e.g., hospitals, schools and supermarkets) (Goff, 2022; Van Dessel et al., 2022). These findings underscore the significance of designing choice architecture to guide behavior effectively, which is especially important in times of global crisis and uncertainty (Van Bavel et al., 2020).

This study goes beyond individual behavior and delves into the intriguing dynamics of group influence and herd behavior (Banerjee, 1992; Cialdini & Goldstein, 2004). It reveals that people passing by in groups are more likely to sanitize their hands compared to individuals, and that this effect is largely

mediated by the behavior of the first person in the group. This underscores a classic example of herd behavior, where individuals in a group conform to the actions of their peers, believing that the lead person possesses information or insiht they lack, or because their fear of social disapproval drives them to conformity (Asch, 1956). These insights on social influence are highly relevant to the realm of industrial safety given the large weight modern safety management places on safety culture and leadership (DeJoy, 2005; Vierendeels et al., 2018). In organizational settings, the behavior of one employee can influence the actions of others, leading to a sort of contagion or 'bandwagon effect' (Schmitt-Beck, 2015). This suggests that strategically targeting the 'first movers', for example individuals in (informal) influential positions or just the first person in a group, can amplify the impact of nudge interventions. By understanding and harnessing these social dynamics, organizations can create a ripple effect that encourages safety compliance throughout the workforce (Fugas et al., 2011), thus significantly enhancing overall safety measures. In CHAPTER 5, we saw that social proof nudges were able to promote the use of the safe pathways by visually displaying the number of colleagues that used the path before them. This example shows how nudges can also leverage social influence to foster industrial safety behaviors, and most likely the associated perceptions and values (i.e., via peer influence) that form the pillars of a broader safety culture (DeJoy, 2005).

In the following section, we provide a more comprehensive overview of the different nudges tested to promote industrial safety and its implications.

# THE EFFECTIVENESS OF NUDGES PROMOTING INDUSTRIAL SAFETY BEHAVIOR

Nudging holds promise as a complementary approach to conventional safety measures, such as training and rule enforcement that rely more on deliberate thought (Lindhout & Reniers, 2017). By leveraging insights from behavioral science, safety experts can design nudging interventions that align

with the cognitive processes and decision-making tendencies of the workers, taking both subliminal influences and cognitive constraints into consideration (Kahneman, 2011; Love et al., 2023).

The study discussed in CHAPTER 3, conducted two field experiments and found that costeffective nudges can encourage safety behaviors in the domains of gas hazards and staircase safety (or broader 'working at height'). These nudges included reminders in the form of hand-shaped cues to hold handrails, gas icon reminders on work attire to ensure gas detector compliance, and commitment strategies with social reference points. Notably, the most effective nudges were those that were consistently present in the workplace, such as the gas icon and hand-shaped stickers. This suggests that for sustained industrial safety behaviors, continuous exposure to nudges is crucial, which is not surprising given the complex nature of safety actions that often require often repeated decisions throughout the day, instead of just one. In addition, by making safety more visible and present through nudges, one could foster the idea among workers that managers put more effort into safety (Vierendeels et al., 2018). This perception in turn might lead to reciprocal tendencies of workers (Molm et al., 2007), proven to be an important factor in safety management (DeJoy, 2005) making them more willing to comply to safety guidelines (Walker & Hutton, 2006) and potentially more receptive to further safety nudges.

In CHAPTER 4, we found both reminders and feedback nudges to be effective in promoting safety communication practices in the workplace, namely by increasing both the frequency and the spread of safety talks performed by the supervisors and middle management. The personal feedback nudge proved the most effective. This aligns with the literature highlighting that personalization, and contextualization, can increase the impact of nudge interventions (Milkman et al., 2021; Mills, 2022). These findings also indicate that safety nudges prove useful for multiple industrial target audiences, including workers with specific characteristics (e.g., level of education and personality traits, see Damen et al. (2023) and Tasdelen and Özpinar (2023)), as well as individuals in supervisory roles with different

cognitive and emotional profiles (Metzler & Bellingrath, 2017) and a more diverse gender representation (i.e., more women) (Padavic, 1992).

In CHAPTER 5, the study underscores effective nudge interventions to enhance industrial safety, focusing on maintaining safe distances from suspended loads. It used three approaches: social proof to promote the usage of safe pathways, reducing friction to foster the use of no-touch tools, and salient light projection beneath loads to increase awareness and keeping distance. All of these interventions reached large effect sizes, which is not unique but still uncommon for nudging (DellaVigna & Linos, 2022), and seemed to be complementary with more standard safety measures (e.g., new no-touch tools). Essentially, these findings display how important and contagious peer safety behavior can be (Newaz et al., 2019), and how relevant it is to instrumentalize it by making good examples more visible (Bicchieri, 2017; Cialdini, 2021). Further, they highlight the power of simple principles, such as the required effort and salience of the desired safety actions. When developing floor plans of new industrial factories and workplaces, typically done from a more practical and rational perspective, attention should be paid to adequate placement of safety equipment. This aligns with the idea of 'choice infrastructure' (i.e., adequate human design from the start) as opposed to choice architecture that is most often used to overcome problems resulting from inadequate (human) design (Hallsworth, 2023). In addition, the effective salient light projection shows how simple visible cues, that address system 1 more directly, can make passersby more aware of potential danger and nudge appropriate action. This has the advantage that in cognitive demanding situations, common for industrial settings (e.g., fatigue, temperatures, loud noise and time pressure; cfr. 'cognitive load', Sweller (1988)), workers are still being nudged to safety, while system 2 depending processes (e.g., actively monitoring every risk) might run out of fuel, fail and fall back on system 1 (Kahneman (2011)). Aligning with the results of our mobile eye-tracking experiment.

When implementing nudges it remains important to consider ethical implications. The use of nudging raised ethical concerns due to its potential to influence behavior without explicit consent (Lin et al., 2017). Critics argue that nudging may compromise autonomy and operate on paternalistic grounds (Hansen & Jespersen, 2013). However, proponents, such as Sunstein (2015), contend that the influence of choice architecture is inevitable, and objections should focus on specific nudges rather than the concept as a whole. Ethical frameworks like FORGOOD offer dimensions like fairness, openness, and respect, and guidance for ethical conduct (Lades & Delaney, 2022). In the context of workplace safety, and consistently applied in our studies, the collaboration with safety experts, unions and the participants themselves (in varying degrees) is advised to ensure ethical appropriateness and to monitor that the interest of all stakeholders are guarded at all times.

One of the key takeaways from this thesis is the recognition that safety behavior is not solely determined by motivation and knowledge, but is deeply influenced by subtle cognitive processes (also see Love et al. (2023)). These results are a promising first step showing the potential benefits of safety nudges and their success in addressing the more subtle psychological influences. Nonetheless, the question remains how nudge effects evolve over time; a critical factor that will be addressed in the following section.

# THE PERSISTENCY OF NUDGE EFFECTS OVER TIME

The long-term effectiveness of nudges is a lacuna in the literature to date, with most studies traditionally focusing on their short-term impact (Beshears & Kosowsky, 2020). What became clear is that the sustainability of nudge effects over time depends on factors such as the specific nudge type used and the context in which they are applied (Brandon et al., 2017; Van Rookhuijzen et al., 2021). To establish nudges as an integral part of safety management, comprehensive longitudinal analyses are crucial (Krause et al., 1999).

250 CHAPTER 7

In CHAPTER 4, we discussed the most comprehensive longitudinal study evaluating safety nudge effects over a period of 1.5 years. This study aimed evaluated the potential of nudges to promote the number and the spread of safety talks among the workforce, which has proven to be an effective way to promote overall safety (Olson et al., 2016; Rice et al., 2022). Recall that the aim here was to influence the behavior of supervisors directly and worker behavior indirectly (cfr. 'nudge the nudger', Dudley and Xie (2022); House et al. (2022)). In Experiment 1, different nudges had varying positive impacts on the frequency of perfomed safety talks in different departments. Personalized feedback nudges were more effective, aligning with previous research (Mills, 2022b). Importantly, post-tests revealed here that continued nudge presence was crucial to maintain positive behavior change and that the learning effect after a short implementation period (i.e., 1 month) was limited to non-existing. The personal feedback nudge in experiment 2 proved its ability to increase the spread of talks significantly among the workforce over a remarkable extended period of 1.5 years (and counting). The effect knew a slight decrease, but remained largely intact, and therefore provides a highly valuable argument to integrate the nudging approach in both organizational and governmental behavior change strategies (Benartzi et al., 2017; Soman & Yeung, 2020). Note that while these long-term effects are promising, as well as those of the other experiments with effects lasting up to 3 to 6 months, further research still has to explore what type of (safety) nudges and contextual moderators contribute to long-term success.

As we delve into the nuances of nudging for industrial safety, it becomes clear that a deeper understanding of the cognitive mechanisms is essential and that a strategic approach is needed. The following section provides a clear overview of dominant psychological constraints that influence all daily decision-making, including safety decisions, and a matched categorization of nudge interventions that can inform systematic and strategic nudge development.

# STRATEGIC NUDGING: A TAXONOMY OF CHOICE ARCHITECTURE

Münscher et al.'s (2016) taxonomy of choice architecture provides a strategically valuable framework for designing nudging interventions. This taxonomy, comprising three clusters — Decision Information (DI), Decision Structure (DS) and Decision Assistance (DA) — that are built around distinct psychological barriers, offers a structured approach to develop effective nudge strategies. The three psychological barriers involved include the limited access to decision information (DI), limited capacity to compare choice options and the related tendency to minimize effort (DS) and limited attention and self-control (DA).

While Münscher et al.'s (2016) classification is not all encompassing, we argue that it is one of the best and most practical in the wide range of frameworks that exist today. For example, the overview provided by Beshears and Kosowsky (2020) of nudge research include overlapping and vague categories (e.g., 'nudges that trigger system 1', 'by harnessing biases'). Similar for the overview of Hummel and Maedche (2019) that mainly aims to summarize nudging research and not classify the underlying psychological principles of the behavioral techniques. Frameworks like MINDSPACE (Dolan et al., 2010) on the other hand, list the most common nudging techniques, but do not offer guidance under which broader categories they fall or what behavioral principles (or targeted barriers) they have in common. Münscher et al.'s (2016) nudge taxonomy does provide a useful theoretical framework with high practical value, but continuous updates are necessary to accommodate ever new and harder to classify behavioral techniques (e.g., priming).

Integrating Münscher et al.'s (2016) taxonomy with a human factor categorization, which identifies and categorizes relevant human factors underlying accidents (Reason, 2000; Shappell & Wiegmann, 2001), creates a powerful synergy. This combined approach guides the development of nudges that are grounded in an understanding of cognitive and behavioral challenges in a given safety context (e.g., unintended incidents due to forgetting should be targeted with DA interventions, such as

reminders, as opposed to, for example, DI techniques such as social norm messages). This approach emerged as strategic implementation method from this doctoral thesis and has been integrated in the operations of the Belgian steel plant since to operationalize the proven nudge potential. Future assessment (in 1 or 2 years) will have to investigate if this approach enables a broader enhanced safety performance of the organization, extending beyond the successful results of the discussed field experiments.

Using a standard method, including a comprehensive nudging taxonomy, offers a structured path for safety managers to ensure that nudge interventions are systematically designed, implemented, and evaluated. This systematic approach enhances the transparency and replicability of nudge strategies, a critical consideration in the realm of behavioral science (Bryan et al., 2021; Ruggeri et al., 2020), but even more relevant for nudging in industrial safety. While safety interventions that fall under the definition of 'a nudge' exist (e.g., yellow tread edge highlighters, Foster et al. (2014)), they do not follow a systematic approach or widely accepted taxonomy. This however, is necessary to transfer relevant findings to new contexts and to gradually build a range of proven behavior techniques and scalable applications (Hallsworth, 2023).

In the following section, we go deeper on how safety nudges can be integrated in multiple layers of an organization and how multiple nudges combined tend to have a bigger effect; which is promising given common critics on typically smaller nudge effects.

## LAYERED NUDGING

When developing industrial safety nudges, it is important to incorporate established insights from the most recent safety models on human error and human factors (Lindhout & Reniers, 2017). In CHAPTERS 4 and 5, we discussed renowned safety models that show the complex interplay of factors leading to an accident, including Reasons' Swiss Cheese Model (Perneger, 2005; Reason, 1990; Reason,
2000) and the HFACS model developed from it (Shappell & Wiegmann, 2001; Wiegmann & Shappell, 2001). The Swiss Cheese model populated the idea that safety exist out of multiple layers and that accidents only occur because of flaws in every layer. Implementing and improving multiple lines of defense (e.g., better organization, supervision or training), therefore, should be able to prevent accidents in different stages, from early contributing organizational factors (e.g., insufficient safety resources) to direct leading factors on the work floor itself (e.g., distraction).

By transferring this lines-of-defense reasoning to nudge applications, we proposed the new concept of 'layered nudging'. In the horizontal approach, multiple nudges target different aspects of behavior on the same 'layer' (e.g., 'flawed organizational decisions', 'unsafe supervision' and 'unsafe acts'; cfr. HFACS) simultaneously or in rapid succession. Conversely, the vertical layered approach involves a sequence of nudges targeting multiple layers (i.e., multiple agents in the hierarchy), each building on the previous one to guide individuals towards a desired behavior.

Layered nudging's innovative aspect lies in its incorporation of various nudges across different levels and capitalizes on the additive (or multiplicative) effects of nudges that are commonly found in the literature (Ayal et al., 2021; Brandon et al., 2019). Also in our experiments, we found combined nudges to have nearly always a bigger effect than their individual implementations (e.g., the combination of gas icons with push buttons or salient footsteps and social norm messages exerting a bigger influence). In CHAPTER 5, we nudged multiple aspects that relate to hazardous exposure to suspended loads (i.e., on the same horizontal 'unsafe acts' layer), but had to test it in different departments and locations, not allowing to measure the aggregate effect of all nudge interventions combined. Further research should aim to assess these aggregate effects (both horizontal and vertical), as this approach is likely to maximize the nudging potential and can counter frequent criticism of the typical small effect sizes of nudge interventions (DellaVigna & Linos, 2022; Maier et al., 2022). Important will be to identify which nudge techniques influence which individuals in what way (i.e., a heterogeneous approach, Bryan et al. (2021)) and potential reverse effects on others (i.e., distributional effects, Sunstein, 2022a). Additionally, one should carefully asses which combined techniques, targeting different psychological mechanisms (or barriers), contribute to the biggest additive effect (e.g., memory lapse + intention, intention + effort, all three, etc.).

Layered nudging holds the potential to create a more comprehensive and impactful behavioral shift than solitary interventions, and could equally facilitate culture change initiatives (e.g., nudge more safe behaviors, make them more visible and communicate changing social norms to employees). It further emphasizes the role nudging can play for industrial safety and makes the question more pertinent how the practice of nudging and dual-process theories can serve as an innovative perspective on modern safety management. The following section aims to elucidate how both concepts form the pillars of a new psychological paradigm to evaluate and alter industrial safety behavior.

#### A NEW PSYCHOLOGICAL FRAMEWORK AND HOLISTIC SAFETY APPROACH

Examples of behavioral nudges in the field of industrial safety exist by definition (e.g., visual signage or auditory signals), but the strategic incorporation of nudging into this domain has been lagging (Lindhout & Reniers, 2017). Likewise, dual-process theories of decision-making have not yet been adopted by the industrial safety literature, but could serve as a new psychological framework to understand the intricate complexities of safety behavior. Those frameworks can define and clarify the role of more profound, and often subliminal, psychological influences and help to structure not only the development of nudges, but behavior change programs at large (Mazar & Soman, 2022). Hallsworth (2023) suggests using the insights in bounded rationality as a "behavioral lens" to view human behavior and to match the efforts to change it accordingly.

Kahneman's (2011) metaphorical system 1 and 2 have proven valuable in defining psychological mechanisms underlying successful nudges in variety of domains (Hansen & Jespersen, 2013). Similar

for industrial safety, referring to both systems and proven categorization of nudging techniques (Münscher et al., 2016) are likely to enhance the communication and systematical evaluation (Maier et al., 2022; Mertens et al., 2022) of (successful) behavioral approaches and to foster continuous improvement in this field. Following more recent advancements in the domain of traffic safety (Avineri, 2014). This new 'behavioral lens' should not only be used to evaluate and counter unsafe acts of workers, but also to monitor the biased decision-making of top executives, and all agents in between that can impact safety performance indirectly (Molnar et al., 2019; Schorn, 2023). Targeting this high-level decision-making, while highly impactful, is often overlooked in behavior change initiatives (Dudley & Xie, 2022). In general, recognizing cognitive limitations can guide the development of interventions that are better aligned with human cognition and its primal drivers, instead of forcing behavior change through external rewards, punishment and enforcement, which historically has been the go-to strategy (Hofmann et al., 2017), and should be done systematically throughout the whole organization's operations (i.e., from top to bottom).

Further, it is important to recognize that system 2 interventions, such as work instructions, training, monetary incentives and safety talks remain crucial for effective safety management (Spigener et al., 2022). Nudges, while valuable, are not standalone solutions for complex safety challenges. They serve as tools to complement modern safety management, which heavily relies on human decision-making, but should be integrated in a broader holistic safety approach. Such an approach develops interventions that ideally address (boundedly rational) human, technical, and organizational elements in symbiosis. In CHAPTER 5, we found a holistic approach, combining nudges (e.g., placement) with more standard safety measures (e.g., new tools, participation), to be very effective in promoting the usage of no-touch tools (i.e., going from 5 to 84% and persisting up to 6 months). While further experimentation is needed, we argue that such combined approaches should serve as the golden standard for behavior change initiatives in industrial safety.

The main objective of this doctoral thesis was to assess the potential of safety nudges in an industrial production environment. In the following section, we reflect on how emerging innovations, such as behavioral audits and AI, can advance the field of applied behavioral science (incl. nudging) and how these innovations are relevant to industrial safety.

### **ADVANCING APPLIED BEHAVIORAL SCIENCE**

Among the myriad techniques in applied behavioral science, nudging gained prominence as a cost-effective means to elicit behavioral change (Benartzi et al., 2017; Thaler & Sunstein, 2008), providing novel ways to steer individual choices and behavior in desired directions. However, while valuable, nudging represents just one facet of the multifaceted toolbox of behavioral science (Schmidt & Stenger, 2021). As applied behavioral science matures, a more holistic approach that goes beyond nudging is needed. In this section, we cover emerging areas in this field to identify and counter flawed decision-making, such as algorithms and behavioral audits, discuss their opportunities and address practical considerations (incl. costs and ethics). For each area, reflections are made about its relevance for industrial safety.

### Algorithms

Where human judgement is prone to biases and noise (i.e., non-systematic distortion of decision-making, for example by moods), algorithms – broadly defined as predefined computational rules - represent promising tools to support decision-making (Kahneman et al., 2021). When trained on diverse datasets, some algorithms can reduce cognitive biases and reduce noisy variability, in comparison to human decision-making (Sunstein, 2023). For instance, Kleinberg et al. (2017) find algorithms to predict reoffending rates better than human judges using the same data available at the time of the hearing. As discussed in CHAPTER 6, the advent of AI, or 'advanced algorithms', offers both opportunities and challenges in the realm of behavioral science and nudging. AI can play a pivotal role

in behavioral analysis by detecting patterns in behavioral data, offering insights into decision-making processes, and identifying opportunities for targeted interventions. We propose three main ways how AI can advance applied behavioral science.

Firstly, AI revolutionizes data collection by automating the gathering of extensive datasets, including text and sentiment analysis (Babu & Kanaga, 2021; Michie et al., 2017). This broadens the range of data sources for studying human behavior, facilitating megastudies that compare interventions in the same population (Milkman et al., 2021). Handling massive datasets is made efficient through AI, enabling streamlined data exploration (Tyler et al., 2023; Wang et al., 2023).

Secondly, AI is crucial for data analysis, identifying behavioral patterns and addressing anomalies in decision-making processes, such as bias and noise (Mills, Costa, et al., 2023). It can differentiate between areas where human expertise enhances outcomes from those where bias outweighs expertise (Kahneman et al., 2021). Enhanced pattern detection equally includes understanding habit formation (Buyalskaya et al., 2023), crucial for safety (Björgvinsson & Wilde, 1996; De Pelsmacker & Janssens, 2007), and constructing complex behavioral networks (Fung et al., 2023), guiding interventions for substantive change.

Thirdly, AI enhances efficiency by automating behavior change strategies with varying levels of human supervision, potentially outperforming human intervention (Dwivedi et al., 2021; Jarrahi, 2018). AI systems can serve as autonomous choice architects (Mills & Sætra, 2022), automating test-retest trials and adjusting interventions in real time, a concept referred to as 'hypernudging' (Mills, 2022a). While this raises ethical concerns, it has the potential to accelerate research and interventions, especially for important societal challenges, including (occupational) safety (Pishgar et al., 2021).

In the context of industrial safety, AI's data collection and synthesis capabilities can provide a wealth of information for safety analysis (Forcina & Falcone, 2021), while its enhanced identification features can help identify patterns, anomalies, and potential safety hazards in complex operational

environments. Additionally, the efficiency gains achieved through AI automation can streamline safety processes and provide real-time insights for better decision-making (Jeske et al., 2021), such as personalized feedback (Mills, 2022b), contributing to a safer industrial setting. Overall, AI is a powerful tool in the behavioral scientist's and safety expert's arsenal, supporting efforts to scale interventions and overcome persistent challenges. While most suggestions in the safety literature for AI to improve safety management (i.e., 'industry 4.0', Lasi et al. (2014)) maintain a more rational perspective, thus mainly enhancing standard safety measures (Liu et al., 2020), our suggestions support how AI can assist safety from a boundedly rational perspective as well.

However, the adoption of AI in behavioral science is not without costs. Energy and environmental considerations are paramount, as AI algorithms require significant computational resources (Dhar, 2020). Moreover, the fast-paced evolution of AI applications, including those leveraging subliminal influences (e.g., hypernudging, Mills (2022a)), makes ethical considerations and safeguards, such as sufficient regulations, more pertinent (Mills, Costa, et al., 2023). Similarly, privacy concerns and compliance with GDPR must be carefully managed when using AI to collect and analyze behavioral data (Ryan, 2020). Striking a balance between the benefits and costs of AI in behavioral science is essential for ethical and sustainable research and practice.

### **Behavioral audits**

In recent years, nudging has been paired with auditing techniques to reveal unwanted friction (or 'sludge') (Sunstein, 2022b), cognitive biases (Fang et al., 2019), and noise (Kahneman et al., 2021). These 'behavioral audits' emerged to systematically assess the underlying drivers of behavior and decision-making within organizations, aiming to align practices with desired and more just outcomes. These auditing techniques enable to screen and identify flawed decision-making that impact safety on all organizational layers (cfr. layered nudging and HFACS), and help to overcome them by providing the fundamental basis for choice architectural adaptations, as well as other counter measures, such revised (decision) procedures and sensibilisation (Mills, 2023).

Sludge audits entail a systematic examination of bureaucratic processes with the goal of eliminating unnecessary complexities, redundancies, and barriers that burden individuals and businesses (Sunstein, 2022b). They enhance operational efficiency by streamlining procedures, reducing paperwork, and improving user-friendliness. Sludge audits contribute to cost savings, productivity gains, and increased transparency and accountability (Mills, Whittle, et al., 2023).

Bias audits systematically review an organization's policies and decision-making to uncover implicit and explicit biases. These audits can, for example, promote fairness and inclusivity, addressing discriminatory practices through data analysis, surveys, interviews, and benchmarking against industry standards (Emerson & Lehman, 2022; Fang et al., 2019). Recently, bias audits have been proposed as a vital element of algorithmic design (Morewedge et al., 2023), as such an algorithmic audit revealed how e-commercial recommender algorithms (e.g., Facebook) trained on intuitive (newsfeed content consumed) as opposed to more-deliberative user behavior (friended people) to exhibit more out-group bias (Lee & Hosanagar, 2019). Bias audits serve as a tool for behavioral change, advocating awareness, choice architectural adaptations, policy revisions, and ongoing monitoring.

Noise audits methodically examine factors introducing variability into decision-making processes (Kahneman et al., 2021). Noise, stemming from personal mood, cognitive biases, and inconsistent rule application, leads to unpredictable outcomes (Bonavia & Marin-Garcia, 2023). Kahneman et al. (2021) indicate that reducing noise involves establishing guidelines, providing training, algorithmic automation (which they state is by default 'noise free'), feedback, checklists, and continuous monitoring, ensuring consistency and decision accuracy.

Safety audits are crucial and have become a vital aspect of evaluating and improving (industrial) safety performance in the last decades (Birkmire et al., 2007; Spellman, 2020). When adopting the new

boundedly rational perspective, the aforementioned behavioral audits should be integrated in (and informed by) currently established safety auditing procedures to maximize their impact; aligning with the idea of a more holistic safety approach. These behavioral audits can help identify and rectify biases, streamline processes, and reduce variability (i.e., noise), ultimately enhancing safety measures and ensuring more consistent, informed decision-making in industrial settings (Love et al., 2023). The enhanced transparency and accountability also bolsters safety practices by minimizing errors and delays in critical safety procedures (Love & Matthews, 2022). In addition, these audits can assist in identifying organizational weak spots (e.g., flawed basic assumptions) that prevent successful culture change initiatives (DeJoy, 2005; Guldenmund, 2000; Murata, 2017).

Costa et al. (2023) suggest a unified behavioral auditing program would be valuable to account for bounded rationally, as current practices remain fragmented, concentrating on specific behavioral phenomena like sludge, bias, and noise. Further research, including theoretical work, is needed to elaborate on an integrated behavioral auditing framework, but its potential is promising. In the following section, we outline some future guidelines to advance behaviorally informed safety management.

### **GUIDELINES FOR FURTHER RESEARCH**

While this thesis is the first to systematically examine and confirm the potential of nudging in enhancing industrial safety, there is much more to explore. Future research should aim to refine interventions based on the evidence presented here, building on behavioral techniques that proved successful in these initial experiments (e.g., social norms, alteration of friction, salience, priming and feedback formats). Additionally, investigating contextual moderating factors is crucial to advance applied behavioral interventions, and remains one of the biggest challenges today (C. Bryan et al., 2021). Understanding how factors such as organizational culture (Kubera, 2023), worker demographics (Sunstein, 2022a), personality traits (Beus et al., 2015) and industry-specific features (e.g., extreme temperatures, dirty environments, night shifts, etc.), impact the success of nudges can inform targeted safety interventions and enhance scalability (Hallsworth, 2023). Furthermore, the potential of layered nudging approaches, both horizontal and vertical ones, should be explored as a promising complementary element of a holistic safety approach (incl. potential spillovers effects, Van Rookhuijzen et al. (2021)). Important here, is to not only explore the combination of nudges, but also the aggregate effect together with more standard safety measures, and assess the evolution of the effect over time. Our findings support the long-term potential of nudges, which is highly valuable given the gap in the literature (Beshears & Kosowsky, 2020), but further long-term assessment is needed to support nudging as a new established safety tool (Krause et al., 1999).

Field experiments in diverse industrial contexts are essential to assess the transferability of nudging strategies, but also face methodological challenges associated with real-world applications (Samek, 2019). Further research in laboratory or online contexts could elaborate on testing specific variations (e.g., priming effects of different colors and symbols in safety settings or slightly adjusted framing of messages), distilling the most active components of successful aggregated nudge interventions, that would require too many resources in applied industrial settings (i.e., scarce similar control locations and costly observation methods). Those more controlled testing environments have to compromise on ecological validity, but compensate this with a higher internal validity that neatly complements applied methodological challenges (Privitera, 2022). Similar to a holistic safety approach, a versatile range of methods is needed to explore the full potential of bounded rationality as a new perspective on industrial safety management (Costa et al., 2023; Lindhout & Reniers, 2017). This includes massive collaborative efforts, such as megastudies (Milkman et al., 2021), that can assess if the effect of safety nudges and the occurrence of associated cognitive biases holds in diverse cultures and countries world-wide (Ruggeri et al., 2019); which has at times shown to differ (e.g., conceptual color associations differing among Chinese and English people, Tham et al. (2020)).

In the broader landscape of behavioral science, it is essential to address limitations and chart future directions. The lack of clear nudge definitions and theoretical frameworks presents a challenge to researchers and practitioners (Saghai, 2013). A unified comprehensive framework that consolidates existing knowledge and provides a clear vision for the future of nudging is needed (Lin et al., 2017). Some endeavors are promising, such as the recent inference nudging framework (Van Dessel et al., 2022), integrating goal-directed inferential processes underlying behavior impacted by nudges, and the choice architectural framework of Münscher et al. (2016), that encompasses clusters of nudging techniques built around distinct psychological mechanisms. Further research should aim to replicate (inference nudging perspective), extend (taxonomy Münscher) and integrate these, and other new, theoretical frameworks to foster more successful nudge applications.

Moreover, behavioral science extends beyond nudging alone. Recognizing its broader potential and the capacity to address the boundedly rational individual is essential to ensure advancement in all applied settings, including industrial safety. Research should extend its focus to address bias and noise in decision-making more broadly (e.g., via behavioral audits) and adopt a systems-level view of behavior in industrial settings (Chater & Loewenstein, 2022). Novel technologies, such as AI, can assist in providing insights in complex causal networks, identify (new) biases and automate behavioral interventions, and should therefore be embraced by both researchers and practitioners (Mills, Costa, et al., 2023). However, it is crucial that sufficient ethical safe guards are in place to minimize the impact of (un)intended harm (Ryan, 2020). While these ethical considerations can impose a challenge, they also provide an opportunity for behavioral scientists, as experts in the field, to provide advice on installing these safe guards (e.g., inoculation strategies to counter the influence of misinformation, Van Der Linden (2023)).

### **CONCLUSION**

This doctoral thesis has illuminated the transformative potential of a new boundedly rational perspective and nudging in enhancing safety behavior within industrial settings. From nudging adherence to COVID-19 guidelines to its integration into holistic safety approaches, the journey has been one of discovery and promise. Layered nudging appeared as a promising approach, combining established safety models with the practice of nudging that proved successful in a series of field experiments. Some of these safety nudges maintained their effect up to 1.5 years later, contributing to the sparse literature on long-term nudge effectiveness. By outlining future perspectives, it is clear that the best is yet to come, as researchers and practitioners continue to refine, expand, and innovate within the realms of applied behavioral science, with high practical value for industrial safety. Key recommendations entail including boundedly rational behavioral perspectives in safety auditing (incl. bias, noise and sludge) and embracing innovative AI methods, while putting sufficient ethical safeguards in place. In general, the findings confirm the nudge potential for industrial safety and highlight that the path forward is illuminated by new insights and frontiers, with each step bringing us closer to a safer, more informed, and more (boundedly) rational future.

### REFERENCES

- Asch, S. E. (1956). Studies of Independence and Conformity .1. A Minority of One against a Unanimous Majority. *Psychological Monographs*, 70(9), 1-70. https://doi.org/DOI 10.1037/h0093718
- Avineri, E. (2014). Nudging Safer Road Behaviours. Tel Aviv Academic College of Engineering, Afeka/Acitral.
- Ayal, S., Celse, J., & Hochman, G. (2021). Crafting messages to fight dishonesty: A field investigation of the effects of social norms and watching eye cues on fare evasion. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 166, 9-19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.obhdp.2019.10.003

- Babu, N. V., & Kanaga, E. G. M. (2021). Sentiment Analysis in Social Media Data for Depression Detection Using Artificial Intelligence: A Review. SN Computer Science, 3(1), 74. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42979-021-00958-1
- Banerjee, A. V. (1992). A Simple-Model of Herd Behavior. Quarterly Journal of Economics, 107(3), 797-817. https://doi.org/Doi 10.2307/2118364
- Benartzi, S., Beshears, J., Milkman, K. L., Sunstein, C. R., Thaler, R. H., Shankar, M., Tucker-Ray, W., Congdon, W. J., & Galing, S. (2017). Should Governments Invest More in Nudging? *Psychological Science*, 28(8), 1041-1055. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797617702501
- Beshears, J., & Kosowsky, H. (2020). Nudging: Progress to date and future directions. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 161, 3-19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.obhdp.2020.09.001
- Beus, J., Dhanani, L., & McCord, M. (2015). A Meta-Analysis of Personality and Workplace Safety: Addressing Unanswered Questions. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 100, 481-498. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0037916
- Bicchieri, C. (2017). Norms in the Wild: How to Diagnose, Measure, and Change Social Norms. Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780190622046.001.0001
- Birkmire, J. C., Lay, J. R., & McMahon, M. C. (2007). Keys to effective third-party process safety audits. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, *142*(3), 574-581. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2006.06.065
- Björgvinsson, T., & Wilde, G. J. S. (1996). Risky health and safety habits related to perceived value of the future. *Safety Science*, 22(1), 27-33. https://doi.org/10.1016/0925-7535(96)00003-3
- Bonavia, T., & Marin-Garcia, J. A. (2023). A noise audit of the peer review of a scientific article: a WPOM journal case study. WPOM-Working Papers on Operations Management, 14(2), 137-166. https://doi.org/10.4995/wpom.19631

- Brandon, A., Ferraro, P. J., List, J. A., Metcalfe, R. D., Price, M. K., & Rundhammer, F. (2017). Do the Effects of Social Nudges Persist? Theory and Evidence from 38 Natural Field Experiments. *Microeconomics: Intertemporal Consumer Choice & Savings eJournal.*
- Brandon, A., List, J. A., Metcalfe, R. D., Price, M. K., & Rundhammer, F. (2019). Testing for crowd out in social nudges: Evidence from a natural field experiment in the market for electricity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 116(12), 5293-5298. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1802874115
- Bryan, C., Tipton, E., & Yeager, D. (2021). Behavioural science is unlikely to change the world without a heterogeneity revolution. *Nature Human Behaviour*. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-021-01143-3
- Bryan, C. J., Tipton, E., & Yeager, D. S. (2021). Behavioural science is unlikely to change the world without a heterogeneity revolution. *Nature Human Behaviour*, 5(8), 980-989. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-021-01143-3
- Buyalskaya, A., Ho, H., Milkman, K. L., Li, X., Duckworth, A. L., & Camerer, C. (2023). What can machine learning teach us about habit formation? Evidence from exercise and hygiene. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 120(17), e2216115120. https://doi.org/doi:10.1073/pnas.2216115120
- Chater, N., & Loewenstein, G. (2022). The i-frame and the s-frame: How focusing on individual-level solutions has led behavioral public policy astray. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 1-60. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0140525X22002023
- Cialdini, R. B., & Goldstein, N. J. (2004). Social influence: Compliance and conformity. *Annual Review* of Psychology, 55, 591-621. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.55.090902.142015

Cialdini, R. B. (2021). Influence: The Psychology of Persuasion. Harper Business.

Costa, S., Duyck, W., Van Wouwe, E., & Dirix, N. (2023). Nudging Safety Behavior in the Steel Industry: Evidence from Two Field Studies. [Manuscript submitted for publication].

- Costa, S., Mills, S., Duyck, W., & Dirix, N. (2023). Advancing applied behavioral science: The GAP framework. [Manuscript in preparation].
- Damen, M. A. W., Detaille, S. I., Robroek, S. J. W., Engels, J. A., & de Lange, A. H. (2023). Factors associated with blue-collar workers' participation in Worksite Health Promotion Programs: a scoping literature review. *Health Promotion International*, 38(3). https://doi.org/10.1093/heapro/daad052
- Daniel, S. J. (2020). Education and the COVID-19 pandemic. PROSPECTS, 49(1), 91-96. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11125-020-09464-3
- De Pelsmacker, P., & Janssens, W. (2007). The effect of norms, attitudes and habits on speeding behavior: Scale development and model building and estimation. Accident Analysis & Prevention, 39(1), 6-15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aap.2006.05.011
- DeJoy, D. M. (2005). Behavior change versus culture change: Divergent approaches to managing workplace safety. *Safety Science*, 43, 105-129. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssci.2005.02.001
- Delardas, O., Kechagias, K. S., Pontikos, P. N., & Giannos, P. (2022). Socio-Economic Impacts and Challenges of the Coronavirus Pandemic (COVID-19): An Updated Review. *Sustainability*, 14(15), 9699. https://www.mdpi.com/2071-1050/14/15/9699
- DellaVigna, S., & Linos, E. (2022). RCTs to Scale: Comprehensive Evidence From Two Nudge Units. *Econometrica*, 90(1), 81-116. https://doi.org/10.3982/Ecta18709
- Dhami, S., & Sunstein, C. R. (2022). Bounded rationality: Heuristics, Judgement and Public Policy. The MIT Press.
- Dhar, P. (2020). The carbon impact of artificial intelligence. *Nature Machine Intelligence*, 2(8), 423-425. https://doi.org/10.1038/s42256-020-0219-9
- Dolan, P., Hallsworth, M., Halpern, D., King, D., & Vlaev, I. (2010). MINDSPACE: influencing behaviour for public policy.

- Dudley, S. E., & Xie, Z. (2022). Nudging the nudger: Toward a choice architecture for regulators. Regulation & Governance, 16(1), 261-273. https://doi.org/10.1111/rego.12329
- Dwivedi, Y. K., Hughes, L., Ismagilova, E., Aarts, G., Coombs, C., Crick, T., Duan, Y., Dwivedi, R., Edwards, J., Eirug, A., Galanos, V., Ilavarasan, P. V., Janssen, M., Jones, P., Kar, A. K., Kizgin, H., Kronemann, B., Lal, B., Lucini, B., . . . Williams, M. D. (2021). Artificial Intelligence (AI): Multidisciplinary perspectives on emerging challenges, opportunities, and agenda for research, practice and policy. *International Journal of Information Management*, 57, 101994. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2019.08.002
- Emerson, M. E., & Lehman, L. G. (2022). Who Are We Missing? Conducting a Diversity Audit in a Liberal Arts College Library. *The Journal of Academic Librarianship*, 48(3), 102517. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.acalib.2022.102517
- Fang, A. H., Guess, A. M., & Humphreys, M. (2019). Can the Government Deter Discrimination? Evidence from a Randomized Intervention in New York City. *The Journal of Politics*, 81(1), 127-141. https://doi.org/10.1086/700107
- Forcina, A., & Falcone, D. (2021). The role of Industry 4.0 enabling technologies for safety management: A systematic literature review. *Procedia Computer Science*, 180, 436-445. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procs.2021.01.260
- Foster, R. J., Hotchkiss, J., Buckley, J. G., & Elliott, D. B. (2014). Safety on stairs: Influence of a tread edge highlighter and its position. *Experimental Gerontology*, 55, 152-158. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exger.2014.04.009
- Fugas, C. S., Melia, J. L., & Silva, S. A. (2011). The "Is" and the "Ought": How Do Perceived Social Norms Influence Safety Behaviors at Work? *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 16(1), 67-79. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0021731

- Fung, H., Sgaier, S., & Huang, V. (2023). Discovery of interconnected causal drivers of COVID-19 vaccination intentions in the US using a causal Bayesian network. *Scientific Reports*, 13. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-023-33745-4
- Goff, M. (2022). Nudging for Hand Hygiene: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis Georgia State University]. https://scholarworks.gsu.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1805&context=iph\_theses
- Guldenmund, F. W. (2000). The nature of safety culture: a review of theory and research. *Safety Science*, 34(1), 215-257. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0925-7535(00)00014-X
- Hallsworth, M. (2023). A manifesto for applying behavioural science. *Nature Human Behaviour*, 7(3), 310-322. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-023-01555-3
- Hansen, P. G., & Jespersen, A. M. (2013). Nudge and the Manipulation of Choice: A Framework for the Responsible Use of the Nudge Approach to Behaviour Change in Public Policy. *European Journal of Risk Regulation*, 4(1), 3-28. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1867299X00002762
- Hofmann, D. A., Burke, M. J., & Zohar, D. (2017). 100 years of occupational safety research: From basic protections and work analysis to a multilevel view of workplace safety and risk. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 102(3), 375-388. https://doi.org/10.1037/apl0000114
- House, J., Lacetera, N., Macis, M., & Mazar, N. (2022). Nudging the nudger: A field experiment on the effect of performance feedback to service agents on increasing organ donor registrations. *National Bureau of Economic Research*. https://doi.org/10.3386/w30547
- Hummel, D., & Maedche, A. (2019). How effective is nudging? A quantitative review on the effect sizes and limits of empirical nudging studies. *Journal of Behavioral and Experimental Economics*, 80, 47-58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socec.2019.03.005
- Jarrahi, M. H. (2018). Artificial intelligence and the future of work: Human-AI symbiosis in organizational decision making. *Business Horizons*, 61(4), 577-586. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bushor.2018.03.007

Jeske, T., Terstegen, S., & Stahn, C. (2021, 2021//). Opportunities of Digitalization and Artificial Intelligence for Occupational Safety and Health in Production Industry. Digital Human Modeling and Applications in Health, Safety, Ergonomics and Risk Management. Human Body, Motion and Behavior, Cham.

Kahneman, D. (2011). Thinking, Fast and Slow. Farrar, Straus and Giroux.

- Kahneman, D., Sibony, O., & Sunstein, C. R. (2021). Noise: A flaw in human judgement (First edition ed.). Little, Brown Spark.
- Kleinberg, J., Lakkaraju, H., Leskovec, J., Ludwig, J., & Mullainathan, S. (2017). Human Decisions and Machine Predictions\*. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 133(1), 237-293. https://doi.org/10.1093/qje/qjx032
- Krause, T. R., Seymour, K. J., & Sloat, K. C. M. (1999). Long-term evaluation of a behavior-based method for improving safety performance: a meta-analysis of 73 interrupted time-series replications. *Safety Science*, 32(1), 1-18. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0925-7535(99)00007-7
- Kubera, P. (2023). Nudging in the workplace: Moving beyond the traditional management toolbox *Scientific Papers Of Silesian University Of Technology*, 172 (Organization and Management Series). https://managementpapers.polsl.pl/wp-content/uploads/2023/06/172-Kubera.pdf
- Lades, L. K., & Delaney, L. (2022). Nudge FORGOOD. Behavioural Public Policy, 6(1), 75-94. https://doi.org/10.1017/bpp.2019.53
- Lasi, H., Fettke, P., Kemper, H.-G., Feld, T., & Hoffmann, M. (2014). Industry 4.0. Business & Information Systems Engineering, 6(4), 239-242. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12599-014-0334-4
- Lee, D., & Hosanagar, K. (2019). How Do Recommender Systems Affect Sales Diversity? A Cross-Category Investigation via Randomized Field Experiment. *Information Systems Research*, 30(1), 239-259. https://doi.org/10.1287/isre.2018.0800

- Lin, Y., Osman, M., & Ashcroft, R. (2017). Nudge: Concept, Effectiveness, and Ethics. Basic and Applied Social Psychology, 39, 1-14. https://doi.org/10.1080/01973533.2017.1356304
- Lindhout, P., & Reniers, G. (2017). What about nudges in the process industry? Exploring a new safety management tool. *Journal of Loss Prevention in the Process Industries*, 50, 243-256. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jlp.2017.10.006
- Liu, Z., Xie, K., Li, L., & Chen, Y. (2020). A paradigm of safety management in Industry 4.0. Systems Research and Behavioral Science, 37(4), 632-645. https://doi.org/10.1002/sres.2706
- Love, P. E. D., Ika, L. A., & Pinto, J. K. (2023). Fast-and-frugal heuristics for decision-making in uncertain and complex settings in construction. *Developments in the Built Environment*, 14, 100129. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dibe.2023.100129
- Love, P. E. D., & Matthews, J. (2022). When 'less is more': The rationale for an adaptive toolbox to manage the risk and uncertainty of rework. *Developments in the Built Environment*, *12*, 100084. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dibe.2022.100084
- Maier, M., Bartoš, F., Stanley, T. D., Shanks, D. R., Harris, A. J. L., & Wagenmakers, E.-J. (2022). No evidence for nudging after adjusting for publication bias. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 119(31), e2200300119. https://doi.org/doi:10.1073/pnas.2200300119
- Mazar, N., & Soman, D. (2022). Behavioral Science in the Wild. University of Toronto Press.
- Mertens, S., Herberz, M., Hahnel, U. J. J., & Brosch, T. (2022). The effectiveness of nudging: A metaanalysis of choice architecture interventions across behavioral domains. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 119(1). https://doi.org/ARTN e210734611810.1073/pnas.2107346118
- Metzler, Y. A., & Bellingrath, S. (2017). Psychosocial Hazard Analysis in a Heterogeneous Workforce: Determinants of Work Stress in Blue- and White-Collar Workers of the European Steel Industry. *Frontiers in Public Health*, 5, 210. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2017.00210

- Michie, S., Thomas, J., Johnston, M., Aonghusa, P. M., Shawe-Taylor, J., Kelly, M. P., Deleris, L. A., Finnerty, A. N., Marques, M. M., Norris, E., O'Mara-Eves, A., & West, R. (2017). The Human Behaviour-Change Project: harnessing the power of artificial intelligence and machine learning for evidence synthesis and interpretation. *Implementation Science*, *12*(1), 121. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13012-017-0641-5
- Milkman, K. L., Gromet, D., Ho, H., Kay, J. S., Lee, T. W., Pandiloski, P., Park, Y., Rai, A., Bazerman, M., Beshears, J., Bonacorsi, L., Camerer, C., Chang, E., Chapman, G., Cialdini, R., Dai, H., Eskreis-Winkler, L., Fishbach, A., Gross, J. J., . . . Duckworth, A. L. (2021). Megastudies improve the impact of applied behavioural science. *Nature*, 600(7889), 478-483. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-021-04128-4
- Milkman, K. L., Patel, M. S., Gandhi, L., Graci, H. N., Gromet, D. M., Ho, H., Kay, J. S., Lee, T. W., Akinola, M., Beshears, J., Bogard, J. E., Buttenheim, A., Chabris, C. F., Chapman, G. B., Choi, J. J., Dai, H. C., Fox, C. R., Goren, A., Hilchey, M. D., ... Duckworth, A. L. (2021). A megastudy of text-based nudges encouraging patients to get vaccinated at an upcoming doctor's appointment. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *118*(20). https://doi.org/ARTN e210116511810.1073/pnas.2101165118
- Mills, S. (2022a). Finding the 'nudge' in hypernudge. *Technology in Society*, 71, 102117. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techsoc.2022.102117
- Mills, S. (2022b). Personalized nudging. Behavioural Public Policy, 6(1), 150-159. https://doi.org/10.1017/bpp.2020.7
- Mills, S. (2023). Deceptive Choice Architecture and Behavioural Audits Retrieved December 4, 2023 from https://ssrn.com/abstract=4575923
- Mills, S., Costa, S., & Sunstein, C. R. (2023). AI, Behavioural Science, and Consumer Welfare. Journal of Consumer Policy. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10603-023-09547-6

- Mills, S., & Sætra, H. S. (2022). The autonomous choice architect. AI & SOCIETY. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00146-022-01486-z
- Mills, S., Whittle, R., Ahmed, R., Walsh, T., & Wessel, M. (2023). Dark patterns and sludge audits: an integrated approach. *Behavioural Public Policy*, 1-27. https://doi.org/10.1017/bpp.2023.24
- Molnar, M. M., Schwarz, U. V., Hellgren, J., Hasson, H., & Tafvelin, S. (2019). Leading for Safety: A Question of Leadership Focus. *Safety and Health at Work*, 10(2), 180-187. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.shaw.2018.12.001
- Morewedge, C. K., Mullainathan, S., Naushan, H. F., Sunstein, C. R., Kleinberg, J., Raghavan, M., & Ludwig, J. O. (2023). Human bias in algorithm design. *Nature Human Behaviour*, 7(11), 1822-1824. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-023-01724-4
- Münscher, R., Vetter, M., & Scheuerle, T. (2016). A Review and Taxonomy of Choice Architecture Techniques. Journal of Behavioral Decision Making, 29(5), 511-524. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/bdm.1897
- Murata, A. (2017). Cultural Difference and Cognitive Biases as a Trigger of Critical Crashes or Disasters
   —Evidence from Case Studies of Human Factors Analysis. *Journal of Behavioral and Brain Science*, 07, 399-415. https://doi.org/10.4236/jbbs.2017.79029
- Newaz, M. T., Davis, P., Jefferies, M., & Pillay, M. (2019). The psychological contract: A missing link between safety climate and safety behaviour on construction sites. *Safety Science*, 112, 9-17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssci.2018.10.002
- Olson, R., Varga, A., Cannon, A., Jones, J., Gilbert-Jones, I., & Zoller, E. (2016). Toolbox talks to prevent construction fatalities: Empirical development and evaluation. *Safety Science*, *86*, 122-131. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssci.2016.02.009
- Padavic, I. (1992). White-Collar Work Values And Women's Interest In Blue-Collar Jobs. *Gender & Society*, 6(2), 215-230. https://doi.org/10.1177/089124392006002006

- Perneger, T. V. (2005). The Swiss cheese model of safety incidents: are there holes in the metaphor? BMC Health Serv Res, 5, 71. https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6963-5-71
- Pishgar, M., Issa, S. F., Sietsema, M., Pratap, P., & Darabi, H. (2021). REDECA: A Novel Framework to Review Artificial Intelligence and Its Applications in Occupational Safety and Health. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18(13), 6705. https://www.mdpi.com/1660-4601/18/13/6705
- Privitera, G. J. (2022). Research methods for the behavioral sciences. Sage Publications.
- Ray, M., Sharon, S., Zoe, A. M., Anna Mae, S., Justin, C., Emma, J. T., Mark, J., Eliza, K., Melissa, F., Minna, J., Eddy, L., Anne, D., Ian, S., & Loai, A. (2021). Impact of COVID-19 pandemic on utilisation of healthcare services: a systematic review. *BMJ Open*, 11(3), e045343. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2020-045343
- Reason, J. (1990). Human Error. Cambridge University Press.
- Reason, J. (2000). Human error: models and management. Bmj, 320(7237), 768-770.
- Rice, S. P. M., Rimby, J., Hurtado, D. A., Gilbert Jones, I., & Olson, R. (2022). Does sending Safety Toolbox Talks by text message to Residential Construction Supervisors increase Safety Meeting Compliance? Occupational Health Science, 6(3), 313-332. https://doi.org/10.1007/s41542-022-00118-8
- Ruggeri, K., Alí, S., Berge, M., Bertoldo, G., Bjørndal, L., Cortijos Bernabeu, A., Davison, C., Demić,
  E., Esteban Serna, C., Friedemann, M., Kong, S., Jarke, H., Karakasheva, R., Khorrami, P.,
  Kveder, J., Andersen, T., Lofthus, I., McGill, L., Nieto, A., & Folke, T. (2020). Replicating
  patterns of prospect theory for decision under risk. *Nature Human Behaviour*.
  https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-020-0886-x
- Ruggeri, K., Alí, S., Berge, M., Bertoldo, G., Cortijos Bernabeu, A., Bjørndal, L., Davison, C., Demić, E., Esteban Serna, C., Friedemann, M., Kong, S., Jarke, H., Karakasheva, R., Khorrami, P.,

Kveder, J., Andersen, T., Lofthus, I., McGill, L., Nieto, A., & Folke, T. (2019). Not lost in translation: Successfully replicating Prospect Theory in 19 countries. https://doi.org/10.31219/osf.io/2nyd6

- Ryan, M. (2020). In AI We Trust: Ethics, Artificial Intelligence, and Reliability. Science and Engineering Ethics, 26(5), 2749-2767. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11948-020-00228-y
- Saghai, Y. (2013). Salvaging the concept of nudge. Journal of Medical Ethics, 39(8), 487-493. https://doi.org/10.1136/medethics-2012-100727
- Samek, A. (2019). Chapter 6: Advantages and disadvantages of field experiments. In Handbook of Research Methods and Applications in Experimental Economics (pp. 104–120, 448). Edward Elgar Publishing. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.4337/9781788110563.00014
- Schmidt, R., & Stenger, K. (2021). Behavioral brittleness: the case for strategic behavioral public policy. Behavioural Public Policy, 1-26. https://doi.org/10.1017/bpp.2021.16
- Schmitt-Beck, R. (2015). Bandwagon Effect. In G. Mazzoleni (Ed.), The International Encyclopedia of Political Communication (pp. 1-5). https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118541555.wbiepc015
- Schorn, T. (2023). Executive Safety Responsibility. Professional Safety, 68(10), 21-31.
- Shappell, S., & Wiegmann, D. (2001). Applying Reason: The human factorsanalysis and classification system (HFACS). Human Factors and Aerospace Safety, 1(1), 59-86.
- Soman, D., & Yeung, C. (2020). The Behaviorally Informed Organization. Rotman-UTP Publishing.
- Spellman, F. R. (2020). Surviving an OSHA audit: A management guide. CRC Press.
- Spigener, J., Lyon, G., & McSween, T. (2022). Behavior-based safety 2022: today's evidence. *Journal of Organizational Behavior Management*. https://doi.org/10.1080/01608061.2022.2048943
- Sunstein, C. (2015). Nudges and Choice Architecture: Ethical Considerations. Yale journal on regulation (forthcoming).

- Sunstein, C. R. (2022a). The distributional effects of nudges. Nature Human Behaviour, 6(1), 9-10. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-021-01236-z
- Sunstein, C. R. (2022b). Sludge Audits. *Behavioural Public Policy*, 6(4), 654-673. https://doi.org/PII S2398063X1900032010.1017/bpp.2019.32
- Sunstein, C. R. (2023). The use of algorithms in society. The Review of Austrian Economics. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11138-023-00625-z
- Sweller, J. (1988). Cognitive Load During Problem Solving: Effects on Learning. *Cognitive Science*, 12(2), 257-285. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15516709cog1202\_4
- Tasdelen, A., & Özpinar, A. M. (2023). A Dynamic Risk Analysis Model Based on Workplace Ergonomics and Demographic-Cognitive Characteristics of Workers. *Sustainability*, 15(5), 4553. https://www.mdpi.com/2071-1050/15/5/4553
- Thaler, R., & Sunstein, C. (2008). Nudge: Improving decisions about health, wealth, and happiness. Yale University Press.
- Tham, D. S. Y., Sowden, P. T., Grandison, A., Franklin, A., Lee, A. K. W., Ng, M., Park, J., Pang, W.,
  & Zhao, J. (2020). A systematic investigation of conceptual color associations. *J Exp Psychol Gen*, 149(7), 1311-1332. https://doi.org/10.1037/xge0000703
- Tyler, C., Akerlof, K. L., Allegra, A., Arnold, Z., Canino, H., Doornenbal, M. A., Goldstein, J. A., Budtz Pedersen, D., & Sutherland, W. J. (2023). AI tools as science policy advisers? The potential and the pitfalls. *Nature*, 622(7981), 27-30. https://doi.org/10.1038/d41586-023-02999-3
- Van Bavel, J. J., Baicker, K., Boggio, P. S., Capraro, V., Cichocka, A., Cikara, M., Crockett, M. J., Crum, A. J., Douglas, K. M., Druckman, J. N., Drury, J., Dube, O., Ellemers, N., Finkel, E. J., Fowler, J. H., Gelfand, M., Han, S. H., Haslam, S. A., Jetten, J., . . . Willer, R. (2020). Using social and behavioural science to support COVID-19 pandemic response. *Nature Human Behaviour*, 4(5), 460-471. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-020-0884-z

- Van Der Linden, S. (2023). Foolproof: Why Misinformation Infects Our Minds and How to Build Immunity. W.W. Norton & Company.
- Van Dessel, P., Boddez, Y., & Hughes, S. (2022). Nudging societally relevant behavior by promoting cognitive inferences. *Scientific Reports*, 12. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-12964-1
- Van Rookhuijzen, M., De Vet, E., & Adriaanse, M. A. (2021). The Effects of Nudges: One-Shot Only? Exploring the Temporal Spillover Effects of a Default Nudge [Original Research]. Frontiers in Psychology, 12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.683262
- Vierendeels, G., Reniers, G., van Nunen, K., & Ponnet, K. (2018). An integrative conceptual framework for safety culture: The Egg Aggregated Model (TEAM) of safety culture. *Safety Science*, 103, 323-339. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssci.2017.12.021
- Wang, H., Fu, T., Du, Y., Gao, W., Huang, K., Liu, Z., Chandak, P., Liu, S., Van Katwyk, P., & Deac,A. (2023). Scientific discovery in the age of artificial intelligence. *Nature*, 620(7972), 47-60.
- Wiegmann, D., & Shappell, S. (2001). Applying the Human Factors Analysis and Classification System (HFACS) to the Analysis of Commercial Aviation Accident Data.

# CHAPTER 8

## **ENGLISH SUMMARY**

In the dynamic landscape of heavy production industries safety stands as a critical pillar. While industrial safety has made substantial strides, recent advancements seem to have hit a plateau (Hudson, 2007). A significant revelation is that up to 90% of accidents trace back to human errors, highlighting the imperative for a more profound comprehension of safety behavior (Kletz, 2001). This thesis undertakes a comprehensive exploration, unraveling the historical foundations of industrial safety, addressing the existing impasse in safety innovation, and proposing a transformative trajectory through the lens of behavioral science (Lindhout & Reniers, 2017; Love et al., 2023). Key focal points include dual-process decision-making theories and the strategic application of nudging, which is systematically evaluated through a series of field experiments in the steel industry. Responding to challenges imposed by the COVID-19 pandemic, we started the thesis with an exploration on how behavioral insights can counter the spread of infectious viral diseases in an industrial plant. Responding to opportunities enabled by the recent AI revolution, we ended by clarifying promising avenues for applied behavioral science when adopting cutting-edge machine learning innovations. This thesis, therefore, provides an encompassing overview of the potential of a new boundedly rational perspective on health and safety management in industrial production environments.

In CHAPTER 2, we explored the potential of nudges to control the spread of infectious viruses during the COVID-19 pandemic. More specifically, this study investigated how hand hygiene compliance can be nudged in a private company environment where health and hygiene are less prevalent, addressing a gap in the literature (Goff, 2022). The research focused on three behavioral change techniques: reducing friction, enhancing salience, and leveraging social norms. Strategically placing hand sanitizers and incorporating visual cues and social norm messages, proved successful in influencing individuals' hand sanitizing behavior. Moreover, combining these interventions produced a cumulative effect, emphasizing the additivity of nudges. Importantly, group dynamics seemed to play a significant role. Our results revealed that people in groups are more likely to adopt hand hygiene practices and that this group effect is mediated by the behavior of the first person in the group.

In CHAPTER 3, we discussed the first field study to systematically investigate the nudge potential for industrial safety (Lindhout & Reniers, 2017). Our results revealed that small and cost-efficient nudges can effectively promote safety behavior related to gas detector compliance and staircase safety. The results emphasize the effectiveness of omnipresent nudges in the workplace, such as gas icons and hand-shaped stickers. It aligns with the idea that continuous exposure to nudges is crucial for influencing enduring safety behavior, aiming to target multiple recurring decision moments that might be more complex than trying to influence one decision (e.g., to enroll in a pension-saving program, Thaler and Benartzi (2004)). In this chapter, we introduce bounded rationality and dual-process theories as a new psychological framework for addressing industrial safety behavior, and clarify how this aligns with the suggested nudging approach; implemented strategically via the choice architecture taxonomy of Münscher et al. (2016).

In CHAPTER 4, we evaluated nudges aiming to counter fallible supervisory behavior and assessed how their effect evolves over time, addressing a persistent gap in the literature (Beshears & Kosowsky, 2020). The findings from two experiments reveal positive effects of feedback nudges, both social and personal feedback, on the frequency and spread among the workforce of safety talks. Experiment 1 showed that the presence of nudges played a crucial role in sustaining the desired behavior change, here performing more safety talks. This suggests the need for ongoing or extended nudge presence, and thus a limited learning effect. Experiment 2 revealed that the feedback nudge targeting the spread of safety talks largely persisted over a long period of 1.5 years, with a slight decrease over time. We conclude that strategic nudge development has the potential to become part of a holistic safety approach, however, further assessment of the long-term effects of nudge interventions and moderating contextual influences is needed.

In CHAPTER 5, we investigated nudging strategies' effectiveness in enhancing safety practices related to heavy suspended loads. Three experiments involving social proof, friction, and salience nudges demonstrated that these interventions effectively increased the distance workers maintained from suspended loads. Experiment 1, involving social proof, showed that displaying the number of colleagues using safe routes encouraged others to do the same. Experiment 2, altering friction, revealed that placing no-touch tools nearby was more effective than instructions from supervisors. A holistic approach here, also including participation of employees and new tools, led to a large increase in compliance rates and is proposed as golden standard for behavior change initiatives. The salience study found that projecting a light under suspended loads significantly encouraged workers to maintain a safe distance. Layered nudging emerged as a new valuable concept that integrates horizontal (multiple nudges at once) and vertical strategies (sequential nudges across different organizational levels) for greater impact.

In CHAPTER 6, we provided guidance on how recent development in AI can advance the field of behavioral science, which is highly relevant for all applied settings aiming to address flawed decisionmaking, including industrial safety. We highlighted three main opportunities. The first includes leveraging AI's pattern detection capabilities to identify previously unidentified and known biases in different contexts. A second opportunity involves tailoring and contextualizing behavioral interventions to maximize their impact, aligning with the proclaimed necessary heterogeneity approach (Bryan et al., 2021). Thirdly, AI can aid behavioral scientists in understanding complex and evolving models of human behavior by providing tools to visualize and analyze these dynamics. Apart from the advantages, we also discussed potential costs, including environmental, economic and ethical challenges. The studies presented in this doctoral thesis provide an answer to multiple gaps in both the behavioral science as safety literature. First, they pioneer the idea of adopting bounded rationality as new psychological framework for industrial safety management and are the first to systematically evaluate and confirm the associated potential of nudge interventions. Secondly, our findings provide evidence that nudge interventions can hold their effect over long extended periods (i.e., up to 1.5 years), be it with a slight decrease, as long as they remain present (i.e., limited learning effects). Thirdly, we provide a response to frequent nudge critics, concerning smaller effect sizes, by showing nudge effect often add up, and provide a promising avenue to leverage this feature by adopting a new layered nudging approach. This layered nudging approach further highlights the relevance of nudging for safety, given it originated from a symbiosis with established and dominant safety models (i.e., the Swiss Cheese Model and HFACS). Finally, we advance the field of applied behavioral science in general by proposing and clarifying promising new avenues, such as behavioral auditing (incl. bias, noise and sludge) and innovative machine learning opportunities. This while highlighting the importance to keep ethical safeguards in place and the opportunity of behavioral audits to control for harmful influences (incl. in algorithm design, Morewedge et al. (2023)).

#### **R**EFERENCES

- Beshears, J., & Kosowsky, H. (2020). Nudging: Progress to date and future directions. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 161, 3-19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.obhdp.2020.09.001
- Bryan, C., Tipton, E., & Yeager, D. (2021). Behavioural science is unlikely to change the world without a heterogeneity revolution. *Nature Human Behaviour*. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-021-01143-3
- Goff, M. (2022). Nudging for Hand Hygiene: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis Georgia State University]. https://scholarworks.gsu.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1805&context=iph\_theses

Hudson, P. (2007). Implementing a safety culture in a major multi-national. *Safety Science*, *45*(6), 697-722. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssci.2007.04.005

Kletz, T. (2001). An Engineers view of Human Error. Institute of Chemical Engineers.

- Lindhout, P., & Reniers, G. (2017). What about nudges in the process industry? Exploring a new safety management tool. *Journal of Loss Prevention in the Process Industries*, 50, 243-256. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jlp.2017.10.006
- Love, P. E. D., Ika, L. A., & Pinto, J. K. (2023). Fast-and-frugal heuristics for decision-making in uncertain and complex settings in construction. *Developments in the Built Environment*, 14, 100129. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dibe.2023.100129
- Morewedge, C. K., Mullainathan, S., Naushan, H. F., Sunstein, C. R., Kleinberg, J., Raghavan, M., & Ludwig, J. O. (2023). Human bias in algorithm design. *Nature Human Behaviour*, 7(11), 1822-1824. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-023-01724-4
- Münscher, R., Vetter, M., & Scheuerle, T. (2016). A Review and Taxonomy of Choice Architecture Techniques. *Journal of Behavioral Decision Making*, 29(5), 511-524. https://doi.org/10.1002/bdm.1897
- Thaler, R., & Benartzi, S. (2004). Save More Tomorrow<sup>™</sup>: Using Behavioral Economics to Increase Employee Saving. *Journal of Political Economy*, 112(S1), S164-S187. https://doi.org/10.1086/380085

## **CHAPTER 9**

### **NEDERLANDSTALIGE SAMENVATTING**

In het dynamische landschap van zware productie-industrieën is veiligheid een cruciale pijler. Hoewel de industriële veiligheid aanzienlijke vooruitgang heeft geboekt, lijken recente ontwikkelingen een plateau te hebben bereikt (Hudson 2007). Een belangrijke ontdekking is dat tot 90% van de ongevallen te herleiden zijn naar menselijke fouten, wat het belang onderstreept van een dieper begrip van veiligheidsgedrag (Kletz 2001). Deze scriptie onderneemt een uitgebreide verkenningstocht waarbij de historische evolutie van industriële veiligheid wordt toegelicht, de bestaande impasse in veiligheidsinnovatie wordt aangepakt en een transformerende koers wordt voorgesteld door de lens van de gedragswetenschap (Lindhout & Reniers 2017; Love et al. 2023). Belangrijke aandachtspunten zijn tweeledige beslissingstheorieën en de strategische toepassing van nudging, die systematisch wordt geëvalueerd door middel van een reeks veldexperimenten in de staalindustrie. Als reactie op uitdagingen opgelegd door de COVID-19 pandemie, begonnen we de scriptie met een verkenning van hoe gedragsinzichten kunnen helpen bij het tegengaan van de verspreiding van besmettelijke virale ziektes in een industriële omgeving. Reagerend op mogelijkheden geboden door de recente AI-revolutie, eindigden we met het verduidelijken van veelbelovende wegen voor toegepaste gedragswetenschap bij het aannemen van geavanceerde 'machine learning'-innovaties. Deze scriptie biedt dus een allesomvattend overzicht van het potentieel van een nieuw begrensd rationeel perspectief op gezondheids- en veiligheidsmanagment in een industriële productieomgeving.

In HOOFDSTUK 2 hebben we het potentieel van nudges onderzocht om de verspreiding van besmettelijke virussen tijdens de COVID-19 pandemie te beheersen. Specifieker onderzocht deze studie hoe de naleving van handhygiëne in een bedrijfsomgeving, waar gezondheid en hygiëne minder prevalent zijn, genudged kan worden, waarmee een lacune in de literatuur wordt aangepakt (Goff 2022). Het onderzoek richtte zich op drie technieken voor gedragsverandering: het verminderen van weerstand ('friction'), het vergroten van de opvallendheid ('salience') en het benutten van sociale normen. Het strategisch plaatsen van handdesinfecterend middel en het integreren van visuele signalen en boodschappen over sociale normen bleken succesvol in het beïnvloeden van het handontsmettingsgedrag van individuen. Bovendien leidde de combinatie van deze interventies tot een cumulatief effect, waarbij de additiviteit van nudges werd benadrukt. Belangrijk is dat groepsdynamiek een cruciale rol speelt. Onze resultaten tonen aan dat mensen in groep eerder geneigd zijn handhygiënepraktijken over te nemen en dat dit groepseffect wordt gemedieerd door het gedrag van de eerste persoon in de groep.

In HOOFDSTUK 3 bespraken we de eerste veldstudie die systematisch het nudge-potentieel voor industriële veiligheid onderzocht (Lindhout & Reniers 2017). Onze resultaten toonden aan dat kleine en kostenefficiënte nudges effectief veiligheidsgedrag kunnen bevorderen, met name met betrekking tot het dragen van gasdetectoren en veiligheid op trappen. De resultaten benadrukken de effectiviteit van sterk aanwezige nudges op de werkplek, zoals gasiconen en stickers in de vorm van handen. Dit stemt overeen met het idee dat voortdurende blootstelling aan nudges cruciaal is voor het beïnvloeden van veiligheidsgedrag, gericht beïnvloeden duurzaam op het van meerdere terugkerende beslissingsmomenten wat mogelijk complexer is dan het beïnvloeden van slechts één beslissing (e.g., om deel te nemen aan een pensioenspaarprogramma, Thaler en Benartzi (2004)). In dit hoofdstuk introduceren we begrensde rationaliteit en tweeledige beslissingstheorieën als een nieuw psychologisch kader voor het aanpakken van industriëel veiligheidsgedrag en verduidelijken we hoe dit aansluit bij de voorgestelde nudging-aanpak, strategisch geïmplementeerd via de keuzearchitectuur taxonomie van Münscher et al. (2016).

284 CHAPTER 9

In HOOFDSTUK 4 hebben we nudges geëvalueerd die gericht zijn op het corrigeren van feilbaar superviserend gedrag en bekeken hoe hun effect zich over de tijd heen ontwikkelt. Zo komen we tegemoet aan een aanhoudende leemte in de literatuur (Beshears & Kosowsky 2020). De bevindingen uit twee experimenten onthullen positieve effecten van feedback nudges, zowel sociale als persoonlijke feedback, op de frequentie en verspreiding van veiligheidsgesprekken onder de werkkrachten. Experiment 1 toonde aan dat de aanwezigheid van nudges een cruciale rol speelde bij het in stand houden van de gewenste gedragsverandering, in dit geval het vaker uitvoeren van veiligheidsgesprekken, wat wijst op een behoefte aan de voortdurende aanwezigheid van nudges gezien slechts een beperkt leereffect gevonden werd (na wegname van de nudge). Experiment 2 onthulde dat het effect van de feedback nudge gericht op de verspreiding van veiligheidsgesprekken grotendeels bleef bestaan over een zeer lange periode van 1,5 jaar, met een lichte afname over tijd. We concluderen dat strategische nudge-ontwikkeling deel kan uitmaken van een holistische veiligheidsaanpak, maar dat verdere beoordeling van de langetermijneffecten van nudge-interventies en modererende contextuele invloeden nodig is.

In HOOFDSTUK 5 hebben we de effectiviteit van nudging-strategieën onderzocht om veiligheidspraktijken met betrekking tot zware hangende lasten te verbeteren. Drie experimenten met betrekking tot sociale bewijsvoering ('social proof'), weerstand ('friction') en opvallendheid ('salience') toonden aan dat deze interventies effectief de afstand die werknemers houden van hangende lasten vergrootten. Experiment 1, gericht op sociale bewijsvoering, toonde aan dat het weergeven van het aantal collega's dat veilige routes gebruikt, anderen aanmoedigde hetzelfde te doen. Experiment 2, gericht op het wijzigen van weerstand, onthulde dat het dichtbij plaatsen van no-touch tools effectiever was dan instructies van leidinggevenden. Een holistische benadering, inclusief de betrokkenheid van medewerkers en nieuwe hulpmiddelen, leidde tot een grote toename in het gebruik van de tools en wordt voorgesteld als de gouden standaard voor gedragsveranderingsinitiatieven. De studie over

opvallendheid ('salience') en gewaarwording vond dat het projecteren van een licht onder hangende lasten werknemers aanzienlijk aanmoedigde om een veilige afstand te bewaren. 'Layered nudging' (of gelaagde nudging) dook op als een nieuw waardevol concept dat horizontale (meerdere nudges tegelijk) en verticale strategieën (opeenvolgende nudges op verschillende organisatieniveaus) integreert voor een grotere impact.

In HOOFDSTUK 6 gaven we inzichten en richtlijnen over hoe recente ontwikkelingen in AI het veld van gedragswetenschappen kunnen bevorderen. Wat zeer relevant is voor alle toegepaste omgevingen die gericht zijn op het aanpakken van feilbare besluitvorming, inclusief industriële veiligheid. We benadrukten drie belangrijke mogelijkheden. De eerste omvat het benutten van AI's vermogen tot patroonherkenning om voorheen ongeïdentificeerde en bekende 'biases' (of systematische denkfouten) in verschillende contexten te identificeren. Een tweede kans omvat het op maat maken en contextualiseren van gedragsinterventies om hun impact te maximaliseren, in lijn met de noodzakelijke meer heterogene aanpak in de gedragswetenschap (Bryan et al. 2021). Ten derde kan AI gedragswetenschappers helpen bij het begrijpen van complexe en evoluerende modellen van menselijk gedrag door middel van tools om deze dynamiek te visualiseren en te analyseren. Naast de voordelen bespraken we ook potentiële kosten, waaronder milieu-, economische en ethische uitdagingen.

De in deze scriptie gepresenteerde studies bieden antwoorden op meerdere lacunes in zowel de gedragswetenschappen als de veiligheidsliteratuur. Ten eerste zijn ze baanbrekend in het idee van het toepassen van begrensde rationaliteit als een nieuw psychologisch kader voor industrieel veiligheidsmanagement en zijn ze de eerste die systematisch het bijbehorende potentieel van nudge-interventies evalueren en bevestigen. Ten tweede tonen onze bevindingen aan dat nudge-interventies hun effect over lange tijd kunnen behouden (tot 1,5 jaar), zij het met een lichte afname, zolang ze aanwezig blijven (dus met beperkte leereffecten). Ten derde bieden we een antwoord op frequente kritiek op nudges over kleinere effectgroottes door aan te tonen dat de effecten van nudges vaak additief

zijn en layered nudging een veelbelovende weg biedt om deze eigenschap te benutten. Deze layered nudging-benadering benadrukt verder de relevantie van nudging voor veiligheid, aangezien het voortkomt uit een symbiose met gevestigde en dominante veiligheidsmodellen (e.g., het Swiss Cheese Model en HFACS). Tot slot bevorderen we het veld van de toegepaste gedragswetenschap in het algemeen door veelbelovende nieuwe wegen voor te stellen en te verduidelijken, zoals gedragsaudits (incl. bias, noise en sludge) en innovatieve machine learning-mogelijkheden. Dit terwijl we het belang benadrukken van het in stand houden van ethiek vrijwarende veiligheidsmaatregelen en de kans van gedragsaudits om voor schadelijke invloeden te controleren (incl. bij het ontwerpen van algoritmes, Morewedge et al. (2023)).

#### REFERENTIES

- Beshears, J., & Kosowsky, H. (2020). Nudging: Progress to date and future directions. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 161, 3-19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.obhdp.2020.09.001
- Bryan, C., Tipton, E., & Yeager, D. (2021). Behavioural science is unlikely to change the world without a heterogeneity revolution. *Nature Human Behaviour*. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-021-01143-3
- Goff, M. (2022). Nudging for Hand Hygiene: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis Georgia State University]. https://scholarworks.gsu.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1805&context=iph\_theses
- Hudson, P. (2007). Implementing a safety culture in a major multi-national. *Safety Science*, 45(6), 697-722. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssci.2007.04.005

Kletz, T. (2001). An Engineers view of Human Error. Institute of Chemical Engineers.

Lindhout, P., & Reniers, G. (2017). What about nudges in the process industry? Exploring a new safety management tool. *Journal of Loss Prevention in the Process Industries*, 50, 243-256. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jlp.2017.10.006

- Love, P. E. D., Ika, L. A., & Pinto, J. K. (2023). Fast-and-frugal heuristics for decision-making in uncertain and complex settings in construction. *Developments in the Built Environment*, 14, 100129. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dibe.2023.100129
- Morewedge, C. K., Mullainathan, S., Naushan, H. F., Sunstein, C. R., Kleinberg, J., Raghavan, M., & Ludwig, J. O. (2023). Human bias in algorithm design. *Nature Human Behaviour*, 7(11), 1822-1824. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-023-01724-4
- Münscher, R., Vetter, M., & Scheuerle, T. (2016). A Review and Taxonomy of Choice Architecture Techniques. *Journal of Behavioral Decision Making*, 29(5), 511-524. https://doi.org/10.1002/bdm.1897
- Thaler, R., & Benartzi, S. (2004). Save More Tomorrow<sup>™</sup>: Using Behavioral Economics to Increase Employee Saving. *Journal of Political Economy*, 112(S1), S164-S187. https://doi.org/10.1086/380085

### **APPENDIX 1A**

### Figure A1

The Golden Rules of Safety


## **APPENDIX 2A**

#### Table A1

A detailed overview of the number of passersby and the alcohol gel consumption (in ml) per condition

Intervention	Passersby	Usage (in ml)	Usage (in ml/passerby)	Estimated compliance (in %)*
Control (pre-test)	12520	876	0.07	7%
Placement	9014	2434	0.27	27%
Placement-Footsteps	2393	1125	0.47	47%
Placement-Message	3075	1384	0.45	45%
Placement-Message-Footsteps	2830	1613	0.57	57%
Control (removal)	1300	117	0.09	9%
Total	31132			

*Note.* \*Average user performing one push, which equals 1ml (see details in 'Observation method' section). Therefore, 'usage in ml' equals the expected number of users, and the 'usage in ml/passerby' equals the estimated compliance rate in %.

#### Table A2

A detailed overview of the number of passersby and hand sanitizer usage per condition (camera footage)

Intervention	Passersby	Usage	Usage (in %)
Control (pre-test)	6624	290	4.38%
Placement	4142	1141	27.55%
Placement-Footsteps	789	321	40.64%
Placement-Message	502	226	45.06%
Placement-Message-Footsteps	1938	987	50.91%
Control (removal)	650	36	5.54%
Total	14645		

# APPENDIX 3A

### Table A1

Structured observation form for tallying CO detector compliance (blank version and translated from

Dutch)

Date: Department: Blast furnace and sinter plant Observed team:	IMPORTANT:         Only workers, no administrative employees passing by.         We do not look if CO detectors are calibrated.         Reason: this requires addressing the workers, which can negatively affect the results of the research.         If workers are not okay or only partially okay, please do not respond to them temporarily (unless extremely necessary). This is detrimental to the study.         We are looking at the effect of nudges on safety behavior. Not the effect of getting comments on safety behavior.         Please tally the numbers and enter this later in Excel.
Number of tallied workers in total	

How many workers:	
Wear a CO-detector	
Activated the CO detector	
Wear a CO-detector in the right place	
(activated or not)	
(right place = on the chest - uncovered)	
Wear a CO-detector in the wrong place (activated or not)	Beneath jacket
	On pants
	Somewhere else (specify where)
Are completely compliant	
(CO-detector activated + right place)	

# APPENDIX 3B

### Table B1

## The number of pushes on the green and red buttons (Experiment 1)

Time	Green button	Red button
Day 1	198	95
Day 2	140	51
Day 3	115	40
Day 4	80	16
Day 5	120	28
Day 6	95	35
Day 7	151	27
Day 8	125	32
Day 9	109	28
Day 10	85	32
Day 11	120	20
Day 12	110	24
Day 13	123	49
Day 14	135	18
Day 15	82	30
Day 16	102	13
Day 17	130	25
Day 18	88	26
Day 19	125	35
Day 20	121	19
Day 21	101	35
Total	2455	678

## APPENDIX 4A

### Table A1

*The evolution of the spread of safety talks for the control department 'GS'* 

VARIABLES		No safety talk	
	Exp (B)	95% C.I.	d
Control (Mar 20)	1.29**	1.03 - 1.63	0.14
Control (Apr 20)	1.24*	0.98 - 1.56	0.12
Control (June 20)	0.76**	0.60 - 0.97	-0.15
Control (July 20)	0.74**	0.58 - 0.94	-0.17
Control (Aug 20)	1.66***	1.32 - 2.09	0.28
Control (Sept 20)	1.97***	1.56 - 2.48	0.37
Control (Oct 20)	1.69***	1.34 - 2.13	0.29
Control (Nov 20)	1.27**	1.00 - 1.59	0.13
Control (Dec 20)	0.69***	0.54 - 0.88	-0.21
Control (Jan 21)	1.68***	1.34 - 2.12	0.29
Control (Feb 21)	2.42***	1.92 - 3.06	0.49
Control (Mar 21)	1.94***	1.54 - 2.44	0.37
Control (Apr 21)	1.90***	1.51 - 2.39	0.35
Feedback spread (May 21)	1.34**	1.06 - 1.68	0.16
Feedback spread (June 21)	2.02***	1.60 - 2.55	0.39
Feedback spread (July 21)	1.00	0.79 - 1.26	0.00
Feedback spread(Aug 21)	0.82*	0.65 - 1.03	-0.11
Feedback spread (Sept 21)	1.78***	1.41 - 2.26	0.32
Feedback spread (Oct 21)	2.12***	1.68 - 2.67	0.41
Feedback spread (Nov 21)	1.61***	1.28 - 2.03	0.26
Feedback spread (Dec 21)	1.23*	0.98 - 1.55	0.12
Feedback spread (Jan 22)	1.90***	1.51 - 2.39	0.35
Feedback spread (Feb 22)	1.81***	1.44 - 2.28	0.33
Feedback spread (Mar 22)	1.76***	1.40 - 2.20	0.31
Feedback spread (Apr 22)	1.37***	1.09 - 1.73	0.18
Feedback spread (May 22)	1.43***	1.14 - 1.8	0.20
Feedback spread (June 22)	1.52***	1.21 - 1.91	0.23
Feedback spread (July 22)	0.91	0.72 - 1.15	-0.05
Feedback spread (Aug 22)	0.90	0.71 - 1.14	-0.06
Feedback spread (Sept 22)	1.12	0.89 - 1.41	0.06
Feedback spread (Oct 22)	1.82***	1.45 - 2.30	0.33
Feedback spread (Nov 22)	1.03	0.82 - 1.30	0.02
Observations	19569		

VARIABLES		No safety talk	
	Exp (B)	95% C.I.	d
Control (Mar 20)	0.63***	0.45 - 0.89	-0.26
Control (Apr 20)	1.02	0.72 - 1.43	0.01
Control (June 20)	0.77	0.55 - 1.09	-0.14
Control (July 20)	0.58***	0.41 - 0.81	-0.30
Control (Aug 20)	0.55***	0.39 - 0.78	-0.33
Control (Sept 20)	0.86	0.61 - 1.21	-0.08
Control (Oct 20)	1.13	0.80 - 1.6	0.07
Control (Nov 20)	0.93	0.66 - 1.31	-0.04
Control (Dec 20)	0.58***	0.41 - 0.81	-0.30
Control (Jan 21)	1.00	0.71 - 1.41	0.00
Control (Feb 21)	1.47**	1.03 - 2.10	0.21
Control (Mar 21)	2.13***	1.47 - 3.09	0.42
Control (Apr 21)	1.35*	0.95 - 1.92	0.17
Feedback spread (May 21)	1.29	0.91 - 1.83	0.14
Feedback spread (June 21)	1.50**	1.05 - 2.13	0.22
Feedback spread (July 21)	1.05	0.74 - 1.48	0.03
Feedback spread(Aug 21)	0.79	0.56 - 1.11	-0.13
Feedback spread (Sept 21)	0.89	0.63 - 1.25	-0.07
Feedback spread (Oct 21)	1.19	0.84 - 1.68	0.10
Feedback spread (Nov 21)	1.05	0.74 - 1.48	0.03
Feedback spread (Dec 21)	0.53***	0.37 - 0.74	-0.35
Feedback spread (Jan 22)	0.64**	0.46 - 0.90	-0.25
Feedback spread (Feb 22)	0.72*	0.51 - 1.01	-0.18
Feedback spread (Mar 22)	1.40*	0.98 - 1.99	0.19
Feedback spread (Apr 22)	0.93	0.66 - 1.31	-0.04
Feedback spread (May 22)	0.94	0.67 - 1.33	-0.03
Feedback spread (June 22)	0.53***	0.37 - 0.74	-0.35
Feedback spread (July 22)	0.50***	0.35 - 0.70	-0.39
Feedback spread (Aug 22)	0.60***	0.43 - 0.85	-0.28
Feedback spread (Sept 22)	0.45***	0.32 - 0.63	-0.45
Feedback spread (Oct 22)	0.67**	0.48 - 0.94	-0.22
Feedback spread (Nov 22)	0.73**	0.52 - 1.03	-0.17

*The evolution of the spread of safety talks for the control department 'COO'* 

Observations8943Note. \*\*\* p < .01, \*\* p < .05, \* p < .1; reference level for interventions 'Control (May 20)'</td>

The evolution of the spread of safety talks for the control department 'RM'

VARIABLES		No safety talk	
	Exp (B)	95% C.I.	d
Control (Mar 20)	0.94	0.71 - 1.25	-0.04
Control (Apr 20)	0.95	0.71 - 1.26	-0.03
Control (June 20)	0.70**	0.53 - 0.94	-0.19
Control (July 20)	0.71**	0.53 - 0.95	-0.19
Control (Aug 20)	0.52***	0.39 - 0.69	-0.36
Control (Sept 20)	0.73**	0.55 - 0.97	-0.18
Control (Oct 20)	0.74**	0.56 - 0.99	-0.17
Control (Nov 20)	0.73**	0.55 - 0.98	-0.17
Control (Dec 20)	0.66***	0.49 - 0.88	-0.23
Control (Jan 21)	0.78**	0.59 - 1.04	-0.14
Control (Feb 21)	1.89***	1.42 - 2.53	0.35
Control (Mar 21)	2.13***	1.59 - 2.85	0.42
Control (Apr 21)	1.65***	1.24 - 2.21	0.28
Feedback spread (May 21)	1.55***	1.16 - 2.06	0.24
Feedback spread (June 21)	1.53***	1.15 - 2.04	0.24
Feedback spread (July 21)	0.91	0.68 - 1.21	-0.05
Feedback spread(Aug 21)	0.99	0.75 - 1.32	-0.01
Feedback spread (Sept 21)	1.12	0.85 - 1.49	0.06
Feedback spread (Oct 21)	1.62***	1.21 - 2.16	0.27
Feedback spread (Nov 21)	0.95	0.71 - 1.26	-0.03
Feedback spread (Dec 21)	0.84	0.63 - 1.11	-0.10
Feedback spread (Jan 22)	1.3*	1.00 - 1.77	0.16
Feedback spread (Feb 22)	1.16	0.87 - 1.54	0.08
Feedback spread (Mar 22)	1.35**	1.01 - 1.79	0.16
Feedback spread (Apr 22)	1.17	0.88 - 1.56	0.09
Feedback spread (May 22)	1.04	0.79 - 1.39	0.02
Feedback spread (June 22)	0.84	0.64 - 1.12	-0.09
Feedback spread (July 22)	0.84	0.64 - 1.12	-0.09
Feedback spread (Aug 22)	0.62***	0.47 - 0.83	-0.26
Feedback spread (Sept 22)	0.73**	0.55 - 0.97	-0.18
Feedback spread (Oct 22)	0.73**	0.55 - 0.97	-0.18
Feedback spread (Nov 22)	0.78*	0.59 - 1.04	-0.14
Observations	12540		

The evolution (	of the spre	id of safety t	alks for the	control de	partment 'BF'
		J J J	2		

VARIABLES		No safety talk	
	Exp (B)	95% C.I.	d
Control (Mar 20)	1.24	0.93 - 1.66	0.12
Control (Apr 20)	1.12	0.84 - 1.49	0.06
Control (June 20)	0.87	0.65 - 1.16	-0.08
Control (July 20)	1.02	0.77 - 1.36	0.01
Control (Aug 20)	0.73**	0.55 - 0.97	-0.17
Control (Sept 20)	1.09	0.82 - 1.46	0.05
Control (Oct 20)	0.83	0.62 - 1.1	-0.10
Control (Nov 20)	0.75*	0.56 - 1.01	-0.16
Control (Dec 20)	0.75**	0.56 - 1.00	-0.16
Control (Jan 21)	0.94	0.70 - 1.25	-0.04
Control (Feb 21)	1.73***	1.29 - 2.32	0.30
Control (Mar 21)	1.86***	1.380 - 2.49	0.34
Control (Apr 21)	1.79***	1.33 - 2.40	0.32
Feedback spread (May 21)	1.56***	1.16 - 2.09	0.24
Feedback spread (June 21)	1.57***	1.17 - 2.11	0.25
Feedback spread (July 21)	1.31*	0.98 - 1.76	0.15
Feedback spread(Aug 21)	1.19	0.89 - 1.59	0.10
Feedback spread (Sept 21)	1.47**	1.10 - 1.97	0.21
Feedback spread (Oct 21)	2.29***	1.69 - 3.10	0.46
Feedback spread (Nov 21)	1.67***	1.24 - 2.24	0.28
Feedback spread (Dec 21)	1.34**	1.01 - 1.80	0.16
Feedback spread (Jan 22)	1.69***	1.26 - 2.26	0.29
Feedback spread (Feb 22)	1.81***	1.35 - 2.43	0.33
Feedback spread (Mar 22)	1.22	0.91 - 1.63	0.11
Feedback spread (Apr 22)	1.19	0.89 - 1.59	0.10
Feedback spread (May 22)	1.06	0.79 - 1.41	0.03
Feedback spread (June 22)	1.09	0.82 - 1.46	0.05
Feedback spread (July 22)	0.76*	0.57 - 1.02	-0.15
Feedback spread (Aug 22)	0.89	0.67 - 1.19	-0.07
Feedback spread (Sept 22)	1.65***	1.23 - 2.21	0.28
Feedback spread (Oct 22)	1.61***	1.20 - 2.16	0.26
Feedback spread (Nov 22)	1.41**	1.05 - 1.88	0.19
Observations	12177		

The evolution of the spread of safety talks for the control department 'CPM'

VARIABLES		No safety talk	
	Exp (B)	95% C.I.	d
Control (Mar 20)	0.78*	0.61 - 1.01	-0.14
Control (Apr 20)	1.18	0.92 - 1.51	0.09
Control (June 20)	0.77**	0.60 - 0.99	-0.15
Control (July 20)	0.71***	0.55 - 0.91	-0.19
Control (Aug 20)	1.02	0.79 - 1.30	0.01
Control (Sept 20)	1.41***	1.10 - 1.81	0.19
Control (Oct 20)	1.35**	1.05 - 1.73	0.16
Control (Nov 20)	1.06	0.83 - 1.36	0.03
Control (Dec 20)	0.63***	0.49 - 0.82	-0.25
Control (Jan 21)	1.87***	1.45 - 2.40	0.34
Control (Feb 21)	3.41***	2.62 - 4.45	0.68
Control (Mar 21)	2.91***	2.24 - 3.78	0.59
Control (Apr 21)	1.93***	1.50 - 2.48	0.36
Feedback spread (May 21)	2.10***	1.63 - 2.71	0.41
Feedback spread (June 21)	1.87***	1.45 - 2.40	0.34
Feedback spread (July 21)	0.98	0.76 - 1.25	-0.01
Feedback spread(Aug 21)	1.01	0.79 - 1.29	0.00
Feedback spread (Sept 21)	1.19	0.93 - 1.53	0.10
Feedback spread (Oct 21)	1.73***	1.35 - 2.23	0.30
Feedback spread (Nov 21)	1.68***	1.31 - 2.15	0.29
Feedback spread (Dec 21)	1.18	0.92 - 1.51	0.09
Feedback spread (Jan 22)	2.12***	1.65 - 2.73	0.41
Feedback spread (Feb 22)	2.42***	1.87 - 3.13	0.49
Feedback spread (Mar 22)	2.53***	1.96 - 3.27	0.51
Feedback spread (Apr 22)	2.40***	1.86 - 3.10	0.48
Feedback spread (May 22)	1.41***	1.10 - 1.81	0.19
Feedback spread (June 22)	1.18	0.92 - 1.51	0.09
Feedback spread (July 22)	1.31**	1.03 - 1.69	0.15
Feedback spread (Aug 22)	1.18	0.92 - 1.52	0.09
Feedback spread (Sept 22)	1.70***	1.33 - 2.19	0.29
Feedback spread (Oct 22)	2.80***	2.16 - 3.63	0.57
Feedback spread (Nov 22)	2.63***	2.03 - 3.40	0.53
Observations	16467		

*The evolution of the spread of safety talks for the control department 'CM'* 

VARIABLES		No safety talk	
	Exp (B)	95% C.I.	d
Control (Mar 20)	1.07	0.85 - 1.34	0.04
Control (Apr 20)	1.35***	1.08 - 1.69	0.17
Control (June 20)	0.82*	0.65 - 1.03	-0.11
Control (July 20)	1.01	0.80 - 1.26	0.00
Control (Aug 20)	2.16***	1.72 - 2.71	0.42
Control (Sept 20)	1.91***	1.53 - 2.40	0.36
Control (Oct 20)	1.71***	1.37 - 2.14	0.30
Control (Nov 20)	1.16	0.93 - 1.46	0.08
Control (Dec 20)	0.83	0.66 - 1.04	-0.11
Control (Jan 21)	2.14***	1.71 - 2.69	0.42
Control (Feb 21)	3.20***	2.53 - 4.04	0.64
Control (Mar 21)	3.68***	2.90 - 4.68	0.72
Control (Apr 21)	3.81***	3.00 - 4.84	0.74
Feedback spread (May 21)	2.34***	1.86 - 2.95	0.47
Feedback spread (June 21)	2.53***	2.01 - 3.18	0.51
Feedback spread (July 21)	1.60***	1.28 - 2.01	0.26
Feedback spread(Aug 21)	1.63***	1.30 - 2.05	0.27
Feedback spread (Sept 21)	1.86***	1.49 - 2.34	0.34
Feedback spread (Oct 21)	2.62***	2.08 - 3.30	0.53
Feedback spread (Nov 21)	2.82***	2.24 - 3.55	0.57
Feedback spread (Dec 21)	1.34**	1.07 - 1.68	0.16
Feedback spread (Jan 22)	3.35***	2.65 - 4.24	0.67
Feedback spread (Feb 22)	3.27***	2.59 - 4.14	0.65
Feedback spread (Mar 22)	5.19***	4.04 - 6.67	0.91
Feedback spread (Apr 22)	2.60***	2.07 - 3.28	0.53
Feedback spread (May 22)	3.35***	2.65 - 4.24	0.67
Feedback spread (June 22)	2.64***	2.10 - 3.33	0.54
Feedback spread (July 22)	1.88***	1.50 - 2.35	0.35
Feedback spread (Aug 22)	1.91***	1.53 - 2.40	0.36
Feedback spread (Sept 22)	2.06***	1.64 - 2.58	0.40
Feedback spread (Oct 22)	2.90***	2.30 - 3.66	0.59
Feedback spread (Nov 22)	2.53***	2.01 - 3.18	0.51
Observations	20328		

The evolution o	f the s	pread o	of sa	fety	talks	for th	he c	control	depart	ment	'HM'
	/			/ ./		,					

VARIABLES	No safety talk						
	Exp (B)	95% C.I.	d				
Control (Mar 20)	1.35**	1.05 - 1.73	0.16				
Control (Apr 20)	1.34**	1.04 - 1.71	0.16				
Control (June 20)	0.86	0.67 - 1.10	-0.09				
Control (July 20)	0.82	0.63 -1.05	-0.11				
Control (Aug 20)	0.67***	0.52 - 0.86	-0.22				
Control (Sept 20)	0.84	0.66 - 1.08	-0.10				
Control (Oct 20)	1.40***	1.09 - 1.80	0.19				
Control (Nov 20)	0.96	0.75 - 1.23	-0.02				
Control (Dec 20)	1.08	0.84 - 1.38	0.04				
Control (Jan 21)	1.44***	1.12 - 1.84	0.20				
Control (Feb 21)	2.60***	2.01 - 3.36	0.53				
Control (Mar 21)	2.85***	2.20 - 3.70	0.58				
Control (Apr 21)	1.96***	1.52 - 2.52	0.37				
Feedback spread (May 21)	1.77***	1.38 - 2.280	0.32				
Feedback spread (June 21)	2.65***	2.04 - 3.42	0.54				
Feedback spread (July 21)	1.27*	0.99 - 1.63	0.13				
Feedback spread(Aug 21)	1.17	0.92 - 1.51	0.09				
Feedback spread (Sept 21)	1.85***	1.44 - 2.38	0.34				
Feedback spread (Oct 21)	1.98***	1.54 - 2.54	0.38				
Feedback spread (Nov 21)	1.94***	1.51 - 2.50	0.37				
Feedback spread (Dec 21)	1.63***	1.27 - 2.10	0.27				
Feedback spread (Jan 22)	2.29***	1.78 - 2.95	0.46				
Feedback spread (Feb 22)	1.91***	1.49 - 2.46	0.36				
Feedback spread (Mar 22)	2.55***	1.97 - 3.30	0.52				
Feedback spread (Apr 22)	2.50***	1.94 - 3.24	0.51				
Feedback spread (May 22)	1.93***	1.50 - 2.48	0.36				
Feedback spread (June 22)	1.69***	1.31 - 2.17	0.29				
Feedback spread (July 22)	1.30**	1.02 - 1.67	0.15				
Feedback spread (Aug 22)	1.67***	1.30 - 2.15	0.28				
Feedback spread (Sept 22)	1.74***	1.36 - 2.24	0.31				
Feedback spread (Oct 22)	1.72***	1.34 - 2.20	0.30				
Feedback spread (Nov 22)	1.88***	1.46 - 2.42	0.35				
Observations	16500						

## **APPENDIX 5A**

#### Figure A1

The Human Factors Analysis and Classification System (HFACS) by Shappell and Wiegmann (2001)



#### Figure A2

The Swiss Cheese model of Reason (2000), taken from Reason et al. (2001)



Successive layers of defences, barriers and safeguards

#### Figure A3

Early stages of the Swiss Cheese model by Reason (1990)



## APPENDIX 5B

## Figure B1

The floor plan of the central workshop of the General Services (GS) indicating the original placement of the old no-touch tools (arrow) and the workstations (in red)



## **DATA STORAGE FACT SHEETS**

#### DATA STORAGE FACT SHEET CHAPTER 2

Author: Samuël Costa Date: 01-12-2023

1. Contact details

1a. Main researcher

- name: Samuël Costa

- address: Henri Dunantlaan 2, 9000 Gent

- e-mail: Samuel.Costa@UGent.be

1b. Responsible Staff Member (ZAP)

- name: Nicolas Dirix & Wouter Duyck

- address: Henri Dunantlaan 2, 9000 Gent

- e-mail: Nicolas.Dirix@UGent.be, Wouter.Ducyk@UGent.be

\_\_\_\_\_

If a response is not received when using the above contact details, please send an email to data.pp@ugent.be or contact Data Management, Faculty of Psychology and Educational Sciences, Henri Dunantlaan 2, 9000 Ghent, Belgium.

2. Information about the datasets to which this sheet applies

\* Reference of the publication in which the datasets are reported:
Costa, S. (2024). The development of nudge interventions to promote safety behaviour in an industrial production

environment (Doctoral dissertation). Ghent University, Ghent, Belgium.\* Which datasets in that publication does this sheet apply to?:

All datasets reported in CHAPTER 2 of the doctoral dissertation

3. Information about the files that have been stored

\_\_\_\_\_

3a. Raw data

\_\_\_\_\_

\* Have the raw data been stored by the main researcher? [X] YES / [] NO If NO, please justify:

\* On which platform are the raw data stored?

- [X] researcher PC
- [X] research group file server
- [X] other (specify): researcher external hard drive

\* Who has direct access to the raw data (i.e., without intervention of another person)?

- [X] main researcher
- [X] responsible ZAP
- [] all members of the research group

- [] all members of UGent
- [] other (specify): ...
- 3b. Other files

\_\_\_\_\_

- \* Which other files have been stored?
- [] file(s) describing the transition from raw data to reported results. Specify: ...
- [X] file(s) containing processed data. Specify: Excel data files
- [] file(s) containing analyses. Specify: ...
- [] files(s) containing information about informed consent
- [] a file specifying legal and ethical provisions
- [] file(s) that describe the content of the stored files and how this content should be interpreted. Specify: ...
- [] other files. Specify: ...
- \* On which platform are these other files stored?
- [X] individual PC
- [X] research group file server
- [X] other: researcher external hard drive

\* Who has direct access to these other files (i.e., without intervention of another person)?

- [X] main researcher
- [X] responsible ZAP
- [] all members of the research group
- [] all members of UGent
- [] other (specify): ...
- 4. Reproduction

\* Have the results been reproduced independently?: [] YES / [X] NO

\* If yes, by whom (add if multiple):

- name:
- address:
- affiliation:
- e-mail:

#### **DATA STORAGE FACT SHEET CHAPTER 3**

Author: Samuël Costa Date: 01-12-2023

1. Contact details

\_\_\_\_\_\_

1a. Main researcher

- name: Samuël Costa

- address: Henri Dunantlaan 2, 9000 Gent

\_\_\_\_\_

- e-mail: <u>Samuel.Costa@UGent.be</u>

1b. Responsible Staff Member (ZAP)

- name: Nicolas Dirix & Wouter Duyck

- address: Henri Dunantlaan 2, 9000 Gent

- e-mail: Nicolas.Dirix@UGent.be, Wouter.Ducyk@UGent.be

If a response is not received when using the above contact details, please send an email to data.pp@ugent.be or contact Data Management, Faculty of Psychology and Educational Sciences, Henri Dunantlaan 2, 9000 Ghent, Belgium.

2. Information about the datasets to which this sheet applies

\_\_\_\_\_

\* Reference of the publication in which the datasets are reported:

Costa, S. (2024). The development of nudge interventions to promote safety behaviour in an industrial production environment (Doctoral dissertation). Ghent University, Ghent, Belgium.

\* Which datasets in that publication does this sheet apply to?: All datasets reported in CHAPTER 3 of the doctoral dissertation

3. Information about the files that have been stored

\_\_\_\_\_\_

3a. Raw data

\* Have the raw data been stored by the main researcher? [X] YES / [] NO If NO, please justify:

\* On which platform are the raw data stored?

- [X] researcher PC
- [X] research group file server
- [X] other (specify): researcher external hard drive

\* Who has direct access to the raw data (i.e., without intervention of another person)?

- [X] main researcher
- [X] responsible ZAP
- [] all members of the research group
- [] all members of UGent
- [] other (specify): ...

#### 3b. Other files

-----

- \* Which other files have been stored?
- [] file(s) describing the transition from raw data to reported results. Specify: ...
- [X] file(s) containing processed data. Specify: Excel data files
- [] file(s) containing analyses. Specify: ...
- [] files(s) containing information about informed consent
- [] a file specifying legal and ethical provisions
- [] file(s) that describe the content of the stored files and how this content should be interpreted. Specify: ...
- [] other files. Specify: ...

\* On which platform are these other files stored?

- [X] individual PC
- [X] research group file server
- [X] other: researcher external hard drive

\* Who has direct access to these other files (i.e., without intervention of another person)?

- [X] main researcher
- [X] responsible ZAP
- [] all members of the research group
- [] all members of UGent
- [] other (specify): ...

#### 4. Reproduction

\_\_\_\_\_

\* Have the results been reproduced independently?: [ ] YES / [X] NO

\* If yes, by whom (add if multiple):

- name:
- address:
- affiliation:
- e-mail:

#### **DATA STORAGE FACT SHEET CHAPTER 4**

Author: Samuël Costa Date: 01-12-2023

1. Contact details

\_\_\_\_\_\_

1a. Main researcher

- name: Samuël Costa

- address: Henri Dunantlaan 2, 9000 Gent

\_\_\_\_\_

- e-mail: <u>Samuel.Costa@UGent.be</u>

1b. Responsible Staff Member (ZAP)

- name: Nicolas Dirix & Wouter Duyck

- address: Henri Dunantlaan 2, 9000 Gent

- e-mail: Nicolas.Dirix@UGent.be, Wouter.Ducyk@UGent.be

If a response is not received when using the above contact details, please send an email to data.pp@ugent.be or contact Data Management, Faculty of Psychology and Educational Sciences, Henri Dunantlaan 2, 9000 Ghent, Belgium.

2. Information about the datasets to which this sheet applies

\_\_\_\_\_

\* Reference of the publication in which the datasets are reported:

Costa, S. (2024). The development of nudge interventions to promote safety behaviour in an industrial production environment (Doctoral dissertation). Ghent University, Ghent, Belgium.

\* Which datasets in that publication does this sheet apply to?: All datasets reported in CHAPTER 4 of the doctoral dissertation

3. Information about the files that have been stored

\_\_\_\_\_\_

3a. Raw data

\* Have the raw data been stored by the main researcher? [X] YES / [] NO If NO, please justify:

\* On which platform are the raw data stored?

- [X] researcher PC
- [X] research group file server
- [X] other (specify): researcher external hard drive

\* Who has direct access to the raw data (i.e., without intervention of another person)?

- [X] main researcher
- [X] responsible ZAP
- [] all members of the research group
- [] all members of UGent
- [] other (specify): ...

#### 3b. Other files

-----

- \* Which other files have been stored?
- [] file(s) describing the transition from raw data to reported results. Specify: ...
- [X] file(s) containing processed data. Specify: Excel data files
- [] file(s) containing analyses. Specify: ...
- [] files(s) containing information about informed consent
- [] a file specifying legal and ethical provisions
- [] file(s) that describe the content of the stored files and how this content should be interpreted. Specify: ...
- [] other files. Specify: ...

\* On which platform are these other files stored?

- [X] individual PC
- [X] research group file server
- [X] other: researcher external hard drive

\* Who has direct access to these other files (i.e., without intervention of another person)?

- [X] main researcher
- [X] responsible ZAP
- [] all members of the research group
- [] all members of UGent
- [] other (specify): ...

#### 4. Reproduction

\_\_\_\_\_

\* Have the results been reproduced independently?: [ ] YES / [X] NO

\* If yes, by whom (add if multiple):

- name:
- address:
- affiliation:
- e-mail:

#### **DATA STORAGE FACT SHEET CHAPTER 5**

Author: Samuël Costa Date: 01-12-2023

1. Contact details

\_\_\_\_\_\_

1a. Main researcher

- name: Samuël Costa

- address: Henri Dunantlaan 2, 9000 Gent

\_\_\_\_\_

\_\_\_\_\_

- e-mail: <u>Samuel.Costa@UGent.be</u>

1b. Responsible Staff Member (ZAP)

- name: Nicolas Dirix & Wouter Duyck

- address: Henri Dunantlaan 2, 9000 Gent

- e-mail: Nicolas.Dirix@UGent.be, Wouter.Ducyk@UGent.be

If a response is not received when using the above contact details, please send an email to data.pp@ugent.be or contact Data Management, Faculty of Psychology and Educational Sciences, Henri Dunantlaan 2, 9000 Ghent, Belgium.

2. Information about the datasets to which this sheet applies

\_\_\_\_\_

\* Reference of the publication in which the datasets are reported:

Costa, S. (2024). The development of nudge interventions to promote safety behaviour in an industrial production environment (Doctoral dissertation). Ghent University, Ghent, Belgium.

\* Which datasets in that publication does this sheet apply to?: All datasets reported in CHAPTER 5 of the doctoral dissertation

3. Information about the files that have been stored

\_\_\_\_\_

\_\_\_\_\_

3a. Raw data

\* Have the raw data been stored by the main researcher? [X] YES / [] NO If NO, please justify:

\* On which platform are the raw data stored?

- [X] researcher PC
- [X] research group file server
- [X] other (specify): researcher external hard drive

\* Who has direct access to the raw data (i.e., without intervention of another person)?

- [X] main researcher
- [X] responsible ZAP
- [] all members of the research group
- [] all members of UGent
- [] other (specify): ...

#### 3b. Other files

-----

- \* Which other files have been stored?
- [] file(s) describing the transition from raw data to reported results. Specify: ...
- [X] file(s) containing processed data. Specify: Excel data files
- [] file(s) containing analyses. Specify: ...
- [] files(s) containing information about informed consent
- [] a file specifying legal and ethical provisions
- [] file(s) that describe the content of the stored files and how this content should be interpreted. Specify: ...
- [] other files. Specify: ...

\* On which platform are these other files stored?

- [X] individual PC
- [X] research group file server
- [X] other: researcher external hard drive

\* Who has direct access to these other files (i.e., without intervention of another person)?

- [X] main researcher
- [X] responsible ZAP
- [] all members of the research group
- [] all members of UGent
- [] other (specify): ...

#### 4. Reproduction

\_\_\_\_\_

\* Have the results been reproduced independently?: [ ] YES / [X] NO

\* If yes, by whom (add if multiple):

- name:
- address:
- affiliation:
- e-mail: